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PART I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION

ITEM 1. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Blackstone Mortgage Trust, Inc.
Consolidated Balance Sheets (Unaudited)

(in thousands, except share data)
 
   June 30,   December 31,  
   2017   2016  
Assets    
Cash and cash equivalents   $ 33,521  $ 75,567 
Restricted cash    34,278   —   
Loans receivable, net    9,587,457   8,692,978 
Other assets    63,832   44,070 

    
 

   
 

Total Assets   $ 9,719,088  $ 8,812,615 
    

 

   

 

Liabilities and Equity    
Secured debt agreements, net   $ 5,806,037  $ 5,716,354 
Loan participations sold, net    367,671   348,077 
Securitized debt obligations, net    474,123   —   
Convertible notes, net    448,047   166,762 
Other liabilities    116,737   87,819 

    
 

   
 

Total Liabilities    7,212,615   6,319,012 
    

 
   

 

Commitments and contingencies    —     —   

Equity    
Class A common stock, $0.01 par value, 200,000,000 shares authorized, 94,827,579 and 94,540,263 shares issued and outstanding as

of June 30, 2017 and December 31, 2016, respectively    948   945 
Additional paid-in capital    3,102,929   3,089,997 
Accumulated other comprehensive loss    (40,508)   (56,202) 
Accumulated deficit    (556,896)   (541,137) 

    
 

   
 

Total Equity    2,506,473   2,493,603 
    

 
   

 

Total Liabilities and Equity   $     9,719,088  $     8,812,615 
    

 

   

 

  
 
Note: The consolidated balance sheet as of June 30, 2017 includes assets of a consolidated variable interest entity, or VIE, that can only be used to settle obligations of the
VIE, and liabilities of the consolidated VIE for which creditors do not have recourse to Blackstone Mortgage Trust,  Inc. As of June 30, 2017, assets of the VIE totaled
$500.2 million and liabilities of the VIE totaled $474.2 million. We did not consolidate any VIEs as of December 31, 2016. Refer to Note 16 for additional discussion of
the VIE.

See
accompanying
notes
to
consolidated
financial
statements.
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Blackstone Mortgage Trust, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Operations (Unaudited)

(in thousands, except share and per share data)
 
   

Three Months Ended 
June 30,   

Six Months Ended 
June 30,  

   2017    2016   2017    2016  
Income from loans and other investments        

Interest and related income   $ 126,825   $ 130,471  $ 245,341   $ 253,496 
Less: Interest and related expenses    54,352    49,065   101,026    94,446 

    
 

    
 

   
 

    
 

Income from loans and other investments, net    72,473    81,406   144,315    159,050 
Other expenses        

Management and incentive fees    14,393    15,847   27,314    29,460 
General and administrative expenses    7,373    6,781   14,800    13,576 

    
 

    
 

   
 

    
 

Total other expenses    21,766    22,628   42,114    43,036 
Gain on investments at fair value    —      10,524   —      10,589 
(Loss) income from equity investment in unconsolidated subsidiary    —      (6)   —      133 

    
 

    
 

   
 

    
 

Income before income taxes    50,707    69,296   102,201    126,736 
Income tax provision (benefit)    94    (154)   183    87 

    
 

    
 

   
 

    
 

Net income    50,613    69,450   102,018    126,649 
    

 
    

 
   

 
    

 

Net income attributable to non-controlling interests    —      (6,369)   —      (6,521) 
    

 
    

 
   

 
    

 

Net income attributable to Blackstone Mortgage Trust, Inc.   $ 50,613   $ 63,081  $ 102,018   $ 120,128 
    

 

    

 

   

 

    

 

Net income per share of common stock basic and diluted   $ 0.53   $ 0.67  $ 1.07   $ 1.28 
    

 

    

 

   

 

    

 

Weighted-average shares of common stock outstanding, basic and diluted      95,005,873      94,064,423     94,999,664      94,066,096 
    

 

    

 

   

 

    

 

Dividends declared per share of common stock   $ 0.62   $ 0.62  $ 1.24   $ 1.24 
    

 

    

 

   

 

    

 

See
accompanying
notes
to
consolidated
financial
statements.
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Blackstone Mortgage Trust, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (Unaudited)

(in thousands)
 
   

Three Months Ended 
June 30,   

Six Months Ended 
June 30,  

   2017   2016   2017   2016  
Net income   $ 50,613  $ 69,450  $ 102,018  $ 126,649 
Other comprehensive income      

Unrealized gain (loss) on foreign currency remeasurement    20,045   (21,321)   27,815   (15,343) 
Realized and unrealized (loss) gain on derivative financial instruments    (8,196)   12,624   (12,121)   5,958 

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Other comprehensive income (loss)    11,849   (8,697)   15,694   (9,385) 
    

 
   

 
   

 
   

 

Comprehensive income    62,462   60,753   117,712   117,264 
Comprehensive income attributable to non-controlling interests    —     (6,369)   —     (6,521) 

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Comprehensive income attributable to Blackstone Mortgage Trust, Inc.   $    62,462  $    54,384  $  117,712  $  110,743 
    

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

See
accompanying
notes
to
consolidated
financial
statements.
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Blackstone Mortgage Trust, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity (Unaudited)

(in thousands)
 
  Blackstone Mortgage Trust, Inc.        

  

Class A 
Common

Stock   

Additional 
Paid-In 
Capital   

Accumulated Other
Comprehensive 
(Loss) Income   

Accumulated
Deficit   

Stockholders’
Equity   

Non-controlling 
Interests   

Total 
Equity  

Balance at December 31, 2015  $ 937  $ 3,070,200  $ (32,758)  $ (545,791)  $ 2,492,588  $ 13,143  $ 2,505,731 
Shares of class A common stock issued, net   2   —     —     —     2   —     2 
Restricted class A common stock earned   —     9,335   —     —     9,335   —     9,335 
Dividends reinvested   —     180   —     (167)   13   —     13 
Deferred directors’ compensation   —     188   —     —     188   —     188 
Other comprehensive loss   —     —     (9,385)   —     (9,385)   —     (9,385) 
Net income   —     —     —     120,128   120,128   6,521   126,649 
Dividends declared on common stock   —     —     —     (116,452)   (116,452)   —     (116,452) 
Distributions to non-controlling interests   —     —     —     —     —     (6,987)   (6,987) 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Balance at June 30, 2016  $ 939  $ 3,079,903  $ (42,143)  $ (542,282)  $ 2,496,417  $ 12,677  $ 2,509,094 
   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

Balance at December 31, 2016  $ 945  $ 3,089,997  $ (56,202)  $ (541,137)  $ 2,493,603  $ —    $ 2,493,603 
Shares of class A common stock issued, net   3   —     —     —     3   —     3 
Restricted class A common stock earned   —     11,675   —     —     11,675   —     11,675 
Issuance of convertible notes   —     856   —     —     856   —     856 
Dividends reinvested   —     213   —     (197)   16   —     16 
Deferred directors’ compensation   —     188   —     —     188   —     188 
Other comprehensive income   —     —     15,694   —     15,694   —     15,694 
Net income   —     —     —     102,018   102,018   —     102,018 
Dividends declared on common stock   —     —     —     (117,580)   (117,580)   —     (117,580) 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Balance at June 30, 2017  $ 948  $  3,102,929  $ (40,508)  $ (556,896)  $  2,506,473  $ —    $  2,506,473 
   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

See
accompanying
notes
to
consolidated
financial
statements.
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Blackstone Mortgage Trust, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows (Unaudited)

(in thousands)
 
   

Six Months Ended 
June 30,  

   2017   2016  
Cash flows from operating activities    

Net income   $ 102,018  $ 126,649 
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities    

Non-cash compensation expense    11,866   10,315 
Amortization of deferred fees on loans    (16,796)   (20,360) 
Amortization of deferred financing costs and premiums/discount on debt obligations    9,488   9,752 
Income from equity investment in unconsolidated subsidiary    —     (133) 
Distributions of income from unconsolidated subsidiary    —     6,837 
Gain on investments at fair value    —     (10,589) 

Changes in assets and liabilities, net    
Other assets    (1,255)   4,248 
Other liabilities    5,492   (3,424) 

    
 

   
 

Net cash provided by operating activities    110,813   123,295 
    

 
   

 

Cash flows from investing activities    
Origination and fundings of loans receivable    (1,464,994)   (1,401,871) 
Principal collections and sales proceeds from loans receivable and other assets    1,097,022   1,323,770 
Origination and exit fees received on loans receivable    25,228   21,613 
Receipts under derivative financial instruments    6,115   —   
Payments under derivative financial instruments    (9,398)   —   

    
 

   
 

Net cash used in investing activities    (346,027)   (56,488) 
    

 
   

 

 
continued…

See
accompanying
notes
to
consolidated
financial
statements.
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Blackstone Mortgage Trust, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows (Unaudited)

(in thousands)
 

   
Six Months Ended 

June 30,  
   2017   2016  
Cash flows from financing activities    

Borrowings under secured debt agreements   $ 1,744,766  $ 1,508,171 
Repayments under secured debt agreements    (1,673,886)   (1,328,131) 
Proceeds from sale of loan participations    —     54,441 
Repayment of loan participations    —     (92,000) 
Payment of deferred financing costs    (9,800)   (9,316) 
Receipts under derivative financial instruments    —     11,478 
Payments under derivative financial instruments    —     (13,240) 
Distributions to non-controlling interests    —     (6,987) 
Net proceeds from issuance of convertible notes    280,473   —   
Net proceeds from issuance of class A common stock    16   13 
Dividends paid on class A common stock    (117,402)   (116,323) 

    
 

   
 

Net cash provided by financing activities    224,167   8,106 
    

 
   

 

Net (decrease) increase in cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash    (11,047)   74,913 
Cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash at beginning of period    75,567   106,006 
Effects of currency translation on cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash    3,279   1,353 

    
 

   
 

Cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash at end of period   $ 67,799  $ 182,272 
    

 
   

 

Supplemental disclosure of cash flows information    
Payments of interest   $ (88,519)  $ (84,408) 

    

 

   

 

Payments of income taxes   $ (141)  $ (204) 
    

 

   

 

Supplemental disclosure of non-cash investing and financing activities   
Dividends declared, not paid   $ (58,793)  $ (58,382) 

    

 

   

 

Participations sold, net   $ —    $ (37,559) 
    

 

   

 

Loan principal payments held by servicer, net   $ 5,082  $ 35,947 
    

 

   

 

Consolidation of loans receivable of a VIE   $ 500,000  $ —   
    

 

   

 

Consolidation of securitized debt obligations of a VIE   $ (474,620)  $ —   
    

 

   

 

See
accompanying
notes
to
consolidated
financial
statements.
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Blackstone Mortgage Trust, Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(Unaudited)

1. ORGANIZATION

References  herein  to  “Blackstone  Mortgage  Trust,”  “Company,”  “we,”  “us”  or  “our”  refer  to Blackstone  Mortgage  Trust,  Inc.  and  its  subsidiaries  unless  the  context
specifically requires otherwise.

Blackstone Mortgage Trust is a real estate finance company that originates and purchases senior loans collateralized by properties in North America and Europe. We are
externally managed by BXMT Advisors L.L.C., or our Manager, a subsidiary of The Blackstone Group L.P., or Blackstone, and are a real estate investment trust, or REIT,
traded on the New York Stock Exchange, or NYSE, under the symbol “BXMT.” We are headquartered in New York City.

We conduct our operations as a REIT for U.S. federal income tax purposes. We generally will not be subject to U.S. federal income taxes on our taxable income to the
extent that we annually distribute all of our net taxable income to stockholders and maintain our qualification as a REIT. We also operate our business in a manner that
permits us to maintain an exclusion from registration under the Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended. We are organized as a holding company and conduct our
business primarily through our various subsidiaries.

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The accompanying unaudited consolidated  financial  statements  have been prepared in  accordance  with accounting principles  generally  accepted  in the United States of
America,  or  GAAP,  for  interim  financial  information  and  the  instructions  to  Form  10-Q  and  Rule  10-01  of  Regulation  S-X.  The  consolidated  financial  statements,
including  the  notes  thereto,  are  unaudited  and exclude  some of  the disclosures  required  in  annual  financial  statements.  Management  believes  it  has  made  all  necessary
adjustments,  consisting  of  only  normal  recurring  items,  so  that  the  consolidated  financial  statements  are  presented  fairly  and  that  estimates  made  in preparing  its
consolidated financial statements are reasonable and prudent. The operating results presented for interim periods are not necessarily indicative of the results that may be
expected for any other interim period or for the entire year. The accompanying unaudited consolidated interim financial statements should be read in conjunction with the
audited consolidated financial statements included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2016 filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission, or the SEC.

Basis of Presentation

The  accompanying  consolidated  financial  statements  include,  on  a  consolidated  basis,  our  accounts,  the  accounts  of  our  wholly-owned subsidiaries,  majority-owned
subsidiaries,  and  variable  interest  entities,  or  VIEs,  of  which  we  are  the  primary  beneficiary.  All  intercompany  balances  and  transactions  have  been  eliminated  in
consolidation.

Principles of Consolidation

We consolidate all entities that we control through either majority ownership or voting rights. In addition, we consolidate all VIEs of which we are considered the primary
beneficiary.  VIEs are defined as entities in which equity investors (i)  do not  have the characteristics  of  a controlling financial  interest  and/or  (ii)  do not  have sufficient
equity at risk for the entity to finance its activities without additional subordinated financial support from other parties. The entity that consolidates a VIE is known as its
primary beneficiary and is generally the entity with (i) the power to direct the activities that most significantly affect the VIE’s economic performance and (ii) the right to
receive  benefits  from the  VIE  or  the  obligation  to  absorb  losses  of  the  VIE  that  could  be  significant  to  the  VIE.  Refer  to  Note  16  for  additional  discussion  of  our
consolidated VIE.

In  April  2017,  we  entered  into  a  joint  venture,  or  our  Multifamily  Joint  Venture,  with  Walker  & Dunlop  Inc.  to  originate,  hold,  and finance  multifamily  bridge  loans.
Pursuant to the terms of the agreements governing the joint venture, Walker & Dunlop will contribute 15% of the venture’s equity capital and we will contribute 85%. We
consolidate the Multifamily Joint Venture as we have a controlling financial interest. The Multifamily Joint Venture did not have any activity during the six months ended
June 30, 2017.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires us to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets
and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities as of the date of the consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses
during the reporting period. Actual results may ultimately differ from those estimates.
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Blackstone Mortgage Trust, Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

(Unaudited)
 
Revenue Recognition

Interest income from our loans receivable portfolio is recognized over the life of each investment using the effective interest method and is recorded on the accrual basis.
Recognition of fees, premiums, and discounts associated with these investments is deferred until the loan is advanced and is then recorded over the term of the loan as an
adjustment to yield. Income accrual is generally suspended for loans at the earlier of the date at which payments become 90 days past due or when, in the opinion of our
Manager,  recovery  of  income  and  principal  becomes  doubtful.  Income  is  then  recorded  on  the  basis  of  cash  received  until accrual  is  resumed  when  the  loan  becomes
contractually current and performance is demonstrated to be resumed. In addition, for loans we originate, the related origination expenses are deferred and recognized as a
component of interest income, however expenses related to loans we acquire are included in general and administrative expenses as incurred.

Cash, Cash Equivalents, and Restricted Cash

Cash and cash equivalents represent cash held in banks, cash on hand, and liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less. We may have bank balances
in excess of federally insured amounts; however, we deposit our cash and cash equivalents with high credit-quality institutions to minimize credit risk exposure. We have
not experienced, and do not expect, any losses on our cash or cash equivalents.

Restricted cash represents cash held in a segregated bank account related to a letter of credit.

The following table provides a reconciliation of cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash in our consolidated balance sheets to the total amount shown in our consolidated
statements of cash flows ($ in thousands):
 
   June 30, 2017   June 30, 2016 
Cash and cash equivalents   $ 33,521   $ 181,796 
Restricted cash    34,278    476 

    
 

    
 

Total cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash shown in our consolidated statements of cash flows   $ 67,799   $ 182,272 
    

 

    

 

Loans Receivable and Provision for Loan Losses

We  originate  and  purchase  commercial  real  estate  debt  and  related  instruments  generally  to  be  held  as  long-term  investments  at  amortized  cost. We  are  required  to
periodically evaluate each of these loans for possible impairment. Impairment is indicated when it is deemed probable that we will not be able to collect all amounts due to
us pursuant to the contractual terms of the loan. If a loan is determined to be impaired, we write down the loan through a charge to the provision for loan losses. Impairment
of these loans, which are collateral dependent, is measured by comparing the estimated fair value of the underlying collateral, less costs to sell, to the book value of the
respective  loan.  These  valuations  require  significant  judgments,  which  include  assumptions  regarding  capitalization  rates,  leasing,  creditworthiness  of  major  tenants,
occupancy rates, availability of financing, exit plan, loan sponsorship, actions of other lenders, and other factors deemed necessary by our Manager. Actual losses, if any,
could ultimately differ from these estimates.

Our Manager performs a quarterly review of our portfolio of loans. In conjunction with this review, our Manager assesses the risk factors of each loan, and assigns a risk
rating based on a variety of factors, including, without limitation, loan-to-value ratio, or LTV, debt yield, property type, geographic and local market dynamics, physical
condition, cash flow volatility, leasing and tenant profile, loan structure and exit plan, and project sponsorship. Based on a 5-point scale, our loans are rated “1” through
“5,” from less risk to greater risk, which ratings are defined as follows:
 

 1 -  Very Low Risk
 2 -  Low Risk
 3 -  Medium Risk
 4 -  High Risk/Potential for Loss: A loan that has a risk of realizing a principal loss.
 5 -  Impaired/Loss Likely: A loan that has a very high risk of realizing a principal loss or has otherwise incurred a principal loss.

During the second quarter of 2015, we acquired a portfolio of loans from General Electric Capital Corporation and certain of its affiliates, or the GE portfolio, for a total
purchase price of $4.7 billion. We allocated the aggregate purchase price between each loan based on its fair value relative to the overall portfolio, which allocation resulted
in purchase discounts or premiums determined on an asset-by-asset basis. Each loan accretes from its allocated purchase price to its expected collection value over the life
of the loan, consistent with the other loans in our portfolio.
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Blackstone Mortgage Trust, Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

(Unaudited)
 
Equity Investment in Unconsolidated Subsidiary

Our carried interest in CT Opportunity Partners I, LP, or CTOPI, was accounted for using the equity method. CTOPI’s assets and liabilities were not consolidated into our
financial statements due to our determination that (i) it was not a VIE and (ii) the other investors in CTOPI had sufficient rights to preclude consolidation by us. As such,
we reported our allocable percentage of the net assets of CTOPI on our consolidated balance sheets. The investment was fully realized as of December 31, 2016 and we no
longer have any equity investments in unconsolidated subsidiaries in our consolidated financial statements.

Derivative Financial Instruments

We classify all derivative financial instruments as either other assets or other liabilities on our consolidated balance sheets at fair value.

On the date we enter into a derivative contract, we designate each contract as (i) a hedge of a net investment in a foreign operation, or net investment hedge, (ii) a hedge of
a forecasted transaction or of the variability of cash flows to be received or paid related to a recognized asset or liability, or cash flow hedge, (iii) a hedge of a recognized
asset or liability, or fair value hedge, or (iv) a derivative instrument not to be designated as a hedging derivative, or non-designated hedge. For all derivatives other than
those designated as  non-designated hedges,  we formally  document  our  hedge relationships  and designation at  the  contract’s  inception.  This  documentation includes  the
identification of the hedging instruments and the hedged items, its risk management objectives,  strategy for undertaking the hedge transaction and our evaluation of the
effectiveness of its hedged transaction.

On  a  quarterly  basis,  we  also  formally  assess  whether  the  derivative  we designated  in  each  hedging  relationship  is  expected  to  be,  and  has  been,  highly  effective  in
offsetting changes in the value or cash flows of the hedged items. If  it  is  determined that  a derivative is not highly effective at  hedging the designated exposure, hedge
accounting  is  discontinued.  Changes  in  the  fair  value  of  the  effective  portion  of  our  hedges  are  reflected  in  accumulated  other  comprehensive  income  (loss)  on  our
consolidated financial statements. Changes in the fair value of the ineffective portion of our hedges are included in net income. Amounts are reclassified out of accumulated
other comprehensive income (loss) and into net income when the hedged item is sold, substantially liquidated, or de-designated. To the extent a derivative does not qualify
for hedge accounting and is deemed a non-designated hedge, the changes in its value are included in net income.

Secured Debt Agreements

Where applicable, we record investments financed with repurchase agreements as separate assets and the related borrowings under any repurchase agreements are recorded
as  separate  liabilities  on  our  consolidated  balance  sheets.  Interest  income  earned  on  the  investments  and  interest  expense  incurred  on  the  repurchase  agreements  are
reported separately on our consolidated statements of operations.

Senior Loan Participations

In  certain  instances,  we  finance  our  loans  through  the  non-recourse  syndication  of  a  senior  loan  interest  to  a  third-party.  Depending  on  the particular  structure  of  the
syndication, the senior loan interest may remain on our GAAP balance sheet or, in other cases, the sale will be recognized and the senior loan interest will no longer be
included  in  our  consolidated  financial  statements. When  these  sales  are  not  recognized  under  GAAP we  reflect  the  transaction  by  recording  a  loan  participations  sold
liability on our consolidated balance sheet, however this gross presentation does not impact stockholders’ equity or net income. When the sales are recognized, our balance
sheet only includes our remaining subordinate loan and not the non-consolidated senior interest we sold.

Convertible Notes

The “Debt with Conversion and Other Options” Topic of the Financial Accounting Standards Board, or FASB, Accounting Standards Codification, or ASC, requires the
liability and equity components of convertible debt instruments that may be settled in cash upon conversion, including partial cash settlement, to be separately accounted
for  in  a  manner  that  reflects  the  issuer’s  nonconvertible  debt  borrowing  rate.  The  initial  proceeds  from  the  sale  of  convertible  notes  are  allocated  between  a  liability
component  and an equity component  in  a  manner  that  reflects  interest  expense at  the rate  of  similar  nonconvertible  debt  that  could have been issued at  such time.  The
equity component represents the excess initial  proceeds received over the fair value of the liability component of the notes as of the date of issuance. We measured the
estimated fair value of the debt component of our convertible
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notes as of the respective issuance dates based on our nonconvertible debt borrowing rate. The equity component of each series of our convertible notes is reflected within
additional paid-in capital on our consolidated balance sheet, and the resulting debt discount is amortized over the period during which such convertible notes are expected
to be outstanding (through the maturity date) as additional non-cash interest expense. The additional non-cash interest expense attributable to such convertible notes will
increase in subsequent periods through the maturity date as the notes accrete to their par value over the same period.

Deferred Financing Costs

The deferred financing costs that are included as a reduction in the net book value of the related liability on our consolidated balance sheets include issuance and other costs
related to our debt obligations. These costs are amortized as interest expense using the effective interest method over the life of the related obligations.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The “Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures” Topic, or ASC 820, defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value, and requires certain disclosures
about fair value measurements under GAAP. Specifically, this guidance defines fair value based on exit price, or the price that would be received upon the sale of an asset
or the transfer of a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date.

ASC 820 also establishes  a  fair  value hierarchy that  prioritizes and ranks  the  level  of  market  price  observability  used in  measuring  financial  instruments.  Market  price
observability  is  affected  by  a  number  of  factors,  including  the  type  of  financial  instrument,  the  characteristics  specific  to  the  financial instrument,  and  the  state  of  the
marketplace,  including  the  existence  and  transparency  of  transactions  between  market  participants.  Financial  instruments  with  readily  available  quoted  prices  in  active
markets generally will have a higher degree of market price observability and a lesser degree of judgment used in measuring fair value.

Financial instruments measured and reported at fair value are classified and disclosed based on the observability of inputs used in the determination, as follows:
 

 •  Level 1: Generally includes only unadjusted quoted prices that are available in active markets for identical financial instruments as of the reporting date.
 

 •  Level 2: Pricing inputs include quoted prices in active markets for similar instruments, quoted prices in less active or inactive markets for identical or similar
instruments where multiple price quotes can be obtained, and other observable inputs, such as interest rates, yield curves, credit risks, and default rates.

 

 
•  Level  3:  Pricing  inputs  are  unobservable  for  the  financial  instruments  and  include  situations  where  there  is little,  if  any,  market  activity  for  the  financial

instrument.  These  inputs  require  significant  judgment  or  estimation  by  management  of  third-parties  when  determining  fair  value  and  generally  represent
anything that does not meet the criteria of Levels 1 and 2.

The estimated value of each asset reported at fair value using Level 3 inputs is determined by an internal committee composed of members of senior management of our
Manager, including our Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer, and other senior officers.

Certain of our other assets are reported at fair value either (i) on a recurring basis, as of each quarter-end, or (ii) on a nonrecurring basis, as a result of impairment or other
events. Our assets that are recorded at fair value are discussed further in Note 15. We generally value our assets recorded at fair value by either (i) discounting expected
cash flows based on assumptions regarding the collection of principal and interest and estimated market rates, or (ii) obtaining assessments from third-party dealers. For
collateral-dependent loans that are identified as impaired, we measure impairment by comparing our Manager’s estimation of the fair value of the underlying collateral, less
costs to sell, to the book value of the respective loan. These valuations may require significant judgments, which include assumptions regarding capitalization rates, leasing,
creditworthiness of major tenants, occupancy rates, availability of financing, exit plan, loan sponsorship, actions of other lenders, and other factors deemed necessary by
our Manager.

We are also required by GAAP to disclose fair value information about financial instruments, that are not otherwise reported at fair value in our consolidated balance sheet,
to  the  extent  it  is  practicable  to  estimate  a  fair  value  for  those  instruments.  These  disclosure  requirements  exclude  certain  financial  instruments  and  all  non-financial
instruments.
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The following methods and assumptions are used to estimate the fair value of each class of financial instruments, for which it is practicable to estimate that value:
 

 •  Cash and cash equivalents: The carrying amount of cash and cash equivalents approximates fair value.
 

 •  Restricted cash: The carrying amount of restricted cash approximates fair value.
 

 
•  Loans receivable, net: The fair values of these loans were estimated by our Manager based on a discounted cash flow methodology, taking into consideration

various  factors  including  capitalization  rates,  discount  rates,  leasing,  occupancy  rates,  availability  and  cost  of  financing,  exit  plan,  sponsorship,  actions  of
other lenders, and indications of market value from other market participants.

 

 •  Derivative financial instruments: The fair value of our foreign currency and interest rate contracts was estimated using advice from a third-party derivative
specialist, based on contractual cash flows and observable inputs comprising foreign currency rates and credit spreads.

 

 •  Secured debt agreements, net: The fair value of these instruments was estimated based on the rate at which a similar credit facility would currently be priced.
 

 •  Loan participations sold, net: The fair value of these instruments was estimated based on the value of the related loan receivable asset.
 

 
•  Securitized debt obligations, net: The fair value of these instruments was estimated by utilizing third-party pricing service providers. In determining the value

of  a  particular  investment,  pricing  service  providers  may  use  broker-dealer  quotations,  reported  trades,  or  valuation  estimates  from  their  internal  pricing
models to determine the reported price.

 

 •  Convertible notes, net: Each series of the convertible notes is actively traded and their fair values were obtained using quoted market prices.

Income Taxes

Our financial results generally do not reflect provisions for current or deferred income taxes on our REIT taxable income. We believe that we operate in a manner that will
continue to allow us to be taxed as a REIT and, as a result, we generally do not expect to pay substantial corporate level taxes other than those payable by our taxable REIT
subsidiaries. If we were to fail to meet these requirements, we may be subject to federal, state, and local income tax on current and past income, and penalties. Refer to
Note 13 for additional information.

Stock-Based Compensation

Our stock-based compensation  consists  of  awards  issued to  our  Manager  and certain  individuals  employed by an  affiliate  of  our  Manager  that  vest  over  the  life  of  the
awards,  as  well  as  deferred  stock  units  issued  to  certain  members  of  our  Board  of  Directors. Stock-based  compensation  expense  is  recognized  for  these  awards  in  net
income on a variable basis over the applicable vesting period of the awards, based on the value of our class A common stock. Refer to Note 14 for additional information.

Earnings per Share

Basic earnings per share,  or Basic EPS, is  computed in accordance with the two-class method and is based on the net earnings allocable to our class A common stock,
including restricted class A common stock and deferred stock units, divided by the weighted-average number of shares of our class A common stock, including restricted
class A common stock and deferred stock units outstanding during the period. Our restricted class A common stock is considered a participating security, as defined by
GAAP, and has been included in our Basic EPS under the two-class method as these restricted shares have the same rights as our other shares of class A common stock,
including participating in any gains or losses.

Diluted  earnings  per  share,  or  Diluted  EPS,  is  determined  using  the  treasury  stock  method,  and  is  based  on  the  net  earnings  allocable  to  our class  A  common  stock,
including restricted class A common stock and deferred stock units, divided by the weighted-average number of shares of our class A common stock, including restricted
class A common stock and deferred stock units. Refer to Note 11 for additional discussion of earnings per share.
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Foreign Currency

In  the  normal  course  of  business,  we  enter  into  transactions  not  denominated  in  United  States,  or  U.S.,  dollars.  Foreign  exchange  gains  and losses  arising  on  such
transactions are recorded as a gain or loss in our consolidated statements of operations. In addition, we consolidate entities that have a non-U.S. dollar functional currency.
Non-U.S. dollar denominated assets and liabilities are translated to U.S. dollars at the exchange rate prevailing at the reporting date and income, expenses, gains, and losses
are  translated  at  the  average  exchange  rate  over  the  applicable  period.  Cumulative  translation  adjustments  arising  from the translation  of  non-U.S.  dollar  denominated
subsidiaries are recorded in other comprehensive income.

Underwriting Commissions and Offering Costs

Underwriting commissions and offering costs incurred in connection with common stock offerings are reflected as a reduction of additional paid-in capital. Costs incurred
that are not directly associated with the completion of a common stock offering are expensed when incurred.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In November 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-18 “Statement of Cash Flows (Topic 230): Restricted Cash,” or ASU 2016-18. ASU 2016-18 is intended to clarify how
entities present restricted cash in the statement of cash flows. The guidance requires entities to show the changes in the total of cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash
in the statement of cash flows. As a result, entities will no longer present transfers between cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash in the statement of cash flows. We
adopted ASU 2016-18 in the second quarter of 2017 and applied the guidance retrospectively to our prior period consolidated statement of cash flows.

In  June  2016,  the  FASB  issued  ASU  2016-13  “Financial  Instruments  –  Credit  Losses  –  Measurement  of  Credit  Losses  on Financial  Instruments  (Topic  326),”  or
ASU 2016-13. ASU 2016-13 significantly changes how entities will measure credit losses for most financial assets and certain other instruments that are not measured at
fair value through net income. ASU 2016-13 will replace the “incurred loss” model under existing guidance with an “expected loss” model for instruments measured at
amortized cost, and require entities to record allowances for available-for-sale debt securities rather than reduce the carrying amount, as they do today under the other-than-
temporary impairment  model.  It  also simplifies  the accounting model  for purchased credit-impaired debt securities  and loans.  ASU 2016-13 is effective for fiscal  years
beginning after December 15, 2019 and is to be adopted through a cumulative-effect adjustment to retained earnings as of the beginning of the first  reporting period in
which the guidance is effective. While we are currently evaluating the impact ASU 2016-13 will have on our consolidated financial statements, we expect that the adoption
will result in an increased amount of provisions for potential loan losses as well as the recognition of such provisions earlier in the lending cycle. We currently do not have
any provision for loan losses on our consolidated financial statements.

In May 2014, the FASB issued ASU 2014-09, “Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606) ,
” or ASU 2014-09. ASU 2014-09 broadly amends the accounting
guidance for revenue recognition. ASU 2014-09 is effective for the first interim or annual period beginning after December 15, 2017, and is to be applied retrospectively.
We do not anticipate that the adoption of ASU 2014-09 will have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements.
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3. LOANS RECEIVABLE, NET

The following table details overall statistics for our loans receivable portfolio ($ in thousands):
 

   June 30, 2017   December 31, 2016 
Number of loans    102   107 
Principal balance   $    9,630,306  $ 8,727,218 
Net book value   $ 9,587,457  $ 8,692,978 
Unfunded loan commitments (1)   $ 1,389,982  $ 882,472 
Weighted-average cash coupon (2)    5.27%   5.01% 
Weighted-average all-in yield (2)    5.65%   5.36% 
Weighted-average maximum maturity (years) (3)    3.4   3.2 
 
(1)   

 

Unfunded commitments will primarily be funded to finance property improvements or lease-related expenditures by
the borrowers. These future commitments will be funded over the term of each loan, subject in certain cases to an
expiration date.

(2)

 

As  of  June  30,  2017,  our  floating  rate  loans  were  indexed  to  various  benchmark  rates,  with  85% of  floating rate
loans  by  principal  balance  indexed  to  USD LIBOR.  In  addition,  $228.9  million  of  our  floating  rate  loans  earned
interest based on floors that are above the applicable index, with an average floor of 1.18%, as of June 30, 2017. As
of December 31, 2016, our floating rate loans were indexed to various benchmark rates, with 84% of floating rate
loans indexed to USD LIBOR. In addition, $216.3 million of our floating rate loans earned interest based on floors
that are above the applicable index, with an average floor of 1.27%, as of December 31, 2016. In addition to cash
coupon, all-in yield includes the amortization of deferred origination fees, loan origination costs, purchase discounts,
and  accrual  of  both extension  and  exit  fees.  Cash  coupon  and  all-in  yield  assume  applicable  floating  benchmark
rates for weighted-average calculation.

(3)

 

Maximum maturity assumes all extension options are exercised by the borrower, however our loans may be repaid
prior to such date. As of June 30, 2017, 57% of our loans by principal balance were subject to yield maintenance or
other  prepayment  restrictions  and  43%  were  open  to  repayment  by  the  borrower  without  penalty.  As  of
December 31, 2016, 64% of our loans were subject to yield maintenance or other prepayment restrictions and 36%
were open to repayment by the borrower without penalty.

Activity relating to our loans receivable portfolio was as follows ($ in thousands):
 

   
Principal 
Balance    

Deferred Fees /
Other Items (1)   

Net Book 
Value  

December 31, 2016   $ 8,727,218   $ (34,240)   $ 8,692,978 
Loan fundings    1,939,614    —      1,939,614 
Loan repayments    (1,117,733)    —      (1,117,733) 
Unrealized gain (loss) on foreign currency translation    81,207    (177)    81,030 
Deferred fees and other items    —      (25,228)    (25,228) 
Amortization of fees and other items    —      16,796    16,796 

    
 

    
 

    
 

June 30, 2017   $ 9,630,306   $ (42,849)   $ 9,587,457 
    

 

    

 

    

 

 
(1)    Other items primarily consist of purchase discounts or premiums, exit fees, and deferred origination expenses.
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The tables below detail the property type and geographic distribution of the properties securing the loans in our portfolio ($ in thousands):
 

June 30, 2017

Property Type   
Number of

Loans   
Net Book 

Value    
Total Loan 
Exposure (1)    

Percentage of
Portfolio

Office     55   $  5,622,781   $ 5,652,170     54%
Hotel     14    2,068,196    2,141,347     20   
Retail       7    532,397    965,804       9   
Multifamily     10    639,622    644,211       6   
Manufactured housing       7    233,201    232,971       2   
Condominium       1    55,916    215,113       2   
Other       8    435,344    762,044       7   

       
 

    
 

   

  102   $ 9,587,457   $  10,613,660   100%
       

 

    

 

   

Geographic Location   
Number of

Loans   
Net Book 

Value    
Total Loan 
Exposure (1)    

Percentage of
Portfolio

United States         
Northeast     25   $ 2,550,440   $ 2,566,702     24%
Southeast     21    2,025,144    2,467,193     23   
West     22    2,044,017    2,212,783     21   
Midwest       8    877,698    881,658       8   
Southwest       5    272,302    270,830       3   
Northwest       2    236,134    238,522       2   

       
 

    
 

   

Subtotal     83    8,005,735    8,637,688     81   
International         

United Kingdom       9    1,034,661    1,379,591     13   
Canada       7    480,906    476,843       4   
Germany       1    11,764    64,940       1   
Netherlands       2    54,391    54,598       1   

       
 

    
 

   

Subtotal     19    1,581,722    1,975,972     19   
       

 
    

 
   

Total   102   $ 9,587,457   $ 10,613,660   100%
       

 

    

 

   

 
(1)  

 

In certain instances,  we finance our loans through the non-recourse sale of a senior loan interest  that  is  not
included  in  our  consolidated  financial  statements.  See  Note  2  for  further  discussion.  Total  loan  exposure
encompasses the entire loan we originated and financed, including $983.4 million of such non-consolidated
senior interests as of June 30, 2017.

 
15



Table of Contents

Blackstone Mortgage Trust, Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

(Unaudited)
 

December 31, 2016  

Property Type   
Number of

Loans   
Net Book 

Value    
Total Loan 
Exposure (1)    

Percentage of
Portfolio  

Office     55   $  4,800,609   $  4,889,456      50%  
Hotel     18    1,889,732    1,957,334      20    
Retail       9    769,813    1,173,592      12    
Multifamily       8    521,097    523,529        5    
Manufactured housing       9    296,290    296,252        3    
Condominium       2    66,070    258,360        3    
Other       6    349,367    658,211        7    

       
 

    
 

    
 

  107   $ 8,692,978   $ 9,756,734    100%  
       

 

    

 

    

 

Geographic Location   
Number of

Loans   
Net Book 

Value    
Total Loan 
Exposure (1)    

Percentage of
Portfolio  

United States         
Northeast     26   $ 2,548,257   $ 2,562,149      26%  
Southeast     21    1,492,530    1,899,748      19    
West     22    1,628,811    1,828,667      19    
Midwest       7    695,713    698,093        7    
Southwest       8    380,639    379,766        4    
Northwest       3    227,747    293,564        3    

       
 

    
 

    
 

Subtotal     87    6,973,697    7,661,987      78    
International         

United Kingdom       9    977,136    1,305,816      13    
Canada       8    487,835    483,923        5    
Germany       1    204,241    254,644        3    
Netherlands       2    50,069    50,364        1    

       
 

    
 

    
 

Subtotal     20    1,719,281    2,094,747      22    
       

 
    

 
    

 

Total   107   $ 8,692,978   $ 9,756,734    100%  
       

 

    

 

    

 

 
(1)  

 

In certain instances,  we finance our loans through the non-recourse sale of a senior loan interest  that  is  not
included  in  our  consolidated  financial  statements.  See  Note  2  for  further  discussion.  Total  loan  exposure
encompasses  the  entire  loan  we  originated  and  financed,  including  $1.0  billion  of  such  non-consolidated
senior interests as of December 31, 2016.

Loan Risk Ratings

As further described in Note 2, our Manager evaluates our loan portfolio on a quarterly basis. In conjunction with our quarterly loan portfolio review, our Manager assesses
the risk factors of each loan, and assigns a risk rating based on several factors.  Factors considered in the assessment include, but are not limited to, risk of loss, current
LTV, debt yield, collateral performance, structure, exit plan, and sponsorship. Loans are rated “1” (less risk) through “5” (greater risk), which ratings are defined in Note 2.
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The following table allocates the principal balance and net book value of our loans receivable based on our internal risk ratings ($ in thousands):
 

June 30, 2017      December 31, 2016  
Risk Rating   Number of Loans  Net Book Value   Total Loan Exposure (1)     Risk Rating   Number of Loans  Net Book Value   Total Loan Exposure (1) 
 1         5   $ 285,006   $ 285,064     1         8   $ 361,100   $ 361,574 
 2       44    3,692,459    3,701,921     2       52    4,011,992    4,083,678 
 3       52    5,589,247    6,605,992     3       46    4,299,026    5,290,668 
 4         1    20,745    20,683     4         1    20,860    20,814 
 5     —     —      —       5     —     —      —   

       
 

    
 

          
 

    
 

  102   $ 9,587,457   $ 10,613,660      107   $ 8,692,978   $ 9,756,734 
       

 

    

 

          

 

    

 

 
(1) In certain instances, we finance our loans through the non-recourse sale of a senior loan interest that is not included in our consolidated financial statements. See

Note 2 for further discussion. Total loan exposure encompasses the entire loan we originated and financed, including $983.4 million and $1.0 billion of such non-
consolidated senior interests as of June 30, 2017 and December 31, 2016, respectively.

The weighted-average risk rating of our total loan exposure was 2.6 and 2.5 as of June 30, 2017 and December 31, 2016, respectively. The increase in weighted-average
risk rating was primarily driven by repayments of loans with lower risk ratings, and not rating downgrades in the existing portfolio.

We did not have any impaired loans, nonaccrual loans, or loans in maturity default as of June 30, 2017 or December 31, 2016.

4. EQUITY INVESTMENT IN UNCONSOLIDATED SUBSIDIARY

Our  equity  investment  in  unconsolidated  subsidiary  consisted  solely  of  our  carried  interest  in  CTOPI,  a  fund  formerly  sponsored  and  managed  by an  affiliate  of  our
Manager. The investment was fully realized as of December 31, 2016 and we no longer have any investments in unconsolidated subsidiaries on our consolidated financial
statements.

Our carried interest in CTOPI entitled us to earn promote revenue in an amount equal to 17.7% of the fund’s profits, after a 9% preferred return and 100% return of capital
to the CTOPI partners. We recognized $6,000 of expenses and $133,000 of promote income from CTOPI in respect of our carried interest and recorded such amounts in
our consolidated statements of operations during the three and six months ended June 30, 2016, respectively.

CTOPI Incentive Management Fee Grants

In January 2011, we created a management  compensation pool for  employees equal  to 45% of the CTOPI promote distributions received by us.  During the six months
ended June 30, 2016, we recognized $168,000 of expenses under the CTOPI incentive plan. Such amounts were recognized as a component of general and administrative
expenses in our consolidated statement of operations.
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5. OTHER ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

The following table details the components of our other assets ($ in thousands):
 

   June 30, 2017    December 31, 2016 
Loan portfolio payments held by servicer (1)   $ 28,886   $ 6,294 
Accrued interest receivable    33,485    32,871 
Derivative assets    743    4,086 
Prepaid expenses    711    803 
Prepaid taxes    7    16 

    
 

    
 

Total   $     63,832   $     44,070 
    

 

    

 

 
(1)  

 
Represents loan principal and interest payments held by our third-party loan servicer as of the balance sheet
date which were remitted to us during the subsequent remittance cycle.

The following table details the components of our other liabilities ($ in thousands):
 

   June 30, 2017    December 31, 2016 
Secured debt repayments pending servicer remittance (1)   $ 21,669   $ 5,372 
Accrued dividends payable    58,793    58,615 
Accrued management and incentive fees payable    14,393    12,798 
Accrued interest payable    11,690    9,049 
Derivative liabilities    6,928    210 
Accounts payable and other liabilities    3,264    1,775 

    
 

    
 

Total   $     116,737   $     87,819 
    

 

    

 

 
(1)  

 
Represents  pending  transfers  from  our  third-party  loan  servicer  that  were  remitted  to  our  banking
counterparties during the subsequent remittance cycle.

6. SECURED DEBT AGREEMENTS, NET

Our secured debt agreements include credit facilities, the GE portfolio acquisition facility, asset-specific financings, and a revolving credit agreement. The following table
details our secured debt agreements ($ in thousands):
 

   Secured Debt Agreements  
   Borrowings Outstanding  
   June 30, 2017    December 31, 2016 
Credit facilities   $ 4,014,582   $ 3,572,837 
GE portfolio acquisition facility    1,188,076    1,479,582 
Asset-specific financings    530,358    679,207 
Revolving credit agreement    90,750    —   

    
 

    
 

Total secured debt agreements   $ 5,823,766   $ 5,731,626 
    

 
    

 

Deferred financing costs (1)    (17,729)    (15,272) 
    

 
    

 

Net book value of secured debt   $ 5,806,037   $ 5,716,354 
    

 

    

 

 
(1)  

 

Costs  incurred  in  connection  with  our  secured  debt  agreements  are  recorded  on  our  consolidated  balance
sheet when  incurred  and  recognized  as  a  component  of  interest  expense  over  the  life  of  each  related
agreement.
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Credit Facilities

During  the  six  months  ended  June  30,  2017,  we  increased  the  maximum  facility  size  of  two  of  our  credit  facilities,  providing  an  additional £250.0  million  and
€250.0 million of credit  capacity,  respectively,  and we converted one of our asset-specific  financings to a $500.0 million credit  facility.  The following tables detail  our
credit facilities ($ in thousands):
 

   June 30, 2017  
   Maximum    Collateral    Credit Borrowings  
Lender   Facility Size (1)   Assets (2)    Potential (3)    Outstanding    Available (3)  
Wells Fargo   $ 2,000,000   $ 1,993,129   $ 1,548,713   $ 1,232,179   $ 316,534 
MetLife    1,000,000    1,013,172    795,207    795,207    —   
Bank of America    750,000    816,218    641,066    641,066    —   
Société Générale (4)    457,040    456,849    354,959    348,486    6,473 
Deutsche Bank    500,000    377,634    284,174    284,174    —   
Citibank (5)    785,650    394,783    307,201    258,450    48,751 
Morgan Stanley (6)    651,250    411,350    321,848    254,345    67,503 
JP Morgan (7)    500,000    324,873    248,788    200,675    48,113 

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

  $    6,643,940   $    5,788,008   $    4,501,956   $    4,014,582   $     487,374 
    

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

   December 31, 2016  
   Maximum    Collateral    Credit Borrowings  
Lender   Facility Size (1)   Assets (2)    Potential (3)    Outstanding    Available (3)  
Wells Fargo   $ 2,000,000   $ 1,718,874   $ 1,339,942   $ 1,107,733   $ 232,209 
MetLife    1,000,000    1,106,017    862,454    862,454    —   
Bank of America    750,000    794,881    617,694    617,694    —   
JP Morgan (7)    500,000    550,560    420,414    316,219    104,195 
Morgan Stanley (6)    308,500    344,056    272,221    231,930    40,291 
Citibank (5)    500,000    508,989    394,677    229,629    165,048 
Société Générale (4)    420,680    274,351    207,178    207,178    —   

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

  $ 5,479,180   $ 5,297,728   $ 4,114,580   $ 3,572,837   $ 541,743 
    

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

 
(1)  

 
Maximum facility size represents the largest amount of borrowings available under a given facility once sufficient collateral
assets have been approved by the lender and pledged by us.

(2)  Represents the principal balance of the collateral assets.
(3)

 

Potential borrowings represents the total amount we could draw under each facility based on collateral already approved and
pledged. When undrawn, these amounts are immediately available to us at our sole discretion under the terms of each credit
facility.

(4)

 

As of June 30, 2017 and December 31, 2016, the Société Générale maximum facility size was composed of a €400.0 million
facility size that was translated to $457.0 million and $420.7 million, respectively. Borrowings denominated in U.S. Dollars,
British Pound Sterling, and Euro are contemplated under this facility.

(5)

 

As of June 30, 2017, the Citibank maximum facility size was composed of a general $500.0 million facility size denominated
in U.S. Dollars plus a general €250.0 million ($285.7 million) facility size that contemplated British Pound Sterling and Euro
borrowings. As of December 31, 2016, the maximum facility size was composed of a general $500.0 million facility.

(6)

 

As of  June 30,  2017,  the  Morgan Stanley maximum facility  size  was composed of  a  £500.0  million  facility size that was
translated to $651.3 million. As of December 31, 2016, the maximum facility size was composed of a £250.0 million facility
size  that  was  translated  to  $308.5  million.  Borrowings denominated  in  U.S.  Dollars, British  Pound Sterling,  and  Euro  are
contemplated under this facility.

(7)
 
As  of  June  30,  2017  and  December  31,  2016,  the  JP  Morgan  maximum  facility  size  was  composed  of  a  general
$500.0 million facility size, under which U.S. Dollars and British Pound Sterling borrowings are contemplated.

The  weighted-average  outstanding  balance  of  our  credit  facilities  was  $3.8  billion  for  the  six  months ended  June  30,  2017.  As  of  June  30,  2017,  we  had  aggregate
borrowings of $4.0 billion outstanding under our credit facilities, with a weighted-average cash coupon of LIBOR plus 1.90% per annum, a weighted-average all-in cost of
credit,  including  associated  fees  and  expenses,  of  LIBOR  plus  2.11%  per  annum,  and  a  weighted-average  advance  rate  of  78.8%.  As  of  June  30,  2017,  outstanding
borrowings under these facilities had a weighted-average maturity, excluding extension options and term-out provisions, of 1.5 years.
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The  weighted-average  outstanding  balance  of  our  credit  facilities  was  $2.8  billion  for  the six  months  ended  December  31,  2016.  As  of  December  31,  2016,  we  had
aggregated borrowings of $3.6 billion outstanding under our credit facilities, with a weighted-average cash coupon of LIBOR plus 1.82% per annum, a weighted-average
all-in cost of credit, including associated fees and expenses, of LIBOR plus 2.02% per annum, and a weighted-average advance rate of 79.1%. As of December 31, 2016,
outstanding borrowings under these facilities had a weighted-average maturity, excluding extension options and term-out provisions, of 1.5 years.

Borrowings under each facility are subject to the initial  approval of eligible collateral  loans by the lender and the maximum advance rate and pricing rate of individual
advances are determined with reference to the attributes of the respective collateral loan.

The following tables outline the key terms of our credit facilities as of June 30, 2017:
 

Lender   Currency Guarantee (1) Margin Call (2)   Term/Maturity
Wells Fargo   $  25%  Collateral marks only  Term matched (3)
MetLife   $  50%  Collateral marks only  April 21, 2023 (4)
Bank of America   $  50%  Collateral marks only  May 21, 2021 (5)
Société Générale   $ / £ / €  25%  Collateral marks only  Term matched (3)
Deutsche Bank   $  25%  Collateral marks only  Term matched (3)
Citibank   $ / £ / €  25%  Collateral marks only  Term matched (3)
Morgan Stanley   $ / £ / €  25%  Collateral marks only  March 3, 2020
JP Morgan   $ / £  50%  Collateral marks only  January 7, 2020
 
(1)  

 
Other than amounts guaranteed based on specific collateral asset types, borrowings under our credit facilities
are non-recourse to us.

(2)
 
Margin call provisions under our credit facilities do not permit valuation adjustments based on capital markets
events, and are limited to collateral-specific credit marks.

(3)

 

These credit facilities have various availability periods during which new advances can be made and which are
generally subject to each lender’s discretion. Maturity dates for advances outstanding are tied to the term of
each respective collateral asset.

(4)  Includes five one-year extension options which may be exercised at our sole discretion.
(5)  Includes two one-year extension options which may be exercised at our sole discretion.

 
Currency  

Outstanding 
Borrowings    

Potential 
Borrowings (1)   

               
     Index                      Rate (2)   

Advance
Rate (3)

$    $  3,684,398    $  4,103,296   1-month USD LIBOR   L+1.88%   78.8%
€    €            —      €       38,227   3-month EURIBOR   n/a   77.8%
£    £     253,500    £     273,451   3-month GBP LIBOR   L+2.15%   79.0%

    
 

    
 

        

   $  4,014,582    $  4,501,956     L+1.90%   78.8%
 
(1)  

 

Potential borrowings represents the total amount we could draw under each facility based on collateral already
approved and pledged. When undrawn, these amounts are immediately available to us at  our sole discretion
under the terms of each credit facility.

(2)  Represents weighted-average cash coupon based on borrowings outstanding.
(3)

 
Represents weighted-average advance rate based on the outstanding principal balance of the collateral assets
pledged.

GE Portfolio Acquisition Facility

During  the  second  quarter  of  2015,  concurrently  with  our  acquisition  of  the  GE portfolio,  we  entered  into  an  agreement  with  Wells  Fargo  to provide  us  with  secured
financing  for  the  acquired  portfolio.  As  of  June  30,  2017,  this  facility  provided  for  $1.3  billion  of  financing,  of  which  $1.2  billion  was  outstanding  and  an
additional $142.6 million was available to finance future loan fundings in the GE portfolio. The GE portfolio acquisition facility is non-revolving and consists of a single
master repurchase agreement providing for asset-specific borrowings for each collateral asset.
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The asset-specific borrowings under the GE portfolio acquisition facility were advanced at a weighted-average rate of 80% of our purchase price of the collateral assets and
are repaid pro rata from collateral asset repayment proceeds. The asset-specific borrowings are currency matched to the collateral assets and accrue interest at a rate equal
to the sum of (i) the applicable base rate plus (ii) a margin of 1.75%, which will increase to 1.80% and 1.85% in year four and year five, respectively. As of June 30, 2017,
those  borrowings  were  denominated  in  U.S.  Dollars, Canadian  Dollars,  and  British  Pounds  Sterling.  The  asset-specific  borrowings  are  term matched  to  the  underlying
collateral assets with an outside maturity date of May 20, 2020, which may be extended pursuant to two one-year extension options. We guarantee obligations under the GE
portfolio  acquisition  facility  in  an  amount  equal  to  the  greater  of  (i)  25% of  outstanding  asset-specific  borrowings,  and  (ii)  $250.0  million.  We  had  outstanding  asset-
specific  borrowings  under the  GE  portfolio  acquisition  facility  of  $1.2  billion  and  a  weighted-average  all-in  cost  of  credit,  including  associated  fees  and  expenses,  of
LIBOR plus 1.80% per annum as of June 30, 2017, compared to $1.5 billion of outstanding asset-specific borrowings and a weighted-average all-in cost of credit, including
associated fees and expenses, of LIBOR plus 1.83% per annum as of December 31, 2016.

Asset-Specific Financings

The following tables detail our asset-specific financings ($ in thousands):
 

   June 30, 2017  

Asset-Specific Financings   Count  
Principal 
Balance    

Book 
Value    

Wtd. Avg. 
Yield/Cost (1)  Guarantee (2)   

Wtd. Avg. 
Term (3)  

Collateral assets   5   $  675,639   $  672,295    L+4.71%   n/a    Nov. 2020 
Financing provided (4)   5   $ 530,358   $ 529,350    L+2.48%  $ 167,124    Nov. 2020 
 
(1)  

 

These floating rate loans and related liabilities are indexed to the various benchmark rates relevant in each arrangement in
terms of currency and payment frequency. Therefore the net exposure to each benchmark rate is in direct proportion to our
net assets indexed to that rate. In addition to cash coupon, yield/cost includes the amortization of deferred origination fees /
financing costs.

(2)
 
Other than amounts guaranteed on an asset-by-asset basis, borrowings under our asset-specific financings are non-recourse
to us.

(3)

 

The  weighted-average  term  is  determined  based  on  the  maximum  maturity  of  the  corresponding  loans,  assuming  all
extension options are exercised by the borrower. Each of our asset-specific financings are term-matched to the corresponding
collateral loans.

(4)
 
Borrowings of $394.8 million under these asset specific financings are cross collateralized with related credit facilities with
the same lenders.

 
   December 31, 2016  

Asset-Specific Financings   Count  
Principal 
Balance    

Book 
Value    

Wtd. Avg. 
Yield/Cost (1)  Guarantee (2)   

Wtd. Avg. 
Term (3)  

Collateral assets   7   $  876,083   $  869,417    L+4.84%   n/a    Aug. 2020 
Financing provided (4)   7   $ 679,207   $ 676,333    L+2.60%  $ 231,585    Aug. 2020 
 
(1)  

 

These floating rate loans and related liabilities are indexed to the various benchmark rates relevant in each arrangement in
terms of currency and payment frequency. Therefore the net exposure to each benchmark rate is in direct proportion to our
net assets indexed to that rate. In addition to cash coupon, yield/cost includes the amortization of deferred origination fees /
financing costs.

(2)
 
Other than amounts guaranteed on an asset-by-asset basis, borrowings under our asset-specific financings are non-recourse
to us.

(3)

 

The  weighted-average  term  is  determined  based  on  the  maximum  maturity  of  the  corresponding  loans,  assuming  all
extension options are exercised by the borrower. Each of our asset-specific financings are term-matched to the corresponding
collateral loans.

(4)
 
Borrowings of $392.3 million under these asset specific financings are cross collateralized with related credit facilities with
the same lenders.

The  weighted-average  outstanding  balance  of  our  asset-specific  financings  was  $628.3  million  for  the  six months  ended  June  30,  2017  and  $571.1  million  for  the  six
months ended December 31, 2016.
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Revolving Credit Agreement

During the second quarter of 2017, we increased the borrowing capacity under our secured revolving credit agreement with Barclays by $125.0 million to $250.0 million.
This full recourse facility is designed to finance first mortgage originations for up to six months as a bridge to term financing or syndication. Advances under the agreement
are subject to availability under a specified borrowing base and accrue interest at a per annum pricing rate equal to the sum of (i) an applicable base rate or Eurodollar rate
and (ii) an applicable margin, in each case, dependent on the applicable type of loan collateral. The maturity date of the facility is April 4, 2020.

During the six months ended June 30, 2017, the weighted-average outstanding borrowings under the revolving credit agreement were $1.0 million and we recorded interest
expense of $589,000, including $332,000 of amortization of deferred fees and expenses. As of June 30, 2017, we had $90.8 million of borrowings outstanding under the
agreement.

During the six months ended December 31, 2016, the weighted-average outstanding borrowings under the revolving credit agreement were $29.9 million and we recorded
interest expense of $927,000, including $255,000 of amortization of deferred fees and expenses. As of December 31, 2016 we had no outstanding borrowings under the
agreement.

Debt Covenants

Each  of  the  guarantees  related  to  our  secured  debt  agreements  contain  the  following  uniform  financial  covenants:  (i)  our  ratio  of  earnings before  interest,  taxes,
depreciation, and amortization, or EBITDA, to fixed charges, as defined in the agreements, shall be not less than 1.4 to 1.0; (ii) our tangible net worth, as defined in the
agreements,  shall  not be less than $1.9 billion as  of  each measurement  date  plus  75% of the net  cash proceeds of  future  equity issuances  subsequent  to  June 30,  2017;
(iii) cash liquidity shall not be less than the greater of (x) $10.0 million or (y) 5% of our recourse indebtedness; and (iv) our indebtedness shall not exceed 83.33% of our
total assets. As of June 30, 2017 and December 31, 2016, we were in compliance with these covenants.

7. LOAN PARTICIPATIONS SOLD, NET

The financing  of  a  loan  by  the  non-recourse  sale  of  a  senior  interest  in  the  loan  through  a  participation  agreement  generally  does  not  qualify  as  a  sale  under  GAAP.
Therefore, in the instance of such sales, we present the whole loan as an asset and the loan participation sold as a liability on our consolidated balance sheet until the loan is
repaid. The obligation to pay principal and interest on these liabilities is generally based on the performance of the related loan obligation. The gross presentation of loan
participations sold does not impact stockholders’ equity or net income.
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The following tables detail our loan participations sold ($ in thousands):
 

   June 30, 2017

Loan Participations Sold   Count  
Principal 
Balance    Book Value   Yield/Cost (1)  Guarantee (2)   Term

Total loan   1   $  442,850   $  439,880    L+4.48%   n/a   Dec. 2019
Senior participation (3)(4)   1    369,042    367,671    L+2.72%  $ 31,260   Dec. 2019

   December 31, 2016

Loan Participations Sold   Count  
Principal 
Balance    Book Value   Yield/Cost (1)  Guarantee (2)   Term

Total loan   1   $ 419,560   $ 416,233    L+4.48%   n/a   Dec. 2019
Senior participation (3)(4)   1    349,633    348,077    L+2.72%  $ 29,616   Dec. 2019
 
(1)  

 

Our  floating  rate  loans  and  related  liabilities  are  indexed  to  the  various  benchmark  rates  relevant  in  each  arrangement  in
terms of currency and payment frequency. Therefore the net exposure to each benchmark rate is in direct proportion to our
net assets indexed to that rate. In addition to cash coupon, yield/cost includes the amortization of deferred fees / financing
costs.

(2)
 
Other  than  one  instance  where  we  entered  into  a  related  guarantee  agreement  for  £24.0  million ($31.3  million  and
$29.6 million as of June 30, 2017 and December 31, 2016, respectively), our loan participations sold are non-recourse to us.

(3)

 

During the three and six months ended June 30, 2017, we recorded $2.7 million and $5.3 million, respectively, of interest
expense related to our loan participations sold, of which $2.6 million and $5.0 million was paid in cash. During the three and
six months ended December 31, 2016, we recorded $2.9 million and $6.3 million, respectively, of interest expense related to
our loan participations sold, of which $2.8 million and $6.0 million was paid in cash.

(4)
 
The  difference  between  principal  balance  and  book  value  of  loan  participations  sold  is  due  to  deferred  financing  costs  of
$1.4 million and $1.6 million as of June 30, 2017 and December 31, 2016, respectively.

8. SECURITIZED DEBT OBLIGATIONS, NET

In  the  second  quarter  of  2017,  we  financed  one  of  our  loans  through  a  single  asset  securitization  vehicle,  or  the  Securitization,  which  is consolidated  in  our  financial
statements. The Securitization has issued securitized debt obligations that are non-recourse to us. Refer to Note 16 for further discussion of our Securitization.

The following table details our securitized debt obligations ($ in thousands):
 

   June 30, 2017  

Securitized Debt Obligations   Count  
Principal 
Balance    Book Value   Yield/Cost (1)  Term (2)  

Total loan   1   $  642,806   $  639,280    L+3.60%   June 2023 
Securitized debt obligations (3)   1    474,620    474,123    L+1.95%   June 2033 
 
(1)   In addition to cash coupon, yield/cost includes the amortization of deferred origination fees / financing costs.
(2)

 

Loan  term  represents  final  maturity,  assuming  all  extension  options  are  exercised  by  the  borrower.  Repayments  of
securitized debt obligations are tied to timing of the related collateral loan asset repayments. The term of these obligations
represents the rated final distribution date of the securitization.

(3)
 
During the three and six months ended June 30, 2017, we recorded $37,000 of interest expense related to our securitized debt
obligations.

We did not have any securitized debt obligations as of December 31, 2016.
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9. CONVERTIBLE NOTES, NET

As of June 30, 2017, the following convertible senior notes, or Convertible Notes, were outstanding ($ in thousands):
 

Convertible Notes Issuance   Face Value    Coupon Rate  
All-in Cost

(1)   Conversion Rate (2)   Maturity
November 2013   $    172,500    5.25%   5.87%   36.1380   December 1, 2018
May 2017    287,500    4.38%   4.93%   28.0324   May 5, 2022
 
(1)  

 
Includes issuance costs that are amortized through interest expense over the life of the Convertible Notes using the effective interest
method.

(2)

 

Represents  the  shares  of  class  A  common  stock  per  $1,000  principal  amount  of  Convertible  Notes,  which  is  equivalent  to  a
conversion price  of  $27.67 and $35.67 per  share  of  class  A common stock,  respectively,  for  the  November  2013 and May 2017
convertible notes. As a result of exceeding the cumulative dividend threshold, as defined in the November 2013 convertible notes
supplemental indenture, the conversion rate on the November 2013 convertible notes was most recently adjusted on June 28, 2017
from the prior conversion rate of 35.7236 shares of class A common stock per $1,000 principal amount of convertible notes, which
was equivalent to a conversion price of $27.99 per share of class A common stock. The cumulative dividend threshold as defined in
the May 2017 convertible notes supplemental indenture has not been exceeded as of June 30, 2017.

The Convertible Notes are convertible at the holders’ option into shares of our class A common stock, only under specific circumstances, prior to the close of business on
August 31, 2018 and January 31, 2022, for the November 2013 and May 2017 convertible notes, respectively, at the applicable conversion rate in effect on the conversion
date. Thereafter, the Convertible Notes are convertible at the option of the holder at any time until the second scheduled trading day immediately preceding the maturity
date. Neither series of the Convertible Notes were convertible as of June 30, 2017. We may not redeem the Convertible Notes prior to maturity. The last reported sale price
of our class A common stock of $31.60 on June 30, 2017 was greater than the per share conversion price of the November 2013 convertible notes but less than the per share
conversion price of the May 2017 convertible notes. We have the intent and ability to settle each series of the Convertible Notes in cash and, as a result, the Convertible
Notes did not have any impact on our diluted earnings per share.

Upon our  issuance  of  the  November  2013 convertible  notes,  we recorded a  $9.1  million  discount  based on the implied value of  the conversion option and an assumed
effective interest  rate  of 6.50%, as well  as $4.1 million of initial  issuance costs.  Including the amortization of this  discount  and the issuance costs,  our total  cost  of  the
November 2013 convertible notes issuance is 7.16% per annum. Upon our issuance of the May 2017 convertible notes, we recorded an $868,000 discount based on the
implied value of the conversion option and an assumed effective interest rate of 4.67%, as well as $7.0 million of initial debt discount and issuance costs. Including the
amortization of the discount and issuance costs, our total cost of the May 2017 convertible notes issuance is 5.00% per annum.

The following table details our interest expense related to the Convertible Notes ($ in thousands):
 

   
Three Months Ended 

June 30,    
Six Months Ended 

June 30,  
   2017    2016    2017    2016  
Cash coupon   $ 4,221   $ 2,264   $ 6,485   $ 4,528 
Discount and issuance cost amortization    955    677    1,668    1,347 

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Total interest expense   $    5,176   $     2,941   $     8,153   $     5,875 
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The following table details the net book value of our Convertible Notes on our consolidated balance sheets ($ in thousands):
 

   June 30, 2017    December 31, 2016 
Face value   $ 460,000   $ 172,500 
Unamortized discount    (11,258)    (5,532) 
Deferred financing costs    (695)    (206) 

    
 

    
 

Net book value   $ 448,047   $     166,762 
    

 

    

 

Accrued interest payable for the Convertible Notes was $2.7 million and $755,000 as of June 30, 2017 and December 31, 2016, respectively. Refer to Note 2 for additional
discussion of our accounting policies for the Convertible Notes.

10. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The sole objective of our use of derivative financial instruments is to minimize the risks and/or costs associated with our investments and/or financing transactions. These
derivatives may or may not qualify as net investment, cash flow, or fair value hedges under the hedge accounting requirements of ASC 815 – “Derivatives and Hedging.”
Derivatives not designated as hedges are not speculative and are used to manage our exposure to interest rate movements and other identified risks. For more information
on the accounting for designated and non-designated hedges, refer to Note 2.

The use of derivative financial instruments involves certain risks, including the risk that the counterparties to these contractual arrangements do not perform as agreed. To
mitigate this risk, we only enter into derivative financial instruments with counterparties that have appropriate credit ratings and are major financial institutions with which
we and our affiliates may also have other financial relationships. We do not anticipate that any of the counterparties will fail to meet their obligations.

Net Investment Hedges of Foreign Currency Risk

Certain of our international investments expose us to fluctuations in foreign interest rates and currency exchange rates. These fluctuations may impact the value of our cash
receipts  and payments in terms of our functional  currency,  the U.S. Dollar.  We use foreign currency forward contracts  to protect  the value or fix the amount of certain
investments or cash flows in terms of the U.S. Dollar.

The  following  table  details  our  outstanding  foreign  exchange  derivatives  that  were  designated as  net  investment  hedges  of  foreign  currency  risk  (notional  amount  in
thousands):
 

June 30, 2017    December 31, 2016  
Foreign Currency
Derivatives   

Number of
Instruments        

Notional 
Amount    

Foreign Currency
Derivatives   

Number of 
Instruments       

Notional 
Amount  

Sell GBP Forward   1       £ 145,500   Sell GBP Forward   2       £ 141,900 
Sell CAD Forward   1       C$     122,900   Sell CAD Forward   2       C$     122,900 

          Sell EUR Forward   1       € 44,900 

Cash Flow Hedges of Interest Rate Risk

Certain of our financing transactions expose us to a fixed versus floating rate mismatch between our assets and liabilities. We use derivative financial instruments, which
include interest rate caps and swaps, and may also include interest rate options, floors, and other interest rate derivative contracts, to hedge interest rate risk associated with
our borrowings where there is potential for an index mismatch.
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The following tables detail our outstanding interest rate derivatives that were designated as cash flow hedges of interest rate risk (notional amount in thousands):
 

June 30, 2017

Interest Rate Derivatives  
Number of 
Instruments 

Notional 
Amount   Strike Index  

Wtd.-Avg. 
Maturity (Years)

Interest Rate Swaps    4  C$ 108,271  1.0% CDOR  1.9
Interest Rate Caps    9  $     204,248  2.4% USD LIBOR 2.0
Interest Rate Caps    4  C$ 52,628  2.0% CDOR  0.4

December 31, 2016

Interest Rate Derivatives  
Number of 
Instruments 

Notional 
Amount   Strike Index  

Wtd.-Avg. 
Maturity (Years)

Interest Rate Swaps    4  C$ 108,271  1.0% CDOR  2.4
Interest Rate Caps  21  $ 802,256  2.0% USD LIBOR 0.4
Interest Rate Caps    5  C$ 400,035  2.0% CDOR  0.4
Interest Rate Caps    1  £ 15,142  2.0% GBP LIBOR 0.3

Amounts reported in accumulated other comprehensive income related to derivatives will be reclassified to interest expense as interest payments are made on our floating
rate debt. During the twelve months following June 30, 2017, we estimate that an additional $188,000 will be reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive income
as  an  increase to  interest  income.  Additionally,  during  the  three  and  six  months  ended  June  30,  2017  and  2016,  we  did  not  record  any  hedge  ineffectiveness  in  our
consolidated statements of operations.

Non-designated Hedges

During the three and six months ended June 30, 2017, we recorded losses of $403,000 and $313,000, respectively, related to non-designated hedges that were reported as a
component  of  interest  expense  in  our  consolidated  financial  statements.  During  the  three  and six  months  ended  June  30,  2016,  we  recorded  losses  of  $659,000  and
$1.6 million, respectively.

The following tables summarize our non-designated hedges (notional amount in thousands):
 

June 30, 2017  

Non-designated Hedges   
Number of 
Instruments  

Notional 
Amount  

Buy GBP / Sell EUR Forward   1    € 12,857 

December 31, 2016  

Non-designated Hedges   
Number of 
Instruments  

Notional 
Amount  

Interest Rate Caps   3    $     256,875 
Interest Rate Caps   2    C$ 37,221 
Buy GBP / Sell EUR Forward   1    € 12,857 
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Valuation of Derivative Instruments

The following table summarizes the fair value of our derivative financial instruments ($ in thousands):
 

   
Fair Value of Derivatives in an 

Asset Position (1) as of    
Fair Value of Derivatives in a 

Liability Position (2) as of  
   June 30, 2017    December 31, 2016   June 30, 2017    December 31, 2016 
Derivatives designated as hedging instruments:         
Foreign exchange contracts   $ —     $ 3,268   $ 6,340   $ 210 
Interest rate derivatives    743    331    —      —   

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Total derivatives designated as hedging instruments   $ 743   $ 3,599   $ 6,340   $ 210 
    

 
    

 
    

 
    

 

Derivatives not designated as hedging instruments:         
Foreign exchange contracts   $ —     $ 487   $ 588   $ —   
Interest rate derivatives    —      —      —      —   

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Total derivatives not designated as hedging instruments   $ —     $ 487   $ 588   $ —   
    

 
    

 
    

 
    

 

Total Derivatives   $ 743   $ 4,086   $ 6,928   $ 210 
    

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

 
 (1) Included in other assets in our consolidated balance sheets.
 (2) Included in other liabilities in our consolidated balance sheets.

The following table presents the effect of our derivative financial instruments on our consolidated statements of operations ($ in thousands):
 

   

Amount of Gain (Loss) 
Recognized in 

OCI on Derivatives 
(Effective Portion)   

Location of 
Gain (Loss) 

Reclassified from 
Accumulated 

OCI into Income 
(Effective Portion)  

  

Amount of 
Loss Reclassified from 
Accumulated OCI into 

Income (Effective Portion)  

Derivatives in Hedging Relationships   

Three Months
Ended 

June 30, 2017   

Six Months 
Ended 

June 30, 2017    

Three Months
Ended 

June 30, 2017   

Six Months 
Ended 

June 30, 2017 
Net Investment Hedges        

Foreign exchange contracts (1)   $ (8,939)  $ (13,233)   Interest Expense   $ —    $ —   

Cash Flow Hedges        
Interest rate derivatives    286   180   Interest Expense    (457)   (932) 

    
 

   
 

     
 

   
 

Total   $ (8,653)  $ (13,053)    $ (457)  $ (932) 
    

 

   

 

     

 

   

 

 
(1)  

 

During the three and six months ended June 30, 2017, we paid net cash settlements of $1.2 million and $3.1 million, respectively, on our
foreign currency forward contracts, compared to paying $10.0 million and $1.8 million during the same periods in 2016. Those amounts
are included as a component of accumulated other comprehensive loss on our consolidated balance sheets.

Credit-Risk Related Contingent Features

We have entered into agreements with certain of our derivative counterparties that contain provisions where if we were to default on any of our indebtedness, including
default where repayment of the indebtedness has not been accelerated by the lender, we may also be declared in default on our derivative obligations. In addition, certain of
our agreements with our derivative counterparties require that we post collateral to secure net liability positions. As of June 30, 2017, we were in a net liability position
with each such derivative counterparty and posted collateral of $1.4 million.
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11. EQUITY

Stock and Stock Equivalents

Authorized
Capital

As of June 30, 2017, we had the authority to issue up to 300,000,000 shares of stock, consisting of 200,000,000 shares of class A common stock and 100,000,000 shares of
preferred stock.  Subject  to applicable NYSE listing requirements,  our board of directors is  authorized to cause us to issue additional  shares of authorized stock without
stockholder approval. In addition, to the extent not issued, currently authorized stock may be reclassified between class A common stock and preferred stock. We did not
have any shares of preferred stock issued and outstanding as of June 30, 2017.

Class
A
Common
Stock
and
Deferred
Stock
Units

Holders of shares of our class A common stock are entitled to vote on all matters submitted to a vote of stockholders and are entitled to receive such dividends as may be
authorized by our board of directors and declared by us, in all cases subject to the rights of the holders of shares of outstanding preferred stock, if any.

We also issue restricted class  A common stock under our  stock-based incentive plans.  Refer  to Note 14 for  additional  discussion of  these long-term incentive plans. In
addition to our class A common stock, we also issue deferred stock units to certain members of our board of directors in lieu of cash compensation for services rendered.
These  deferred  stock  units  are  non-voting,  but carry  the  right  to  receive  dividends  in  the  form  of  additional  deferred  stock  units  in  an  amount  equivalent  to  the  cash
dividends paid to holders of shares of class A common stock.

The following table details the movement in our outstanding shares of class A common stock, including restricted class A common stock and deferred stock units:
 

   Six Months Ended June 30,  
Common Stock Outstanding (1)   2017    2016  
Beginning balance    94,709,290    93,843,847 
Issuance of class A common stock (2)    543    550 
Issuance of restricted class A common stock, net    286,773    209,798 
Issuance of deferred stock units    12,904    14,155 

    
 

    
 

Ending balance        95,009,510        94,068,350 
    

 

    

 

 
(1)  

 
Includes deferred stock units  held by members of  our  board of  directors  of  181,931 and 155,676 as of  June 30,  2017 and
2016, respectively.

(2)
 
Consists of 543 and 550 shares issued under our dividend reinvestment program during the six months ended June 30, 2017
and 2016, respectively.

Dividend
Reinvestment
and
Direct
Stock
Purchase
Plan

On March 25, 2014, we adopted a dividend reinvestment and direct stock purchase plan, under which we registered and reserved for issuance, in the aggregate, 10,000,000
shares of class A common stock. Under the dividend reinvestment component of this plan, our class A common stockholders can designate all or a portion of their cash
dividends  to  be  reinvested  in  additional  shares  of class  A  common  stock.  The  direct  stock  purchase  component  allows  stockholders  and  new  investors,  subject  to  our
approval,  to  purchase  shares  of  class  A  common  stock  directly  from us.  During  the  three  and  six  months  ended  June  30,  2017,  we issued  273 shares  and  543 shares,
respectively, of class A common stock under the dividend reinvestment component of the plan compared to 265 shares and 550 shares for the same periods in 2016. As of
June 30, 2017, a total of 9,997,784 shares of class A common stock remained available for issuance under the dividend reinvestment and direct stock purchase plan.

At
the
Market
Stock
Offering
Program

On May 9, 2014, we entered into equity distribution agreements, or ATM Agreements, pursuant to which we may sell, from time to time, up to an aggregate sales price of
$200.0  million  of  our  class  A  common  stock.  On  July  29,  2016,  in  connection  with  filing  a  new  universal  shelf  registration  statement  on  Form  S-3,  we  entered  into
amendments to each of the ATM Agreements. Sales of class A common stock made pursuant to the ATM
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Agreements may be made in negotiated transactions or transactions that are deemed to be “at the market” offerings as defined in Rule 415 under the Securities Act of 1933,
as  amended. Actual  sales  will  depend  on  a  variety  of  factors  including  market  conditions,  the  trading  price  of  our  class  A  common  stock,  our  capital  needs,  and  our
determination of the appropriate sources of funding to meet such needs. We did not sell any shares of our class A common stock under the ATM Agreements during the six
months ended June 30, 2017 and 2016. As of June 30, 2017, sales of our class A common stock with an aggregate sales price of $188.6 million remained available for
issuance under the ATM Agreements.

Dividends

We generally  intend  to  distribute  substantially  all  of  our  taxable  income,  which  does  not  necessarily  equal  net  income as  calculated  in accordance with GAAP, to our
stockholders each year to comply with the REIT provisions of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, or the Internal Revenue Code. Our dividend policy remains
subject to revision at the discretion of our board of directors. All distributions will be made at the discretion of our board of directors and will depend upon our taxable
income, our financial condition, our maintenance of REIT status, applicable law, and other factors as our board of directors deems relevant.

On June 13, 2017, we declared a dividend of $0.62 per share, or $58.8 million, that was paid on July 14, 2017 to stockholders of record as of June 30, 2017. The following
table details our dividend activity ($ in thousands, except per share data):
 

   
Three Months Ended 

June 30,    
Six Months Ended 

June 30,  
   2017    2016    2017    2016  
Dividends declared per share of common stock   $ 0.62   $ 0.62   $ 1.24   $ 1.24 
Total dividends declared   $    58,793   $    58,226   $  117,580   $  116,452 

Earnings Per Share

We calculate our basic and diluted earnings per share using the two-class method for all periods presented as the unvested shares of our restricted class A common stock
qualify as participating securities, as defined by GAAP. These restricted shares have the same rights as our other shares of class A common stock, including participating in
any dividends, and therefore have been included in our basic and diluted net income per share calculation. Our Convertible Notes are excluded from dilutive earnings per
share as we have the intent and ability to settle these instruments in cash.

The following table sets  forth the calculation of basic and diluted net  income per share of  class A common stock based on the weighted-average of both restricted and
unrestricted class A common stock outstanding ($ in thousands, except per share data):
 

   
Three Months Ended 

June 30,    
Six Months Ended 

June 30,  
   2017    2016    2017    2016  
Net income (1)   $ 50,613   $ 63,081   $ 102,018   $ 120,128 
Weighted-average shares outstanding, basic and diluted        95,005,873        94,064,423        94,999,664        94,066,096 

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Per share amount, basic and diluted   $ 0.53   $ 0.67   $ 1.07   $ 1.28 
    

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

 
(1)   Represents net income attributable to Blackstone Mortgage Trust, Inc.

Other Balance Sheet Items

Accumulated
Other
Comprehensive
Loss

As of June 30, 2017, total accumulated other comprehensive loss was $40.5 million, primarily representing (i) $79.6 million of cumulative unrealized currency translation
adjustments on assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies and (ii) an offsetting $39.1 million of net realized and unrealized gains related to changes in the fair
value  of  derivative  instruments.  As  of  December  31,  2016,  total  accumulated  other  comprehensive  loss  was $56.2  million,  primarily  representing  (i)  $107.5  million  of
cumulative unrealized currency translation adjustments on assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies and (ii) an offsetting $51.3 million of net realized and
unrealized gains related to changes in the fair value of derivative instruments.
 

29



Table of Contents

Blackstone Mortgage Trust, Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

(Unaudited)
 
12. OTHER EXPENSES

Our other expenses consist of the management and incentive fees we pay to our Manager and our general and administrative expenses.

Management and Incentive Fees

Pursuant to  a  management  agreement  between our  Manager  and us,  or  our  Management  Agreement,  our  Manager  earns  a  base  management  fee  in  an  amount  equal  to
1.50% per annum multiplied by our outstanding equity balance, as defined in the Management Agreement. In addition, our Manager is entitled to an incentive fee in an
amount equal to the product of (i)  20% and (ii)  the excess of (a) our Core Earnings (as defined in our Management Agreement) for the previous 12-month period over
(b) an amount equal to 7.00% per annum multiplied by our outstanding Equity, provided that our Core Earnings over the prior three-year period is greater than zero. Core
Earnings, as defined in our Management Agreement, is generally equal to our net income (loss) prepared in accordance with GAAP, excluding (i) certain non-cash items
(ii) the net income (loss) related to our legacy portfolio and (iii) incentive management fees.

During the three and six months ended June 30, 2017, we incurred $9.6 million and $19.1 million, respectively, of management fees payable to our Manager, compared to
$9.4  million  and  $18.9  million  during  the  same periods  in  2016.  In  addition,  during  the  three  and  six  months  ended June  30,  2017,  we incurred  $4.8  million  and  $8.2
million, respectively, of incentive fees payable to our Manager, compared to $6.4 million and $10.6 million during the same periods in 2016.

As of June 30, 2017 and December 31, 2016 we had accrued management and incentive fees payable to our Manager of $14.4 million and $12.8 million, respectively.

General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative expenses consisted of the following ($ in thousands):
 

   Three Months Ended June 30,    Six Months Ended June 30,  
   2017    2016    2017    2016  
Professional services   $ 862   $ 756   $ 1,878   $ 1,644 
Operating and other costs    489    521    934    1,391 

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Subtotal    1,351    1,277    2,812    3,035 
Non-cash and CT Legacy Portfolio compensation expenses         

Management incentive awards plan - CTOPI (1)    —      (3)    —      168 
Management incentive awards plan - CT Legacy Partners (2)    —      630    —      758 
Restricted class A common stock earned    5,865    4,742    11,678    9,335 
Director stock-based compensation    94    94    188    188 

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Subtotal    5,959    5,463    11,866    10,449 
    

 
    

 
    

 
    

 

Total BXMT expenses    7,310    6,740    14,678    13,484 
Other expenses    63    41    122    92 

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Total general and administrative expenses   $ 7,373   $ 6,781   $ 14,800   $ 13,576 
    

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

 
 (1) Represents the portion of CTOPI promote revenue recorded under compensation awards. See Note 4 for further discussion.  

 (2) Represents the amounts recorded under the CT Legacy Partners management incentive awards during the period. See below for discussion of the CT
Legacy Partners management incentive awards plan.  
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CT Legacy Partners Management Incentive Awards Plan

In conjunction with our March 2011 restructuring, we created an employee pool for up to 6.75% of the distributions paid to the common equity holders of our subsidiary,
CT  Legacy  Partners  (subject  to  certain  caps  and  priority  distributions).  During  the  three  and  six  months  ended  June  30,  2016  we  recognized  $630,000  and  $758,000,
respectively, of expenses under the CT Legacy Partners incentive plan. Our investment in CT Legacy Partners was substantially realized as of December 31, 2016.

13. INCOME TAXES

We elected to be taxed as a REIT, effective January 1, 2003, under the Internal Revenue Code for U.S. federal income tax purposes. We generally must distribute annually
at least 90% of our net taxable income, subject to certain adjustments and excluding any net capital gain, in order for U.S. federal income tax not to apply to our earnings
that we distribute. To the extent that we satisfy this distribution requirement, but distribute less than 100% of our net taxable income, we will be subject to U.S. federal
income tax on our undistributed taxable income. In addition, we will be subject to a 4% nondeductible excise tax if the actual amount that we pay out to our stockholders in
a calendar year is less than a minimum amount specified under U.S. federal tax laws.

Our qualification as a REIT also depends on our ability to meet various other requirements imposed by the Internal Revenue Code, which relate to organizational structure,
diversity of stock ownership, and certain restrictions with regard to the nature of our assets and the sources of our income. Even if we qualify as a REIT, we may be subject
to certain U.S. federal income and excise taxes and state and local taxes on our income and assets. If we fail to maintain our qualification as a REIT for any taxable year,
we may be subject to material penalties as well as federal, state, and local income tax on our taxable income at regular corporate rates and we would not be able to qualify
as a REIT for the subsequent four full taxable years. As of June 30, 2017 and December 31, 2016, we were in compliance with all REIT requirements.

During the three and six months ended June 30, 2017, we recorded a current income tax provision of $94,000 and $183,000, respectively, primarily related to activities of
our taxable REIT subsidiaries and various state and local taxes. During the three and six months ended June 30, 2016, we recorded a current income tax benefit of $154,000
and a current income tax provision of $87,000, respectively. We did not have any deferred tax assets or liabilities as of June 30, 2017 or December 31, 2016.

As  a result  of  our  issuance  of  25,875,000  shares  of  class  A  common  stock  in  May  2013,  the  availability  of  our  net  operating  losses,  or  NOLs,  is  generally  limited  to
$2.0 million per annum by change of control provisions promulgated by the Internal Revenue Service with respect to the ownership of Blackstone Mortgage Trust. As of
December  31,  2016,  we had estimated  NOLs of  $159.0  million  available  to  be  carried  forward and utilized  in  current  or  future  periods.  If  we are  unable  to  utilize our
NOLs, they will expire in 2029.

As of June 30, 2017, tax years 2013 through 2016 remain subject to examination by taxing authorities.

14. STOCK-BASED INCENTIVE PLANS

We do not have any employees as we are externally managed by our Manager. However, as of June 30, 2017, our Manager, certain individuals employed by an affiliate of
our Manager, and certain members of our board of directors were compensated, in part, through the issuance of stock-based instruments.

We had stock-based incentive awards outstanding under seven benefit plans as of June 30, 2017: (i) our amended and restated 1997 non-employee director stock plan, or
1997 Plan; (ii) our 2007 long-term incentive plan, or 2007 Plan; (iii) our 2011 long-term incentive plan, or 2011 Plan; (iv) our 2013 stock incentive plan, or 2013 Plan;
(v) our 2013 manager incentive plan, or 2013 Manager Plan; (vi) our 2016 stock incentive plan, or 2016 Plan; and (vii) our 2016 manager incentive plan, or 2016 Manager
Plan. We refer to our 1997 Plan, our 2007 Plan, our 2011 Plan, our 2013 Plan, and our 2013 Manager Plan, collectively, as our Expired Plans and we refer to our 2016 Plan
and 2016 Manager Plan, collectively, as our Current Plans.

Our Expired Plans have expired and no new awards may be issued under them. Under our Current Plans, a maximum of 2,400,000 shares of our class A common stock
may be issued to our Manager, our directors and officers, and certain employees of affiliates of our Manager. As of June 30, 2017, there were 1,456,508 shares available
under the Current Plans.
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The following table details the movement in our outstanding shares of restricted class A common stock and the weighted-average grant date fair value per share:
 

   
Restricted Class A 

Common Stock    

Weighted-Average 
Grant Date Fair 
Value Per Share  

Balance as of December 31, 2016    1,309,995   $ 28.68 
Granted    289,896    30.55 
Vested    (222,759)    27.77 
Forfeited    (3,123)    27.37 

    
 

    
 

Balance as of June 30, 2017    1,374,009   $ 29.23 
    

 

    

 

These  shares  generally  vest  in  installments  over  a  three-year  period,  pursuant  to  the  terms of  the  respective award agreements  and the  terms of  the  Current  Plans.  The
1,374,009 shares of restricted class A common stock outstanding as of June 30, 2017 will vest as follows: 525,257 shares will vest in 2017; 542,789 shares will vest in
2018; 305,218 shares will  vest  in 2019; and 745 shares will  vest  in 2020. As of June 30, 2017, total  unrecognized compensation cost  relating to nonvested share-based
compensation arrangements was $36.3 million based on the June 30, 2017 closing price of our class A common stock of $31.60. This cost is expected to be recognized over
a weighted average period of 1.1 years from June 30, 2017.

15. FAIR VALUES

Assets and Liabilities Measured at Fair Value

The following table summarizes our assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis ($ in thousands):
 

   June 30, 2017    December 31, 2016  
     Level 1       Level 2       Level 3     Fair Value     Level 1       Level 2       Level 3     Fair Value 
Assets                 

Derivatives   $ —     $ 743   $ —     $ 743   $ —     $ 4,086   $ —     $ 4,086 
Liabilities                 

Derivatives   $ —     $ 6,928   $ —     $ 6,928   $ —     $ 210   $ —     $ 210 

The following table reconciles the beginning and ending balances of assets measured at fair value on a recurring basis using Level 3 inputs ($ in thousands):
 

   Six Months Ended June 30,  
   2017    2016 (1)  
January 1,   $ —     $ 12,561 
Proceeds from investment realizations    —      (2,406) 
Transfers out of level 3 (2)    —      (20,745) 
Adjustments to fair value included in earnings     

Gain on investments at fair value    —      10,590 
    

 
    

 

June 30,   $ —     $ —   
    

 

    

 

 

 (1) All assets measured at fair value on a recurring basis using Level 3 inputs were included as a component of other assets in
the consolidated Balance Sheets.  

 
(2) During  the  second  quarter  of  2016,  $20.7  million  of  collateralized  debt  obligations,  or  CDOs,  were  transferred out of

Level  3  and  into  Level  1  as  a  result  of  a  binding  agreement  to  sell  the  underlying  collateral  assets  of  the  CDO  to  an
independent third-party as of June 30, 2016.

 

Refer to Note 2 for further discussion regarding fair value measurement.
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Fair Value of Financial Instruments

As discussed in Note 2, GAAP requires disclosure of fair value information about financial instruments, whether or not recognized in the statement of financial position,
for which it is practicable to estimate that value. The following table details the carrying amount, face amount, and fair value of the financial instruments described in Note
2 ($ in thousands):
 

   June 30, 2017    December 31, 2016  
   Carrying    Face    Fair    Carrying    Face    Fair  
   Amount    Amount    Value    Amount    Amount    Value  
Financial assets             

Cash and cash equivalents   $ 33,521   $ 33,521   $ 33,521   $ 75,567   $ 75,567   $ 75,567 
Restricted cash    34,278    34,278    34,278    —      —      —   
Loans receivable, net      9,587,457      9,630,306      9,635,553      8,692,978      8,727,218      8,733,784 

Financial liabilities             
Secured debt agreements, net    5,806,037    5,823,766    5,823,766    5,716,354    5,731,626    5,731,626 
Loan participations sold, net    367,671    369,042    369,042    348,077    349,633    349,633 
Securitized debt obligations, net    474,123    474,620    476,572    —      —      —   
Convertible notes, net    448,047    460,000    493,516    166,762    172,500    191,763 

Estimates  of  fair  value  for  cash  and  cash  equivalents,  restricted  cash,  and  convertible  notes  are  measured using  observable,  quoted  market  prices,  or  Level  1  inputs.
Estimates of fair  value for securitized debt obligations are measured using observable,  quoted market  prices,  in inactive markets,  or Level 2 inputs.  All  other fair  value
significant estimates are measured using unobservable inputs, or Level 3 inputs. See Note 2 for further discussion regarding fair value measurement of certain of our assets
and liabilities.

16. VARIABLE INTEREST ENTITIES

In the second quarter of 2017, we financed one of our loans through the Securitization, which is a VIE. We are the primary beneficiary and consolidate the Securitization
on our balance sheet as we (i) control the subordinate tranche of the Securitization, which we believe gives us the power to direct the activities that most significantly affect
the Securitization, and (ii) have the right to receive benefits and obligation to absorb losses of the Securitization through the subordinate interests we own.

The following table details the assets and liabilities of our consolidated Securitization VIE ($ in thousands):
 

   June 30, 2017    December 31, 2016 
Assets:     
Loans receivable, net   $ 500,000   $ —   
Other assets    204    —   

    
 

    
 

Total assets   $ 500,204   $ —   
    

 

    

 

Liabilities:     
Securitized debt obligations, net   $ 474,123   $ —   
Other liabilities    37    —   

    
 

    
 

Total liabilities   $ 474,160   $ —   
    

 

    

 

Assets  held  by  the  Securitization  are  restricted  and  can  be  used  only  to  settle  obligations  of  the Securitization,  including  the  subordinate  interests  owned  by  us.  The
liabilities of the Securitization are non-recourse to us and can only be satisfied from the assets of the Securitization. The consolidation of the Securitization results in an
increase in our gross assets,  liabilities,  interest  income and interest  expense,  however it  does not affect  our stockholders’  equity or net income. We are not obligated to
provide, have not provided, and do not intend to provide financial support to the Securitization.
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17. TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES

We are managed by our Manager pursuant to the Management Agreement, the current term of which expires on December 19, 2017, and will be automatically renewed for
a one-year term each anniversary thereafter unless earlier terminated.

As of June 30, 2017 and December 31, 2016, our consolidated balance sheet included $14.4 million and $12.8 million of accrued management and incentive fees payable to
our Manager, respectively. During the three and six months ended June 30, 2017, we paid management and incentive fees of $12.9 million and $25.7 million, respectively,
to  our  Manager,  compared  to  $13.6  million  and $28.0  million  during  the  same periods  of  2016.  In  addition,  during  the  three  and  six  months  ended June  30,  2017,  we
reimbursed our Manager for expenses incurred on our behalf of $174,000 and $266,000, respectively, compared to $59,000 and $380,000 during the same periods of 2016.
During the three and six months ended June 30, 2016, CT Legacy Partners made aggregate preferred distributions of $121,000 and $345,000, respectively, to an affiliate of
our Manager.

As of June 30, 2017, our Manager held 663,846 shares of unvested restricted class A common stock, which had an aggregate grant date fair value of $19.3 million. The
shares vest in installments over three years from the date of issuance. During the three and six months ended June 30, 2017, we recorded non-cash expense related to shares
held by our Manager  of  $2.9 million and $5.8 million,  respectively,  compared to $2.5 million and $4.6 million during the same periods of  2016.  We did not issue any
shares of restricted class A common stock to our Manager during the six months ended June 30, 2017 or 2016, respectively. Refer to Note 14 for further details.

During the six months ended June 30, 2017, we originated three loans whereby each respective borrower engaged an affiliate of our Manager to act as title insurance agent
in connection with each transaction. We did not incur any expenses or receive any revenues as a result of this transaction. We did not have any similar transactions during
the six months ended June 30, 2016.

During the  three  and six  months  ended June  30,  2017,  we incurred  $79,000 and $167,000,  respectively,  of  expenses  for  various administrative  and capital  market  data
services to third-party service providers that are affiliates of our Manager, compared to $80,000 and $170,000 during the same periods of 2016.

On  June  30,  2017,  in  a  fully  subscribed  offering  totaling  $474.6  million,  certain  Blackstone-advised  investment  vehicles  purchased,  in the  aggregate,  $72.9  million  of
securitized debt obligations issued by the Securitization. These investments by the Blackstone-advised investment vehicles represented no more than a 49% participation in
any individual tranche and were purchased by the Blackstone-advised investment vehicles from third-party investment banks on market terms negotiated by the majority
third-party investors.

18. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Unfunded Commitments Under Loans Receivable

As of  June 30,  2017,  we had unfunded commitments  of  $1.4 billion  related  to  62 loans  receivable,  which amounts  will  generally  be  funded to finance lease-related or
capital expenditures by our borrowers. These future commitments will expire variously over the next four years.

Litigation

From time to time, we may be involved in various claims and legal actions arising in the ordinary course of business. As of June 30, 2017, we were not involved in any
material legal proceedings.

Board of Directors’ Compensation

As of June 30, 2017, of the eight members of our board of directors, our five independent directors are entitled to annual compensation of $125,000 each. The other three
board  members,  including  our  chairman  and  our  chief  executive  officer,  serve  as  directors  without  compensation  for  such  service.  As  of  June  30,  2017,  the  annual
compensation for  our directors  was paid 40% in cash and 60% in the form of deferred stock units.  In addition,  the member of our board of directors  that  serves as the
chairperson of the audit committee of our board of directors receives additional annual cash compensation of $12,000. Compensation to the board of directors is payable in
four equal quarterly installments.
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Blackstone Mortgage Trust, Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

(Unaudited)
 
In April 2017, our board of directors approved changes to the compensation of our five independent directors which will be effective as of the beginning of the third quarter
of 2017. The other three board members, including our chairman and our chief executive officer, will continue to serve as directors without compensation for such service.
These changes will increase the annual compensation of our directors from $125,000 to $175,000 and will be paid $75,000 in cash and $100,000 in the form of deferred
stock units. In addition, the chair of our audit committee will receive an increase in the additional annual cash compensation from $12,000 to $20,000, the other members
of our audit committee will receive additional annual cash compensation of $10,000, and the chairs of each of our compensation and corporate governance committees will
receive additional annual cash compensation of $10,000.
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ITEM 2. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

References
herein
to
“Blackstone
Mortgage
Trust,”
“Company,”
“we,”
“us,”
or
“our”
refer
to
Blackstone
Mortgage
Trust,
Inc.
and
its
subsidiaries
unless
the
context
specifically
requires
otherwise.

The
following
discussion
should
be
read
in
conjunction
with
the
unaudited
consolidated
financial
statements
and
notes
thereto
appearing
elsewhere
in
this
quarterly
report
on 
Form
10-Q.
In 
addition 
to 
historical 
data, 
this
discussion 
contains 
forward-looking 
statements 
about 
our 
business, 
operations 
and 
financial 
performance 
based 
on
current
expectations
that
involve
risks,
uncertainties
and
assumptions.
Our
actual
results
may
differ
materially
from
those
in
this
discussion
as
a
result
of
various
factors,
including
but 
not 
limited
to
those
discussed
in
Item
1A.
Risk
Factors 
in
our
annual 
report 
on
Form
10-K
for
the
year
ended
December
31, 
2016
and
elsewhere
in
this
quarterly
report
on
Form
10-Q.

Introduction

Blackstone Mortgage Trust is a real estate finance company that originates and purchases senior loans collateralized by properties in North America and Europe. We are
externally managed by BXMT Advisors L.L.C., or our Manager, a subsidiary of The Blackstone Group L.P., or Blackstone, and are a real estate investment trust, or REIT,
traded on the New York Stock Exchange, or NYSE, under the symbol “BXMT.” We are headquartered in New York City.

We conduct our operations as a REIT for U.S. federal income tax purposes. We generally will not be subject to U.S. federal income taxes on our taxable income to the
extent that we annually distribute all of our net taxable income to stockholders and maintain our qualification as a REIT. We also operate our business in a manner that
permits us to maintain an exclusion from registration under the Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended. We are organized as a holding company and conduct our
business primarily through our various subsidiaries.

I. Key Financial Measures and Indicators
 
As a real estate finance company, we believe the key financial measures and indicators for our business are earnings per share, dividends declared, Core Earnings, and book
value per share. For the three months ended June 30, 2017 we recorded earnings per share of $0.53, declared a dividend of $0.62 per share, and reported $0.60 per share of
Core  Earnings.  In  addition,  our  book value  per  share  as  of  June  30,  2017  was  $26.38.  As  further  described  below,  Core  Earnings  is  a  measure  that  is  not  prepared  in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America,  or GAAP. We use Core Earnings to evaluate our performance excluding the
effects of certain transactions and GAAP adjustments that we believe are not necessarily indicative of our current loan activity and operations.

Earnings Per Share and Dividends Declared

The following table sets forth the calculation of basic and diluted net income per share and dividends declared per share ($ in thousands, except per share data):
 

   Three Months Ended  
   June 30, 2017    March 31, 2017  
Net income (1)   $ 50,613   $ 51,405 
Weighted-average shares outstanding, basic and diluted    95,005,873    94,993,386 

    
 

    
 

Net income per share, basic and diluted   $ 0.53   $ 0.54 
    

 

    

 

Dividends declared per share   $ 0.62   $ 0.62 
    

 

    

 

 
 (1) Represents net income attributable to Blackstone Mortgage Trust, Inc.

Core Earnings

Core Earnings  is  a non-GAAP measure,  which we define as  GAAP net  income (loss),  including realized gains  and losses  not  otherwise  included in GAAP net  income
(loss),  and  excluding  (i)  net  income  (loss)  attributable  to  our  CT  Legacy  Portfolio,  (ii)  non-cash equity  compensation  expense,  (iii)  depreciation  and  amortization,
(iv)  unrealized gains (losses),  and (v) certain non-cash items.  Core Earnings may also be adjusted from time to time to exclude one-time events  pursuant  to changes in
GAAP and certain other non-cash charges as determined by our Manager, subject to approval by a majority of our independent directors.
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We believe that Core Earnings provides meaningful information to consider in addition to our net income and cash flow from operating activities determined in accordance
with  GAAP.  This  adjusted  measure  helps  us  to  evaluate  our  performance  excluding  the  effects  of  certain  transactions  and  GAAP adjustments  that  we  believe  are  not
necessarily indicative of our current loan portfolio and operations. Although, according to the management agreement between our Manager and us, or our Management
Agreement, we calculate the incentive and base management fees due to our Manager using Core Earnings before incentive fees expense, we report Core Earnings after
incentive fee expense, as we believe this is a more meaningful presentation of the economic performance of our class A common stock.

Core  Earnings  does  not  represent  net  income  or  cash  generated  from  operating  activities  and  should  not  be  considered  as  an  alternative  to  GAAP net  income,  or  an
indication of our GAAP cash flows from operations, a measure of our liquidity, or an indication of funds available for our cash needs. In addition, our methodology for
calculating  Core  Earnings  may  differ  from the  methodologies employed  by  other  companies  to  calculate  the  same  or  similar  supplemental  performance  measures,  and
accordingly, our reported Core Earnings may not be comparable to the Core Earnings reported by other companies.

The following table provides a reconciliation of Core Earnings to GAAP net income ($ in thousands, except per share data):
 

   Three Months Ended  
   June 30, 2017    March 31, 2017  
Net income (1)   $ 50,613   $ 51,405 
Non-cash compensation expense    5,959    5,907 
GE purchase discount accretion adjustment (2)    (198)    (216) 
Other items    1,001    1,024 

    
 

    
 

Core Earnings   $ 57,375   $ 58,120 
    

 

    

 

Weighted-average shares outstanding, basic and diluted    95,005,873    94,993,386 
    

 

    

 

Core Earnings per share, basic and diluted   $ 0.60   $ 0.61 
    

 

    

 

 
 (1) Represents net income attributable to Blackstone Mortgage Trust.

 (2) Adjustment  in  respect  of  the  deferral  in  Core  Earnings  of  the  accretion  of  a  total  $9.1  million  of  purchase discount
attributable to a certain pool of GE portfolio loans pending the repayment of those loans.  

Book Value Per Share

The following table calculates our book value per share ($ in thousands, except per share data):
 

   June 30, 2017    March 31, 2017  
Stockholders’ equity   $ 2,506,473   $ 2,495,982 
Shares     

Class A common stock    94,827,579    94,818,348 
Deferred stock units    181,931    175,442 

    
 

    
 

Total outstanding    95,009,510    94,993,790 
    

 

    

 

Book value per share   $ 26.38   $ 26.28 
    

 

    

 

II. Loan Portfolio
 
During the quarter ended June 30, 2017, we originated $1.5 billion of loans. Loan fundings during the quarter totaled $1.3 billion and repayments totaled $442.0 million.
We generated interest income of $126.8 million and incurred interest expense of $54.4 million during the quarter, which resulted in $72.5 million of net interest income
during the three months ended June 30, 2017.
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Portfolio Overview

The following table details our loan origination activity ($ in thousands):
 

   Three Months Ended   Six Months Ended 
   June 30, 2017    June 30, 2017  
Loan originations (1)   $ 1,475,196   $ 2,472,906 
Loan fundings (2)   $ 1,252,608   $ 1,977,838 
Loan repayments (3)    (441,993)    (1,222,806) 

    
 

    
 

Total net fundings   $ 810,615   $ 755,032 
    

 

    

 

 
 (1) Includes new loan originations and additional commitments made under existing loans.

 (2) Loan fundings during the three and six months ended June 30, 2017 include $15.3 million and $38.2 million, respectively,
of additional fundings under related non-consolidated senior interests.  

 (3) Loan  repayments  during  the  three  and  six  months  ended  June  30,  2017  include  $20.0  million  and  $105.1 million,
respectively, of additional repayments under related non-consolidated senior interests.  

The following table details overall statistics for our loan portfolio as of June 30, 2017 ($ in thousands):
 

      Total Loan Exposure (1)  

   
Balance Sheet

Portfolio   
Total Loan 

Portfolio   
Floating Rate

Loans   
Fixed Rate 

Loans  
Number of loans    102   102   89   13 
Principal balance   $  9,630,306  $  10,613,660  $  9,755,917  $  857,743 
Net book value   $ 9,587,457  $ 10,567,882  $ 9,710,617  $ 857,265 
Unfunded loan commitments (2)   $ 1,389,982  $ 1,448,115  $ 1,448,115  $ —   
Weighted-average cash coupon (3)    5.27%   5.10%   L+3.99%   4.78% 
Weighted-average all-in yield (3)    5.65%   5.54%   L+4.39%   5.67% 
Weighted-average maximum maturity (years) (4)    3.4   3.5   3.4   4.2 
Loan to value (LTV) (5)    61.5%   60.9%   60.1%   69.6% 
 
(1)  

 

In certain instances, we finance our loans through the non-recourse sale of a senior loan interest that is not included in our consolidated
financial statements. Total loan exposure encompasses the entire loan we originated and financed, including $983.4 million of such non-
consolidated senior interests that are not included in our balance sheet portfolio.

(2)  
 

Unfunded commitments will primarily be funded to finance property improvements or lease-related expenditures by the borrowers. These
future commitments will be funded over the term of each loan, subject in certain cases to an expiration date.

(3)  

 

As of June 30, 2017, our floating rate loans were indexed to various benchmark rates, with 86% of floating rate loans by loan exposure
indexed to USD LIBOR based on total loan exposure. In addition, $228.9 million of our floating rate loans earned interest based on floors
that are above the applicable index, with an average floor of 1.18%, as of June 30, 2017. In addition to cash coupon, all-in yield includes
the amortization of deferred origination fees, loan origination costs, purchase discounts, and accrual of both extension and exit fees. Cash
coupon and all-in yield for the total portfolio assume applicable floating benchmark rates for weighted-average calculation.

(4)  

 

Maximum maturity assumes all extension options are exercised by the borrower, however our loans may be repaid prior to such date. As
of June 30, 2017, based on total loan exposure, 56% of our loans were subject to yield maintenance or other prepayment restrictions and
44% were open to repayment by the borrower without penalty.

(5)   Based on LTV as of the dates loans were originated or acquired by us.
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The charts below detail the geographic distribution and types of properties securing these loans, as of June 30, 2017:
 

Refer to section VI of this Item 2 for details of our loan portfolio, on a loan-by-loan basis.

Asset
Management

We actively manage the investments in our loan portfolio and exercise the rights afforded to us as a lender, including collateral level budget approvals, lease approvals,
loan covenant enforcement, escrow/reserve management/collection, collateral release approvals and other rights that we may negotiate.

As discussed in Note 2 to our consolidated financial statements, our Manager performs a quarterly review of our loan portfolio, assesses the performance of each loan, and
assigns it a risk rating between “1” and “5,” from less risk to greater risk. The following table allocates the principal balance and total loan exposure balances based on our
internal risk ratings ($ in thousands):
 

   June 30, 2017  
Risk 

Rating   
Number
of Loans  

Net Book 
Value    

Total Loan 
Exposure (1)  

1       5   $ 285,006   $ 285,064 
2     44    3,692,459    3,701,921 
3     52    5,589,247    6,605,992 
4       1    20,745    20,683 
5     —      —      —   

       
 

    
 

  102   $  9,587,457   $  10,613,660 
       

 

    

 

 

 

(1) In certain instances, we finance our loans through the non-recourse sale of a senior loan interest that is
not included  in  our  consolidated  financial  statements.  See  Note  2  to  our  consolidated  financial
statements for further discussion.  Total  loan exposure encompasses the entire loan we originated and
financed, including $983.4 million of such non-consolidated senior interests as of June 30, 2017.

 

The weighted-average risk rating of our total loan exposure was 2.6 and 2.5 as of June 30, 2017 and December 31, 2016, respectively. The increase in weighted-average
risk rating was primarily driven by repayments of loans with lower risk ratings, and not rating downgrades in the existing portfolio.

Portfolio Financing

Our  portfolio financing  arrangements  include  credit  facilities,  the  GE  portfolio  acquisition  facility,  asset-specific  financings,  a  revolving  credit  agreement,  loan
participations sold, non-consolidated senior interests, and securitized debt obligations.
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The following table details our portfolio financing ($ in thousands):
 

   Portfolio Financing  
   Outstanding Principal Balance  
   June 30, 2017    December 31, 2016  
Credit facilities   $ 4,014,582   $ 3,572,837 
GE portfolio acquisition facility    1,188,076    1,479,582 
Asset-specific financings    530,358    679,207 
Revolving credit agreement    90,750    —   
Loan participations sold    369,042    349,633 
Non-consolidated senior interests    983,354    1,029,516 
Securitized debt obligations    474,620    —   

    
 

    
 

Total portfolio financing   $     7,650,782   $ 7,110,775 
    

 

    

 

Credit Facilities

The following table details our credit facilities ($ in thousands):
 

   June 30, 2017  
   Maximum    Collateral    Credit Borrowings  
Lender   Facility Size (1)   Assets (2)    Potential (3)    Outstanding    Available (3)  
Wells Fargo   $ 2,000,000   $ 1,993,129   $ 1,548,713   $ 1,232,179   $ 316,534 
MetLife    1,000,000    1,013,172    795,207    795,207    —   
Bank of America    750,000    816,218    641,066    641,066    —   
Société Générale (4)    457,040    456,849    354,959    348,486    6,473 
Deutsche Bank    500,000    377,634    284,174    284,174    —   
Citibank (5)    785,650    394,783    307,201    258,450    48,751 
Morgan Stanley (6)    651,250    411,350    321,848    254,345    67,503 
JP Morgan (7)    500,000    324,873    248,788    200,675    48,113 

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

  $    6,643,940   $    5,788,008   $    4,501,956   $    4,014,582   $     487,374 
    

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

 
(1)  

 
Maximum facility size represents the largest amount of borrowings available under a given facility once sufficient collateral
assets have been approved by the lender and pledged by us.

(2)  Represents the principal balance of the collateral assets.
(3)

 

Potential borrowings represents the total amount we could draw under each facility based on collateral already approved and
pledged. When undrawn, these amounts are immediately available to us at our sole discretion under the terms of each credit
facility.

(4)

 

As of June 30, 2017, the Société Générale maximum facility size was composed of a €400.0 million facility size that was
translated  to  $457.0  million.  Borrowings denominated  in  U.S.  Dollars,  British  Pound Sterling,  and Euro are  contemplated
under this facility.

(5)

 

As of June 30, 2017, the Citibank maximum facility size was composed of a general $500.0 million facility size denominated
in U.S. Dollars plus a general €250.0 million ($285.7 million) facility size that contemplated British Pound Sterling and Euro
borrowings.

(6)

 

As of  June 30,  2017,  the  Morgan Stanley maximum facility  size  was composed of  a  £500.0  million  facility size that was
translated  to  $651.3  million.  Borrowings denominated  in  U.S.  Dollars,  British  Pound Sterling,  and Euro are  contemplated
under this facility.

(7)
 
As of June 30, 2017, the JP Morgan maximum facility size was composed of a general $500.0 million facility size, under
which U.S. Dollars and British Pound Sterling borrowings are contemplated.

The  weighted-average  outstanding  balance  of  our  credit  facilities  was  $3.8  billion  for  the  six  months ended  June  30,  2017.  As  of  June  30,  2017,  we  had  aggregate
borrowings of $4.0 billion outstanding under our credit facilities, with a weighted-average cash coupon of LIBOR plus 1.90% per annum, a weighted-average all-in cost of
credit,  including  associated  fees  and  expenses,  of  LIBOR  plus  2.11%  per  annum,  and  a  weighted-average  advance  rate  of  78.8%.  As  of  June  30,  2017,  outstanding
borrowings under these facilities had a weighted-average maturity, excluding extension options and term-out provisions, of 1.5 years.

Borrowings under each facility are subject to the initial  approval of eligible collateral  loans by the lender and the maximum advance rate and pricing rate of individual
advances are determined with reference to the attributes of the respective collateral loan.
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GE Portfolio Acquisition Facility

During  the  second  quarter  of  2015,  concurrently  with  our  acquisition  of  the  GE portfolio,  we  entered  into  an  agreement  with  Wells  Fargo  to provide  us  with  secured
financing  for  the  acquired  portfolio.  As  of  June  30,  2017,  this  facility  provided  for  $1.3  billion  of  financing,  of  which  $1.2  billion  was  outstanding  and  an
additional $142.6 million was available to finance future loan fundings in the GE portfolio. The GE portfolio acquisition facility is non-revolving and consists of a single
master repurchase agreement providing for asset-specific borrowings for each collateral asset.

The asset-specific borrowings under the GE portfolio acquisition facility were advanced at a weighted-average rate of 80% of our purchase price of the collateral assets and
are repaid pro rata from collateral asset repayment proceeds. The asset-specific borrowings are currency matched to the collateral assets and accrue interest at a rate equal
to the sum of (i) the applicable base rate plus (ii) a margin of 1.75%, which will increase to 1.80% and 1.85% in year four and year five, respectively. As of June 30, 2017,
those  borrowings  were  denominated  in  U.S.  Dollars,  Canadian  Dollars,  and  British  Pounds  Sterling. The asset-specific  borrowings  are  term matched  to  the  underlying
collateral assets with an outside maturity date of May 20, 2020, which may be extended pursuant to two one-year extension options. We guarantee obligations under the GE
portfolio acquisition  facility  in  an  amount  equal  to  the  greater  of  (i)  25% of  outstanding  asset-specific  borrowings,  and  (ii)  $250.0  million.  We  had  outstanding  asset-
specific  borrowings  under  the  GE  portfolio  acquisition  facility  of $1.2  billion  and  a  weighted-average  all-in  cost  of  credit,  including  associated  fees  and  expenses,  of
LIBOR plus 1.80% per annum as of June 30, 2017.

Asset-Specific Financings

The following table details our asset-specific financings ($ in thousands):
 

  June 30, 2017  
     Principal    Book    Wtd. Avg.       Wtd. Avg.  
Asset-Specific Financings  Count  Balance    Value    Yield/Cost (1)  Guarantee (2)   Term (3)  
Collateral assets  5   $ 675,639   $ 672,295    L+4.71%   n/a    Nov. 2020 
Financing provided (4)  5   $     530,358   $     529,350    L+2.48%  $ 167,124    Nov. 2020 
 
(1)  

 

These floating rate loans and related liabilities are indexed to the various benchmark rates relevant in each arrangement in
terms of currency and payment frequency. Therefore the net exposure to each benchmark rate is in direct proportion to our
net assets indexed to that rate. In addition to cash coupon, yield/cost includes the amortization of deferred origination fees /
financing costs.

(2)
 
Other than amounts guaranteed on an asset-by-asset basis, borrowings under our asset-specific financings are non-recourse
to us.

(3)

 

The  weighted-average  term  is  determined  based  on  the  maximum  maturity  of  the  corresponding  loans,  assuming  all
extension options are exercised by the borrower. Each of our asset-specific financings are term-matched to the corresponding
collateral loans.

(4)
 
Borrowings of $394.8 million under these asset specific financings are cross collateralized with related credit facilities with
the same lenders.

Refer to Note 6 to our consolidated financial statements for additional terms and details of our secured debt agreements, including certain financial covenants.

Revolving Credit Agreement

During the second quarter of 2017, we increased our secured revolving credit  agreement with Barclays by $125.0 million to $250.0 million of credit capacity. This full
recourse facility is designed to finance first  mortgage originations for up to six months as a bridge to term financing or syndication. Advances under the agreement are
subject to availability under a specified borrowing base and accrue interest at a per annum pricing rate equal to the sum of (i) an applicable base rate or Eurodollar rate and
(ii) an applicable margin, in each case, dependent on the applicable type of loan collateral. The maturity date of the facility is April 4, 2020.

During the six months ended June 30, 2017, the weighted-average outstanding borrowings under the revolving credit agreement were $1.0 million and we recorded interest
expense of $589,000, including $332,000 of amortization of deferred fees and expenses. As of June 30, 2017, we had $90.8 million of borrowings outstanding under the
agreement.
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Loan Participations Sold

The following table details our loan participations sold ($ in thousands):
 

  June 30, 2017  
     Principal    Book             
Loan Participations Sold  Count  Balance    Value    Yield/Cost (1)  Guarantee (2)   Term  
Total loan  1   $  442,850   $  439,880    L+4.48%   n/a    Dec. 2019 
Senior participation (3)(4)  1    369,042    367,671    L+2.72%  $ 31,260    Dec. 2019 
 
(1)  

 

Our  floating  rate  loans  and  related  liabilities  are  indexed  to  the  various  benchmark  rates  relevant  in  each  arrangement  in
terms of currency and payment frequency. Therefore the net exposure to each benchmark rate is in direct proportion to our
net assets indexed to that rate. In addition to cash coupon, yield/cost includes the amortization of deferred fees / financing
costs.

(2)
 
Other than one instance where we entered into a related guarantee agreement for £24.0 million ($31.3 million as of June 30,
2017), our loan participations sold are non-recourse to us.

(3)
 
During the three and six months ended June 30, 2017, we recorded $2.7 million and $5.3 million, respectively, of interest
expense related to our loan participations sold, of which $2.6 million and $5.0 million was paid in cash.

(4)
 
The  difference  between  principal  balance  and  book  value  of  loan  participations  sold  is  due  to  deferred  financing  costs  of
$1.4 million as of June 30, 2017.

Refer to Note 7 to our consolidated financial statements for additional details of our loan participations sold.

Non-Consolidated Senior Interests

In certain instances, we finance our loans through the non-recourse sale of a senior loan interest that is not included in our consolidated financial statements. These non-
consolidated senior interests provide structural leverage for our net investments which are reflected in the form of mezzanine loans or other subordinate interests on our
balance sheet and in our results of operations. The following table details the subordinate interests retained on our balance sheet and the related non-consolidated senior
interests as of June 30, 2017 ($ in thousands):
 

  June 30, 2017  
     Principal    Book    Wtd. Avg.       Wtd. Avg.  
Non-Consolidated Senior Interests  Count  Balance    Value   Yield/Cost (1)  Guarantee   Term  
Total loan  3   $  1,198,619    n/a    5.98%   n/a    May 2021 
Senior participation  3    983,354    n/a    4.38%   n/a    May 2021 
 
(1)  

 

Our floating rate loans and related liabilities were indexed to the various benchmark rates relevant in each arrangement in
terms of currency and payment frequency. Therefore the net exposure to each benchmark rate is in direct proportion to our
net  assets  indexed  to  that  rate.  In  addition  to  cash  coupon,  all-in  yield/cost  includes  the  amortization  of  deferred  fees  /
financing costs.

Securitized Debt Obligations

The following table details our securitized debt obligations ($ in thousands):
 

   June 30, 2017  
      Principal    Book         
Securitized Debt Obligations   Count  Balance    Value    Yield/Cost (1)  Term (2)  
Total loan   1   $  642,806   $639,280    L+3.60%   June 2023 
Securitized debt obligations (3)   1    474,620    474,123    L+1.95%   June 2033 
 
(1)   In addition to cash coupon, yield/cost includes the amortization of deferred origination fees / financing costs.
(2)  

 

Loan  term  represents  final  maturity,  assuming  all  extension  options  are  exercised  by  the  borrower.  Repayments  of
securitized debt obligations are tied to timing of the related collateral loan asset repayments. The term of these obligations
represents the rated final distribution date of the securitization.

(3)  
 
During the three and six months ended June 30, 2017, we recorded $37,000 of interest expense related to our securitized debt
obligations.

Refer to Notes 8 and 16 to our consolidated financial statements for additional details of our securitized debt obligations.
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Floating Rate Portfolio

Generally, our business model is such that rising interest rates will increase our net income, while declining interest rates will decrease net income. As of June 30, 2017,
92% of our loans by total loan exposure earned a floating rate of interest and were financed with liabilities that pay interest at floating rates, which resulted in an amount of
net  equity that  is  positively correlated to rising interest  rates,  subject  to  the impact  of  interest  rate  floors  on certain of  our  floating rate  loans.  As of  June 30,  2017,  the
remaining  8% of  our  loans  by total  loan exposure  earned a  fixed  rate  of  interest,  but  are financed with  liabilities  that  pay interest  at  floating rates,  which resulted  in  a
negative correlation to rising interest rates to the extent of our financing. In certain instances where we have financed fixed rate assets with floating rate liabilities, we have
purchased interest rate swaps or caps to limit our exposure to increases in interest rates on such liabilities.

Our liabilities are generally currency and index-matched to each collateral asset, resulting in a net exposure to movements in benchmark rates that varies by currency silo
based on the relative proportion of floating rate assets and liabilities. The following table details our loan portfolio’s net exposure to interest rates by currency as of June 30,
2017 ($/£/€/C$ in thousands):
 

   USD    GBP    EUR    CAD  
Floating rate loans (1)   $    8,385,876   £     739,807   €    47,784   C$     456,131 
Floating rate debt (1)(2)(3)    (6,127,892)    (571,016)    —      (391,899) 

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Net floating rate exposure (4)   $ 2,257,984   £ 168,791   € 47,784   C$ 64,232 
    

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

 
(1)  

 

Our floating rate  loans and related liabilities  are  indexed to the various benchmark rates  relevant  in each case in terms of
currency and payment frequency. Therefore the net exposure to each benchmark rate is in direct proportion to our net assets
indexed to that rate.

(2)
 
Includes  borrowings  under  secured  debt  agreements,  loan  participations  sold,  non-consolidated  senior  interests,  and
securitized debt obligations.

(3)
 
Liabilities  balance  includes  four  interest  rate  swaps  totaling  C$108.3  million  ($83.5  million  as  of  June  30,  2017) that are
used to hedge a portion of our fixed rate debt.

(4)
 
In  addition,  we have interest  rate  caps  of  $204.2 million  and C$52.6 million  to  limit  our  exposure  to  increases in interest
rates.

Convertible Notes

As of June 30, 2017, the following convertible senior notes, or Convertible Notes, were outstanding ($ in thousands):
 

Convertible Notes Issuance   Face Value   Coupon Rate  All-in Cost (1)  Maturity
November 2013   $ 172,500    5.25%   5.87%  December 1, 2018
May 2017    287,500    4.38%   4.93%  May 5, 2022
 
(1)  

 
Includes issuance costs that are amortized through interest expense over the life of the Convertible Notes using the effective
interest method.

Refer to Notes 2 and 9 to our consolidated financial statements for additional discussion of our Convertible Notes.
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III. Our Results of Operations
 
Operating Results

The following table sets forth information regarding our consolidated results of operations ($ in thousands, except per share data):
 
   Three Months Ended   2017 vs   Six Months Ended   2017 vs  
   June 30,   2016   June 30,   2016  
   2017    2016   $   2017    2016   $  
Income from loans and other investments          

Interest and related income   $126,825   $130,471  $ (3,646)  $245,341   $253,496  $ (8,155) 
Less: Interest and related expenses    54,352    49,065   5,287   101,026    94,446   6,580 

    
 

    
 

   
 

   
 

    
 

   
 

Income from loans and other investments, net    72,473    81,406   (8,933)   144,315    159,050   (14,735) 
Other expenses          

Management and incentive fees    14,393    15,847   (1,454)   27,314    29,460   (2,146) 
General and administrative expenses    7,373    6,781   592   14,800    13,576   1,224 

    
 

    
 

   
 

   
 

    
 

   
 

Total other expenses    21,766    22,628   (862)   42,114    43,036   (922) 
Gain on investments at fair value    —      10,524   (10,524)   —      10,589   (10,589) 
(Loss) income from equity investment in unconsolidated subsidiary    —      (6)   6   —      133   (133) 

    
 

    
 

   
 

   
 

    
 

   
 

Income before income taxes    50,707    69,296   (18,589)   102,201    126,736   (24,535) 
Income tax provision (benefit)    94    (154)   248   183    87   96 

    
 

    
 

   
 

   
 

    
 

   
 

Net income    50,613    69,450   (18,837)   102,018    126,649   (24,631) 
    

 
    

 
   

 
   

 
    

 
   

 

Net income attributable to non-controlling interests    —      (6,369)   6,369   —      (6,521)   6,521 
    

 
    

 
   

 
   

 
    

 
   

 

Net income attributable to Blackstone Mortgage Trust, Inc.   $ 50,613   $ 63,081  $(12,468)  $102,018   $120,128  $(18,110) 
    

 

    

 

   

 

   

 

    

 

   

 

Net income per share - basic and diluted   $ 0.53   $ 0.67  $ (0.14)  $ 1.07   $ 1.28  $ (0.21) 
Dividends declared per share   $ 0.62   $ 0.62  $ —    $ 1.24   $ 1.24  $ —   

Income
from
loans
and
other
investments,
net

Income from loans and other investments, net decreased $8.9 million during the three months ended June 30, 2017, as compared to the corresponding period in 2016. The
decrease was primarily due to the decrease in the weighted-average principal balance of our loan portfolio, which decreased by $504.0 million for the three months ended
June 30, 2017, as compared to the corresponding period in 2016, respectively.

Income from loans and other investments, net decreased $14.7 million during the six months ended June 30, 2017, as compared to the corresponding period in 2016. The
decrease was primarily due to the decrease in the weighted-average principal balance of our loan portfolio, which decreased by $607.8 million for the six months ended
June 30, 2017, as compared to the corresponding period in 2016, respectively.

Other
expenses

Other expenses are composed of management and incentive fees payable to our Manager and general and administrative expenses. Other expenses decreased by $862,000
during the three months ended June 30, 2017 compared to the corresponding period in 2016 due to (i) a decrease of $1.5 million of incentive fees payable to our Manager,
and  (ii)  a  decrease  of  $627,000  of  compensation  expenses  associated  with  our  CT  Legacy  Portfolio  incentive  plans.  These  were  partially  offset  by  (i)  $1.1 million of
additional  non-cash  restricted  stock  amortization  related  to  shares  awarded  under  our  long-term  incentive  plans,  and  (ii)  an  increase  of  $96,000  of  general  operating
expenses.

Other expenses decreased by $922,000 during the six months ended June 30, 2017 compared to the six months ended June 30, 2016 due to (i) a decrease of $2.3 million of
incentive fees payable to our Manager, (ii) a decrease of $904,000 of compensation expenses associated with our CT Legacy Portfolio incentive plans, and (iii) a decrease
of $214,000 of general operating expenses. These were partially offset by (i) $2.3 million of additional non-cash restricted stock amortization related to shares awarded
under our long-term incentive plans, and (ii) an increase of $176,000 of management fees payable to our Manager.
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Gain
on
investments
at
fair
value

During  the  three  and  six  months  ended  June  30,  2016,  we  recognized  $10.5  million  and  $10.6  million,  respectively,  of  net  gains  on investments  held  by  CT  Legacy
Partners. Our investment in CT Legacy Partners was substantially realized as of December 31, 2016.

Income
from
equity
investment
in
unconsolidated
subsidiary

During the three and six months ended June 30, 2016, we recognized a $6,000 loss and a $138,000 gain, respectively, related to our promote interest from CTOPI. The
investment in CTOPI was fully realized as of December 31, 2016.

Net
income
attributable
to
non-controlling
interests

During the three and six months ended June 30, 2016, we recognized $6.4 million and $6.5 million, respectively, of net income attributable to non-controlling interests. The
non-controlling interests represent the portion of CT Legacy Partners net income that is not owned by us. Our investment in CT Legacy Partners was substantially realized
as of December 31, 2016.

Dividends
per
share

During the three months ended June 30, 2017, we declared a dividend of $0.62 per share, or $58.8 million, which was paid on July 14, 2017 to common stockholders of
record as of June 30, 2017. During the three months ended June 30, 2016, we declared a dividend of $0.62 per share, or $58.2 million.

During  the  six  months  ended  June  30,  2017,  we  declared aggregate  dividends  of  $1.24  per  share,  or  $117.6  million.  During  the  six  months  ended  June  30,  2016,  we
declared aggregate dividends of $1.24 per share, or $116.5 million.

IV. Liquidity and Capital Resources
 
Capitalization

We  have  capitalized  our business  to  date  through,  among  other  things,  the  issuance  and  sale  of  shares  of  our  class  A  common  stock,  borrowings  under  secured  debt
agreements,  and  the  issuance  and  sale  of  Convertible  Notes.  As  of  June  30,  2017,  we  had  94,827,579  shares of  our  class  A  common  stock  outstanding  representing
$2.5 billion of stockholders’ equity, $5.8 billion of outstanding borrowings under secured debt agreements, and $460.0 million of Convertible Notes outstanding.

As of June 30, 2017, our secured debt agreements consisted of credit  facilities  with an outstanding balance of $4.0 billion,  the GE portfolio acquisition facility with an
outstanding  balance  of  $1.2  billion,  and  $530.4  million  of  asset-specific  financings.  We  also  finance  our  business  through  the  sale  of  loan  participations  and  non-
consolidated senior interests. As of June 30, 2017 we had $369.0 million of loan participations sold and $983.4 million of non-consolidated senior interests outstanding. In
addition, as of June 30, 2017, our consolidated balance sheets included $474.6 million of securitized debt obligations related to the Securitization.

See Notes 6,  7,  8,  and 9 to our consolidated financial  statements  for additional  details  regarding our  secured debt  agreements,  loan participations  sold,  securitized  debt
obligations, and Convertible Notes.
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Debt-to-Equity Ratio and Total Leverage Ratio

The following table presents our debt-to-equity ratio and total leverage ratio:
 

   June 30, 2017   December 31, 2016
Debt-to-equity ratio (1)     2.5x     2.3x
Total leverage ratio (2)     3.2x     2.9x
 
(1)  

 
Represents  (i)  total  outstanding  secured  debt  agreements  and  convertible  notes,  less  cash,  to  (ii)  total
stockholders’ equity, in each case at period end.

(2)

 

Represents  (i)  total  outstanding  secured  debt  agreements,  convertible  notes,  loan  participations  sold, non-
consolidated  senior  interests,  and  securitized  debt  obligations,  less  cash,  to  (ii)  total  stockholders’  equity,  in
each case at period end.

Sources of Liquidity

Our primary sources of  liquidity include cash and cash equivalents,  available  borrowings under our credit  facilities  and revolving credit agreement, and net receivables
from servicers related to loan repayments which are set forth in the following table ($ in thousands):
 

   June 30, 2017    December 31, 2016  
Cash and cash equivalents   $ 33,521   $ 75,567 
Available borrowings under secured debt agreements    491,812    541,743 
Loan principal payments held by servicer, net (1)    5,082    670 

    
 

    
 

  $ 530,415   $ 617,980 
    

 

    

 

 
(1)  

 
Represents  loan principal  payments  held  by our  third-party  servicer  as  of  the  balance  sheet  date  which were
remitted to us during the subsequent remittance cycle, net of the related secured debt balance.

In addition to our current sources of liquidity, we have access to liquidity through public offerings of debt and equity securities. To facilitate such offerings, in July 2016,
we filed a shelf registration statement with the Securities and Exchange Commission, or the SEC, that is effective for a term of three years and expires in July 2019. The
amount  of  securities  to be issued pursuant  to this  shelf  registration statement  was not  specified when it  was filed and there  is  no specific  dollar  limit  on the amount  of
securities we may issue. The securities covered by this registration statement include: (i) class A common stock; (ii) preferred stock; (iii) debt securities; (iv) depositary
shares  representing  preferred  stock;  (v)  warrants;  (vi)  subscription  rights;  (vii)  purchase  contracts;  and (viii)  units  consisting  of  one  or  more  of  such  securities  or  any
combination of these securities. The specifics of any future offerings, along with the use of proceeds of any securities offered, will be described in detail in a prospectus
supplement, or other offering materials, at the time of any offering.

We may also access liquidity through a dividend reinvestment plan and direct stock purchase plan, under which 9,997,784 shares of class A common stock were available
for issuance as of June 30, 2017, and our at-the-market stock offering program, pursuant to which we may sell, from time to time, up to $188.6 million of additional shares
of our class A common stock as of June 30, 2017. Refer to Note 11 to our consolidated financial statements for additional details.

Our existing loan portfolio also provides us with liquidity as loans are repaid or sold, in whole or in part, and the proceeds from such repayments become available for us to
reinvest.

Liquidity Needs

In addition to our ongoing loan origination activity, our primary liquidity needs include interest and principal payments under our $5.8 billion of outstanding borrowings
under secured debt agreements, our Convertible Notes, our unfunded loan commitments, dividend distributions to our stockholders, and operating expenses.
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Contractual Obligations and Commitments

Our contractual obligations and commitments as of June 30, 2017 were as follows ($ in thousands):
 

       Payment Timing  
   Total    Less Than    1 to 3    3 to 5    More Than 
   Obligation    1 Year    Years    Years    5 Years  
Unfunded loan commitments (1)   $ 1,389,982   $ 252,106   $ 871,840   $  266,036   $ —   
Principal payments under secured debt agreements (2)    5,823,766    2,511,085    3,189,566    123,115    —   
Principal payments on convertible notes    460,000    —      172,500    287,500    —   
Interest payments (2)(3)    354,374    181,172    147,725    25,477    —   

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Total (4)   $  8,028,122   $  2,944,363   $  4,381,631   $ 702,128   $ —   
    

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

 
(1)   The allocation of our unfunded loan commitments is based on the earlier of the commitment expiration date or the loan maturity date.
(2)

 
The  allocation  of  our  secured  debt  agreements  for  both  principal  and  interest  payments  is  based  on  the  current  maturity date  of  each
individual borrowing under the respective agreement.

(3)

 

Represents  interest  payments  on  our  secured  debt  agreements  and  convertible  notes.  Future  interest  payment  obligations  are estimated
assuming the amounts outstanding and the interest rates in effect as of June 30, 2017 will remain constant into the future. This is only an
estimate as actual amounts borrowed and rates will vary over time.

(4)
 

Total does not include $369.0 million of loan participations sold, $983.4 million of non-consolidated senior interests, and $474.6 million
of consolidated securitized debt obligations, as the satisfaction of these liabilities will not require cash outlays from us.

We are also required to settle our foreign currency forward contracts and interest rate swaps with our derivative counterparties upon maturity which, depending on foreign
exchange and interest rate movements, may result in cash received from or due to the respective counterparty. The table above does not include these amounts as they are
not fixed and determinable. Refer to Note 10 to our consolidated financial statement for details regarding our derivative contracts.

We are required to pay our Manager a base management fee, an incentive fee, and reimbursements for certain expenses pursuant to our Management Agreement. The table
above  does  not  include  the  amounts  payable  to  our  Manager  under  our  Management  Agreement  as they  are  not  fixed  and  determinable.  Refer  to  Note  12  to  our
consolidated financial statements for additional terms and details of the fees payable under our Management Agreement.

As a REIT, we generally must distribute substantially all of our net taxable income to shareholders in the form of dividends to comply with the REIT provisions of the
Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, or the Internal Revenue Code. Our taxable income does not necessarily equal our net income as calculated in accordance with
GAAP, or our Core Earnings as described above.

Cash Flows

The following table provides a breakdown of the net change in our cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash ($ in thousands):
 

   Six Months Ended June 30,  
   2017    2016  
Cash flows provided by operating activities   $    110,813   $  123,295 
Cash flows used in investing activities    (346,027)    (56,488) 
Cash flows provided by financing activities    224,167    8,106 

    
 

    
 

Net (decrease) increase in cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash   $ (11,047)   $ 74,913 
    

 

    

 

We experienced a net  decrease  in cash of $11.0 million for  the six months ended June 30,  2017, compared to a net increase of $74.9 million for the six months ended
June 30,  2016.  During the six months ended June 30,  2017,  we (i)  received $1.1 billion of  proceeds from loan principal  collections,  (ii)  received $280.5 million of net
proceeds from the issuance of a convertible note offering, and (iii) borrowed a net $70.9 million under our secured debt agreements. We used the proceeds from our debt
and equity financing activities to fund $1.5 billion of new loans during the six months ended June 30, 2017.
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Refer  to  Note  3  to  our  consolidated  financial  statements  for  further  discussion of  our  loan activity.  Refer  to  Notes  6  and 7  to  our  consolidated  financial  statements  for
additional discussion of our secured debt agreements and participations sold.

V. Other Items
 
Income Taxes

We elected to be taxed as a REIT, effective January 1, 2003, under the Internal Revenue Code for U.S. federal income tax purposes. We generally must distribute annually
at least 90% of our net taxable income, subject to certain adjustments and excluding any net capital gain, in order for U.S. federal income tax not to apply to our earnings
that we distribute. To the extent that we satisfy this distribution requirement, but distribute less than 100% of our net taxable income, we will be subject to U.S. federal
income tax on our undistributed taxable income. In addition, we will be subject to a 4% nondeductible excise tax if the actual amount that we pay out to our stockholders in
a calendar year is less than a minimum amount specified under U.S. federal tax laws.

Our qualification as a REIT also depends on our ability to meet various other requirements imposed by the Internal Revenue Code, which relate to organizational structure,
diversity of stock ownership, and certain restrictions with regard to the nature of our assets and the sources of our income. Even if we qualify as a REIT, we may be subject
to certain U.S. federal income and excise taxes and state and local taxes on our income and assets. If we fail to maintain our qualification as a REIT for any taxable year,
we may be subject to material penalties as well as federal, state and local income tax on our taxable income at regular corporate rates and we would not be able to qualify as
a REIT for the subsequent four full taxable years. As of June 30, 2017 and December 31, 2016, we were in compliance with all REIT requirements.

Refer to Note 13 to our consolidated financial statements for additional discussion of our income taxes.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We have no off-balance sheet arrangements.

Critical Accounting Policies

Our  discussion  and  analysis  of  our  financial  condition  and  results  of  operations  is  based  upon  our  consolidated  financial  statements,  which have  been  prepared  in
accordance with GAAP. The preparation of these financial statements requires our Manager to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets,
liabilities, revenue and expenses, and related disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. Actual results could differ from these estimates. There have been no material
changes to our Critical Accounting Policies described in our annual report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on February 14, 2017.

Refer to Note 2 to our consolidated financial statements for the description of our significant accounting policies.
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VI. Loan Portfolio Details
 
The following table provides details of our loan portfolio, on a loan-by-loan basis, as of June 30, 2017 ($ in millions):
 

  Loan Type (1)  
Origination

Date (2)  
Total 

Loan (3)   
Principal 
Balance (3)  

Net Book 
Value   

Cash 
Coupon (4)   

All-in 
Yield (4)   

Maximum
Maturity

(5)                      Location                      
Property

Type  
Loan Per

SQFT /Unit /Key  LTV (2)  
Risk

Rating
1 Senior loan  5/11/2017 $       752.6   $     642.8  $      639.3   L + 3.40%   L + 3.60%  6/10/2023 Virginia  Office  316 / sqft  62%  3
2 Senior loan (3) 5/15/2015  590.0   520.4   88.0   L + 4.25%   L + 4.75%  5/15/2020 Miami  Retail  643 / sqft  36%  3
3 Senior loan (3) 8/6/2015  480.9   480.9   87.1   4.49%   5.81%  10/29/2022 Diversified - EUR  Other  n/a  71%  3
4 Senior loan  5/22/2014  442.9   442.9   439.9   L + 4.20%   L + 4.48%  12/31/2019 Diversified - UK  Hotel  120,340 / key  59%  3
5 Senior loan  5/1/2015  320.3   294.5   293.6   L + 3.45%   L + 3.83%  5/1/2020 New York  Office  375 / sqft  68%  3
6 Senior loan  1/7/2015  315.0   287.4   286.5   L + 3.50%   L + 3.70%  1/9/2021 New York  Office  246 / sqft  53%  2
7 Senior loan  6/4/2015  265.6   265.6   268.6   L + 4.34%   L + 4.21%  8/26/2020 Diversified - CAN  Hotel  41,008 / key  54%  2
8 Senior loan  3/31/2017  258.4   241.5   239.1   L + 4.15%   L + 4.54%  4/9/2022 Maui  Hotel  318,182 / key  75%  3
9 Senior loan  6/23/2015  223.2   214.8   214.3   L + 3.65%   L + 3.96%  5/8/2022 Washington DC  Office  241 / sqft  72%  2

10 Senior loan  7/31/2014  215.0   203.5   203.5   L + 3.40%   L + 3.44%  8/9/2019 Chicago  Office  268 / sqft  64%  2
11 Senior loan (3) 6/30/2015  197.7   197.2   39.1   L + 4.75%   L + 5.19%  7/9/2020 San Francisco  Condo  927 / sqft  66%  3
12 Senior loan  8/3/2016  275.9   188.7   186.7   L + 4.66%   L + 5.20%  8/9/2021 New York  Office  260 / sqft  57%  3
13 Senior loan  8/19/2016  200.0   187.5   187.0   L + 3.64%   L + 4.10%  9/9/2021 New York  Office  572 / sqft  69%  3
14 Senior loan  4/15/2016  200.0   185.2   184.3   L + 4.25%   L + 4.86%  5/9/2021 New York  Office  174 / sqft  40%  3
15 Senior loan  2/25/2014  181.0   181.0   180.6   L + 4.75%   L + 5.07%  3/9/2019 Diversified - US  Hotel  95,113 / key  58%  2
16 Senior loan  12/22/2016  204.0   170.9   170.2   L + 3.50%   L + 4.07%  1/9/2022 New York  Office  241 / sqft  66%  3
17 Senior loan  8/17/2016  187.0   169.0   167.6   L + 3.75%   L + 4.13%  9/9/2021 San Francisco  Office  493 / sqft  65%  3
18 Senior loan  5/16/2017  189.2   163.5   161.7   L + 3.90%   L + 4.29%  5/16/2021 Chicago  Office  123 / sqft  59%  3
19 Senior loan  6/3/2016  160.0   160.0   160.0   L + 4.42%   L + 4.42%  6/9/2021 Los Angeles  Office  86 / sqft  41%  3
20 Senior loan  3/8/2016  181.2   158.5   157.2   L + 3.55%   L + 3.85%  3/9/2021 Orange County  Office  198 / sqft  52%  3
21 Senior loan  2/17/2017  150.0   140.0   138.7   L + 4.65%   L + 5.04%  3/9/2022 Honolulu  Hotel  224,719 / key  65%  3
22 Senior loan  10/30/2013  140.0   140.0   139.7   L + 4.38%   L + 4.54%  9/9/2020 San Francisco  Hotel  215,716 / key  66%  2
23 Senior loan  10/5/2016  145.5   136.7   135.7   L + 4.35%   L + 4.84%  10/9/2021 Diversified - US  Hotel  51,539 / key  61%  2
24 Senior loan  12/9/2014  159.6   136.3   136.3   L + 3.80%   L + 3.80%  12/9/2019 Diversified - US  Office  81 / sqft  65%  2
25 Senior loan  1/30/2014  133.4   133.4   132.8   L + 4.30%   L + 5.32%  12/1/2017 New York  Hotel  212,341 / key  38%  2
26 Senior loan  3/4/2014  138.1   124.3   124.9   L + 4.00%   L + 5.99%  3/4/2018 London - UK  Office  707 / sqft  42%  2
27 Senior loan  10/26/2016  123.5   123.5   122.5   L + 4.20%   L + 4.56%  11/9/2021 Oakland  Office  126 / sqft  72%  2
28 Senior loan  6/29/2017  141.1   121.0   119.6   L + 3.35%   L + 3.77%  7/9/2022 Torrance  Multi  239,139 / unit  68%  3
29 Senior loan  2/12/2016  225.0   111.6   109.4   L + 5.75%   L + 7.06%  2/11/2021 Seattle  Office  148 / sqft  48%  3
30 Senior loan  2/20/2014  110.0   110.0   109.6   L + 3.95%   L + 4.16%  3/9/2021 Long Island  Office  161 / sqft  74%  2

 
continued…
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  Loan Type (1) 
Origination

Date (2)  
Total 

Loan (3)   

Principal
Balance

(3)   
Net Book 

Value   
Cash 

Coupon (4)   
All-in 

Yield (4)   
Maximum

Maturity (5)                     Location                      
Property

Type  
Loan Per

SQFT /Unit /Key  LTV (2)  
Risk

Rating
31 Senior loan  10/17/2016         108.1        108.1         107.3   L + 3.95%   L + 4.31%  10/21/2021 Diversified - UK  Other  154 / sqft  73%  3
32 Senior loan  6/23/2015  104.5   104.5   106.7   L + 3.30%   L + 3.90%  7/31/2017 Diversified - US  Other  258,040 / unit  57%  3
33 Senior loan  2/18/2016  104.2   104.2   103.8   L + 3.75%   L + 4.41%  4/20/2019 London - UK  Office  888 / sqft  44%  3
34 Senior loan  6/24/2015  107.3   103.7   103.3   L + 4.25%   L + 4.62%  7/9/2020 Honolulu  Hotel  173,921 / key  67%  2
35 Senior loan  7/28/2016  116.5   102.8   102.0   L + 3.60%   L + 4.02%  8/9/2021 Atlanta  Office  163 / sqft  70%  3
36 Senior loan  3/12/2015  101.2   101.1   100.9   L + 3.25%   L + 3.61%  3/11/2020 Orange County  Office  268 / sqft  66%  1
37 Senior loan  4/27/2016  100.8   100.8   100.5   L + 4.35%   L + 5.02%  5/9/2021 Chicago  Office  134 / sqft  74%  2
38 Senior loan  1/22/2016  128.5   97.8   97.1   L + 4.25%   L + 4.76%  2/9/2021 Los Angeles  Retail  255 / sqft  64%  3
39 Senior loan  3/10/2016  98.5   89.0   88.4   L + 4.10%   L + 4.52%  4/9/2021 Chicago  Multi  597,635 / unit  63%  3
40 Senior loan  5/16/2014  100.0   89.0   88.4   L + 3.85%   L + 4.21%  4/9/2022 Miami  Office  204 / sqft  67%  3
41 Senior loan  6/23/2015  87.3   87.3   87.3   L + 3.41%   L + 3.84%  7/31/2019 Virginia  Office  140 / sqft  75%  3
42 Senior loan  2/18/2015  89.9   85.6   85.6   L + 3.75%   L + 3.75%  3/9/2020 Diversified - CA  Office  177 / sqft  71%  2
43 Senior loan  5/22/2014  98.7   84.3   84.0   L + 3.75%   L + 4.07%  6/15/2021 Orange County  Office  148 / sqft  67%  2
44 Senior loan  7/11/2014  82.2   82.2   82.1   L + 3.65%   L + 4.03%  8/9/2019 Chicago  Office  160 / sqft  64%  2
45 Senior loan  10/28/2014  85.0   82.1   82.0   L + 3.75%   L + 4.12%  11/9/2019 New York  Retail  1,534 / sqft  78%  2
46 Senior loan  6/23/2015  81.2   81.2   81.5   L + 3.65%   L + 3.82%  11/30/2018 Diversified - US  Hotel  68,678 / key  83%  2
47 Senior loan  1/31/2017  134.8   81.1   79.8   L + 5.00%   L + 5.48%  2/9/2022 Boston  Other  439 / sqft  60%  3
48 Senior loan  7/23/2014  90.0   80.0   79.7   L + 3.85%   L + 4.07%  7/9/2020 Atlanta  Office  160 / sqft  43%  2
49 Senior loan  5/1/2015  83.5   78.8   78.6   L + 3.95%   L + 4.20%  5/9/2020 Maryland  Hotel  202,088 / key  67%  2
50 Senior loan  2/12/2016  100.0   78.5   78.2   L + 4.15%   L + 4.68%  3/9/2021 Long Island  Office  117 / sqft  65%  3
51 Senior loan  6/23/2015  75.8   75.6   75.7   5.18%(6)        5.47%(6)   8/31/2020 Diversified - FL  MHC  20,623 / unit  69%  1
52 Senior loan  11/17/2014  71.4   71.4   71.2   L + 5.50%   L + 6.00%  12/9/2019 Diversified - CAN  Office  60 / sqft  53%  2
53 Senior loan  6/4/2015  74.7   71.3   72.1   5.12%(6)    5.27%(6)   3/28/2019 Diversified - CAN  Retail  41 / sqft  74%  3
54 Senior loan  3/31/2017  91.2   67.4   66.6   L + 4.30%   L + 4.83%  4/9/2022 New York  Office  331 / sqft  64%  3
55 Senior loan  2/27/2015  102.2   66.3   65.5   L + 3.55%   L + 3.92%  4/28/2022 Chicago  Office  137 / sqft  65%  2
56 Senior loan  11/30/2016  79.0   63.9   63.3   L + 3.95%   L + 4.39%  12/9/2021 Chicago  Retail  1,263 / sqft  54%  3
57 Senior loan  10/6/2014  67.0   63.5   63.4   L + 4.35%   L + 4.78%  10/9/2019 Long Island  Hotel  103,182 / key  56%  2
58 Senior loan  6/29/2016  75.4   63.2   62.7   L + 3.65%   L + 4.08%  7/9/2021 Fort Lauderdale  Office  244 / sqft  64%  3
59 Senior loan  3/11/2014  65.0   62.1   62.0   L + 4.50%   L + 4.77%  4/9/2019 New York  Multi  698,177 / unit  65%  3
60 Senior loan  1/13/2014  60.0   60.0   59.3   L + 3.45%   L + 4.89%  6/9/2020 New York  Office  284 / sqft  53%  2

 
continued…
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  Loan Type (1) 
Origination
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Loan (3)   

Principal
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(3)   
Net Book 
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All-in 
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Maturity (5)                     Location                      
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Rating
61 Senior loan  5/9/2017           73.7          59.0           58.3   L + 3.85%   L + 4.30%  5/9/2022 New York  Multi  355,422 / unit  67%  3
62 Senior loan  5/11/2017  135.9   58.0   56.6   L + 3.40%   L + 3.91%  6/10/2023 Virginia  Office  132 / sqft  38%  2
63 Senior loan  6/29/2017  64.2   57.5   56.9   L + 3.40%   L + 3.71%  7/9/2023 New York  Multi  167,638 / unit  69%  3
64 Senior loan  6/4/2015  55.4   55.4   55.4   L + 3.25%   L + 3.32%  10/6/2017 Norwich - UK  Retail  152 / sqft  55%  1
65 Senior loan  1/26/2017  288.0   54.2   50.8   L + 5.50%   L + 6.28%  2/9/2022 Boston  Office  145 / sqft  42%  2
66 Senior loan  5/20/2015  52.6   52.6   52.9   L + 3.50%   L + 3.75%  12/31/2018 Chicago  Office  134 / sqft  67%  3
67 Senior loan  11/28/2013  61.2   51.7   51.6   L + 4.38%   L + 5.43%  1/20/2019 London - UK  Office  633 / sqft  58%  3
68 Senior loan  9/1/2016  51.6   51.6   51.3   L + 4.35%   L + 4.98%  9/1/2021 Atlanta  Multi  247,905 / unit  72%  3
69 Senior loan  9/26/2014  51.0   51.0   51.0   L + 4.00%   L + 4.00%  10/9/2019 Dallas  Office  115 / sqft  70%  2
70 Senior loan  9/9/2014  56.0   50.4   50.4   L + 4.00%   L + 4.31%  9/9/2019 Ft. Lauderdale  Office  147 / sqft  71%  2
71 Senior loan  11/23/2016  55.4   50.0   49.5   L + 3.50%   L + 3.80%  12/9/2022 New York  Multi  208,333 / unit  65%  3
72 Senior loan  5/20/2015  58.0   49.1   49.0   5.25%(6)    5.52%(6)   6/30/2019 Charlotte  Office  97 / sqft  71%  3
73 Senior loan  12/27/2016  57.2   49.0   48.5   L + 4.65%   L + 5.08%  1/9/2022 New York  Multi  1,236,667 / unit  64%  3
74 Senior loan  9/22/2016  46.0   45.5   45.3   L + 4.25%   L + 4.90%  10/9/2019 New York  Office  456 / sqft  51%  3
75 Senior loan  11/19/2015  50.0   45.2   45.1   L + 4.00%   L + 4.32%  10/9/2018 New York  Office  1,159 / sqft  57%  3
76 Senior loan  2/9/2017  45.3   43.2   42.7   L + 4.50%   L + 4.98%  2/9/2022 London  Office  668 / sqft  69%  3
77 Senior loan  3/26/2014  42.9   42.9   42.8   L + 4.30%   L + 4.56%  4/9/2019 East Bay  Office  124 / sqft  71%  2
78 Senior loan  6/11/2015  39.8   39.8   40.0   5.17%(6)    5.40%(6)   9/30/2020 Diversified - US  MHC  22,719 / unit  79%  2
79 Senior loan  6/26/2015  42.1   38.2   38.2   L + 3.75%   L + 3.76%  7/9/2020 San Diego  Office  174 / sqft  73%  2
80 Senior loan  8/25/2015  43.8   37.4   37.3   L + 4.50%   L + 5.13%  9/9/2018 Los Angeles  Office  166 / sqft  46%  3
81 Senior loan  5/20/2015  38.0   36.5   36.5   4.67%(6)    5.22%(6)   1/31/2019 Los Angeles  Office  170 / sqft  59%  2
82 Senior loan  6/12/2014  34.9   34.9   34.8   L + 4.00%   L + 4.36%  6/30/2018 Los Angeles  Office  40 / sqft  44%  3
83 Senior loan  6/11/2015  34.1   34.1   34.3   5.34%   5.58%  5/31/2020 Diversified - US  MHC  20,883 / unit  65%  2
84 Senior loan  10/22/2015  33.9   33.9   33.8   L + 4.50%   L + 5.03%  10/22/2018 London - UK  Office  2,541 / sqft  64%  3
85 Senior loan  5/20/2015  36.5   32.0   32.0   L + 3.60%   L + 3.78%  7/11/2019 Los Angeles  Office  388 / sqft  46%  1
86 Senior loan  4/17/2015  30.9   30.9   30.7   L + 4.50%   L + 4.95%  4/20/2020 Hague - NL  Hotel  100,818 / key  71%  3
87 Senior loan  5/28/2015  27.1   27.1   27.2   L + 4.35%   L + 5.20%  12/31/2017 San Jose  Office  72 / sqft  48%  3
88 Senior loan  2/28/2014  26.0   26.0   26.0   L + 4.00%   L + 4.26%  3/9/2019 Phoenix  Other  123,223 / unit  69%  2
89 Senior loan  6/11/2015  26.0   26.0   25.9   5.25%(6)    5.73%(6)   11/30/2020 West Palm Beach  MHC  53,608 / unit  75%  2
90 Senior loan  6/11/2015  24.5   24.5   24.4   5.37%(6)    5.87%(6)   11/30/2020 Ft. Lauderdale  MHC  49,696 / unit  70%  2
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91 Senior loan  6/18/2014          23.7         23.7         23.6   L + 4.00%   L + 4.43%  7/20/2019 Diversified - NL  Office  62 / sqft  69%  2
92 Senior loan  5/28/2015  48.8   21.8   21.7   L + 4.00%   L + 4.59%  6/30/2018 Los Angeles  Office  25 / sqft  53%  3
93 Senior loan  5/20/2015  21.0   21.0   21.0   L + 4.25%   L + 4.72%  9/30/2018 Phoenix  Multi  68,303 / unit  73%  1
94 Senior loan  5/28/2015  20.7   20.7   20.7   L + 3.95%   L + 4.80%  3/31/2019 Pittsburgh  Hotel  92,749 / key  71%  4
95 Senior loan  6/4/2015  20.6   20.6   20.4   4.50%   4.99%  12/23/2021 Montreal - CAN  Office  56 / sqft  45%  2
96 Senior loan  6/11/2015  18.0   18.0   17.9   5.02%(6)    5.59%(6)   11/30/2020 Ft. Lauderdale  MHC  26,275 / unit  51%  2
97 Senior loan  6/4/2015  17.6   17.6   17.6   4.63%   5.01%  3/1/2019 Ontario - CAN  Other  51,807 / unit  59%  2
98 Senior loan  6/4/2015  16.6   16.6   16.6   5.20%   5.55%  9/4/2020 Diversified - CAN  Other  3,614 / unit  61%  2
99 Senior loan  6/11/2015  15.0   15.0   14.9   5.34%(6)    5.86%(6)   9/30/2020 Tampa  MHC  39,382 / unit  64%  2

100 Senior loan  6/4/2015  15.0   13.8   14.3   L + 4.50%   L + 4.75%  12/1/2017 Toronto - CAN  Office  83 / sqft  58%  3
101 Senior loan  5/28/2015  12.8   12.8   12.8   L + 4.75%   L + 5.54%  8/31/2017 Diversified - US  Office  48 / sqft  86%  2
102 Senior loan  5/8/2017  80.0   5.1   4.3   L + 3.75%   L + 4.94%  5/8/2022 Washington DC  Office  24 / sqft  73%  3

     
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

        
 

  

   $ 12,061.8   $10,613.7  $ 9,587.5   5.10%   5.54%  3.5 yrs     61%  2.6
     

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

        

 

  

 
(1) Senior  loans  include  senior  mortgages  and  similar  credit  quality  loans,  including  related  contiguous subordinate  loans  and  pari  passu  participations  in  senior

mortgage loans.
(2) Date loan was originated or acquired by us, and the LTV as of such date. Dates are not updated for subsequent loan modifications or upsizes.
(3) In certain instances, we finance our loans through the non-recourse sale of a senior loan interest that is not included in our consolidated financial statements. As of

June 30, 2017, three loans in our portfolio have been financed with an aggregate $983.4 million of non-consolidated senior interest, which are included in the table
above.

(4) As of June 30, 2017, our floating rate loans were indexed to various benchmark rates, with 86% of floating rate loans by loan exposure indexed to USD LIBOR. In
addition, $228.9 million of our floating rate loans earned interest based on floors that are above the applicable index, with an average floor of 1.18%, as of June 30,
2017. In addition to cash coupon, all-in yield includes the amortization of deferred origination fees, loan origination costs, and accrual of both extension and exit
fees.

(5) Maximum maturity assumes all extension options are exercised, however our loans may be repaid prior to such date.
(6) Loan consists of one or more floating and fixed rate tranches. Coupon and all-in yield assume applicable floating benchmark rates for weighted-average calculation.
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ITEM 3. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

Interest Rate Risk

Loan
Portfolio
Net
Interest
Income

Generally, our business model is such that rising interest rates will increase our net income, while declining interest rates will decrease net income. As of June 30, 2017,
92% of our loans by total loan exposure earned a floating rate of interest and were financed with liabilities that pay interest at floating rates, which resulted in an amount of
net  equity that  is  positively correlated to rising interest  rates,  subject  to  the impact  of  interest  rate  floors  on certain of  our  floating rate  loans.  As of  June 30,  2017,  the
remaining  8% of  our  loans  by total  loan exposure  earned a  fixed  rate  of  interest,  but  are financed with  liabilities  that  pay interest  at  floating rates,  which resulted  in  a
negative correlation to rising interest rates to the extent of our financing. In certain instances where we have financed fixed rate assets with floating rate liabilities, we have
purchased interest rate swaps or caps to limit our exposure to increases in interest rates on such liabilities.

The following  table  projects  the  impact  on  our  interest  income  and  expense  for  the  twelve-month  period  following  June  30,  2017,  assuming  an  immediate  increase  or
decrease of both 25 and 50 basis points in the applicable interest rate benchmark by currency ($ in thousands):
 

Currency     

Assets (Liabilities) 
    Subject to Interest    

Rate Sensitivity (1)(2)            

25 Basis 
Point 

      Increase           

25 Basis 
Point 

      Decrease           

50 Basis 
Point 

      Increase           

50 Basis 
Point 

      Decrease       
USD     $ 8,385,876      Interest income     $ 20,703     $ (20,598)     $ 41,407     $ (39,505) 

     (6,127,892)      Interest expense      (15,320)      15,248      (30,639)      29,381 
      

 
          

 
      

 
      

 
      

 

    $ 2,257,984      Total     $ 5,383     $ (5,350)     $ 10,768     $ (10,124) 
      

 
          

 
      

 
      

 
      

 

GBP     $ 963,599      Interest income     $ 2,169     $ (2,098)     $ 4,578     $ (3,720) 
     (743,748)      Interest expense      (1,859)      1,859      (3,719)      3,719 
      

 
          

 
      

 
      

 
      

 

    $ 219,850      Total     $ 310     $ (239)     $ 859     $ (1) 
      

 
          

 
      

 
      

 
      

 

EUR     $ 54,598      Interest income     $ —       $ —       $ 92     $ —   
     —        Interest expense      —        —        —        —   
      

 
          

 
      

 
      

 
      

 

    $ 54,598      Total     $ —       $ —       $ 92     $ —   
      

 
          

 
      

 
      

 
      

 

CAD (3)     $ 351,844      Interest income     $ 880     $ (880)     $ 1,759     $ (1,703) 
     (302,298)      Interest expense      (756)      756      (1,511)      1,511 
      

 
          

 
      

 
      

 
      

 

    $ 49,546      Total     $ 124     $ (124)     $ 248     $ (192) 
      

 
          

 
      

 
      

 
      

 

                        
              

 
      

 
      

 
      

 

         Total     $ 5,817     $ (5,713)     $ 11,967     $ (10,317) 
              

 

      

 

      

 

      

 

 
(1) Our floating rate loans and related liabilities are indexed to the various benchmark rates relevant in each case in terms of currency and payment frequency. Therefore

the net exposure to each benchmark rate is in direct proportion to our net assets indexed to that rate.
(2) Includes borrowings under secured debt agreements, loan participations sold, non-consolidated senior interests, and securitized debt obligations.
(3) Liabilities balance includes four interest rate swaps totaling C$108.3 million ($83.5 million as of June 30, 2017) that are used to hedge a portion of our fixed rate

debt.

Loan
Portfolio
Value

As of June 30, 2017, 8% of our loans by total loan exposure earned a fixed rate of interest and as such, the values of such loans are sensitive to changes in interest rates. We
generally hold all of our loans to maturity and so do not expect to realize gains or losses on our fixed rate loan portfolio as a result of movements in market interest rates.
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Risk
of
Non-Performance

In  addition  to  the  risks  related  to  fluctuations  in  cash  flows  and  asset  values  associated  with  movements  in  interest  rates,  there  is  also  the risk  of  non-performance  on
floating rate assets. In the case of a significant increase in interest rates, the additional debt service payments due from our borrowers may strain the operating cash flows of
the  collateral  real  estate  assets  and, potentially,  contribute  to  non-performance  or,  in  severe  cases,  default.  This  risk  is  partially  mitigated  by  various  facts  we  consider
during our underwriting process, which in certain cases include a requirement for our borrower to purchase an interest rate cap contract.

Credit Risks

Our  loans  and  investments  are  also  subject  to  credit  risk.  The  performance  and  value  of  our  loans  and  investments  depend  upon  the sponsors’  ability  to  operate  the
properties  that  serve  as  our  collateral  so  that  they  produce  cash  flows  adequate  to  pay  interest  and  principal  due  to  us.  To  monitor  this  risk,  our  Manager’s  asset
management  team  reviews  our  investment portfolios  and  in  certain  instances  is  in  regular  contact  with  our  borrowers,  monitoring  performance  of  the  collateral  and
enforcing our rights as necessary.

In addition, we are exposed to the risks generally associated with the commercial real estate market, including variances in occupancy rates, capitalization rates, absorption
rates, and other macroeconomic factors beyond our control. We seek to manage these risks through our underwriting and asset management processes.

Capital Market Risks

We are exposed to risks  related to  the equity  capital  markets,  and our  related ability  to  raise  capital  through the issuance of  our  class  A common stock or  other  equity
instruments. We are also exposed to risks related to the debt capital markets, and our related ability to finance our business through borrowings under credit facilities or
other debt instruments. As a REIT, we are required to distribute a significant portion of our taxable income annually, which constrains our ability to accumulate operating
cash  flow and  therefore  requires  us  to  utilize  debt  or  equity  capital  to  finance  our  business.  We  seek  to  mitigate  these  risks  by  monitoring  the  debt  and  equity  capital
markets to inform our decisions on the amount, timing, and terms of capital we raise.

Counterparty Risk

The nature of our business requires us to hold our cash and cash equivalents and obtain financing from various financial institutions. This exposes us to the risk that these
financial  institutions  may  not  fulfill  their  obligations  to  us  under  these  various contractual  arrangements.  We  mitigate  this  exposure  by  depositing  our  cash  and  cash
equivalents and entering into financing agreements with high credit-quality institutions.

The nature of our loans and investments also exposes us to the risk that our counterparties do not make required interest and principal payments on scheduled due dates. We
seek to manage this risk through a comprehensive credit analysis prior to making an investment and active monitoring of the asset portfolios that serve as our collateral.

Currency Risk

Our  loans  and  investments that  are  denominated  in  a  foreign  currency  are  also  subject  to  risks  related  to  fluctuations  in  currency  rates.  We  mitigate  this  exposure  by
matching  the  currency  of  our  foreign  currency  assets  to  the  currency  of  the  borrowings  that  finance  those assets.  As  a  result,  we  substantially  reduce  our  exposure  to
changes in portfolio value related to changes in foreign currency rates.  In certain circumstances,  we may also enter into foreign currency derivative contracts  to further
mitigate this exposure.

The following table outlines our assets and liabilities that are denominated in a foreign currency (£/€/C$ in thousands):
 

   June 30, 2017  
Foreign currency assets (1)   £    1,111,880   €    79,530   C$     663,343 
Foreign currency liabilities (1)    (873,585)    —      (528,873) 
Foreign currency contracts - notional    (145,500)    —      (122,900) 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Net exposure to exchange rate fluctuations   £ 92,795   € 79,530   C$ 11,571 
    

 

    

 

    

 

 
(1)   Balances include non-consolidated senior interests of £302.0 million.

We estimate that a 10% appreciation of the United States Dollar relative to the British Pound Sterling and the Euro would result in a decline in our net assets in U.S. Dollar
terms of $31.0 million and $9.1 million, respectively, as of June 30, 2017. Substantially all of our net asset exposure to the Canadian Dollar has been hedged with foreign
currency forward contracts.
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ITEM 4. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

An evaluation of the effectiveness of the design and operation of our “disclosure controls and procedures” (as defined in Rule 13a-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act
of  1934,  as  amended  (the  “Exchange  Act”)),  as  of  the  end  of  the  period  covered  by  this  quarterly  report  on  Form 10-Q was  made  under  the  supervision  and  with  the
participation of our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer. Based upon this evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief
Financial Officer have concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures (a) are effective to ensure that information required to be disclosed by us in reports filed or
submitted under  the Exchange Act is  recorded,  processed,  summarized and reported within the time periods specified by SEC rules and forms and (b) include, without
limitation, controls and procedures designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by us in reports filed or submitted under the Exchange Act is accumulated
and  communicated  to  our  management,  including  our Chief  Executive  Officer  and  Chief  Financial  Officer,  as  appropriate  to  allow timely  decisions  regarding  required
disclosure.

Changes in Internal Controls over Financial Reporting

There have been no changes in our “internal control over financial reporting” (as defined in Rule 13a-15(f) of the Exchange Act) that occurred during the period covered by
this quarterly report on Form 10-Q that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
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PART II. OTHER INFORMATION
 
ITEM 1. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

From time to time, we may be involved in various claims and legal actions arising in the ordinary course of business. As of June 30, 2017, we were not involved in any
material legal proceedings.

 
ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

There have been no material changes to the risk factors previously disclosed under Item 1A of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2016.

 
ITEM 2. UNREGISTERED SALES OF EQUITY SECURITIES AND USE OF PROCEEDS

None.

 
ITEM 3. DEFAULTS UPON SENIOR SECURITIES

None.

 
ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES

Not applicable.

 
ITEM 5. OTHER INFORMATION

None.
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ITEM 6. EXHIBITS
 

  10.1
  

Amendment No. 2 to Amended and Restated Master Purchase Agreement, dated as of May 17, 2017, by and among Parlex 4 UK Finco, LLC, Parlex 4
Finance, LLC and JPMorgan Chase Bank, National Association.

  10.2
  

Second  Amended  and  Restated  Master  Repurchase  and  Securities  Contract  Agreement,  dated  as  of  April  28,  2017,  among Parlex  6  UK Finco,  LLC,
Parlex 6 EUR Finco, LLC, Parlex 6 Finco, LLC, Blackstone Mortgage Trust, Inc. and Morgan Stanley Bank, N.A.

  10.3

  

Amendment No. 1 to Fourth Amended and Restated Master Repurchase and Securities Contract and Fourth Amended and Restated Fee and Pricing Letter,
dated as of  May 8,  2017 by and among Parlex 5 Ken Finco,  LLC, Parlex 5 Ken UK Finco,  LLC, Parlex 5 Ken CAD Finco,  LLC, Parlex 5 Ken ONT
Finco, LLC Parlex 5 Ken EUR Finco, LLC and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association.

  10.4
  

Amendment No. 3 to Master Repurchase Agreement, dated as of April 21, 2017, by and between Parlex 7 Finco, LLC and Metropolitan Life Insurance
Company.

  31.1   Certification of Chief Executive Officer, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

  31.2   Certification of Chief Financial Officer, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

  32.1 +   Certification of Chief Executive Officer, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

  32.2 +   Certification of Chief Financial Officer, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

101.INS   XBRL Instance Document

101.SCH   XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document

101.CAL   XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document

101.LAB   XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document

101.PRE   XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document

101.DEF   XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document
 
+ This exhibit shall not be deemed “filed” for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”) or otherwise subject to

the liability of that Section. Such exhibit shall not be deemed incorporated into any filing under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”), or the
Exchange Act.

The agreements and other documents filed as exhibits to this report are not intended to provide factual information or other disclosure other than with respect to the terms
of the agreements or other documents themselves, and you should not rely on them for that purpose. In particular, any representations and warranties made by us in these
agreements or other documents were made solely within the specific context of the relevant agreement or document and may not describe the actual state of affairs as of the
date they were made or at any other time.
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Pursuant  to  the  requirements  of  the  Securities  Exchange  Act  of  1934,  the  registrant  has  duly  caused  this  report  to  be  signed on  its  behalf  by  the  undersigned
thereunto duly authorized.
 

  BLACKSTONE MORTGAGE TRUST, INC.

July 25, 2017   /s/ Stephen D. Plavin
Date   Stephen D. Plavin

  Chief Executive Officer
  (Principal Executive Officer)

July 25, 2017   /s/ Anthony F. Marone, Jr.
Date   Anthony F. Marone, Jr.

  Chief Financial Officer
  (Principal Financial Officer and
  Principal Accounting Officer)
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Exhibit 10.1

AMENDMENT NO. 2 TO AMENDED AND RESTATED MASTER REPURCHASE AGREEMENT

AMENDMENT NO.  2  TO AMENDED AND RESTATED MASTER REPURCHASE AGREEMENT,  dated  as  of  May 17,  2017  (this “ Amendment ”), among
PARLEX 4 UK FINCO, LLC and PARLEX 4 FINANCE,  LLC (the  “ Sellers ”),  and JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, a  national  banking
association (“ Buyer ”). Capitalized terms used but not otherwise defined herein shall have the meanings given to them in the Repurchase Agreement (as defined below).

RECITALS

WHEREAS, Sellers and Buyer are parties to that certain Amended and Restated Master Repurchase Agreement, dated as of January 29, 2016 (as amended by
that certain Amendment No. 1 to Amended and Restated Master Repurchase Agreement and Guarantee Agreement, dated as of July 25, 2016, as amended hereby, and as
further amended, restated, supplemented or otherwise modified and in effect from time to time, the “ Repurchase Agreement ”);

WHEREAS, Sellers and Buyer have agreed, subject to the terms and conditions hereof, that the Repurchase Agreement shall be amended as set forth in this
Amendment.

NOW  THEREFORE,  in  consideration  of  the  premises  and  for  other  good  and  valuable  consideration,  the  receipt  and  sufficiency  of which  are  hereby
acknowledged, Sellers and Buyer each agree as follows, and Blackstone Mortgage Trust, Inc. (“ Guarantor ”) agrees to make the acknowledgments set forth herein:

SECTION 1. Amendments to Repurchase Agreement .

(a) The definition of “ Maturity Date ”, as set forth in Article 2 of the Repurchase Agreement, is hereby amended by deleting the date “January 7, 2019” and
inserting the date “January 7, 2020” in lieu thereof.

SECTION 2. Conditions Precedent . This Amendment shall become effective on the date (the “ Amendment Effective Date ”) on which this Amendment is
executed and delivered by a duly authorized officer of each of Guarantor, Sellers and Buyer, along with delivery to Buyer of customary opinions as to enforceability and
corporate matters with respect to Sellers and a bring down letter affirming the legal opinion with respect to the applicability of the Bankruptcy Code safe harbors that was
provided to Buyer on the Amendment and Restatement Date.

SECTION 3. Sellers’ Representations and Warranties . On and as of the date first  above written, each Seller hereby represents and warrants to Buyer that
(a)  it  is  in  compliance  with  all  the  terms  and  provisions  set  forth  in  the  Repurchase  Agreement  on  its  part  to  be  observed  or  performed,  (b)  after  giving  effect  to  this
Amendment, no Default or Event of Default under the Repurchase Agreement has occurred and is continuing, and (c) after giving



effect to this Amendment, the representations and warranties contained in Article 9 of the Repurchase Agreement are true and correct in all  material  respects as though
made on such date (except for any such representation or warranty that by its terms refers to a specific date other than the date first above written, in which case it shall be
true and correct in all material respects as of such other date), (d) such Seller has taken all necessary action to authorize the execution, delivery and performance of this
Amendment and (e) this Amendment has been duly executed and delivered by or on behalf of such Seller and constitutes the legal, valid and binding obligation of such
Seller enforceable against such Seller in accordance with its terms subject to bankruptcy, insolvency, and other limitations on creditors’ rights generally and to equitable
principles.

SECTION  4. Acknowledgments  of Guarantor .  In  connection  with  the  amendments  to  the  Repurchase  Agreement  set  forth  herein,  Guarantor  hereby
acknowledges  (a)  the  execution  and  delivery  of  this  Amendment  by  Sellers  and  agrees  that  it  continues  to  be  bound  by  that certain  Guarantee  Agreement  made  by
Guarantor in favor of Buyer, dated as of December 20, 2013 (as amended by that certain Amendment No. 1 to Guarantee Agreement, dated as of March 3, 2014, and as
further amended by that certain Amendment No. 1 to Amended and Restated Master Repurchase Agreement and Guarantee Agreement, dated as of July 25, 2016, the “
Guarantee Agreement ”), notwithstanding the execution and delivery of this Amendment and the impact of the changes set forth herein, and (b) that, as of the date hereof,
Buyer is in compliance with its undertakings and obligations under the Repurchase Agreement, the Guarantee Agreement and each of the other Transaction Documents.

SECTION 5. Limited Effect .  Except  as  expressly amended and modified by this  Amendment,  the Repurchase Agreement shall  continue to be,  and shall
remain, in full force and effect in accordance with its terms; provided , however , that upon the Amendment Effective Date, all references in the Repurchase Agreement to
the “Transaction Documents” shall be deemed to include, in any event, this Amendment. Each reference to Repurchase Agreement in any of the Transaction Documents
shall be deemed to be a reference to the Repurchase Agreement, as amended hereby.

SECTION 6. Counterparts . This Amendment may be executed in counterparts, each of which so executed shall be deemed to be an original, but all of such
counterparts shall together constitute but one and the same instrument. Delivery of an executed counterpart of a signature page to this Amendment in Portable Document
Format (.PDF) or by facsimile transmission shall be effective as delivery of a manually executed original counterpart thereof.

SECTION 7. Costs and Expenses . Sellers and Guarantor shall pay Buyer’s reasonable actual out of pocket costs and expenses, including reasonable fees and
expenses of accountants, attorneys and advisors, incurred in connection with the preparation, negotiation, execution and consummation of this Amendment.

SECTION 8. Submission  to Jurisdiction .  Each  party  irrevocably  and  unconditionally  (i)  submits  to  the  non-exclusive  jurisdiction  of  any  United  States
Federal  or  New York State  court  sitting in Manhattan,  and any appellate  court  from any such court,  solely for  the purpose of  any suit,  action or  proceeding brought  to
enforce its obligations under this Amendment or relating in any way to this Amendment and (ii) waives, to the fullest extent it may effectively do so, any defense of an
inconvenient forum to the maintenance of such action or proceeding in any such court and any right of jurisdiction on account of its place of residence or domicile.
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To the extent that any party has or hereafter may acquire any immunity (sovereign or otherwise) from any legal action, suit or proceeding, from jurisdiction of
any court or from set off or any legal process (whether service or notice, attachment prior to judgment, attachment in aid of execution of judgment, execution of judgment
or otherwise) with respect to itself or any of its property, such party hereby irrevocably waives and agrees not to plead or claim such immunity in respect of any action
brought to enforce its obligations under this Amendment or relating in any way to this Amendment.

The parties hereby irrevocably waive, to the fullest extent each may effectively do so, the defense of an inconvenient forum to the maintenance of such action
or  proceeding  and  irrevocably  consent  to  the  service  of  any  summons  and  complaint  and  any  other  process  by  the  mailing  of  copies  of  such  process  to  them  at  their
respective address specified in the Repurchase Agreement. The parties hereby agree that a final judgment in any such action or proceeding shall be conclusive and may be
enforced in other  jurisdictions  by suit  on the judgment  or  in any other  manner  provided by law. Nothing in this Section 8 shall  affect  the  right  of  Buyer  to  serve  legal
process  in  any  other  manner  permitted  by  law or  affect  the  right  of  Buyer  to  bring  any  action  or  proceeding  against  any  Seller  or  their  property  in  the  courts  of  other
jurisdictions.

SECTION 9. WAIVER OF JURY TRIAL .  EACH OF THE PARTIES HEREBY IRREVOCABLY WAIVES ALL RIGHT TO A TRIAL BY JURY IN
ANY ACTION, PROCEEDING OR COUNTERCLAIM ARISING OUT OF OR RELATING TO THIS AMENDMENT.

SECTION 10. GOVERNING LAW . THIS AMENDMENT SHALL BE GOVERNED BY AND CONSTRUED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE LAWS
OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK PURSUANT TO SECTION 5 1401 OF THE NEW YORK GENERAL OBLIGATIONS LAW WITHOUT GIVING EFFECT TO THE
CONFLICT OF LAW PRINCIPLES THEREOF.

[SIGNATURES FOLLOW]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Amendment to be duly executed and delivered as of the day and year first above written.
 

BUYER :

JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, NATIONAL
ASSOCIATION,
a national banking association organized under the laws of the
United States

By:  /s/ Thomas N. Cassino
 Name: Thomas N. Cassino
 Title: Executive Director
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SELLERS :

PARLEX 4 FINANCE, LLC,
a Delaware limited liability company

By: /s/ Anthony F. Marone, Jr.                        
       Name: Anthony F. Marone, Jr.
       Title: Managing Director and Chief
       Financial Officer

PARLEX 4 UK FINCO, LLC,
a Delaware limited liability company

By: /s/ Anthony F. Marone, Jr.                       
       Name: Anthony F. Marone, Jr.
       Title: Managing Director and Chief
       Financial Officer

With respect to the acknowledgments set forth in Section 4:

GUARANTOR :

BLACKSTONE MORTGAGE TRUST,
INC., a Maryland corporation

By: /s/ Anthony F. Marone, Jr.                        
       Name: Anthony F. Marone, Jr.
       Title: Managing Director and Chief
       Financial Officer
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SECOND AMENDED AND RESTATED MASTER REPURCHASE

AND

SECURITIES CONTRACT AGREEMENT

between

PARLEX 6 UK FINCO, LLC, PARLEX 6 EUR FINCO, LLC
and PARLEX 6 FINCO, LLC,

individually and/or collectively as the context requires, as Seller,

BLACKSTONE MORTGAGE TRUST, INC.,

as Guarantor,

and

MORGAN STANLEY BANK, N.A.,

as Buyer
 
 

Paul Hastings LLP
200 Park Avenue

New York, NY 10166
 
 

Dated: April 28, 2017
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SECOND AMENDED AND RESTATED MASTER REPURCHASE

AND SECURITIES CONTRACT AGREEMENT

THIS SECOND AMENDED AND RESTATED MASTER REPURCHASE AND SECURITIES CONTRACT AGREEMENT (this “ Agreement ”),  dated as  of
April 28, 2017, by and between MORGAN STANLEY BANK, N.A., a national banking association organized under the laws of the United States (“ Buyer ”), PARLEX 6
UK FINCO, LLC, a  Delaware  limited  liability  company (“ UK Seller ”),  PARLEX 6 EUR FINCO, LLC,  a  Delaware  limited  liability  company (“ EUR Seller ”) and
PARLEX 6 FINCO, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (“ U.S. Seller ” and, together with UK Seller EUR Seller, individually and/or collectively as the context
requires, “ Seller ”).

ARTICLE 1.
APPLICABILITY

UK Seller and Buyer entered into that certain Master Repurchase and Securities Contract Agreement, dated as of March 3, 2014 (the “ Original Agreement ”). UK
Seller,  EUR Seller and Buyer amended and restated the Original  Agreement pursuant to that certain Amended and Restated Master Repurchase and Securities Contract
Agreement,  dated  as  of June  16,  2014,  as  amended  pursuant  to  that  certain  First  Amendment  to  Amended  and  Restated  Master  Repurchase  Agreement,  dated  as  of
March 29, 2017 (the “ Existing Agreement ”).

By this Agreement, U.S. Seller hereby acknowledges, agrees and confirms that, effective as of the date hereof, by its execution of this Agreement, U.S. Seller will be
deemed to be a party to and a “Seller” under this Agreement and the other Transaction Documents. U.S. Seller hereby ratifies, as of the date hereof, and agrees to be bound,
jointly and severally with each Seller with respect to matters arising after the date hereof,  by, all  of the terms, provisions and conditions contained herein and the other
applicable Transaction Documents.

Seller and Buyer have agreed that this Agreement amends, restates and supersedes the Existing Agreement in its entirety. All Transactions (as defined in the Existing
Agreement)  outstanding  under  the  Existing  Agreement  as  of  the  date  hereof  shall  be  deemed  to  be  Transactions  (as  defined  in  this  Agreement)  outstanding  under  this
Agreement and all Confirmations (as defined in the Existing Agreement) under the Existing Agreement as of the date hereof shall be deemed to be Confirmations under
this  Agreement  (and,  accordingly,  subject  to  the  terms  and  conditions  hereof)  and  all  references  in  any  Transaction  Documents  to “the  Agreement,”  “the  Repurchase
Agreement” or any similar formulation intended to refer to the currently effective Master Repurchase and Securities Contract Agreement among the parties hereto shall be
deemed to be references to this Agreement.

From time to time the parties hereto may enter into transactions in which Seller and Buyer agree to the transfer from Seller to Buyer all of its rights, title and interest
to certain Eligible Assets (as defined herein) or other assets and, in each case, the other related Purchased Items (as defined herein) (collectively, the “ Assets ”) against the
transfer of funds by Buyer to Seller, with a simultaneous agreement by Buyer to transfer back to Seller such Assets at a date certain or on demand, against the transfer of
funds  by  Seller  to  Buyer.  Each such  transaction  shall  be  referred  to  herein  as  a  “ Transaction ”  and,  unless  otherwise  agreed  in  writing,  shall  be  governed  by  this
Agreement,  including  any  supplemental  terms  or  conditions  contained  in  any  exhibits  identified herein  as  applicable  hereunder.  Each  individual  transfer  of  an  Eligible
Asset shall constitute a distinct Transaction. Notwithstanding any provision or agreement herein, at no time shall Buyer be obligated to purchase or effect the transfer of
any Eligible Asset from Seller to Buyer.
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ARTICLE 2.
DEFINITIONS

“ Accelerated Repurchase Date ” shall have the meaning specified in Article 12(b)(i) of this Agreement.

“ Acceptable Attorney ” means Ropes & Gray LLP, Herbert Smith Freehills LLP, or any other attorney at law, or notary (if required in the relevant jurisdiction)
that has delivered at Seller’s request an Undertaking Letter or a Bailee Letter, as applicable, with the exception of an attorney or notary that is not satisfactory to Buyer, as
specified in a written notice from Buyer to Seller.

“ Accepted Servicing Practices ” shall mean with respect to any applicable Purchased Asset, those mortgage loan servicing practices of prudent mortgage lending
institutions that service mortgage loans of the same type as such Purchased Asset in the jurisdiction where the related underlying real estate directly or indirectly securing
or supporting such Purchased Asset is located.

“ Act of Insolvency ” shall mean, with respect to any Person, (i) the filing of a petition, commencing, or authorizing the commencement of any case or proceeding
under any bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, liquidation, dissolution or similar law relating to the protection of creditors (“ Insolvency Law ”), or suffering any such
petition or proceeding to be commenced by another which is consented to, not timely contested or results in entry of an order for relief that, in the case of an action not
initiated by or on behalf of or with the consent of Seller, is not dismissed or stayed within thirty (30) days; (ii) the seeking or consenting to the appointment of a receiver,
trustee, custodian or similar official for such Person or any substantial part of the property of such Person; (iii) the appointment of a receiver, conservator, or manager for
such Person by any governmental agency or authority having the jurisdiction to do so; (iv) the making of a general assignment for the benefit of creditors; (v) the admission
by such Person of its inability to pay its debts or discharge its obligations as they become due or mature; (vi) that any Governmental Authority or agency or any person,
agency or entity acting or purporting to act under Governmental Authority shall have taken any action to condemn, seize or appropriate, or to assume custody or control of,
all or any substantial part of the property of such Person, or shall have taken any action to displace the management of such Person or to curtail its authority in the conduct
of the business of such Person; (vii) the consent by such Person to the entry of an order for relief in an insolvency case under any Insolvency Law; or (viii) the taking of
action by any such Person in furtherance of any of the foregoing.

“ Additional Jurisdiction ” shall mean each jurisdiction relating to an Asset other than the United States of America or any territory thereof, United Kingdom or the
Netherlands.

“ Advance Rate ” shall mean, with respect to each Transaction, the amount, expressed as a percentage, determined by dividing (a) the Purchase Price of a Purchased
Asset as of the date of determination by (b) the Market Value of such Purchased Asset on such date; provided , however , the Advance Rate for any Purchased Asset shall
not exceed the Maximum Advance Rate (as defined in the Fee Letter) for such Purchased Asset.
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“ Affiliate ” shall  mean,  when used with respect  to any specified Person,  (i)  any other  Person directly  or  indirectly  controlling,  controlled by,  or  under common
control with, such Person. Control shall mean the possession, direct or indirect, of the power to direct or cause the direction of the management and policies of a Person,
whether  through  the  ownership  of  voting  securities,  by  contract  or  otherwise  and  “controlling”  and  “controlled”  shall  have  meanings  correlative  thereto,  or  (ii)  any
“affiliate” of such Person, as such term is defined in the Bankruptcy Code.

“ Affiliated Hedge Counterparty ” shall  mean Morgan Stanley Bank, N.A.,  or  any Affiliate  thereof,  in its  capacity as a party to any Hedging Transaction with
Seller.

“ Agreement ” shall have the meaning assigned thereto in the Preamble.

“ Alternative Rate ” shall have the meaning specified in Article 3(g) of this Agreement.

“ Alternative Rate Transaction ” shall mean, with respect to any Pricing Rate Period, any Transaction with respect to which the Pricing Rate for such Pricing Rate
Period is determined with reference to the Alternative Rate.

“ Annual Reporting Package ” shall mean the reporting package described on Exhibit III-C .

“ Anti-Money Laundering Laws ” shall have the meaning specified in Article 9(b)(xxx) of this Agreement.

“ Applicable Spread ” shall mean:

(i) so long as no Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing, the amount set forth in the Fee Letter as being the “Applicable Spread, and

(ii) after the occurrence and during the continuance of an Event of Default, the (x) applicable incremental percentage described in clause (i)  of this definition,
plus (y) five percent (5%).

“ Appraisal ” shall mean an appraisal of any Underlying Mortgaged Property prepared by a licensed Independent Appraiser approved by Buyer in its reasonable
discretion, in accordance with the Uniform Standards of Professional Appraisal Practice of the Appraisal Foundation, in compliance with the requirements of Title 11 of the
Financial Institutions Reform, Recovery and Enforcement Act of 1989 and utilizing customary valuation methods, such as the income, sales/market or cost approaches, as
any of the same may be updated (to the extent permitted under this Agreement) by recertification by the appraiser performing such Appraisal; provided, however, that the
following “Independent Appraiser” are pre-approved by Buyer as of the date hereof: Avison Young, CBRE, Inc., Cushman & Wakefield, Inc., Integra Realty Resources,
Inc., Cushman & Wakefield Western, Inc., HVS International, Inc., Colliers International, Butler Burgher Group, LLC and Joseph J. Blake and Associates, Inc.

“ Appraised Value ” shall mean the as-is value of the underlying Mortgaged Property relating to a Purchased Asset specified in the most recent Appraisal delivered
by Seller or obtained by Buyer pursuant to the terms of this Agreement.

“ Approved  Valuation ”  shall  mean  a  valuation  in  form  and  substance  satisfactory  to  the  Buyer,  prepared by  and  issued  by  a  Valuer  valuing  the  Mortgagor’s
interests  in  the  relevant  mortgaged  property  carried  out  on  a  market  value  basis  as  defined  in  the  then  current  Royal  Institution  of  Chartered  Surveyors  Appraisal  and
Valuation Manual in association with the Incorporated Society of Valuers and Auctioneers and the Institute of Revenues Rating and Valuation, Practice Statement 4 (or its
successor) (or its equivalent in any applicable Additional Jurisdiction).
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“ Assets ” shall have the meaning specified in Article 1 of this Agreement.

“ Assignee ” shall have the meaning set forth in Article 17(a) of this Agreement.

“ Bailee  Letter ”  shall  mean  a  letter  substantially in  the  form  as Exhibit  XVI from  an  Acceptable  Attorney  or  another  Person  acceptable  to  Buyer  in  its  sole
discretion, in form and substance customary in the relevant jurisdiction, and in each case acceptable to Buyer in its sole discretion, wherein such Acceptable Attorney or
other Person described above in possession of a Purchased Asset File (i) acknowledges receipt of such Purchased Asset File, (ii) confirms that such Acceptable Attorney or
other Person acceptable to Buyer is holding the same as bailee or agent, as applicable, on behalf of Buyer under such letter and (iii) agrees that such Acceptable Attorney or
other Person described above shall deliver such Purchased Asset File to the Custodian, or as otherwise directed by Buyer, by not later than the third (3rd) Business Day
following the Purchase Date for the related Purchased Asset.

“ Bankruptcy Code ” shall mean the United States Bankruptcy Code of 1978, as amended from time to time.

“ Base Currency ” shall mean British Pound Sterling.

“ Breakage Costs ” shall have the meaning assigned thereto in Article 3(l) .

“ Business Day ” shall  mean a  day other  than (i)  a  Saturday  or  Sunday,  or  (ii)  a  day in  which the  New York Stock Exchange  or  banks  in  the  States  of  Kansas,
Minnesota, New York or Pennsylvania are authorized or obligated by law or executive order to be closed. Notwithstanding the foregoing sentence, when used with respect
to the determination of IBOR, “ Business Day ” shall  only be a day on which commercial  banks are open for  international  business (including dealings in U.S. Dollar
deposits) in London, England.

“ Buyer ” shall mean Morgan Stanley Bank, N.A., or any successor or assign.

“ Buyer’s Margin Amount ” shall mean with respect to any Transaction and any Purchased Asset on any date, the Maximum Advance Rate attributable to such
Purchased Asset, multiplied by the Market Value of such Purchased Asset as of the date of determination.

“ Capital Stock ” shall mean any and all shares, interests, or other equivalents (however designated) of capital stock of a corporation, any and all equivalent equity
ownership interests in a Person which is not a corporation, including, without limitation, any and all member or other equivalent interests in any limited liability company,
any and all partner or other equivalent interests in any partnership or limited partnership, and any and all warrants or options to purchase any of the foregoing.

“ Capitalized Lease Obligations ” shall  mean,  for any Person,  all  obligations of  such Person to pay rent or  other  amounts under a  lease of  (or  other  agreement
conveying the right to use) property to the extent such obligations are required to be classified and accounted for as a capital lease on a balance sheet of such Person under
GAAP, and, for purposes of this Agreement, the amount of such obligation shall be the capitalized amount thereof, determined in accordance with GAAP.
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“ Change of Control ” shall mean if either (a) any “person” or “group” (within the meaning of Section 13(d) or 14(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended (the “ 1934 Act ” )) shall become, or obtain rights (whether by means of warrants, options or otherwise) to become, the “beneficial owner” (as defined in Rules
13d-3 and 13d-5 under the Exchange Act), directly or indirectly, of a percentage of the total voting power of all classes of Capital Stock of Seller entitled to vote generally
in the election of directors, members or partners of 20% or more other than Affiliates of Guarantor or related funds of The Blackstone Group L.P. or to the extent such
interests are obtained through public market offering or secondary market trading, or (b) Guarantor shall cease to own and control, of record and beneficially, directly or
indirectly 100% of each class of outstanding Capital Stock of Seller. Notwithstanding the foregoing, neither Buyer nor any other Person shall be deemed to approve or to
have approved any internalization of management as a result of this definition or any other provision herein.

“ Closing Date ” shall mean March 3, 2014.

“ Code ” shall mean the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended.

“ Collateral ” shall have the meaning specified in Article 6(b) of this Agreement.

“ Collection Account ” shall mean the Mortgagor’s account controlled by the security trustee (or the equivalent under the applicable jurisdiction) of any Purchased
Asset relating to such Purchased Asset and in accordance with the facilities agreement, debenture and other loan documents related thereto.

“ Collection  Period ”  shall  mean  (i)  with  respect  to  the  first  Remittance  Date,  the  period beginning  on  and  including  the  Closing  Date  and  continuing  to  and
including the calendar day immediately preceding such Remittance Date, and (ii) with respect to each subsequent Remittance Date, the period beginning on and including
the immediately preceding Remittance Date and continuing to and including the calendar day immediately preceding the following Remittance Date.

“ Confirmation ” shall have the meaning specified in Article 3(b)(iii) of this Agreement.

“ Confirmation of Supplemental Provisions ” shall mean a notice letter, executed by Buyer and acknowledged by Seller and Guarantor, substantially in the form
set  forth  in Exhibit  XIX ,  attached  hereto  and  made  a  part  hereof,  which  shall  set  forth  additional  schedules,  exhibits,  annexes  and  provisions  relating  to  jurisdictional
specific documents, covenants, representations and other requirements in connection with Eligible Assets subject to Additional Jurisdictions.

“ Connection Income Taxes ” means Other Connection Taxes that are imposed on or measured by net income (however denominated) or that are franchise Taxes or
branch profits Taxes.

“ Covenant Compliance Certificate ”  shall  mean  a  properly  completed  and  executed  Covenant  Compliance  Certificate  in  form and substance  of  the  certificate
attached hereto as Exhibit XI .

“ Currency ” shall mean U.S. Dollar, British Pound Sterling, Euro or such other currency permitted by Buyer, in its sole discretion.

“ Custodial Agreement ” shall mean the Amended and Restated Custodial Agreement, dated as of the date hereof, by and among the Custodian, Seller and Buyer,
as the same may be amended, restated, supplemented, replaced or otherwise modified from time to time.
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“ Custodial  Delivery ”  shall  mean  the  form  executed  by Seller  in  order  to  deliver  the  Purchased  Asset  Schedule  and  the  Purchased  Asset  File  to  Buyer  or  its
designee (including the Custodian) pursuant to Article 7 of this Agreement, a form of which is attached to the Custodial Agreement.

“ Custodian ”  shall  mean  US  Bank  or  any  successor  Custodian  appointed  by  Buyer  with  the  prior written  consent  of  Seller,  not  to  be  unreasonably  withheld,
conditioned or delayed; provided , however , that during the existence of an Event of Default, Buyer shall appoint any successor Custodian in its sole discretion.

“ Default ” shall mean any event which, with the giving of notice, the passage of time, or both, would constitute an Event of Default.

“ Depository ” shall  mean PNC Bank,  National  Association,  or  any successor  Depository appointed by Buyer  with the prior  written consent  of  Seller,  not  to  be
unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed; provided , however , that during the existence of an Event of Default, Buyer shall appoint any successor Depository in its
sole discretion.

“ Depository Account ” shall mean, individually or collectively, as the context may require, the UK Depository Account, the EUR Depository Account, the U.S.
Depository Account and any other segregated account, in the name of the applicable Seller, in trust for Buyer, established at Depository pursuant to this Agreement, and
which is subject to a Depository Agreement.

“ Depository Agreement ” shall mean, individually or collectively, as the context may require, the UK Depository Agreement, the EUR Depository Agreement, the
U.S. Depository Agreement and any other deposit account control agreement or similar agreement that Buyer, Depository and any additional Seller permitted under this
Agreement.

“ Direct Agreement ” shall mean, an agreement by and among any Buyer approved servicer or sub-servicer, Buyer and Seller, pursuant to Article 27(d) together
with any replacement, modification, supplement or amendment thereof.

“ Draft Valuation ” shall mean a short form Approved Valuation, “letter opinion of value,” or any other form of draft Approved Valuation acceptable to Buyer.

“ Due Diligence Package ” shall have the meaning specified in Exhibit VI(a) to this Agreement.

“ Early Repurchase Date ” shall have the meaning specified in Article 3(e) of this Agreement.

“ Eligible Assets ” shall mean any of the following types of assets or loans that are (1) acceptable to Buyer in its sole discretion (such determination of acceptability
only being applicable prior to the Purchase Date for the related Purchased Asset, but shall not be a factor at any time after the Purchase Date for such Purchased Asset),
(2) denominated in British Pound Sterling (or such other Currency approved by Buyer in its sole discretion), (3) to the extent any hedging is required relating to such loan,
such hedging arrangement is acceptable to Buyer; and (4) secured directly or indirectly by properties that are multifamily, mixed use, industrial, office building, retail, self-
storage or hospitality or such other types of properties that Buyer may agree to in its sole discretion, and are properties located in the United States of America, the United
Kingdom, the Netherlands, any of their territories or possessions (or any other Additional Jurisdiction, in the sole discretion of Buyer, approved pursuant to Article 30 of
this Agreement):
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(i) Senior Mortgage Loans;

(ii) Participation Interests;

(iii) Mezzanine Loans, provided that a Mezzanine Loan shall not be considered an Eligible Asset where the Underlying Mortgage Loan or the related Senior
Mortgage Loan or Participation Interest associated with such Mezzanine Loan is not a Purchased Asset unless the Mezzanine Loan is sold to Buyer simultaneously with the
Underlying Mortgage Loan or the related Senior Mortgage Loan or Participation Interest as part of the same Transaction; and

(iv) any other asset or loan types or classifications that are acceptable to Buyer, subject to its consent on all necessary and appropriate modifications to this
Agreement and each of the Transaction Documents, as determined by Buyer in its sole discretion.

“ Environmental Laws ” means applicable federal, state or local environmental laws, rules and regulations.

“ ERISA ” shall mean the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended from time to time, and the regulations promulgated thereunder. Article
references  to  ERISA  are  to  ERISA,  as  in  effect  at  the  date  of  this  Agreement  and,  as  of  the  relevant  date,  any  subsequent  provisions  of  ERISA,  amendatory  thereof,
supplemental thereto or substituted therefor.

“ ERISA Affiliate ” shall mean any corporation or trade or business that is a member of any group of organizations (i) described in Article 414(b) or (c) of the Code
of which Seller is a member and (ii) solely for purposes of potential liability under Article 302(c)(11) of ERISA and Article 412(c)(11) of the Code and the lien created
under Article 302(f) of ERISA and Article 412(n) of the Code, described in Article 414(m) or (o) of the Code of which Seller is a member.

“ EURIBOR Base Rate ” shall mean, with respect to each Pricing Rate Period, (i) the percentage rate per annum for deposits in Euro (with respect to the period
equal or comparable to the applicable Pricing Rate Period) that appears on Reuters Screen EURIBOR01 Page (or the successor thereto) as of 11:00 a.m., London time, on
the date that is two (2) Business Days prior to the beginning of such Pricing Rate Period or any other Pricing Rate Determination Date, as applicable, or (ii) if such rate
does not appear on Reuters Screen EURIBOR01 Page as of 11:00 a.m. London time on such date, the arithmetic mean of the offered quotes of rates per annum obtained by
Buyer from the Banking Federation of the European Union and one or more other Reference Banks for deposits in Euro (with respect to the period equal or comparable to
the applicable  Pricing  Rate  Period)  at  or  about  11:00  a.m.,  London time  on  such  date.  Notwithstanding  anything  contained  herein  to  the  contrary,  if  the  calculation  of
EURIBOR results in a EURIBOR rate of less than zero (0), EURIBOR shall be deemed to be zero (0) for all purposes of this Agreement.

“ EURIBOR Rate ” shall mean with respect to each Pricing Rate Period, pertaining to a Transaction, a rate per annum determined in accordance with the following
formula (rounded upward to the nearest 1/100th of 1%):

EURIBOR Base Rate

1.00 – EURIBOR Rate Reserve Percentage
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“ EURIBOR Rate Reserve Percentage ” shall mean, for any Pricing Rate Period pertaining to a Transaction, the reserve percentage applicable two (2) Business
Days  before  the  first  day  of  such  Pricing  Rate  Period  under  regulations  issued  from  time  to  time  by  the  Board  of  Governors  of  the  Federal Reserve  System  (or  any
successor thereto) for determining the maximum reserve requirement (including, without limitation, any emergency, supplemental or other marginal reserve requirement)
for a member bank of the Federal Reserve System in New York, New York with respect to liabilities or assets consisting of or including any category of liabilities that
includes deposits by reference to which the interest rate on Transactions is determined having a term comparable to such Pricing Rate Period.

“ EUR  Depository  Account ”  shall  mean  the  segregated  account,  in  the  name  of  EUR  Seller,  in  trust for  Buyer,  established  at  Depository  pursuant  to  this
Agreement, and which is subject to the EUR Depository Agreement.

“ EUR Depository Agreement ” shall mean that certain Deposit Account Control Agreement, dated as of the date hereof, among Buyer, EUR Seller, Depository,
and Primary Servicer, as the same may be amended, restated, supplemented, replaced or otherwise modified from time to time.

“ EUR Pledgor ” shall mean 345-50 Partners, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company.

“ EUR Primary Servicing Agreement ” shall mean that certain Servicing Agreement by and among Buyer, EUR Seller and Primary Servicer, dated as of the date
hereof, as the same may be amended, restated, supplemented, replaced or otherwise modified from time to time.

“ EUR Purchased Asset ”  shall  mean  a  Purchased  Asset  with  respect  to  which  the  Underlying  Mortgaged Property  is  located  in  the  Netherlands  or  any  of  its
territories or possessions or any Additional Jurisdiction approved by Buyer from time to time.

“ EUR Seller ” shall have the meaning set forth in the Recitals hereto.

“ Event of Default ” shall have the meaning specified in Article 12 of this Agreement.

“ Excluded  Taxes ”  means  any  of  the  following  Taxes  imposed  on  or  with  respect  to  Buyer  or  any Transferee,  or  required  to  be  withheld  or  deducted  from a
payment  to  Buyer  or  Transferee,  (a)  Taxes  imposed  on  or  measured  by  net  income  (however  denominated),  franchise  Taxes,  and  branch  profits  Taxes,  in  each  case,
(i) imposed as a result of Buyer or Transferee being organized under the laws of, or having its principal office or, in the case of any Buyer or Transferee, its applicable
lending office located in the jurisdiction imposing such Tax (or any political  subdivision thereof)  or  (ii)  that  are Other Connection Taxes,  (b)  in the case of a Buyer or
Transferee, U.S. federal withholding Taxes imposed on amounts payable to or for the account of such Buyer or Transferee under this Agreement pursuant to a law in effect
on  the  date  on  which  (i)  such  Buyer  or  Transferee  acquires  an  interest  hereunder  (other  than  pursuant  to  an  assignment  request  by  the  Seller  under Article  3(u) ) or
(ii) Buyer or Transferee changes its lending office, except in each case to the extent that, pursuant to Articles 3(n) and 3(q) , amounts with respect to such Taxes were
payable either to Buyer’s or Transferee’s assignor immediately before such Buyer or Transferee acquired an interest hereunder or to such Buyer or Transferee immediately
before it changed its lending office, (c) Taxes attributable to such Buyer or Transferee’s failure to comply with Article 3(r) and (d)  any U.S. federal withholding Taxes
imposed under FATCA.

“ Existing Agreement ” shall have the meaning specified in Article 1 of this Agreement.
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“ Extension Period ” shall have the meaning specified in Article 3(m)(i) of this Agreement.

“ FATCA ” means Sections 1471 through 1474 of the Code, as of the date of this Agreement (or any amended or successor version that is substantively comparable
and not materially more onerous to comply with), any current or future regulations or official interpretations thereof and any agreements entered into with a Governmental
Authority or pursuant to Section 1471(b)(1) of the Code.

“ FATF ” shall have the meaning specified in the definition of “Prohibited Investor.”

“ Federal Funds Rate ” shall mean, for any day, the weighted average of the rates on overnight federal funds transactions with members of the Federal Reserve
System arranged by federal funds brokers, as published on the next succeeding Business Day by the Federal Reserve Bank of New York, or, if such rate is not so published
for any day that is a Business Day, the average of the quotations for the day of such transactions received by Buyer from three federal funds brokers of recognized standing
selected by it.

“ Fee Letter ” shall mean that certain Second Amended and Restated Fee Letter dated as of the date hereof between Buyer and Seller, as the same may be amended,
restated, supplemented, replaced or otherwise modified from time to time.

“ Filings ” shall have the meaning specified in Article 6(d) of this Agreement.

“ Financing Lease ” shall mean any lease of property, real or personal, the obligations of the lessee in respect of which are required in accordance with GAAP to be
capitalized on a balance sheet of the lessee.

“ First A&R Closing Date ” shall mean December 16, 2014.

“ Fitch ” shall mean Fitch Ratings, Inc.

“ Foreign Assignee ” shall mean an Assignee that is not a U.S. Person.

“ Fraudulent Transfer Laws ” shall have the meaning specified in Article 28(m) of this Agreement.

“ Future Funding Advance ” shall have the meaning specified in Article 3(x) of this Agreement.

“ GAAP ” shall mean United States generally accepted accounting principles consistently applied as in effect from time to time.

“ Governmental Authority ” shall mean any national or federal government, any state, regional, local or other political subdivision thereof with jurisdiction and any
Person  with  jurisdiction  exercising  executive,  legislative,  judicial,  regulatory  or  administrative  functions  of  or pertaining  to  government  (including  any  supra-national
bodies such as the European Union or the European Central Bank).

“ Guarantor ” shall mean Blackstone Mortgage Trust, Inc., a Maryland corporation.
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“ Hedge-Required Asset ” shall mean any Eligible Asset that is a fixed rate Eligible Asset and for which Buyer determines in its sole discretion requires a Hedging
Transaction as a condition precedent to the related Transaction.

“ Hedging Transactions ” shall mean, with respect to any or all of the Purchased Assets, any short sale of U.S. Treasury Securities or mortgage related securities,
futures contract (including currency futures) or options contract or any interest rate swap, cap or collar agreement or similar arrangements providing for protection against
fluctuations in interest  rates  or  the  exchange  of  nominal  interest  obligations,  entered  into  by  any  Affiliated  Hedge  Counterparty  or  Qualified  Hedge  Counterparty  with
Seller,  either  generally  or under specific  contingencies  that  is  required by Buyer,  or  otherwise pursuant  to this  Agreement,  to hedge the financing of a Hedge-Required
Asset, or that Seller has elected to pledge or transfer to Buyer pursuant to this Agreement.

“ IBOR ” shall mean LIBOR or EURIBOR, as the context shall require.

“ IBOR Rate ” shall mean LIBOR Rate or EURIBOR Rate, as the context shall require.

“ Income ”  shall  mean,  with  respect  to  any  Purchased  Asset  at  any  time,  (a)  any  collections  of principal,  interest,  dividends,  receipts  or  other  distributions  or
collections,  (b)  all  net  sale  proceeds received by Seller  or  any Affiliate  of  Seller  in  connection with a  sale  or  liquidation of  such Purchased Asset  and (c)  all  payments
actually received by Buyer on account of Hedging Transactions.

“ Indebtedness ” shall mean, for any Person, (a) obligations created, issued or incurred by such Person for borrowed money (whether by loan, the issuance and sale
of  debt  securities  or  the  sale  of  property  to  another  Person  subject  to  an  understanding  or  agreement,  contingent  or otherwise,  to  repurchase  such  property  from  such
Person); (b) obligations of such Person to pay the deferred purchase or acquisition price of property or services, other than trade accounts payable (other than for borrowed
money) arising, and accrued expenses incurred, in the ordinary course of business so long as such trade accounts payable are payable within ninety (90) calendar days of
the date the respective goods are delivered or the respective services are rendered; (c) Indebtedness of others secured by a Lien on the property of such Person, whether or
not  the  respective  Indebtedness  so  secured  has  been assumed by such Person;  (d)  obligations  (contingent  or  otherwise)  of  such Person in  respect  of letters  of  credit  or
similar instruments issued or accepted by banks and other financial institutions for account of such Person; (e) Capitalized Lease Obligations of such Person; (f) obligations
of  such  Person  under  repurchase  agreements or  like  arrangements;  (g)  Indebtedness  of  others  guaranteed  by  such  Person  to  the  extent  of  such  guarantee;  and  (h)  all
obligations of such Person incurred in connection with the acquisition or carrying of fixed assets by such Person. Notwithstanding the foregoing, nonrecourse Indebtedness
owing  pursuant  to  a  securitization  transaction  such  as  a  REMIC  securitization,  a  collateralized  loan  obligations  transaction  or  other  similar  securitization  shall  not  be
considered Indebtedness for any Person.

“ Indemnified Amounts ” and “ Indemnified Parties ” shall have the meaning specified in Article 25 of this Agreement.

“ Indemnified Taxes ” means (a) Taxes, other than Excluded Taxes, imposed on or with respect to any payment made by or on account of any obligation of Seller
under any Transaction Document and (b) to the extent not otherwise described in clause (a)  of this definition, Other Taxes.
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“ Independent Appraiser ” shall mean an independent professional real estate appraiser who is a member in good standing of the American Appraisal Institute, and,
if the state in which the subject Underlying Mortgaged Property is located certifies or licenses appraisers, is certified or licensed in such state, and in each such case, who
has a minimum of five (5) years’ experience in the subject property type.

“ Independent  Director ”  shall  mean  an  individual  with  at  least  three  (3)  years  of  employment experience  serving  as  an  independent  director  at  the  time  of
appointment  who  is  provided  by,  and  is  in  good  standing  with,  CT  Corporation,  Corporation  Service  Company,  National  Registered  Agents,  Inc.,  Wilmington  Trust
Company, Stewart Management Company, Lord Securities Corporation or, if none of those companies is then providing professional independent directors or managers or
is not acceptable to the Rating Agencies, another nationally recognized company reasonably approved by Buyer, in each case that is not an Affiliate of either Seller and that
provides professional independent directors or managers and other corporate services in the ordinary course of its business, and which individual is duly appointed as a
member  of  the  board of  directors  or  board  of  managers  of  the  applicable  Seller  and  is  not,  and  has  never  been,  and  will  not  while  serving  as  independent  director  or
manager be:

(a) a member (other than an independent, non-economic “springing” member), partner, equityholder, manager, director, officer or employee of either Seller or
any Seller’s equityholders or Affiliates (other than as an independent director or manager of an Affiliate of a Seller that is not in the direct chain of ownership of Sellers and
that is required by a creditor to be a single purpose bankruptcy remote entity, provided that such independent director or manager is employed by a company that routinely
provides professional independent directors or managers in the ordinary course of business);

(b) a customer, creditor, supplier or service provider (including provider of professional services) to any Seller or a Seller’s equityholders or Affiliates (other
than a  nationally  recognized  company that  routinely  provides  professional  independent  directors  or  managers  and other  corporate  services  to  any Seller  or  any Seller’s
equityholders or Affiliates in the ordinary course of business);

(c) a family member of any such member, partner, equityholder, manager, director, officer, employee, customer, creditor, supplier or service provider; or

(d) a Person that Controls or is under common Control with (whether directly, indirectly or otherwise) any of (a), (b) or (c) above.

A natural person who otherwise satisfies the foregoing definition other than subparagraph (a) by reason of being the independent director or manager of a
single purpose bankruptcy remote entity in the direct chain of ownership of a Seller shall not be disqualified from serving as an independent director or manager of a Seller,
provided that the fees that such individual earns from serving as independent directors or managers of such Affiliates in any given year constitute in the aggregate less than
five percent (5%) of such individual’s annual income for that year.

“ Ineligible Assets ” shall have the meaning specified in Article 12(c) of this Agreement.

“ Investment Company Act ” shall have the meaning specified in Article 9(b)(xv) of this Agreement.

“ IRS ” shall mean the United States Internal Revenue Service.
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“ Knowledge ” shall mean, as of any date of determination, the then-current actual (as distinguished from imputed or constructive) knowledge of (i) Stephen Plavin,
Robert Harper, Thomas C. Ruffing or Douglas Armer (or, if following the Closing Date any such individual ceases to be an officer of or in the employ of Seller and/or
Guarantor in a capacity comparable to the capacity occupied by such individual on the Closing Date, then Seller shall promptly designate another individual reasonably
acceptable to Buyer for purposes of satisfying this definition), or (ii) any asset manager or employee with a title equivalent or more senior to that of “principal” within The
Blackstone Group, L.P. that is responsible for the origination, acquisition and/or management of any Purchased Asset.

“ LIBOR Base Rate ”  shall  mean,  with  respect  to  each  Pricing  Rate  Period,  (i)  the  per annum  rate  for  deposits  in  British  Pound  Sterling  (with  respect  to  UK
Purchased  Assets)  or  U.S.  Dollars  (with  respect  to  U.S.  Purchased  Assets),  in  each  case  with  respect  to  the  period  equal  or  comparable  to  the  applicable  Pricing  Rate
Period, that appears on Reuters Screen LIBOR01 Page (or the successor thereto) as three-month LIBOR as of 11:00 a.m., London time, on the date that is two (2) Business
Days prior to the beginning of such Pricing Rate Period or any other Pricing Rate Determinate Date, as applicable, or (ii) if such rate does not appear on Reuters Screen
LIBOR01 Page as of 11:00 a.m. London time on such date, the arithmetic mean of the offered quotes of rates per annum obtained by Buyer from the principal London
office of any two or more Reference Banks for deposits in British Pound Sterling (with respect to UK Purchased Assets) or U.S. Dollars (with respect to U.S. Purchased
Assets),  in  each  case  with  respect  to  the  period  equal  or  comparable to  the  applicable  Pricing  Rate  Period,  at  or  about  11:00  a.m.,  London  time  on  such  date.
Notwithstanding anything contained herein to the contrary, if the calculation of LIBOR results in a LIBOR rate of less than zero (0), LIBOR shall be deemed to be zero
(0) for all purposes of this Agreement.

“ LIBOR Rate ” shall mean with respect to each Pricing Rate Period, pertaining to a Transaction, a rate per annum determined in accordance with the following
formula (rounded upward to the nearest 1/100th of 1%):

LIBOR Base Rate

1.00 – LIBOR Rate Reserve Percentage

“ LIBOR Rate Reserve Percentage ” shall mean, for any Pricing Rate Period pertaining to a Transaction, the reserve percentage applicable two (2) Business Days
before the first day of such Pricing Rate Period under regulations issued from time to time by the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System (or any successor
thereto)  for  determining  the  maximum  reserve  requirement  (including,  without  limitation,  any  emergency,  supplemental  or  other  marginal  reserve  requirement)  for  a
member bank of the Federal Reserve System in New York, New York with respect to liabilities or assets consisting of or including any category of liabilities that includes
deposits by reference to which the interest rate on Transactions is determined having a term comparable to such Pricing Rate Period.

“ Lien ” shall mean any mortgage, pledge, hypothecation, assignment, deposit arrangement, encumbrance, lien (statutory or other), charge or other security interest
or any preference, priority or other security agreement or preferential arrangement of any kind or nature whatsoever (including, without limitation, any conditional sale or
other title retention agreement and any Financing Lease having substantially the same economic effect as any of the foregoing), and the filing of any financing statement
under the UCC or comparable law of any jurisdiction in respect of any of the foregoing.
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“ London Business Day ” shall mean any day other than (a) a Saturday, (b) a Sunday or (c) any other day on which commercial banks in London, England are not
open for business.

“ LTV ” shall mean, with respect to any Purchased Asset, the ratio of the aggregate outstanding principal balance of such Purchased Asset (which shall include such
Purchased  Asset  and  all  debt  senior  to  or pari 
passu
with  such  Purchased  Asset)  secured,  directly  or  indirectly,  by  the  related  Underlying  Mortgaged  Property,  to  the
aggregate “as-is” market value of such Underlying Mortgaged Property as determined by Buyer in its sole discretion, or, to the extent available, based upon an Approved
Valuation or an Appraisal.

“ Margin  Availability ”  shall  mean  the  positive  difference,  if  any,  between  (a)  Buyer’s  Margin Amount  with  respect  to  a  Purchased  Asset  on  any  date  of
determination minus (b) the outstanding Purchase Price of such Purchased Asset on such date of determination.

“ Margin Availability Advance ” shall have the meaning specified in Article 3(w) .

“ Margin Deadline ” shall have the meaning specified in Article 4(a) .

“ Margin Deficit ” shall have the meaning specified in Article 4(a ) .

“ Margin Deficit Notice ” shall have the meaning specified in Article 4(a) .

“ Market Value ” shall mean, with respect to any Purchased Asset as of any relevant date, the outstanding principal balance of the Purchased Asset on such date, as
adjusted by Buyer to reflect the market value for such Purchased Asset on such date, as determined by Buyer in its commercially reasonable discretion, which may take
into account an  Approved Valuation  or  an  Appraisal,  but  in  each  case  based solely  on material  positive  or  negative  changes  (i.e.,  changes  that  impact  the  value  of  the
Purchased Asset other than to a de
minimus
extent, and in any event, relative to Buyer’s initial underwriting or the most recent determination of Market Value) relative to
the performance or condition of (i) the underlying property securing such Purchased Asset, (ii) the underlying borrower (or its sponsor(s)) in relation to the Purchased Asset
and (iii) the commercial real estate market in the relevant jurisdiction relating to the underlying property (and, for the avoidance of doubt, not related to a material adverse
change solely with respect to the Seller, Pledgor or Guarantor), taken in the aggregate. For the avoidance of doubt, Buyer’s determination of Market Value performed in
accordance with this Agreement may result in a Market Value determination of zero for any Purchased Asset.

“ Material Adverse Effect ” shall mean a material adverse effect on (a) the property, business, operations or financial condition of Seller and Guarantor taken as a
whole, (b) the ability of Seller or Guarantor to perform its obligations under any of the Transaction Documents, (c) the validity or enforceability of any of the Transaction
Documents,  (d)  the  rights  and  remedies  of  Buyer  under  any  of  the  Transaction  Documents,  (e)  the  timely  payment  of  any  amounts  payable  under  the  Transaction
Documents, (f) the timely payment of any amounts payable under this Agreement or (g) the Market Value, rating (if applicable) or liquidity of all of the Purchased Assets
in the aggregate.

“ Maximum  Facility  Amount ”  shall  mean  £500,000,000.00;  provided,  that  any  amounts  paid  to  Buyer on  account  of  a  Repurchase  Price  may  be  readvanced
hereunder and utilized for purchasing additional Assets in accordance with the terms of this Agreement.
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“ Maximum Asset Exposure Threshold Breach ” shall mean, with respect to any Eligible Asset, if the Advance Rate multiplied by the LTV of such Eligible Asset
exceeds the Maximum Asset Exposure Threshold (as defined in the Fee Letter).

“ Mezzanine Collateral ” shall mean the collateral pledged in respect of a Mezzanine Loan.

“ Mezzanine Loan ” shall mean a performing loan evidenced by a note and primarily secured by pledges of all the Capital Stock in entities that own, directly or
indirectly, properties that serve as collateral for Senior Mortgage Loans.

“ Mezzanine Note ” shall mean the original promissory note that was executed and delivered in connection with a particular Mezzanine Loan.

“ Monthly Reporting Package ” shall mean the reporting package described on Exhibit III-A .

“ Moody’s ” shall mean Moody’s Investors Service, Inc.

“ Mortgage ” shall mean a mortgage, deed of trust, deed to secure debt, charge or other instrument, creating a valid and enforceable first Lien on or a first priority
ownership interest in an estate in fee simple or term of years in real property and the improvements thereon, securing evidence of indebtedness.

“ Mortgagee ” shall mean, with respect to U.S. Purchased Loan, the record holder of a Mortgage Note that is secured by a Mortgage.

“ Mortgage Note ” shall mean with respect to U.S. Purchased Loans, a note or other evidence of indebtedness of a Mortgagor secured by a Mortgage, or, in the case
of a Mezzanine Loan, by a pledge of, or security interest in, any Mezzanine Collateral, in connection with such U.S. Purchased Asset.

“ Mortgagor ” shall mean the obligor relating to any Senior Mortgage Loan, Mezzanine Loan or Participation Interest.

“ MTM Representation ” shall mean with respect to each jurisdiction, as applicable, the representations and warranties designated as “MTM Representations” set
forth on Exhibit V hereto.

“ Multiemployer Plan ” shall mean a multiemployer plan defined as such in Article 3(37) of ERISA to which contributions have been, or were required to have
been, made by Seller or any ERISA Affiliate and that is covered by Title IV of ERISA.

“ New Asset ” shall mean an Eligible Asset that Seller proposes to be included as a Purchased Item.

“ OFAC ” shall have the meaning specified in the definition of “Prohibited Investor.”

“ Original Agreement ” shall have the meaning specified in Article 1 of this Agreement.

“ Originated Asset ” shall mean any Eligible Asset originated by Seller.
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“ Other Connection Taxes ” means, with respect to the Buyer and any Transferee, Taxes imposed as a result of a present or former connection between such Buyer
or  Transferee  and  the  jurisdiction  imposing  such  Tax  (other  than  connections  arising  from  such  Buyer  or  Transferee  having  executed,  delivered,  become a  party  to,
performed its  obligations  under,  received payments  under,  received or  perfected  a  security  interest  under,  engaged in  any other  transaction  pursuant  to  or  enforced any
Transaction Document, or sold or assigned an interest in any Transaction Document).

“ Other Taxes ” means all present or future stamp, court or documentary, intangible, recording, filing or similar Taxes that arise from any payment made under,
from the  execution,  delivery,  performance,  enforcement  or  registration  of,  from the  receipt  or  perfection  of  a  security  interest  under,  or  otherwise  with  respect to, any
Transaction Document, except for (i) any such Taxes or Other Connection Taxes imposed with respect to an assignment, transfer or sale of participation or other interest in
or with respect to the Transaction Documents (other than an assignment made pursuant to Article 3(v)), and (ii) for the avoidance of doubt, any Excluded Taxes.

“ Outside Repurchase Date ” shall mean March 3, 2020.

“ Outside Repurchase Date Extension Conditions ” shall have the meaning specified in Article 3(m) of this Agreement.

“ Parallel Repurchase Facility ” shall  mean any repurchase facility entered into by and among Guarantor or  any Subsidiary of Guarantor on the one hand, and
Buyer or any of its Affiliates on the other hand, and evidenced by a master repurchase and securities contract agreement in form and substance similar to this Agreement
together with additional transaction documents, similar in form and substance to the Transaction Documents.

“ Parent Guaranty and Indemnity ” shall mean the Second Amended and Restated Parent Guaranty and Indemnity, dated as of the date hereof, from Guarantor in
favor of Buyer, in form and substance acceptable to Buyer, as the same may be amended, restated, supplemented, replaced or otherwise modified from time to time.

“ Participant Register ” shall have the meaning assigned in Article 17(d).

“ Participants ” shall have the meaning specified in Article 17(a) of this Agreement.

“ Participation Certificate ” shall mean the original participation certificate that was executed and delivered in connection with a Senior Mortgage Loan that is a
participation interest.

“ Participation Interest ” shall mean (a) a senior or controlling pari
passu
participation interest in a performing Senior Mortgage Loan, or (b) an “A note” in an
“A/B structure” in a commercial real estate loan.

“ Person ” shall mean an individual, corporation, limited liability company, business trust, partnership, joint tenant or tenant in common, trust, joint stock company,
joint venture, unincorporated organization, or any other entity of whatever nature, or a Governmental Authority.

“ Plan ” shall mean an employee benefit or other plan established or maintained by Seller or any ERISA Affiliate during the five year period ended prior to the date
of this Agreement or to which Seller or any ERISA Affiliate makes, is obligated to make or has, within the five year period ended prior to the date of this Agreement, been
required to make contributions and that is covered by Title IV of ERISA or Article 302 of ERISA or Article 412 of the Code, other than a Multiemployer Plan.
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“ Plan Party ” shall have the meaning set forth in Article 20(a) of this Agreement.

“ Pledge and Security Agreement ” shall mean, individually or collectively as the context may require, that certain (i) Pledge and Security Agreement, dated as of
the Closing Date, by UK Pledgor in favor of Buyer, as the same may be amended, restated, supplemented, replaced or otherwise modified from time to time, pledging all of
UK Seller’s Capital Stock to Buyer, (ii) Pledge and Security Agreement, dated as of the First A&R Closing Date, by EUR Pledgor in favor of Buyer, as the same may be
amended,  restated, supplemented,  replaced  or  otherwise  modified  from  time  to  time,  pledging  all  of  EUR  Seller’s  Capital  Stock  to  Buyer,  (iii)  Pledge  and  Security
Agreement, dated as of the date hereof, by U.S. Pledgor in favor of Buyer, as the same may be amended, restated, supplemented, replaced or otherwise modified from time
to time, pledging all of U.S. Seller’s Capital Stock to Buyer, and (iv) any Supplemental Pledge and Security Agreement.

“ Pledgor ” shall mean, individually or collectively, as the context may require, UK Pledgor, EUR Pledgor and U.S. Pledgor, and any additional Pledgor permitted
under the Transaction Documents.

“ Pre-Existing Asset ” shall mean any Eligible Asset that is not an Originated Asset.

“ Pre-Purchase Due Diligence ” shall have the meaning set forth in Article 3(b)(iv) hereof.

“ Pre-Purchase Legal Expenses ” shall mean all of the reasonable and necessary out of pocket legal fees, costs and expenses incurred by Buyer in connection with
the Pre-Purchase Due Diligence associated with Buyer’s decision as to whether or not to enter into a particular Transaction.

“ Price Differential ” shall mean, with respect to any Purchased Asset as of any date, the aggregate amount obtained by daily application of the applicable Pricing
Rate for such Purchased Asset to the outstanding Purchase Price of such Purchased Asset on a 360-day-per-year basis for the actual number of days during each Pricing
Rate Period commencing on (and including) the Purchase Date for such Purchased Asset and ending on (but excluding) the date of determination (reduced by any amount
of such Price Differential previously paid by Seller to Buyer with respect to such Purchased Asset). Price Differential shall be payable in the Currency of the applicable
Purchased Asset.

“ Pricing Rate ”  shall  mean,  for  any  Pricing  Rate  Period,  an  annual  rate  equal  to  the  sum  of  (i)  IBOR  Rate  (or  such  other  period  based  upon  the  applicable
Purchased Asset) and (ii) the relevant Applicable Spread, in each case, for the applicable Pricing Rate Period for the related Purchased Asset. The Pricing Rate shall be
subject to adjustment and/or conversion as provided in the Transaction Documents or the related Confirmation.

“ Pricing Rate Determination Date ” shall mean with respect to any Pricing Rate Period with respect to any Transaction, the date specified in the Confirmation
relating to such transaction.

“ Pricing Rate Period ” shall mean, with respect to any Transaction and any Remittance Date (a) in the case of the first Pricing Rate Period, the period commencing
on and including the Purchase Date for such Transaction and ending on and excluding the following Remittance Date, and (b) in the case of any subsequent Pricing Rate
Period, the period commencing on and including the immediately preceding Remittance Date and ending on and excluding such Remittance Date; provided , however , that
in no event shall any Pricing Rate Period for a Purchased Asset end subsequent to the Repurchase Date for such Purchased Asset.
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“ Primary Servicer ” shall mean Midland Loan Services, a Division of PNC Bank, National Association, or any other primary servicer approved by, or in the case
of a termination of Primary Servicer pursuant to Article 27(c) , appointed by Buyer and approved by Seller, such approval not to be unreasonably withheld, condition or
delayed; provided , however , that Seller shall have no approval rights in either case during the existence of an Event of Default.

“ Primary Servicing Agreement ” shall  mean,  individually  or  collectively,  as  the context  may require  the UK Primary Servicing Agreement,  the EUR Primary
Servicing Agreement, the U.S. Primary Servicing Agreement and, if any other Primary Servicer is approved by Buyer in its sole discretion, any servicing agreement with
such other Primary Servicer in respect of the Purchased Assets, which agreement is approved by Buyer in its sole discretion.

“ Principal Payment ” shall mean, with respect to any Purchased Asset, any principal payment or prepayment received by the Depository in respect thereof.

“ Principal  Proceeds ”  shall  mean,  with  respect  to  any  Purchased  Asset,  any  scheduled  or  unscheduled payment  or  prepayment  of  principal  received  by  the
Depository or allocated as principal in respect of any such Purchased Asset.

“ Prohibited Investor ” shall mean (1) a person or entity whose name appears on the list of Specially Designated Nationals and Blocked Persons by the Office of
Foreign Asset Control (“ OFAC ”),  (2)  any foreign shell  bank, and (3) any person or entity resident  in or whose subscription funds are transferred from or through an
account in a jurisdiction that has been designated as a non-cooperative with international anti-money laundering principles or procedures by an intergovernmental group or
organization,  such  as  the  Financial  Action  Task  Force  on Money  Laundering  (“ FATF ”),  of  which  the  U.S.  is  a  member  and  with  which  designation  the  U.S.
representative to the group or organization continues to concur. See http://www.fatf-gati.org for FATF ’s list of Non-Cooperative Countries and Territories.

“ Prohibited Person ” shall have the meaning set forth in Article 9(b)(xxviii) .

“ Prohibited Transferee ” shall mean any of the Persons listed on Exhibit XVII , as modified from time to time by mutual agreement of Buyer and Seller.

“ Properties ” shall mean any properties owned or leased by Seller.

“ Purchase Date ” shall mean, with respect to any Purchased Asset, the date on which Buyer purchases such Purchased Asset from Seller hereunder.

“ Purchase Price ” shall mean, with respect to any Purchased Asset, the price at which such Purchased Asset is transferred by a Seller to Buyer on the applicable
Purchase Date, adjusted after the Purchase Date as set forth below. The Purchase Price as of the Purchase Date for any Purchased Asset shall be an amount (expressed and
payable in the same Currency as the related Purchased Asset) equal to the product obtained by multiplying (i) the Market Value of such Purchased Asset as of the Purchase
Date (or the par amount of such Purchased Asset, if lower than Market Value) by (ii) the “Advance Rate” for such Purchased Asset as set forth on the related Confirmation.
The Purchase Price of any Purchased
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Asset shall be (a) decreased by (i) the portion of any Principal Proceeds on such Purchased Asset that are applied pursuant to Article 5 hereof to reduce such Purchase Price
and (ii) any other amounts paid to Buyer by Seller to reduce such Purchase Price (including, without limitation, in accordance with Article 3(w) ), and (b) increased by any
Margin Availability Advance or Future Funding Advance.

“ Purchased  Asset ”  shall  mean  (i)  with  respect  to  any  Transaction,  the  Eligible Asset  sold  by  Seller  to  Buyer  in  such  Transaction  and  (ii)  with  respect  to  the
Transactions in general, all Eligible Assets sold by Seller to Buyer (other than Purchased Assets that have been repurchased by Seller).

“ Purchased Asset Documents ” shall mean, with respect to a Purchased Asset, the documents comprising the Purchased Asset File for such Purchased Asset.

“ Purchased Asset File ” shall mean the documents specified in the “Purchased Asset File” in Article 7(b) , together with any additional documents and information
required to be delivered to Buyer or its designee (including Custodian) pursuant to this Agreement; provided that to the extent that Buyer waives, including pursuant to
Article 7(c) , receipt of any document in connection with the purchase of an Eligible Asset (but not if Buyer merely agrees to accept delivery of such document after the
Purchase Date),  such document shall  not be a required component of the Purchased Asset File until  such time as Buyer determines in good faith that  such document is
necessary or appropriate for the servicing of the applicable Purchased Asset.

“ Purchased Items ” shall have the meaning specified in Article 6(a) of this Agreement.

“ Qualified Hedge Counterparty ” shall mean, with respect to any Hedging Transaction, any entity, other than an Affiliated Hedge Counterparty, that (a) qualifies
as an “eligible contract participant” as such term is defined in the Commodity Exchange Act (as amended by the Commodity Futures Modernization Act of 2000), (b) the
long-term debt of which is rated no less than “A+” by S&P and “A1” by Moody’s and (c) is reasonably acceptable to Buyer; provided , that with respect to clause (c) , if
Buyer has approved an entity as a counterparty, it may not thereafter deem such counterparty unacceptable with respect to any previously outstanding Transaction unless
clause (a)  or clause (b)  no longer applies with respect to such counterparty.

“ Quarterly Reporting Package ” shall mean the reporting package described on Exhibit III-B .

“ Rating Agency ” shall mean any of Fitch, Moody’s, S&P, DBRS, Inc. and Kroll Bond Rating Agency Inc.

“ Re-direction Letter ” shall have the meaning specified in Article 5(b) .

“ Reference  Banks ”  shall  mean  any  leading international  bank  selected  by  Buyer  which  is  regularly  engaged  in  transactions  in  Eurodollar  deposits  in  the
international Eurocurrency market with an established place of business in London.

“ Release Letter ” shall mean a letter substantially in the form of Exhibit X hereto (or such other form as may be acceptable to Buyer).

“ REMIC ” shall mean a real estate mortgage investment conduit, within the meaning of Section 860D(a) of the Code.
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“ Remittance  Date ”  shall  mean:  (a)  with  respect  to  UK Purchased  Assets  and  EUR  Purchased  Assets,  January  25,  April  25,  July  25  and  October  25,  or  the
immediately succeeding Business Day, if such calendar day shall not be a Business Day, and (b) with respect to U.S. Purchased Assets, the seventeenth (17th) calendar day
of each calendar month, or the immediately succeeding Business Day, if such calendar day shall not be a Business Day, or, in each case, such other day as mutually agreed
to by Seller and Buyer.

“ Repurchase Date ” shall mean, with respect to a Purchased Asset, the earliest to occur of (i) the date set forth in the applicable Confirmation or if such Transaction
is extended, the date to which it is extended provided, that the Repurchase Date shall not be extended beyond the Outside Repurchase Date; (ii) any Early Repurchase Date
for such Transaction; and (iii) the Accelerated Repurchase Date.

“ Repurchase Obligations ” shall have the meaning assigned thereto in Article 6(a) .

“ Repurchase Price ” shall  mean,  with  respect  to  any Purchased Asset  as  of  any Repurchase  Date  or  any date  on which the  Repurchase  Price  is  required  to  be
determined hereunder,  the price  at  which such Purchased Asset  is  to  be transferred  from Buyer to  Seller;  such price  will  be determined in each case as  the sum of  the
(i) outstanding Purchase Price of such Purchased Asset (as increased by any other additional funds advanced in connection with such Purchased Asset); (ii) the accreted and
unpaid  Price  Differential  with  respect  to  such  Purchased  Asset  as  of  the  date  of  such  determination  (other  than,  with  respect  to  calculations  in  connection  with  the
determination of a Margin Deficit, accreted and unpaid Price Differential for the current Pricing Rate Period); (iii) any other amounts due and owing by Seller to Buyer and
its Affiliates pursuant to the terms of this Agreement as of such date; (iv) any amounts that would be payable to (a positive amount) a Qualified Hedge Counterparty or an
Affiliated Hedge Counterparty under any related Hedging Transaction, if such Hedging Transaction were terminated on the date of determination, if such determination is
in  connection with any calculation  of  Margin Deficit;  and (v)  if  such Repurchase  Date  is  not  a  Remittance  Date,  any Breakage  Costs  payable  in  connection  with  such
repurchase other than with respect to the determination of a Margin Deficit. In addition to the foregoing, the Repurchase Price shall be decreased by (A) the portion of any
Principal Proceeds on such Purchased Asset that is applied pursuant to Article 5 to reduce such Repurchase Price and (B) any other amounts paid to Buyer by Seller to
reduce such Repurchase Price.

“ Requested Exceptions Report ” shall have the meaning assigned thereto in Article 3(b)(iv)(E) .

“ Requirement of Law ” shall mean any law, treaty,  rule, regulation, code, directive, policy, order or requirement or determination of an arbitrator or a court or
other Governmental Authority whether now or hereafter enacted or in effect.

“ Reserve Requirement ” shall mean, with respect to any Pricing Rate Period, the aggregate (without duplication) of the rates (expressed as a decimal fraction) of
reserve requirements in effect during such Pricing Rate Period (including, without limitation, basic, supplemental, marginal and emergency reserves under any regulations
of  the  Board of Governors  of  the  Federal  Reserve System or  other  Governmental  Authority  having jurisdiction  with  respect  thereto)  dealing  with  reserve  requirements
prescribed for Eurocurrency funding (currently referred to as “Eurocurrency Liabilities” in Regulation D of such Board of Governors) maintained by Buyer.

“ Responsible Officer ” shall mean any executive officer of Seller.

“ Sanctions ” shall have the meaning assigned in Article 9(b)(xxviii) .
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“ S&P ” shall mean Standard and Poor’s Ratings Services, a division of The McGraw-Hill Companies, Inc.

“ Securities Contract ” shall have the meaning assigned in Article 3(a)(xiii) of this Agreement.

“ Security Deed ” shall mean a Security Deed (or the equivalent in the relevant Additional Jurisdiction) executed and delivered on the Purchase Date by Seller in
favor of Buyer for each EUR Purchased Asset and UK Purchased Asset, in each case, substantially in the form attached hereto as Exhibit XIV .

“ Seller ” shall mean jointly and severally the entities identified as “Seller” in the Recitals hereto together with such other sellers as may be approved by Buyer in its
sole discretion from time to time that become sellers pursuant to Article 29 of this Agreement.

“ Seller Joinder Agreement ” shall have the meaning assigned in Article 29(f) of this Agreement.

“ Senior Mortgage Loans ” shall mean performing senior commercial or multifamily fixed or floating rate mortgage (or the equivalent in each relevant jurisdiction
relating  to  an  Eligible  Asset)  loans  of  no  less  than  £15,000,000  (or  the  equivalent  in  the  applicable  Currency)  secured  by  first  liens  or  mortgages  on  multifamily  or
commercial properties.

“ Servicing Agreement ” shall have the meaning specified in Article 27(b) .

“ Servicing Records ” shall have the meaning specified in Article 27(b) .

“ Servicing Rights ” shall mean rights of any Person, to administer, service or subservice, the Purchased Assets or to possess related Servicing Records.

“ Servicing Tape ” shall have the meaning specified in Exhibit III-B hereto.

“ Significant Modification ” shall have the meaning specified in Article 7(e) .

“ Spot Rate ” shall mean, with respect to a Currency, the rate determined by Buyer to be the rate quoted as the spot rate for the purchase by Buyer of such Currency
with the Base Currency through Buyer’s principal foreign exchange trading office at approximately 11:00 a.m. London time on the date that is two (2) Business Days prior
to the date as of which the foreign exchange computation is made; provided, that Buyer may obtain such spot rate from another financial institution following consultation
with Seller if the Person acting in such capacity does not have as of the date of determination a spot buying rate for any such Currency. For purposes of calculations relating
to the Maximum Facility Amount, any Transaction denominated in any Currency other than the Base Currency shall be converted to the Base Currency equivalent by using
the Spot Rate quoted by Buyer on the related Purchase Date (which shall be set forth in the applicable Confirmation).

“ Subsidiary ” shall mean, as to any Person, a corporation, partnership or other entity of which shares of stock or other ownership interests having ordinary voting
power (other than stock or such other ownership interests having such power only by reason of the happening of a contingency) to elect a majority of the board of directors
or other managers of such corporation, partnership or other entity are at the time owned, or the management of which is otherwise controlled, directly or indirectly through
one or  more intermediaries,  or  both,  by such Person.  Unless  otherwise qualified,  all references  to a “Subsidiary” or to “Subsidiaries”  in this  Agreement  shall  refer  to a
Subsidiary or Subsidiaries of Seller and/or Guarantor.
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“ Supplemental  Pledge  and  Security  Agreement ”  shall  mean  a pledge  and  security  agreement,  (in  substantially  the  same  form  as  the  Pledge  and  Security
Agreement), dated as of the effective date of the related Seller Joinder Agreement, in favor of Buyer, as the same may be amended, restated, supplemented, replaced or
otherwise modified from time to time, pledging all of the applicable Seller’s Capital Stock to Buyer.

“ Taxes ” means all  present  or  future  taxes,  levies,  imposts,  duties,  deductions,  withholdings (including backup withholding),  assessments,  fees  or  other  charges
imposed by any Governmental Authority, including any interest, additions to tax or penalties applicable thereto.

“ Transaction ” shall mean a Transaction, as specified in Article 1 of this Agreement.

“ Transaction  Documents ”  shall  mean,  collectively,  this  Agreement,  any  applicable  Annexes  to  this Agreement,  the  Parent  Guaranty  and  Indemnity,  each
Servicing Agreement, the Depository Agreement, each Security Deed and/or Mortgage delivered in connection with a Transaction, the Pledge and Security Agreement, the
Fee Letter, all Confirmations and assignment documentation executed pursuant to this Agreement in connection with specific Transactions.

“ Transfer Certificate ” shall mean with respect to each Purchased Asset, the form of transfer certificate, or assignment (at Buyer’s option if an assignment is an
available option in the applicable jurisdiction) used to effectuate a legal transfer of the underlying mortgage loan and as attached to the underlying facilities agreement, or
the equivalent in the applicable jurisdiction.

“ Transferee ” shall have the meaning set forth in Article 17(a) hereof.

“ UCC ” shall have the meaning specified in Article 6(d) of this Agreement.

“ UK Depository Account ” shall mean the segregated account, in the name of UK Seller, in trust for Buyer, established at Depository pursuant to this Agreement,
and which is subject to the UK Depository Agreement.

“ UK Depository Agreement ” shall mean Deposit Account Control Agreement, dated as of the Closing Date, among Buyer, UK Seller, Depository, and Primary
Servicer, as the same may be amended, restated, supplemented, replaced or otherwise modified from time to time.

“ UK Pledgor ” shall mean 345-40 Partners, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company.

“ UK Primary Servicing Agreement ” shall mean that certain Amended and Restated Servicing Agreement by and among Buyer, UK Seller and Primary Servicer,
dated as of the date hereof, as the same may be amended, restated, supplemented, replaced or otherwise modified from time to time.

“ UK Purchased Asset ” shall mean a Purchased Asset with respect to which the Underlying Mortgaged Property is located in the United Kingdom or any of its
territories or possessions.

“ UK Seller ” shall have the meaning set forth in the Recitals hereto.
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“ Underlying Mortgage Loan ” shall mean, (a) with respect to any Participation Interest,  a mortgage loan made in respect of the related Underlying Mortgaged
Property and (b) with respect to any Mezzanine Loan, the mortgage loan made to the borrower whose Capital Stock, or whose direct or indirect parent’s Capital Stock,
comprises the security for such Mezzanine Loan.

“ Underlying Mortgaged Property ” shall mean, in the case of:

(a) a Senior Mortgage Loan, the mortgaged property securing such Senior Mortgage Loan, as applicable;

(b) a Participation Interest, the mortgaged property securing the Mortgage Loan in which such Participation Interest represents a participation, as applicable;
and

(c) a Mezzanine Loan, the real property or leasehold interest that is owned by the Person the direct or indirect equity of which is pledged as collateral security
for such Mezzanine Loan.

“ Undertaking Letter ” shall mean one or more letters, in each case from an Acceptable Attorney or another Person acceptable to Buyer in its sole discretion, in
form and substance of Exhibit XIII or  as  is  otherwise  customary in  the  relevant  jurisdiction,  and in  each case  acceptable  to  Buyer  in  its  sole  discretion,  wherein  such
Acceptable Attorney or other Person described above in possession of a Purchased Asset File (i) acknowledges receipt of such Purchased Asset File and (ii) confirms that
such Acceptable Attorney or other Person acceptable to Buyer is holding the same as agent on behalf of Buyer under such letter.

“ Underwriting Issues ” shall mean, with respect to any Purchased Asset as to which Seller intends to request a Transaction, all information Known by Seller, based
on the making of reasonable inquiries and the exercise of reasonable care and diligence under the circumstances, would be considered a materially “negative” factor (either
separately  or  in the aggregate  with other  information),  or  a  material  defect  in  loan documentation or  closing deliveries  (such as  any absence of  any material  Purchased
Asset Document(s)), to a reasonable institutional mortgage buyer in determining whether to originate or acquire the Purchased Asset in question.

“ U.S. Depository Account ” shall mean the segregated account, in the name of U.S. Seller, in trust for Buyer, established at Depository pursuant to this Agreement,
and which is subject to the UK Depository Agreement.

“ U.S. Depository Agreement ” shall mean Deposit Account Control Agreement, dated as of the date hereof, among Buyer, U.S. Seller, Depository, and Primary
Servicer, as the same may be amended, restated, supplemented, replaced or otherwise modified from time to time.

“ U.S. Pledgor ” shall mean 42-16 Partners, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company.

“ U.S. Primary Servicing Agreement ” shall mean that certain Servicing Agreement by and among Buyer, U.S. Seller and Primary Servicer, dated as of the date
hereof, as the same may be amended, restated, supplemented, replaced or otherwise modified from time to time.

“ U.S. Purchased Asset ” shall mean a Purchased Asset with respect to which the Underlying Mortgaged Property is located in any state of the United States of
America or any of its territories or possessions.
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“ U.S. Seller ” shall have the meaning set forth in the Recitals hereto.

“ U.S. Person ” means any Person that is a “United States person” as defined in Section 7701(a)(30) of the Code.

“ U.S. Tax Compliance Certificate ” shall have the meaning specified in Article 3(r)(B)(3) of this Agreement.

“ Valuer ”  means  a reputable  firm  of  valuers  of  international  standing  approved  by  the  Buyer,  such  approval  not  to  be  unreasonably  withheld,  conditioned  or
delayed.

All references to articles, schedules and exhibits are to articles, schedules and exhibits in or to this Agreement unless otherwise specified. The words “hereof,”
“herein” and “hereunder” and words of similar import when used in this Agreement shall  refer to this Agreement as a whole and not to any particular provision of this
Agreement. All accounting terms not specifically defined herein shall be construed in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. References to “good faith”
in this Agreement shall mean “honesty in fact in the conduct or transaction concerned”. References to “equivalent” of an amount means the equivalent in any Currency
other than the Base Currency of any amount denominated in the Base Currency converted at the Spot Rate for the purchase of the Base Currency with such Currency.

ARTICLE 3.
INITIATION; CONFIRMATION; TERMINATION; FEES

Buyer’s agreement to enter into the initial Transaction relating to an Eligible Asset in any Additional Jurisdiction is subject to the satisfaction, immediately prior to
or concurrently with the making of such Transaction, of the condition precedent that Buyer shall  have received from Seller payment of an amount equal to all  fees and
expenses payable hereunder, and all of the following items, each of which shall be satisfactory in form and substance to Buyer and its counsel (to the extent not previously
provided):

(a) The following documents, delivered to Buyer (to the extent not previously delivered to Buyer):

(i) this Agreement, duly completed and executed by each of the parties hereto (including all exhibits hereto);

(ii) the powers of attorney, duly executed by Seller, substantially in the forms set forth on Exhibit IV hereto;

(iii) a Depository Agreement, duly completed and executed by each of the parties thereto;

(iv) the Fee Letter;

(v) a Parent Guaranty and Indemnity, duly completed and executed by each of the parties thereto;
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(vi) a Pledge and Security Agreement, duly completed and executed by each of the parties thereto, together with the original certificate (if any) evidencing the
ownership interest in Seller properly endorsed to Buyer;

(vii) the Primary Servicing Agreement, duly completed and executed by each of the parties thereto;

(viii) any and all consents and waivers applicable to Seller or to the Purchased Assets;

(ix) UCC financing statements for filing in each of the UCC filing jurisdictions described on Exhibit IX hereto, each naming the applicable Seller or Pledgor
as  applicable  as  “Debtor”  and  Buyer  as  “Secured  Party”  and  adequately  describing  as  “Collateral”  all  of  the  items  set  forth  in  the  definition  of  Collateral and
Purchased Items in this Agreement, together with any other documents necessary or requested by Buyer to perfect the security interests granted by Seller in favor of
Buyer under this Agreement or any other Transaction Document;

(x) any documents relating to any Hedging Transactions;

(xi) opinions of outside counsel to Seller reasonably acceptable to Buyer (including, but not limited to, those relating to enforceability, “ Securities Contract
” qualification, corporate matters, applicability of the Investment Company Act of 1940 to Seller or any Affiliate of Seller and security interests under the laws of the
applicable states of the United States and from outside counsel to Buyer with respect to similar matters relating to the laws of England and Wales, the Netherlands,
or any Additional Jurisdiction);

(xii) good standing certificates and certified copies of the charters and by-laws (or equivalent documents) of Seller, Pledgor and Guarantor and of all corporate
or other authority for Seller and Guarantor with respect to the execution, delivery and performance of the Transaction Documents and each other document to be
delivered by Seller and Guarantor from time to time in connection herewith (and Buyer may conclusively rely on such certificate until it receives notice in writing
from Seller to the contrary);

(xiii)  Buyer  shall  have  received  payment  from  Seller  of  an  amount  equal  to  the  amount  of  actual  costs  and expenses,  including,  without  limitation,  the
reasonable fees and expenses of counsel to Buyer, incurred by Buyer in connection with the development, preparation and execution of this Agreement, the other
Transaction Documents and any other documents prepared in connection herewith or therewith;

(xiv) all such other and further documents, documentation and legal opinions as Buyer in its discretion shall reasonably require including, without limitation,
an English law opinion from counsel to Buyer relating to any Security Deed governed by English Law;

(xv) a Supplemental Pledge and Security Agreement duly completed and executed by each of the parties thereto, together with the original certificate (if any)
evidencing the ownership interest in the applicable Seller properly endorsed to Buyer; and

(xvi) Confirmation of Supplemental Provisions, duly completed and executed by each of the parties thereto (including all exhibits thereto).
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(b) Buyer’s agreement to enter into each Transaction (including the initial Transaction) is subject to the satisfaction of the following further conditions precedent,
both immediately prior to entering into such Transaction and also after giving effect to the consummation thereof and the intended use of the proceeds of the sale:

(i) The sum of (A) the unpaid Repurchase Price for all prior outstanding Transactions and (B) the requested Purchase Price for the pending Transaction, in
each case, shall not exceed the Maximum Facility Amount;

(ii) Seller shall give Buyer no less than two (2) Business Days’ prior written notice of each Transaction (including the initial Transaction), which notice shall
describe the terms of the Transaction and the Purchased Assets;

(iii)  On  the  Purchase  Date,  Seller  shall  deliver  a  signed,  written  confirmation  in  the  form  of Exhibit I attached  hereto  prior  to  each  Transaction  (a  “
Confirmation ”). Each Confirmation shall describe the Purchased Assets, shall identify Buyer and Seller and shall be executed by both Buyer and Seller (provided,
that, in instances where funds are being wired to an account other than either of the accounts of Seller described on Annex II , the Confirmation shall be signed by
two (2) Responsible Officers of Seller), and shall set forth (among other things):

(A) the Purchase Date for the Purchased Assets included in the Transaction;

(B) the Purchase Price and requested Currency for the Purchased Assets included in the Transaction;

(C) the Financing Fee (as defined in the Fee Letter) for each Purchased Asset included in the Transaction;

(D) the Repurchase Date for the Purchased Assets included in the Transaction;

(E) whether any of the Purchased Assets are Hedge-Required Assets;

(F) the Maximum Advance Rate and requested Advance Rate;

(G) the Market Value and LTV of the Purchased Asset; and

(H) any additional terms or conditions not inconsistent with this Agreement and mutually agreed upon by Buyer and Seller.

(iv) Buyer shall  have the right to review, as described in Exhibit VI hereto, the Eligible Assets Seller proposes to sell  to Buyer in any Transaction and to
conduct its own due diligence investigation of such Eligible Assets as Buyer determines (“ Pre-Purchase Due Diligence ”). In furtherance of Buyer’s Pre-Purchase
Due  Diligence,  Seller  shall  transmit  via  e-mail  all  such  information  relating  to  an  Eligible  Asset  to eu-warehouse@morganstanley.com or  such  other  method  of
delivery approved by Buyer. Buyer shall be entitled to make a determination, in the exercise of its sole discretion, that, in the case of a Transaction, it shall or shall
not  purchase  any  or  all  of  the  assets  proposed  to  be  sold  to  Buyer  by  Seller.  Not  less  than  two  (2)  Business  Days  prior  to  the requested  Purchase  Date  for  the
Transaction, Buyer shall
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approve an Eligible Asset in accordance with Exhibit VI hereto, which approval shall  be revocable in Buyer’s sole discretion prior to the Buyer’s execution and
delivery  of the  Confirmation  on  the  Purchase  Date.  On  the  Purchase  Date  for  the  Transaction,  which  shall  occur  upon  Buyer’s  and  Seller’s  execution  of  a
Confirmation with respect to an Eligible Asset, the Eligible Assets shall be transferred to Buyer against the transfer of the Purchase Price to an account of Seller.
Buyer shall  inform Seller of its approval of the deliverables required in accordance with Exhibit VI attached hereto.  Upon the approval by Buyer of a particular
proposed Transaction, Buyer shall deliver to Seller a signed copy of the related Confirmation described in clause (iii)  above, on or before the scheduled Purchase
Date of the underlying proposed Transaction, which shall serve as evidence that all conditions relating to the Proposed Transactions (as set forth in Article 3(a) or
3(b) or Exhibit  VI ,  or  elsewhere,  as  applicable)  have  been  satisfied  or  waived  by  Buyer.  Prior  to  the approval  of  each  proposed  Transaction  by  Buyer,  unless
otherwise waived by Buyer:

(A) Buyer shall have (i) determined, in its sole discretion, that the asset proposed to be sold to Buyer by Seller in such Transaction is an Eligible Asset,
(ii) determined conformity to the terms of the Transaction Documents and Buyer’s internal credit and underwriting criteria, and (iii) obtained internal credit
approval, to be granted or denied in Buyer’s sole discretion, for the inclusion of such Eligible Asset as a Purchased Asset in a Transaction, without regard for
any prior credit decisions by Buyer or any Affiliate of Buyer, and with the understanding that Buyer shall have the absolute right to change any or all of its
internal underwriting criteria at any time, without notice of any kind to Seller;

(B) Buyer shall have fully completed all external legal due diligence;

(C) Buyer shall have determined the Pricing Rate applicable to the Transaction (including the Applicable Spread in accordance with the Fee Letter);

(D) no Default or Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing under this Agreement or any other Transaction Document and no event shall
have occurred and be continuing which has, or would reasonably be expected to have, a Material Adverse Effect;

(E)  Seller  shall  have  delivered  to  Buyer  a  list  of  all  exceptions  to  the  representations  and  warranties relating  to  the  Purchased  Asset  and  any  other
eligibility criteria for such Purchased Asset of which Seller has Knowledge after due inquiry (the “ Requested Exceptions Report ”);

(F) Buyer shall have waived in writing all exceptions in the Requested Exceptions Report;

(G) both immediately  prior  to the requested Transaction and also after  giving effect  thereto and to the intended use thereof,  the representations and
warranties made by Seller in each of Exhibit V (with respect to all Purchased Assets) (other than any representations or warranties contained in a Requested
Exceptions Report) and Article 9 shall be true, correct and complete on and as of such Purchase Date in all respects with the same force and effect as if made
on and as of such date (or, if any such representation or warranty is expressly stated to have been made as of a specific date, as of such specific date);
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(H) subject to Buyer’s right to perform one or more due diligence reviews pursuant to Article 26 , Buyer shall have completed its due diligence review
of  the  Purchased  Asset  File,  and  such  other  documents,  records,  agreements,  instruments,  mortgaged  properties  or  information  relating  to  such Purchased
Asset as Buyer in its sole discretion deems appropriate to review and such review shall be satisfactory to Buyer in its sole discretion and Buyer has consented
in writing (including by signing the related Confirmation) to the Eligible Asset becoming a Purchased Asset;

(I) with respect to any Eligible Asset to be purchased hereunder on the related Purchase Date that is not primarily serviced by the Primary Servicer,
Seller shall have provided to Buyer a copy of the related Servicing Agreement, certified as a true, correct and complete copy of the original, fully executed by
Seller and the servicer named in the related Servicing Agreement, and shall enter into a re-direction letter among Buyer, Seller and such other servicer in form
and substance similar to the Re-direction Letter;

(J) Seller shall have paid to Buyer (i) the Financing Fee related to such Transaction (which Financing Fee may be paid out of the Purchase Price funded
on the Purchase Date for the applicable Transaction), and (ii) all reasonable legal fees and expenses of outside counsel and the reasonable out-of-pocket costs
and expenses actually incurred by Buyer in connection with the entering into of  any Transaction hereunder,  including,  without  limitation,  costs  associated
with  due  diligence,  recording  or  other  administrative  expenses  necessary  or  incidental  to  the  execution  of  any  Transaction  hereunder, which  amounts,  at
Buyer’s option, may be withheld from the sale proceeds of any Transaction hereunder;

(K)  Buyer  shall  have  determined,  in  its  sole  discretion,  that  no  Margin  Deficit  or  Maximum  Asset  Exposure Threshold  Breach  shall  exist,  either
immediately prior to or after giving effect to the requested Transaction;

(L) In connection with Eligible Assets with respect to which the Underlying Mortgaged Property is located in the Netherlands, the United Kingdom or
any of their respective territories or possessions, Buyer shall have received from Seller (i) a Release Letter covering each Eligible Asset to be sold to Buyer,
(ii) an original Transfer Certificate, executed in blank and (iii) a Security Deed for the applicable Eligible Asset;

(M) Buyer shall have reasonably determined that the introduction of, or a change in, any Requirement of Law or in the interpretation or administration
of any Requirement of Law including without limitation changes in any Reserve Requirements and any other increase in cost to Buyer applicable to Buyer
has not made it unlawful, and no Governmental Authority shall have asserted that it is unlawful, for Buyer to enter into Transactions;

(N) the Repurchase Date for such Transaction is not later than the Outside Repurchase Date;
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(O)  Seller  shall  have  taken  such  other  action  as  Buyer  shall  have reasonably  requested  in  order  to  transfer  the  Purchased  Assets  pursuant  to  this
Agreement  and  to  perfect  all  security  interests  granted  under  this  Agreement  or  any  other  Transaction  Document  in  favor  of  Buyer  with  respect  to  the
Purchased Assets;

(P) with respect to any Eligible Asset to be purchased hereunder, if such Eligible Asset was acquired by Seller, Seller shall have disclosed to Buyer the
acquisition cost of such Eligible Asset (including therein reasonable supporting documentation required by Buyer, if any);

(Q)  Buyer  shall  have  received  all  such  other  and  further  documents,  documentation  and  legal  opinions (including,  without  limitation,  opinions
regarding the perfection of Buyer’s security interests and a “ true sale ” opinion with a respect to any Purchased Asset that was not originated by Seller and
was acquired by Seller from an Affiliate of Seller) as Buyer in its reasonable discretion shall reasonably require;

(R) Buyer shall have received a  copy of  any documents  relating  to  any Hedging Transaction,  and Seller  shall  have pledged and assigned to  Buyer,
pursuant to Article 6 hereunder, all of Seller’s rights under each Hedging Transaction included within a Purchased Asset, if any;

(S)  no  “Termination  Event”,  “Event  of  Default”, “Potential  Event  of  Default”  or  any  similar  event  by  Seller,  however  defined  therein,  shall  have
occurred and be continuing under any Hedging Transaction required to be assigned hereunder;

(T) the counterparty to Seller in any Hedging Transaction shall be an Affiliated Hedge Counterparty or a Qualified Hedge Counterparty, and, in the
case of a Qualified Hedge Counterparty, in the event that such counterparty no longer qualifies as a Qualified Hedge Counterparty, then, at the election of
Buyer  or  Seller  shall  ensure  that  such  counterparty posts  additional  collateral  in  an  amount  satisfactory  to  Buyer  under  all  its  Hedging  Transactions  with
Seller,  or  Seller  shall  immediately  terminate  the  Hedging  Transactions  with  such  counterparty  and  enter  into  new Hedging  Transactions  with  a Qualified
Hedge Counterparty; and

(U)  Buyer  shall  have  received  from  (i)  Custodian  on  each  Purchase Date  an  Asset  Schedule  and  Exception  Report  (as  defined  in  the  Custodial
Agreement) with respect to each Purchased Asset, dated the Purchase Date, duly completed and with exceptions acceptable to Buyer in its sole discretion in
respect of Eligible Assets to be purchased hereunder on such Business Day; or (ii) in connection with Eligible Assets with respect to which the Underlying
Mortgaged Property is located in the Netherlands, the United Kingdom or any of their respective territories or possessions, a Bailee Letter from an Acceptable
Attorney identifying the applicable Release Letter, Security Deed and Transfer Certificate, being held on behalf of Buyer.

(c) Upon the satisfaction of all conditions set forth in Articles 3(a) and 3(b) , Seller shall sell, transfer, convey and assign to Buyer on a servicing released basis all
of Seller’s right, title and interest in and to each Purchased Asset, together with all related Servicing Rights against the transfer of the Purchase Price to an account of Seller
(which Purchase Price shall be funded in the Currency denominated on the applicable Confirmation). With respect to any Transaction, the Pricing Rate shall be
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determined  initially  on  the  Pricing  Rate  Determination  Date  applicable  to  the  first  Pricing  Rate  Period  for  such  Transaction  and  shall  be  reset  on  the  Pricing  Rate
Determination  Date  for  each  of the  next  succeeding  Pricing  Rate  Periods  for  such  Transaction.  Buyer  or  its  agent  shall  determine  in  accordance  with  the  terms of  this
Agreement the Pricing Rate on each Pricing Rate Determination Date for the related Pricing Rate Period in Buyer’s sole discretion, and notify Seller of such rate for such
period each such Pricing Rate Determination Date.

(d)  Each Confirmation,  together  with  this  Agreement,  shall  be  conclusive  evidence of  the  terms of  the  Transaction  covered thereby.  In  the  event  of  any conflict
between the terms of such Confirmation and the terms of this Agreement, other than with respect to the Maximum Advance Rate or the applicable Pricing Rate set forth in
the related Confirmation, the Confirmation shall prevail.

(e)  Seller  shall  be  entitled  to  terminate  a  Transaction  on demand and repurchase  the  Purchased  Asset subject  to  a  Transaction  on  any  Business  Day prior  to  the
Repurchase Date (an “ Early Repurchase Date ”); provided , however , that:

(i) Seller notifies Buyer in writing of its intent to terminate such Transaction and repurchase such Purchased Asset, setting forth the Early Repurchase Date
and identifying with  particularity  the  Purchased Asset  to  be repurchased on such Early  Repurchase  Date,  no later  than one (1)  Business  Day prior  to  such Early
Repurchase  Date  (unless  such  early repurchase  is  in  connection  with  curing  a  Margin  Defect  or  breach  of  any  representation  or  warranty  of  Seller  set  forth  in
Exhibit V , or in connection with any of the events described in Article 3(h) having occurred, in which case such advance notice shall not be required),

(ii) on such Early Repurchase Date, Seller pays to Buyer an amount equal to the sum of (x) the Repurchase Price for the applicable Purchased Asset, (y) any
other amounts due and payable under this Agreement (including, without limitation, Article 3(i)  of this Agreement) with respect to such Purchased Asset against
transfer to Seller or its agent of the Purchased Assets and any related Hedging Transactions, and

(iii) on such Early Repurchase Date, in addition to the amounts set forth in sub clause (ii)  above, Seller pays to Buyer an amount sufficient to reduce the
Purchase Price for all other Purchased Assets to an amount equal to the Buyer’s Margin Amount for each such Purchased Asset.

(f)  On the  Repurchase  Date  for  any  Transaction,  termination  of  the  Transaction  will  be  effected  by  transfer  to  Seller  or  its agent  of  the  Purchased  Assets  being
repurchased and any Income in respect thereof received by Buyer (and not previously credited or transferred to, or applied to the obligations of, Seller pursuant to Article 5
of this Agreement) against the simultaneous transfer of the Repurchase Price to an account of Buyer. Upon extension of the Outside Repurchase Date pursuant to Article
3(m) ,  the  Repurchase  Date  for  any Purchased  Asset  shall  be  automatically  extended  to the  earlier  of  (i)  the  new Outside  Repurchase  Date  as  so  extended  pursuant  to
Article  3(m) and  (ii)  the  maturity  date  of  the  Purchased  Asset  (as  the  same  may  be  extended  pursuant  to  the  Purchased  Asset  Documents  for  such Purchased Asset).
Notwithstanding the foregoing and any provision of this Agreement to the contrary, (x) in the case of any Purchased Asset that is a Mezzanine Loan, (1) Seller shall not
repurchase  any  such  Purchased  Asset  without simultaneously  repurchasing  the  Purchased  Asset  consisting  of  the  related  Underlying  Mortgaged  Loan  and  (2)  if  such
Purchased Asset is required to be repurchased by Seller pursuant to the terms of this Agreement, Seller shall also simultaneously repurchase the Purchased Asset consisting
of the related Underlying Mortgaged Loan, and (y) in the case of any Purchased Asset
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where the Mezzanine Loan associated with the related Underlying Mortgage Loan is a Purchased Asset, (1) Seller shall not repurchase any such Purchased Asset without
simultaneously repurchasing the Purchased Asset consisting of the related Mezzanine Loan and (2) if such Purchased Asset is required to be repurchased by Seller pursuant
to the terms of this Agreement, Seller shall also simultaneously repurchase the Purchased Asset consisting of the related Mezzanine Loan.

(g) If prior to the first (1st) day of any Pricing Rate Period with respect to any Transaction, (i) Buyer shall have reasonably determined (which determination shall be
conclusive and binding upon Seller absent manifest error) that by reason of circumstances affecting the interbank eurodollar market, adequate and reasonable means do not
exist for ascertaining IBOR for such Pricing Rate Period (provided Buyer has performed (to the extent possible) the procedures for determining IBOR Rate set forth in the
definition of IBOR in Article 2 ), or (ii)  IBOR determined or to be determined for such Pricing Rate Period will  not adequately and fairly reflect  the cost to Buyer (as
determined and certified by Buyer) of making or maintaining Transactions during such Pricing Rate Period, then Buyer shall, by written notice to Seller, which notice shall
set  forth  in  reasonable  detail  such  circumstances,  establish  the  Pricing  Rate  at  a  per  annum  rate  equal  to  the  Federal  Funds  Rate  plus  the  Applicable  Spread  (the  “
Alternative Rate ”)  until  such notice  has  been withdrawn by Buyer.  Buyer  shall  not  convert  any Transaction  to  an  Alternative  Rate  Transaction  or  maintain  any such
Transaction as an Alternative Rate Transaction unless Buyer is converting other transactions to similarly situated sellers in a similar fashion.

(h) Notwithstanding any other provision herein, if the adoption of or any change in any Requirement of Law or in the interpretation or application thereof shall make
it  unlawful  for  Buyer  to  enter  into or  maintain  Transactions  as  contemplated  by the Transaction  Documents,  (a)  the  commitment  of Buyer hereunder  to enter  into new
Transactions or, if such adoption of or change in Requirement of Law makes it unlawful for Buyer to continue to maintain Transactions as contemplated by this Agreement,
to continue Transactions as such shall forthwith be canceled, and (b) the Transactions then outstanding shall be converted automatically to Alternative Rate Transactions on
the last day of the then current Pricing Rate Period or within such earlier period as may be required by law; provided , however , that to the extent any such determination
by  Buyer  and  imposition  of  Alternative  Rate  Transactions  apply  to  all  sellers  under  similar  repurchase  facilities  with  Buyer,  such  determination  and  imposition  of
Alternative Rate Transactions will not be applied solely to Seller. If any such conversion of a Transaction occurs on a day that is not the last day of the then current Pricing
Rate Period with respect to such Transaction, Seller shall pay to Buyer such amounts, if any, as may be required pursuant to Article 3(l) of this Agreement.

(i) Seller shall indemnify Buyer and hold Buyer harmless from any actual out-of-pocket loss, cost or expense (including, without limitation, reasonable attorneys’
fees and disbursements of outside counsel) that Buyer may sustain or incur as a consequence of (i) default by Seller in repurchasing any Purchased Asset on the proposed
Early Repurchase Date, after Seller has given written notice in accordance with Article 3(e) , (ii) any payment of the Repurchase Price on any day other than a Remittance
Date, including Breakage Costs, (iii) a default by Seller in selling Eligible Assets after Seller has notified Buyer of a proposed Transaction and Buyer has agreed in writing
to purchase such Eligible Assets in accordance with the provisions of this Agreement, (iv) Buyer’s enforcement of the terms of any of the Transaction Documents, (v) any
actions taken to perfect or continue any Lien created under any Transaction Documents, and/or (vi) Buyer entering into any of the Transaction Documents or owning any
Purchased  Item.  A  certificate  as  to  such  costs,  losses,  damages  and  expenses,  setting  forth  the  calculations  therefor  shall  be  submitted  promptly  by  Buyer  to  Seller  in
writing and shall be prima facie evidence of the information set forth therein, absent manifest error.
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(j)  If  the  adoption of  or  any change in  any Requirement  of  Law or  in  the interpretation  or  application  thereof  by any Governmental  Authority  or  compliance  by
Buyer with any request or directive (whether or not having the force of law) from any central bank or other Governmental Authority having jurisdiction over Buyer made
subsequent to the Closing Date:

(i) shall subject Buyer or any Transferee to any Taxes (other than (A) Indemnified Taxes, (B) Taxes described in clauses (b)  through (d)  of the definition of
Excluded  Taxes  and  (C)  Connection  Income Taxes)  under  this  Agreement,  or  its  loans,  loan  principal, letters  of  credit,  commitments,  or  other  obligation,  or  its
deposits, reserves, other liabilities or capital attributable thereto;

(ii) shall impose, modify or hold applicable any Reserve Requirements, other reserves, special deposit, compulsory loan or similar requirement against assets
held by, deposits or other liabilities in or for the account of, advances, loans or other extensions of credit by, or any other acquisition of funds by, any office of Buyer
that is not otherwise included in the determination of IBOR hereunder; or

(iii) shall impose on Buyer any other condition;

and the result of any of the foregoing is to increase the cost to Buyer, by an amount that Buyer deems, in the exercise of its reasonable business judgment, to be
material, of entering into, continuing or maintaining Transactions or to reduce any amount receivable under the Transaction Documents in respect thereof; then, in
any such case, Seller shall promptly pay Buyer, upon its demand, any additional amounts necessary to compensate Buyer for such increased cost or reduced amount
receivable; provided , however ,  that  to  the  extent  any  such  determination  by  Buyer  and  imposition  of  such  increased  costs apply  to  all  sellers  under  similar
repurchase facilities with Buyer, such determination and imposition of such increased costs will not be applied solely to Seller. Such notification as to the calculation
of any additional amounts payable pursuant to this subsection shall be submitted by Buyer to Seller and shall be prima facie evidence of such additional amounts.
This covenant shall survive the termination of this Agreement and the repurchase by Seller of any or all of the Purchased Assets.

(k) If Buyer shall have determined that the adoption of or any change in any Requirement of Law regarding capital adequacy or in the interpretation or application
thereof or compliance by Buyer or any corporation controlling Buyer with any request or directive regarding capital adequacy (whether or not having the force of law) from
any Governmental Authority made subsequent to the Closing Date does or shall have the effect of reducing the rate of return on Buyer’s or such corporation’s capital as a
consequence of its obligations hereunder to a level below that which Buyer or such corporation could have achieved but for such adoption, change or compliance (taking
into consideration Buyer’s or such corporation’s policies with respect to capital adequacy) by an amount deemed by Buyer, to be material,  then from time to time, after
submission by Buyer to Seller  of a written request  therefor,  Seller  shall  pay to Buyer such additional  amount or amounts as will  compensate  Buyer for such reduction;
provided , however , that to the extent any such determination by Buyer and imposition of such increased costs apply to all sellers under similar repurchase facilities with
Buyer,  such determination and imposition of  such increased costs  will  not  be applied solely to Seller.  Such notification as  to the calculation  of any additional amounts
payable pursuant to this subsection shall  be submitted by Buyer to Seller and shall  be prima facie evidence of such additional  amounts.  This covenant shall  survive the
termination of this Agreement and the repurchase by Seller of any or all of the Purchased Assets.
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(l) If Seller repurchases Purchased Assets on a day other than the last day of a Pricing Rate Period, Seller shall indemnify Buyer and hold Buyer harmless from any
actual  out-of-pocket  losses,  costs  and/or  expenses  which  Buyer  sustains  as  a  direct  consequence  thereof  (“ Breakage  Costs ”),  in  each  case  for the  remainder  of  the
applicable Pricing Rate Period. Buyer shall deliver to Seller a written statement setting forth the amount and basis of determination of any Breakage Costs in reasonable
detail, it being agreed that such statement and the method of its calculation shall be conclusive and binding upon Seller absent manifest error. This Article 3(l) shall survive
termination of this Agreement and the repurchase of all Purchased Assets subject to Transactions hereunder.

(m) (i) Notwithstanding the definition of Outside Repurchase Date herein, upon written request of Seller prior to the then current Outside Repurchase Date, provided
that all of the extension conditions listed in clause (ii)  below (collectively, the “ Outside Repurchase Date Extension Conditions ”) shall have been satisfied, Buyer may
in its sole discretion agree to extend the Outside Repurchase Date for one (1) or more additional periods of 364 additional calendar days (each, an “ Extension Period ”) by
giving notice to Seller of such extension; provided , that any failure by Buyer to deliver such notice of extension to Seller within twenty (20) calendar days from the date
Seller’s extension request is first received by Buyer shall be deemed a denial of Seller’s request to extend such Outside Repurchase Date.

(ii) For purposes of this Article 3(m) , the Outside Repurchase Date Extension Conditions shall be deemed to have been satisfied if:

(A) Seller shall have given Buyer written notice of Seller’s  request  to extend the Outside Repurchase Date,  (x) with respect  to the initial  request  to
extend  the  Outside  Repurchase  Date,  not  less  than  twenty  (20)  calendar  days  prior,  and  no  more  than  fifty (50)  calendar  days  prior  to  the  first  (1 st
) anniversary of the Closing Date, and (y) with respect to any subsequent requests to extend the Outside Repurchase Date, not less than twenty (20) calendar
days prior, and no more than fifty (50) calendar days prior to the next succeeding anniversary of the Closing Date;

(B) no Material Adverse Effect, Margin Deficit, Default or Event of Default under this Agreement shall have occurred and be continuing as of the date
notice is given under sub clause (ii)  above or as of the date Buyer agrees to extend the Outside Repurchase Date and no “Termination Event,” “Event of
Default” or “Potential  Event  of  Default”  or  any similar  event  by Seller,  however  denominated,  shall  have occurred  and be  continuing  under  any Hedging
Transaction; and

(C) all representations and warranties shall be true, correct, complete and accurate in all respects as of the date of Seller’s request to extend the Outside
Repurchase Date and on the date upon which Buyer agrees to extend the Outside Repurchase Date (except, in each case, for the MTM Representations and to
the extent otherwise set forth on an approved Requested Exceptions Report); provided , however , that if any such representation or warranty shall become
untrue, incorrect, incomplete or inaccurate following the date of Seller’s request or Buyer’s agreement to extend pursuant to this Article 3(m) , Buyer agrees
that it shall not rescind such extension, however Buyer may exercise any and all remedies provided under this Agreement.
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(n)  Any and  all  payments  by  or  on  account  of  any  obligation  of  Seller  under  this Agreement  or  any Transaction  Document  shall  be  made without  deduction  or
withholding  for  any  Taxes,  except  as  required  by  applicable  law.  Subject  to  the  last  sentence  of  this Article  3(n) ,  the  relevant  Seller  and  Buyer  shall co-operate in
completing any procedural formalities necessary for Income in respect of each Purchased Asset to be paid without deduction or withholding at source for or on account of
Taxes, provided always that neither party shall have liability to the other for anything done (or not done, as the case may be) by it under this Article 3(n) . If any applicable
law  (as  determined  in  the  good  faith  discretion  of  an  applicable  withholding  agent)  requires  the  deduction  or  withholding  of any  Tax  from  any  such  payment  by  a
withholding agent, then the applicable withholding agent shall be entitled to make such deduction or withholding and shall timely pay the full amount deducted or withheld
to the relevant Governmental Authority in accordance with applicable law and, if such Tax is an Indemnified Tax, then the sum payable by Seller shall be increased as
necessary so that after such deduction or withholding has been made (including such deductions and withholdings applicable to additional sums payable under this Article
3 ) the applicable Buyer or Transferee receives an amount equal to the sum it would have received had no such deduction or withholding been made. Subject to Article
21(g) , no provision of this Agreement will: (i) interfere with the right of the Buyer to arrange its affairs (tax or otherwise) in whatever manner it thinks fit; (ii) oblige the
Buyer to investigate or claim any credit, relief, remission or repayment available to it or the extent, order and manner of any claim; or (iii) oblige the Buyer to disclose any
information relating to its affairs (tax or otherwise) or any computations in respect of Tax.

(o) Seller shall timely pay, without duplication, (i) any Other Taxes imposed on such Seller to the relevant Governmental Authority in accordance with applicable
law, and (ii) any Other Taxes imposed on Buyer or Transferee upon written notice from such Person setting forth in reasonable detail the calculation of such Other Taxes.

(p) As soon as practicable after any payment of Taxes by Seller to a Governmental Authority pursuant to this Article 3 , Seller shall deliver to Buyer or Transferee
the original or a certified copy of a receipt issued by such Governmental Authority evidencing such payment, a copy of the return reporting such payment or other evidence
of such payment reasonably satisfactory to Buyer or Transferee.

(q) Seller shall indemnify Buyer and each Transferee, within ten (10) Business Days after written demand therefor, for the full amount of any Indemnified Taxes
(including Indemnified Taxes imposed or asserted on or attributable to amounts payable under this Article 3 ) payable or paid by Buyer or such Transferee or required to be
withheld or deducted from a payment to such Buyer or Transferee and any reasonable expenses arising therefrom or with respect thereto, whether or not such Indemnified
Taxes were correctly or legally imposed or asserted by the relevant Governmental  Authority.  A certificate as to the amount of such payment or liability setting forth in
reasonable detail calculation of the amount of such payment or liability (together with a certified copy of the return reporting such payment, if applicable, or other evidence
of such payment reasonably satisfactory to Seller) delivered to Seller by Buyer or such Transferee shall be conclusive absent manifest error.

(r) Any Buyer or Assignee that is entitled to an exemption from or reduction of withholding Tax with respect to payments made under any Transaction Document
shall  deliver  to Seller,  at  the time or times reasonably requested by Seller,  such properly completed and executed documentation reasonably requested by Seller  as will
permit such payments to be made without withholding or at a reduced rate of withholding. In addition, Buyer or Assignee, if reasonably requested by Seller, shall deliver
such other documentation prescribed by applicable law or reasonably requested by Seller as will enable Seller to determine whether or not Buyer or Assignee is subject to
backup  withholding  or  information  reporting  requirements.  Notwithstanding  anything  to  the  contrary  in  the  preceding  two  sentences,  the  completion,  execution  and
submission of such documentation (other than such documentation set forth in Articles 3(r)(A) , (B)  and (D ) below) shall not be required if in Buyer’s or Assignee’s
reasonable judgment such completion, execution or submission would subject Buyer or such Assignee to any material unreimbursed cost or expense or would materially
prejudice the legal or commercial position of Buyer or such Assignee.
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Without limiting the generality of the foregoing:

(A) Buyer and any Assignee that is a U.S. Person shall deliver to Seller on or prior to the date on which Buyer or such Assignee acquires an interest
under any Transaction Document (and from time to time thereafter upon the reasonable request of Seller), executed originals of IRS Form W-9 certifying that
Buyer or Assignee is exempt from U.S. federal backup withholding tax;

(B) any Foreign Assignee shall, to the extent it is legally entitled to do so, deliver to the Seller (in such number of copies as shall be requested by the
recipient)  on  or  prior  to  the  date  on  which  such  Foreign  Assignee  acquires  an  interest  under  this  Agreement  (and  from  time  to  time  thereafter  upon  the
reasonable request of Seller), whichever of the following is applicable:

(1) in the case of a Foreign Assignee claiming the benefits of an income tax treaty to which the United States is a party (x) with respect  to
payments of interest under this Agreement, executed originals of IRS Form W-8BEN or IRS Form W-8BEN-E establishing an exemption from, or
reduction of, U.S. federal withholding Tax pursuant to the “interest” article of such tax treaty and (y) with respect to any other applicable payments
under this Agreement, IRS Form W-8BEN or IRS Form W-8BEN-E establishing an exemption from, or reduction of, U.S. federal withholding Tax
pursuant to the “business profits” or “other income” article of such tax treaty;

(2) executed originals of IRS Form W-8ECI;

(3)  in  the  case  of  a  Foreign  Assignee  claiming  the  benefits  of  the  exemption  for  portfolio  interest  under Section  881(c)  of  the  Code,  (x)  a
certificate substantially in the form of Exhibit VIII-1 to the effect that such Foreign Assignee is not a “bank” within the meaning of Section 881(c)
(3)(A)  of  the  Code,  a “ 10  percent  shareholder ”  of  Seller  within  the  meaning  of  Section  881(c)(3)(B)  of  the  Code,  or  a  “controlled  foreign
corporation” described in Section 881(c)(3)(C) of the Code (a “ U.S. Tax Compliance Certificate ”) and (y) executed originals of IRS Form W-
8BEN or IRS Form W-8BEN-E; or

(4)  to  the  extent  a  Foreign  Assignee  is  not  the  beneficial  owner,  executed  originals  of  IRS  Form  W-8IMY, accompanied  by  IRS  Form
W-8ECI, IRS Form W-8BEN or IRS Form W-8BEN-E, a U.S. Tax Compliance Certificate substantially in the form of Exhibit VIII-2 or Exhibit
VIII-3 , IRS Form W-9, and/or other certification documents from each beneficial owner, as applicable; provided that if the Foreign Assignee is a
partnership and one or more direct or indirect partners of such Foreign Assignee are claiming the portfolio interest exemption, such Foreign Assignee
may provide a U.S. Tax Compliance Certificate substantially in the form of Exhibit VIII-4 on behalf of each such direct and indirect partner;
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(C)  any Foreign  Assignee  shall,  to  the  extent  it  is  legally entitled  to  do so,  deliver  to  Seller  (in  such number  of  copies  as  shall  be requested  by the
recipient)  on  or  prior  to  the  date  on  which  such  Foreign  Assignee  acquires  an  interest  under  this  Agreement  (and  from  time  to  time  thereafter  upon  the
reasonable request of Seller), executed originals of any other form prescribed by applicable law as a basis for claiming exemption from or a reduction in U.S.
federal  withholding  Tax,  duly  completed,  together  with  such  supplementary  documentation  as may  be  prescribed  by  applicable  law  to  permit  Seller  to
determine the withholding or deduction required to be made; and

(D) if a payment made to Buyer or Assignee under this Agreement would be subject to U.S. federal withholding Tax imposed by FATCA if Buyer or
Assignee were to fail to comply with the applicable reporting requirements of FATCA (including those contained in Section 1471(b) or 1472(b) of the Code,
as applicable), such Buyer or Assignee shall deliver to Seller at the time or times prescribed by law and at such time or times reasonably requested by Seller
such  documentation  prescribed  by  applicable  law  (including  as  prescribed  by  Section  1471(b)(3)(C)(i)  of  the  Code)  and  such  additional documentation
reasonably  requested  by Seller  as  may be  necessary  for  Seller  to  comply  with  its  obligations  under  FATCA and to  determine  that  Buyer  or  Assignee  has
complied with Buyer or Assignee’s obligations under FATCA or to determine the amount to deduct and withhold from such payment. Solely for purposes of
this clause (D) , “FATCA” shall include any amendments made to FATCA after the date of this Agreement.

Buyer  and  each  Assignee  agrees  that  if  any  form or  certification  it  previously  delivered  expires  or  becomes obsolete  or  inaccurate  in  any  respect,  it  shall
update such form or certification or promptly notify Seller in writing of its legal inability to do so.

(s) If any party determines, in its sole discretion exercised in good faith, that it has received a refund of any Taxes as to which it has been indemnified pursuant to
this Article 3 (including by the payment of additional amounts pursuant to this Article 3 ), it shall pay to the indemnifying party an amount equal to such refund (but only
to the extent of indemnity payments made under this Article 3 with respect to the Taxes giving rise to such refund), net of all out of pocket expenses (including Taxes) of
such indemnified party and without interest (other than any interest paid by the relevant Governmental Authority with respect to such refund). Such indemnifying party,
upon the request of such indemnified party, shall repay to such indemnified party the amount paid over pursuant to this Article 3(s) (plus any penalties, interest or other
charges  imposed  by  the  relevant  Governmental  Authority)  in  the  event  that  such  indemnified  party  is  required  to  repay  such  refund  to  such  Governmental  Authority.
Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Article 3(s) , in no event will the indemnified party be required to pay any amount to an indemnifying party pursuant to
this Article 3(s) the payment of which would place the indemnified party in a less favorable net after Tax position than the indemnified party would have been in if the Tax
subject to indemnification and giving rise to such refund had not been deducted, withheld or otherwise imposed and the indemnification payments or additional amounts
with respect  to  such  Tax  had  never  been  paid.  This  paragraph  shall  not  be  construed  to  require  any  indemnified  party  to  make  available  its  Tax  returns  (or  any  other
information relating to its Taxes that it deems confidential) to the indemnifying party or any other Person.

(t)  Each  party’s  obligations  under  this Article  3 shall  survive  any  assignment  of rights  by,  or  the  replacement  of,  Buyer  or  Assignee,  the  termination  of  the
Agreement and the repayment, satisfaction or discharge of all obligations under this Agreement.
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(u) If any Buyer or Assignee requests compensation under Article 3 or, if Seller is required to pay any Indemnified Taxes or additional amounts to any Buyer or any
Assignee or any Governmental Authority for the account of any Buyer or Assignee pursuant to Article 3(i) , or if any Buyer or Assignee defaults in its obligations under
this Agreement,  then Seller  may, at  its  sole expense and effort,  upon notice to such Buyer or Assignee, require such Buyer or Assignee to assign and delegate,  without
recourse (in accordance with and subject to the restrictions contained in Article 17 ), all its interests, rights (other than its existing rights to payments pursuant to Articles
3(g) or (i) )  and  obligations  under  this  Agreement  to  an  assignee  that  shall assume  such  obligations  (which  assignee  may  be  another  Buyer,  if  a  Buyer  accepts  such
assignment); provided that (i) such Buyer shall have received payment of an amount equal to the Repurchase Price for all Transactions, Price Differential accreted with
respect thereto, accrued fees and all other amounts payable to it hereunder, from the assignee (to the extent of such outstanding Repurchase Price principal and accreted
Price Differential and fees) or Seller (in the case of all other amounts) and (ii) in the case of any such assignment resulting from a claim for compensation under Article
3(g) or payments required to be made pursuant to Article 3(i) , such assignment will result in a reduction in such compensation or payments. A Buyer or Assignee shall not
be required to make any such assignment and delegation if, prior thereto, as a result of a waiver by such Buyer or Assignee or otherwise, the circumstances entitling the
Seller to require such assignment and delegation cease to apply.

(v)  On any Business  Day prior  to  the  Repurchase  Date, Seller  shall  have  the  right,  from time  to  time,  to  transfer  cash  to  Buyer  for  the  purpose  of  reducing  the
outstanding Purchase Price of any Purchased Asset without terminating the Transaction and without release of any Purchased Items; provided, that (i) any such reduction in
outstanding Purchase Price occurring on a date other than a Remittance Date shall be required to be accompanied by payment of all unpaid accrued Price Differential as of
the  applicable  Business  Day  on  the  amount of  such  reduction,  and  (ii)  Seller  provides  Buyer  with  one  (1)  Business  Day  prior  notice  with  respect  to  any  reduction  in
outstanding  Purchase  Price  occurring  on  any  date  that  is  not  a  Remittance  Date.  In  connection  with  any  such  reduction of  outstanding  Purchase  Price  pursuant  to  this
Article 3(v) ,  Buyer  and Seller  shall  modify  the  existing  Confirmation  for  the  Transaction  to  set  forth  the  new Advance  Rate  and outstanding  Purchase  Price  for  such
Purchased Asset. Any transfer of cash made pursuant to this Article 3(v) shall be in an amount equal to or greater than £1,000,000.

(w) If at any time prior to the Repurchase Date there exists Margin Availability with respect to a Purchased Asset, Seller may, on any Business Day, submit to Buyer
a request that Buyer transfer cash to Seller (in the applicable Currency of the Purchased Asset) so as to increase the outstanding Purchase Price for such Purchased Asset in
the amount (not to exceed the Margin Availability) requested by Seller (a “ Margin Availability Advance ”). The Margin Availability Advance shall be funded by Buyer
on the date requested by Seller  (which requested funding date shall  one (1) Business Day following the date of Seller’s  delivery of a request  for a Margin Availability
Advance  if  such  request  for  a  Margin  Availability  Advance  is  delivered  by  3:00  p.m.  New  York  City  time  on  any  Business  Day).  It  shall  be  a  condition  to  Buyer’s
obligation to make any Margin Availability Advance that (i) as of the funding of such Margin Availability Advance, no Margin Deficit, Default or Event of Default has
occurred and is continuing or would result from the funding of such Margin Availability Advance, and (ii) the funding of the Margin Availability Advance would not cause
the  aggregate  outstanding  Purchase  Price  for  all  Purchased  Assets  to  exceed  the  Maximum Facility  Amount.  In  connection  with  any  funding  of  a  Margin Availability
Advance pursuant  to  this Article 3(w) ,  Buyer and Seller  shall  modify the existing Confirmation for  the applicable  Transaction to set  forth the new Advance Rate and
outstanding Purchase Price for such Purchased Asset. Any Margin Availability Advance shall be in an amount equal to or greater than £1,000,000 (or the equivalent in the
applicable Currency of the Purchased Asset).
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(x) Subject to Article 4 , at any time prior to the Repurchase Date, in the event a future funding is made or is to be made by Seller pursuant to the Purchased Asset
Documents for a Purchased Asset, Seller may submit to Buyer a request that Buyer transfer cash to Seller (in the applicable Currency of the Purchased Asset) in an amount
not  to  exceed  the  Maximum  Advance  Rate  multiplied  by  the  amount  of  such  future  funding  (a  “ Future  Funding  Advance ”),  which  Future  Funding  Advance  shall
increase  the outstanding Purchase  Price  for  such Purchased Asset.  It  shall  be  a  condition  to  Buyer’s  obligation  to  make any Future  Funding Advance that  (i)  as  of  the
funding of such Future Funding Advance, no Margin Deficit, Default or Event of Default has occurred and is continuing or would result from the funding of such Future
Funding  Advance,  (ii)  the  funding  of  the  Future  Funding  Advance  would  not  cause  the  aggregate  outstanding  Purchase  Price  for  all  Purchased  Assets  to  exceed  the
Maximum Facility Amount, and (iii) Seller shall have demonstrated to Buyer’s reasonable satisfaction that all conditions to the future funding under the Purchased Asset
Documents have been satisfied in all  material  respects.  Buyer shall transfer cash to Seller as provided in this Article 3(x) (and in accordance with the wire instructions
provided  by  Seller  in  such  request)  on  the  date  requested  by  Seller,  which  date  shall  be  no  earlier  than  two  (2)  Business  Days  following  the  delivery  of  a modified
Confirmation for the applicable Transaction (as more particularly described below) and the close of business on the Business Day immediately following the Business Day
on which Buyer reasonably determines that the conditions precedent to Buyer’s obligation to make any Future Funding Advance as set forth in this Article 3(x) have been
satisfied (or, in Buyer’s sole discretion, waived). In connection with any funding of a Future Funding Advance pursuant to this Article 3(x) , Buyer and Seller shall modify
the  existing  Confirmation  for  the  applicable  Transaction  to  set  forth  the  new  Advance  Rate  and  outstanding  Purchase  Price  for  such  Purchased  Asset  and  any  other
modifications to the terms set forth on the existing Confirmation. Any Future Funding Advance shall be in an amount equal to or greater than £1,000,000 (or the equivalent
in the applicable Currency of the Purchased Asset). Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, Buyer shall not be obligated to make any Future Funding Advance
unless  Seller  has  previously  or  simultaneously  with  Buyer’s  funding of  a  Future  Funding Advance funded or  caused to  be funded to  the  underlying borrower  (or  to  an
escrow agent or as otherwise directed by the underlying Borrower) in respect of such Purchased Asset.

ARTICLE 4.
MARGIN MAINTENANCE

(a) If at any time Buyer’s Margin Amount for any Purchased Asset is less than the Repurchase Price for such Purchased Asset (a “ Margin Deficit ”), then, so long
as such Margin Deficit  equals or exceeds £150,000 (or the equivalent in the applicable Currency of the Purchased Asset),  Buyer may by notice to Seller in the form of
Exhibit  VII (a  “ Margin  Deficit  Notice ”)  require  Seller  to  (i)  repurchase  such  Purchased  Asset  at  its  Repurchase  Price,  (ii)  make  a  payment  in  reduction  of  the
outstanding Purchase Price for such Purchased Asset (including by requesting a Margin Availability Advance pursuant to Section 3(w) for any other Purchased Asset for
which there exists Margin Availability, and applying funds from such Margin Availability Advance to the applicable Margin Deficit, in the equivalent applicable Currency
of the Purchased Asset that is the subject of the Margin Deficit) or (iii) choose any combination of the foregoing, such that, after giving effect to such transfers, repurchases
and payments,  Buyer’s  Margin  Amount  for  such Purchased Asset,  shall  be  equal  to  or  greater  than the  related  Repurchase  Price  for  such Purchased Asset.  Seller  shall
perform the obligations under this Article 4(a) by the close of the next succeeding Business Day if the Margin Deficit Notice was received by Seller prior to 3:00 p.m. New
York City time, or, the second (2nd) succeeding Business Day if the Margin Notice was received by Seller after 3:00 p.m. New York City time (the “ Margin Deadline ”).
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(b) The failure of Buyer, on any one or more occasions, to exercise its rights hereunder, shall not change or alter the terms and conditions to which this Agreement is
subject or limit the right of Buyer to do so at a later date. Seller and Buyer each agree that a failure or delay by Buyer to exercise its rights hereunder shall not limit or
waive Buyer’s rights under this Agreement or otherwise existing by law or in any way create additional rights for Seller.

(c)  In addition to the Appraisals  and Approved Valuations delivered by Seller  in accordance with Article 11(z) , Buyer shall  have the right to require additional
Appraisals or Approved Valuations from time-to-time relating to any or all of the Purchased Assets. Buyer shall request such additional Appraisals or Approved Valuations
in writing and Seller shall procure and deliver such requested Appraisals or Approved Valuations within forty five (45) Business Days of receipt of such request (or such
other time period as determined by the Buyer in its sole discretion). In the event that any additional Appraisals or Approved Valuation relating to a Purchased Asset and
requested pursuant to this Article 4(c) , when considered together with the other criteria used to determine Market Value in accordance with this Agreement, results in a
Margin  Deficit  relating  to  the  applicable  Purchased  Asset,  then  the  cost  of  such  additional  valuation  shall  be  an  obligation  of  Seller.  In  the  event  that  any  additional
Appraisal  or  Approved  Valuation  relating  to  a  Purchased  Asset  and  requested pursuant  to  this Article  4(c) ,  when  considered  together  with  the  other  criteria  used  to
determine Market Value in accordance with this Agreement, does not result in a Margin Deficit relating to the applicable Purchased Asset, then the cost of such additional
Appraisal or Approved Valuation shall be an obligation of Buyer.

ARTICLE 5.
INCOME PAYMENTS AND PRINCIPAL PAYMENTS

(a) Each Depository Account shall be established at the Depository and shall be subject to the applicable Depository Agreement which, (i) in the case of the UK
Depository  Agreement,  shall  have been delivered  on the  Closing Date,  (ii)  in  the  case  of  the  EUR Depository  Agreement,  shall  have been delivered  on the  First  A&R
Closing Date,  and (iii)  in  the  case of  the  U.S.  Depository  Agreement,  shall  be  executed and delivered  concurrently  with  the  execution and delivery  of  this  Agreement.
Pursuant to each Depository Agreement, Buyer shall have sole dominion and control over each Depository Account. Each Depository Account shall, at all times, be subject
to the applicable Depository Agreement. All Income in respect of the Purchased Assets, as well as any interest received from the reinvestment of such Income, shall be
deposited directly by the underlying obligor of each Purchased Asset or as directed by the Primary Servicer in accordance with the Primary Servicing Agreement (or by any
other  servicer  and  related  direct  agreement,  to  the  extent  any  Purchased  Asset  is  not  serviced  by  the Primary  Servicer).  Depository  shall  then  apply  such  Income  in
accordance with the applicable provisions of Articles 5(c) and (d)  of this Agreement.

(b) For all Purchased Assets Seller shall deliver to each servicer or trustee, as applicable, with respect to such Purchased Asset an irrevocable direction letter in the
form of Exhibit  XI (the  “ Re-direction  Letter ”),  instructing  the  applicable  party  with  respect  to  such  Purchased  Asset  to  pay  all  amounts  payable  under  the  related
Purchased Asset into the applicable Depository Account. If any such party with respect to the Purchased Asset forwards any Income with respect to a Purchased Asset to
the Collection Account, rather than directly to the applicable Depository Account, Seller shall, or shall cause such Affiliate to, deliver an additional Re-direction Letter to
the applicable  party  with respect  to  the Purchased Asset  and make other  best  efforts  to  cause such party  to  forward such amounts  directly  to  the applicable Depository
Account. Any such funds on deposit in the Collection Account will be transferred to the applicable Depository Account as directed by the Primary Servicer in accordance
with the Primary Servicing Agreement.
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(c)  So  long  as  no  Event  of  Default  or  Margin  Deficit  with  respect  to  any Purchased  Asset  shall  have  occurred  and  be  continuing,  all  Income  received  by  the
Depository in respect of the Purchased Assets (other than scheduled or unscheduled Principal Payments and net sale proceeds) and the associated Hedging Transactions
during each Collection Period shall be applied by the Depository on the related Remittance Date in the following order of priority:

(i) first
 , pro
rata
 ,  (A) to Buyer, an amount equal to the Price Differential that has accreted and is outstanding as of such Remittance Date and (B) to any
Affiliated Hedge Counterparty, any amount then due and payable to an Affiliated Hedge Counterparty or Qualified Hedge Counterparty, as applicable, under any
Hedging Transaction related to a Purchased Asset;

(ii) second
, to Buyer, an amount equal to any other amounts then due and payable to Buyer or its Affiliates under any Transaction Document; and

(iii) third
, to the Seller, the remainder, if any.

(d)  So  long  as  no  Event  of  Default  or  Margin  Deficit  shall  have occurred  and  be  continuing,  any  Principal  Payments  shall  be  applied  by  the  Depository  on  the
Business Day following the Business Day on which such funds are deposited in the Depository Account in the following order of priority:

(i) first
, pro
rata
, (A) to Buyer, until the Purchase Price for such Purchased Asset has been reduced to the Buyer’s Margin Amount for such Purchased Asset
as  of  the  date  of  such  payment  (as  determined  by  Buyer  after  giving  effect  to  such  Principal  Payment  and  application  of  net  sales  proceeds,  if  applicable)  and
(B) solely with respect to any Hedging Transaction with an Affiliated Hedge Counterparty or Qualified Hedge Counterparty, as applicable, related to such Purchased
Asset, to such Affiliated Hedge Counterparty or Qualified Hedge Counterparty, as applicable, an amount equal to any accrued and unpaid breakage costs under such
Hedging Transaction related to such Purchased Asset;

(ii) second
, to Buyer, an amount equal to any other amounts due and owing to Buyer or its Affiliates under any Transaction Document; and

(iii) third
, to the Seller, any remainder.

(e) If Buyer shall have determined that a Margin Deficit shall have occurred and be continuing, but no Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing, all
Income (including, without limitation, any Principal Payments or any other amounts received, without regard to their source) received by the Depository in respect of a
Purchased Asset shall be applied by the Depository on the related Remittance Date in the following order of priority:

(i) first
, pro
rata
, (A) to Buyer, an amount equal to the Price Differential that has accreted and is outstanding in respect of all of the Purchased Assets as of
such  Business  Day  and  (B)  to  any  Affiliated  Hedge  Counterparty  or  Qualified  Hedge Counterparty,  as  applicable,  any  amounts  then  due  and  payable  to  such
Affiliated Hedge Counterparty or Qualified Hedge Counterparty, as applicable, under any Hedging Transaction related to such Purchased Asset;
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(ii) second
 ,  to  Buyer,  an  amount  to  reduce  the  Repurchase Price  of  such  Purchased  Asset  until  the  Repurchase  Price  for  such  Purchased  Asset  has  been
reduced to the Buyer’s Margin Amount as of the date of such payment (as determined by Buyer after giving effect to all Principal Payments and application of net
sale proceeds, if any, on such day);

(iii) third
, to Buyer, an amount equal to any other amounts due and owing to Buyer or its Affiliates under any Transaction Document; and

(iv) fourth
, to the Seller, any remainder.

(f) If an Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing, all Income (including, without limitation, any Principal Payments or any other amounts received,
without  regard  to  their  source)  received  by  the  Depository  in  respect  of  a  Purchased  Asset  shall  be  applied  by  the  Depository  on  the  Business  Day  next  following  the
Business Day on which such funds are deposited in the Depository Account in the following order of priority:

(i) first
, pro
rata
, (A) to Buyer, an amount equal to the Price Differential that has accreted and is outstanding in respect of all of the Purchased Assets as of
such Business Day and (B) to any Affiliated Hedge Counterparty or Qualified Hedge Counterparty, as applicable, any amounts then due and payable to an Affiliated
Hedge Counterparty or Qualified Hedge Counterparty, as applicable, under any Hedging Transaction related to such Purchased Asset;

(ii) second
, to Buyer, on account of the Repurchase Price of such Purchased Asset until the Repurchase Price has been reduced to zero;

(iii) third
 ,  to Buyer,  an amount  equal  to any other  amounts  due and owing to Buyer or its Affiliates under any Transaction Document,  including, without
limitation, (a) the entire Repurchase Price on all Purchase Assets (regardless of acceleration or otherwise of the Seller’s obligations), and (b) all costs of collection
associated with the interpretation and enforcement of Buyer’s rights and remedies under this Agreement and all of the other Transaction Documents; and

(iv) fourth
, to the Seller, any remainder.

For the avoidance of doubt, the obligations hereunder shall be fully recourse to Seller.

ARTICLE 6.
SECURITY INTEREST

(a) Buyer and Seller intend that the Transactions hereunder be sales to Buyer of the Purchased Assets and not loans from Buyer to Seller secured by the Purchased
Assets. However, in order to preserve Buyer’s rights under this Agreement in the event that a court or other forum recharacterizes the Transactions hereunder as loans and
as security for the performance by Seller of all of Seller’s obligations to Buyer under the Transaction Documents and the Transactions entered into hereunder, or in the
event that a transfer of a Purchased Asset is otherwise ineffective to effect an outright transfer of such Purchased Asset to Buyer, Seller hereby assigns, pledges and grants a
security interest in all of its right, title and interest in, to and under the Purchased Items (as defined below) to Buyer to secure the payment of the Repurchase Price on all
Transactions to which it is a party and all other amounts owing by it to Buyer hereunder, including, without limitation, amounts owing pursuant to Article 25 , and under
the
 

42



other Transaction Documents, including any obligations of Seller under any Hedging Transaction entered into with any Affiliated Hedge Counterparty and to secure the
obligation  of  Seller  or  its designee  to  service  the  Purchased  Assets  in  conformity  with Article  27 and  any  other  obligation  of  Seller  to  Buyer  (collectively,  the  “
Repurchase  Obligations ”).  Seller  agrees  to  mark  its  computer  records  and tapes  to  evidence  the  interests  granted  to  Buyer  hereunder.  All  of  Seller’s  right,  title  and
interest  in,  to  and under  each of  the  following items of  property,  whether  now owned or  hereafter  acquired,  now existing or  hereafter  created  and wherever located, is
hereinafter referred to as the “ Purchased Items ”:

(i) the Purchased Assets and all “securities accounts” (as defined in Article 8-501(a) of the UCC) to which any or all of the Purchased Assets are credited;

(ii)  the  Purchased  Asset  Documents,  Servicing  Agreements,  Servicing  Records,  Servicing  Rights,  insurance policies  relating  to  the  Purchased  Assets,  and
collection and escrow accounts and letters of credit relating to the Purchased Assets;

(iii) all “general intangibles”, “accounts”, “chattel paper”, “investment property”, “instruments”, “securities accounts” and “deposit accounts”, each as defined
in the UCC, relating to or constituting any and all of the foregoing; and

(iv) all replacements, substitutions or distributions on or proceeds, payments, Income and profits of, and records (but excluding any financial models or other
proprietary information) and files relating to any and all of any of the foregoing.

(b) Without limiting Article 6(a) hereto, to secure payment of the Repurchase Obligations owing to Buyer, Seller hereby grants to Buyer a security interest in all of
Seller’s right, title and interest in, to and under each of the following items of property, whether now owned or hereafter acquired, now existing or hereafter created and
wherever located, hereinafter referred to as the “ Collateral ”:

(i)  any and all  interests  of Seller in,  to and under (A) the Depository Account and all  monies from time to time on deposit  in the Depository Account and
(B) the Collection Account and all monies from time to time on deposit in the Collection Account;

(ii) the Purchased Items;

(iii) all servicing fees and rights relating to the Purchased Assets and all Servicing Records;

(iv) any and all replacements, substitutions, distributions on, income relating to or proceeds of any and all of the foregoing; and

(v) Seller’s rights, but not obligations, under each Hedging Transaction, if any, relating to the Purchased Assets to secure the Repurchase Obligations.

(c) Buyer agrees to act as agent for and on behalf of the Affiliated Hedge Counterparties with respect to the security interest granted hereby to secure the obligations
owing to the Affiliated Hedge Counterparties under any Hedging Transactions, including, without limitation, with respect to the Purchased Assets.
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(d) Buyer’s security interest in the Collateral shall terminate only upon termination of Seller’s obligations under this Agreement, all Hedging Transactions and the
documents delivered in connection herewith and therewith and the other Transaction Documents including, for the avoidance of doubt, Seller repurchasing each Purchased
Asset. For the avoidance of doubt, Buyer’s security interest in the Collateral shall not terminate upon Buyer’s determination of the Market Value of any Purchased Asset to
be zero. Upon such termination, Buyer shall deliver to Seller such UCC termination statements and other release documents as may be commercially reasonable and return
the Purchased Assets to Seller and reconvey the Purchased Items to Seller and release its security interest in the Collateral. For purposes of the grant of the security interest
pursuant to this Article 6 , this Agreement shall be deemed to constitute a security agreement under the Delaware Uniform Commercial Code (the “ UCC ”). Buyer shall
have all of the rights and may exercise all of the remedies of a secured creditor under the UCC and the other laws of the State of Delaware. In furtherance of the foregoing,
(a) Buyer, at Seller’s sole cost and expense, as applicable, shall cause to be filed in such locations as may be necessary to perfect and maintain perfection and priority of the
security interest granted hereby, UCC financing statements and continuation statements (collectively,  the “ Filings ”), and shall forward copies of such Filings to Seller
upon completion thereof, and (b) Seller shall from time to time take such further actions as may be requested by Buyer to maintain and continue the perfection and priority
of the security interest granted hereby (including marking its records and files to evidence the interests granted to Buyer hereunder).

(e) Seller acknowledges that neither it nor Guarantor has rights to service the Purchased Assets but only has rights as a party to the Primary Servicing Agreement or
any other servicing agreement with respect to the Purchased Assets. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing and in the event that Seller or Guarantor is deemed to
retain any residual Servicing Rights, and for the avoidance of doubt, each of Seller and Guarantor grants, assigns and pledges to Buyer a security interest in the Servicing
Rights and proceeds related thereto and in all instances, whether now owned or hereafter acquired, now existing or hereafter created. The foregoing provision is intended to
constitute a security agreement or other arrangement or other credit enhancement related to the Agreement and Transactions hereunder as defined under Sections 101(47)
(v) and 741(7)(x) of the Bankruptcy Code.

ARTICLE 7.
PAYMENT, TRANSFER AND CUSTODY

(a) On the Purchase Date for each Transaction, ownership of the Purchased Asset shall be transferred to Buyer or its designee against the simultaneous transfer of the
Purchase Price in immediately available funds to an account of Seller or an Acceptable Attorney pursuant to an escrow letter or other undertaking approved by Buyer, in its
sole discretion specified in the Confirmation relating to such Transaction.

(b)  With  respect  to  each Transaction,  the  applicable  Seller  shall  deliver  or cause  to  be  delivered  to  Buyer  or  its  designee  the  Custodial  Delivery, provided , that
notwithstanding the foregoing, upon request of the applicable Seller, Buyer in its sole discretion may elect to permit such Seller to make such delivery by not later than the
third (3rd) Business Day after the related Purchase Date, so long as such Seller causes an Acceptable Attorney or other Person acceptable to Buyer to deliver to Buyer and
the  Custodian  a  Bailee  Letter  or  Undertaking  Letter, as  applicable,  on  or  prior  to  such  Purchase  Date.  Subject  to Article  7(c) ,  in  connection  with  each  sale,  transfer,
conveyance and assignment of a Purchased Asset, on or prior to each Purchase Date with respect to such Purchased Asset, the applicable Seller shall deliver or cause to be
delivered  and  released  to  the  Custodian  a  copy  or  original  of  each  document  as  specified  in  the  Purchased  Asset  File  (as  defined  in  the  Custodial  Agreement,  and
collectively, the “ Purchased Asset File ”), pertaining to each of the Purchased Assets identified in the Custodial Delivery delivered therewith, together with any other
documentation in respect of such Purchased Asset requested by Buyer, in Buyer’s sole but good faith discretion.
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(c) From time to time, Seller shall forward to the Buyer and to the Custodian or the applicable Acceptable Attorney additional copies of, originals of, documents
evidencing any assumption, modification, consolidation or extension of a Purchased Asset approved in accordance with the terms of this Agreement, and upon receipt of
any such other documents, the Custodian or the applicable Acceptable Attorney, as applicable shall hold such other documents in accordance with the Custodial Agreement
or the related Undertaking Letter,  as applicable.  With respect  to all  of the Purchased Assets delivered by Seller  to Buyer,  its  designee (including the Custodian),  or the
Acceptable  Attorney,  as  the  case  may  be,  Seller  shall  have  executed  and  delivered  to  Buyer  each  omnibus  power  of  attorney  substantially  in  the  forms  of Exhibit IV
attached hereto irrevocably appointing Buyer its attorney in fact with full power to (i) complete the Transfer Certificates relating to the Purchased Assets, (ii) complete the
preparation and filing, in form and substance satisfactory to Buyer, of such financing statements, continuation statements, and other UCC forms, as Buyer may from time to
time,  reasonably  consider  necessary  to  create,  perfect,  and  preserve  Buyer’s  security  interest  in  the Purchased  Assets,  (iii)  enforce  Seller’s  rights  under  the  Purchased
Assets purchased by Buyer pursuant to this Agreement and to, and (iv) take such other steps as may be necessary or desirable to enforce Buyer’s rights against, under or
with respect to such Purchased Assets and the related Purchased Asset Files and the Servicing Records; provided that Buyer agrees not to and shall not exercise its rights
under  such  power  of  attorney  unless  a  monetary  Default  or  an Event  of  Default  has  occurred  and  is  continuing.  The  Purchased  Asset  Files  shall  be  maintained  in
accordance with the applicable Undertaking Letter and the Custodial Agreement, as applicable. Seller or its designee shall maintain a copy of the Purchased Asset File. The
books and records (including, without limitation, any computer records or tapes) of Seller shall be marked appropriately to reflect clearly the sale of the related Purchased
Asset  to  Buyer.  The  applicable  Acceptable Attorney  and  the  Custodian  shall  release  its  custody  of  the  Purchased  Asset  File  only  in  accordance  with  the  terms  of  the
Undertaking Letter or the Custodial Agreement, as applicable, and only if required as incidental to the servicing of the Purchased Assets, is in connection with a repurchase
of any Purchased Asset by Seller or as otherwise required by law.

(d) Buyer  hereby grants  to  Seller  a  revocable  option to  direct  Buyer  with  respect  to  the  exercise  of  all  voting and corporate  rights  with respect  to  the  Purchased
Assets and to vote, take corporate actions and exercise any rights in connection with the Purchased Assets, so long as no monetary Default or Event of Default has occurred
and is continuing. Upon the occurrence and during the continuation of a monetary Default or an Event of Default or with respect to the exercise of any voting or corporate
rights with respect to the Purchased Assets that could materially impair the Market Value, and in each case subject to the provisions of the Purchased Asset Documents, the
revocable  option  discussed  above  shall  automatically  terminate  and thereafter  Buyer  shall  be  entitled  to  exercise  all  voting  and  corporate  rights  with  respect  to  the
Purchased Assets without regard to Seller’s instructions (including, but not limited to, if an Act of Insolvency shall occur with respect to Seller, to the extent Seller controls
or is entitled to control selection of any servicer, Buyer may transfer any or all of such servicing to an entity satisfactory to Buyer).

(e) Notwithstanding the rights granted to Seller pursuant to clause (d)  above, Seller shall not enter into any material amendments, modifications, waivers, releases,
sales, transfers, dispositions or other resolutions relating to the Purchased Assets, including, without limitation, the following actions set forth in clauses (i)  through (xi)
 below (each, a “ Significant Modification ”), without the prior written consent of Buyer:
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(i)  any  forbearance,  extension  or  other  loan  modification  with respect  to  any  Purchased  Asset,  including,  without  limitation,  (A)  any  modification  of  the
amount  or  timing  of  any  regularly  scheduled  payments  of  principal  and  non-contingent  interest  of  any  Purchased  Asset  or  (B)  any  change  in  the frequency of
scheduled payments of principal and interest with respect to any Purchased Asset;

(ii) the release, discharge or reduction of any: (A) Lien on any mortgaged property or (B) Lien or claim on any letters of credit and other non-cash collateral
that is required to be maintained pursuant to the underlying Mortgage loan documents, if any;

(iii) the extension of credit (including increasing the terms of any existing credit) to any Person with respect to any Purchased Asset;

(iv) any sale or other disposition of any Purchased Asset, mortgaged property or any other material property or collateral related thereto;

(v) the incurrence of any Lien or other encumbrance other than as expressly created hereunder or under any other Transaction Document;

(vi) the reduction of the principal  amount of any Purchased Asset  other than (A) with respect  to a dollar-for-dollar  principal  payment or (B) reductions of
principal to the extent of deferred, accrued or capitalized interest added to principal which additional amount subsequently reduced was not taken into account by
Buyer in determining the related Maximum Advance Rate;

(vii)  any increase in the amount of any Purchased Asset other than increases which are derived from accrual  or capitalization of deferred interest which is
added to principal or protective advances;

(viii) any subordination of the Lien priority of any Purchased Asset or the payment priority of any Purchased Asset other than a subordination required under
the  then-existing  terms  and  conditions  of  such  Purchased  Asset; provided , however ,  that the  foregoing  shall  not  preclude  the  execution  and  delivery  of
subordination,  nondisturbance  and  attornment  agreements  with  tenants,  subordination  to  tenant  leases,  easements,  plats  of  subdivision  and  condominium
declarations, conditions, covenants and restrictions and similar instruments which do not adversely affect the rights and interest of the holder of the Purchased Asset;

(ix) any waiver, amendment or modification of any cash management or reserve account requirements of any Purchased Asset other than changes required
under the then-existing Purchased Asset documentation for such Purchased Asset;

(x) any waiver of any due-on-sale or due-on-encumbrance provisions of any Purchased Asset other than waivers required to be given under the then-existing
Purchased Asset documents for such Purchased Asset; and

(xi) any waiver, amendment or modification of the underlying insurance requirements of any Purchased Asset.
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Seller  shall  promptly  (and  in  any  event  not  later  than  two (2)  Business  Days  following  execution)  provide  Buyer  with  executed  copies  of  any  other
amendments, modifications, waivers, releases, sales, transfers, dispositions or other resolutions relating to the Purchased Assets.

(f) Notwithstanding the rights granted to Seller pursuant to clause (d)  above, Seller shall not, and shall not permit any security trustee, Primary Servicer or any other
servicer of any Purchased Asset to consent to any proposal as described in clause (e)  above without the prior written consent of Buyer or waiver thereof.

ARTICLE 8.
SALE, TRANSFER, HYPOTHECATION OR PLEDGE OF PURCHASED ASSETS

(a) Title to all Purchased Assets shall pass to Buyer on the applicable Purchase Date, and Buyer shall have free and unrestricted use of all Purchased Assets, subject,
however, to the terms of this Agreement. Nothing in this Agreement or any other Transaction Document shall preclude Buyer from engaging in repurchase transactions
with the Purchased Assets or otherwise selling, transferring, pledging, repledging, hypothecating, or rehypothecating the Purchased Assets, as long as no such action shall
cause the tax owner of the Purchased Assets not to be the Seller (or the Guarantor, as the case may be), and provided that no such transaction shall relieve Buyer of its
obligations to transfer the Purchased Assets to Seller pursuant to Article 3 of this Agreement or of Buyer’s obligation to credit or pay Income to, or apply Income to the
obligations of, Seller pursuant to Article 5 hereof, or of Buyer’s obligations pursuant to Article 17 hereof.

(b) Nothing contained in this Agreement or any other Transaction Document shall obligate Buyer to segregate any Purchased Assets delivered to Buyer by Seller.
Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement or any other Transaction Document, no Purchased Asset shall remain in the custody of Seller or an Affiliate of
Seller.

(c) the Seller (and its Affiliates) shall not give notice of assignment to any underlying borrower or other obligor without the prior written consent of the Buyer and
the parties agree and acknowledge that for the limited purposes of English law that the assignment contained in this clause is intended to take effect only as an equitable
assignment unless the Buyer otherwise agrees or directs.

Notwithstanding any other provision contained herein, Buyer shall be permitted to freely sell, transfer or hypothecate any Purchased Asset to any Affiliate of
Buyer, so long as no such action shall cause the tax owner of the Purchased Asset not to be the Seller (or the Guarantor, as the case may be), and provided that no
such transaction shall relieve Buyer of its obligations to transfer the Purchased Assets to Seller pursuant to Article 3 of this Agreement or of Buyer’s obligation to
credit or pay Income to, or apply Income to the obligations of, Seller pursuant to Article 5 hereof, or of Buyer’s obligations pursuant to Article 17(b) , (c) , or (d) ,
as applicable.

ARTICLE 9.
REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES

(a)  Each  of  Buyer  and  Seller  represents  and  warrants  to  the  other  that  (i)  it  is  duly  authorized  to  execute  and  deliver this  Agreement,  to  enter  into  Transactions
contemplated  hereunder  and  to  perform  its  obligations  hereunder  and  has  taken  all  necessary  action  to  authorize  such  execution,  delivery  and  performance,  (ii)  it  will
engage in such Transactions as principal (or, if agreed in writing, in the form of
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an annex hereto or otherwise, in advance of any Transaction by the other party hereto, as agent for a disclosed principal),  (iii)  the person signing this Agreement on its
behalf is duly authorized to do so on its behalf (or on behalf of any such disclosed principal), (iv) it has obtained all authorizations of any Governmental Authority required
in connection with this Agreement and the Transactions hereunder and such authorizations are in full force and effect and (v) the execution, delivery and performance of
this Agreement and the Transactions hereunder will not violate any Requirement of Law applicable to it or its organizational documents or any agreement by which it is
bound  or  by  which  any  of  its  assets  are  affected.  On  the  Purchase  Date  for  any  Transaction  for  the  purchase  of  any  Purchased  Assets  by  Buyer  from  Seller  and  any
Transaction hereunder and covenants that at all times while this Agreement and any Transaction thereunder is in effect, Buyer and Seller shall each be deemed to repeat all
the foregoing representations made by it.

(b) In addition to the representations and warranties in subsection (a) above, Seller represents and warrants to Buyer as of the date of this Agreement and will be
deemed to represent  and warrant  to Buyer as of  the Purchase Date for  the purchase of any Purchased Assets  by Buyer from Seller  and any Transaction thereunder  and
covenants that at all times while this Agreement and any Transaction thereunder is in effect, unless otherwise stated herein:

(i) Organization . Seller is duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the laws and regulations of the jurisdiction of Seller’s incorporation or
organization,  as  the  case  may  be,  and  is  duly  licensed,  qualified,  and  in  good standing  in  every  state  where  such  licensing  or  qualification  is  necessary  for  the
transaction of Seller’s business, except where failure to so qualify could not be reasonably likely to have a Material Adverse Effect. Seller has the power to own and
hold the assets it purports to own and hold, and to carry on its business as now being conducted and proposed to be conducted, and has the power to execute, deliver,
and perform its obligations under this Agreement and the other Transaction Documents.

(ii) Due  Execution;  Enforceability .  The  Transaction  Documents  have  been  or  will  be  duly executed  and  delivered  by  Seller,  for  good  and  valuable
consideration. The Transaction Documents constitute the legal, valid and binding obligations of Seller, enforceable against Seller in accordance with their respective
terms subject to bankruptcy, insolvency, and other limitations on creditors’ rights generally and to equitable principles.

(iii) Intentionally Omitted .

(iv) Non Contravention . Neither the execution and delivery of the Transaction Documents, nor consummation by Seller of the transactions contemplated by
the Transaction Documents (or any of them), nor compliance by Seller with the terms, conditions and provisions of the Transaction Documents (or any of them) will
conflict with or result in a breach of any of the terms, conditions or provisions of (A) the organizational documents of Seller, (B) any contractual obligation to which
Seller is now a party or the rights under which have been assigned to Seller or the obligations under which have been assumed by Seller or to which the assets of
Seller is subject or constitute a default thereunder, or result thereunder in the creation or imposition of any Lien upon any of the assets of Seller, other than pursuant
to  the Transaction  Documents,  (C)  any  judgment  or  order,  writ,  injunction,  decree  or  demand  of  any  court  applicable  to  and  imposed  upon  Seller,  or  (D)  any
applicable Requirement of Law, in the case of clauses (B), (C)  or (D)  above, to the extent that such conflict or breach would have a Material Adverse Effect upon
Seller’s ability to perform its obligations hereunder.
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(v) Litigation; Requirements of Law . Except as otherwise disclosed in writing to Buyer prior to the date hereof, as of the date hereof and as of the Purchase
Date  for  any  Transaction  hereunder,  there  is  no  action,  suit,  proceeding,  investigation,  or  arbitration  pending  or,  to  the  Knowledge  of  Seller  after due inquiry,
threatened against  Seller,  Pledgor  or  Guarantor  or  any of  their  respective  assets,  nor  is  there  any action,  suit,  proceeding,  investigation,  or  arbitration  pending or
threatened against Seller, Pledgor or Guarantor that is reasonably likely to result in any Material Adverse Effect. Seller is in compliance in all material respects with
all Requirements of Law. Neither Seller, Pledgor, nor Guantor is in default in any material respect with respect to any judgment, order, writ, injunction, decree, rule
or regulation of any arbitrator or Governmental Authority applicable to and imposed upon Seller, Pledgor or Guarantor.

(vi) No Broker .  Seller  has  not  dealt  with  any  broker,  investment  banker,  agent,  or  other  Person  (other than  Buyer  or  an  Affiliate  of  Buyer)  who may be
entitled to any commission or compensation in connection with the sale of Purchased Assets pursuant to any of the Transaction Documents.

(vii) Good Title to Purchased Assets . Immediately prior to the purchase of any Purchased Assets by Buyer from Seller, such Purchased Assets are free and
clear of any lien, encumbrance or impediment to transfer (including any “adverse claim” as defined in Article 8 102(a)(1) of the UCC), and Seller is the record and
beneficial  owner of and has good and marketable  title  to  and the right  to  sell  and transfer  such Purchased Assets  to  Buyer and,  upon transfer  of  such Purchased
Assets to Buyer, Buyer shall be the equitable owner of such Purchased Assets free of any adverse claim, but subject to the rights of Seller and obligations of Buyer
under this Agreement and the other Transaction Documents. In the event the related Transaction is recharacterized as a secured financing of the Purchased Assets,
the provisions of this Agreement and the relevant Security Deed are effective to create in favor of Buyer a valid security interest in all rights, title and interest of
Seller in, to and under the Purchased Assets and Buyer shall have a valid, perfected first  priority security interest in the Purchased Assets subject to the rights of
Seller and obligations of Buyer under the Agreement and the other Transaction Documents (and without limitation on the foregoing, Buyer, as entitlement holder,
shall have a “security entitlement” to the Purchased Assets).

(viii) No Material Adverse Effect; No Defaults . To Seller’s Knowledge, there are no post-Transaction facts or circumstances that have a Material Adverse
Effect on any Purchased Asset that Seller has not notified Buyer of in writing. No Default or Event of Default has occurred or exists under or with respect to the
Transaction Documents.

(ix) Authorized Representatives .  The duly authorized representatives  of  Seller  are  listed on,  and true signatures  of  such authorized representatives  are  set
forth on, Exhibit II attached to this Agreement.

(x) Representations and Warranties Regarding Purchased Assets; Delivery of Purchased Asset File.

(A)  As  of  the  date  hereof,  Seller  has  not  assigned,  pledged,  or  otherwise  conveyed  or  encumbered  any  Purchased Asset  to  any  other  Person,  and
immediately prior to the sale of such Purchased Asset to Buyer, Seller was the sole owner of such Purchased Asset and had good and marketable title thereto,
free and clear of all Liens, in each case except for (1) Liens to be released simultaneously with the sale to Buyer hereunder and (2) Liens granted by Seller in
favor of the counterparty to any Hedging Transaction, solely to the extent such Liens are expressly subordinate to the rights and interests of Buyer hereunder.
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(B) The provisions of this Agreement,  the relevant Security Deed and the related Confirmation are effective to either  constitute a sale of Purchased
Items  to  Buyer  or  to  create  in  favor  of  Buyer  a  legal,  valid  and  enforceable  security  interest  in  all  right,  title  and  interest  of  Seller  in,  to  and  under  the
Purchased Items.

(C) Each of the representations and warranties made in respect of the Purchased Assets pursuant to Exhibit V are true, complete and correct, except to
the extent disclosed in a Requested Exceptions Report.

(D) Upon the filing of financing statements on Form UCC-1 naming Buyer as “ Secured Party ”, Seller as “ Debtor ” and describing the Purchased
Items, in the jurisdiction and recording office listed on Exhibit IX attached hereto, the security interests granted hereunder in that portion of the Purchased
Items which can be perfected by filing under the UCC will constitute fully perfected security interests under the UCC in all right, title and interest of Seller in,
to and under such Purchased Items.

(E) Upon execution and delivery of the Depository Agreement,  Buyer shall  either  be the owner of,  or  have a valid and fully perfected first  priority
security interest in, the Depository Account and all amounts at any time on deposit therein.

(F)  Upon execution and delivery of  the Depository Agreement,  Buyer shall  either  be the owner of,  or  have a valid and fully perfected first  priority
security interest in, the “investment property” and all “deposit accounts” (each as defined in the Uniform Commercial Code) comprising Purchased Items or
any after-acquired property related to such Purchased Items. Except to the extent disclosed in a requested Exceptions Report, the Acceptable Attorney is in
possession of a complete, true and accurate Purchased Asset File with respect to each Purchased Asset, except for such documents the originals of which have
been delivered to the Custodian.

(G)  With  respect  to  EUR Purchased Assets  and UK Purchased Assets,  upon execution  and delivery  of  the  Security  Deed,  Buyer  shall  have  a  valid
charge over and security interest in the accounts named therein and all amounts at any time on deposit therein.

(xi) Adequate  Capitalization;  No  Fraudulent  Transfer .  Seller  has,  as  of  such  Purchase  Date,  adequate capital  for  the  normal  obligations  foreseeable  in  a
business of its size and character and in light of its contemplated business operations. Seller is generally able to pay, and as of the date hereof is paying, its debts as
they come due. Seller has not become, or is not presently, financially insolvent nor will Seller be made insolvent by virtue of Seller’s execution of or performance
under  any  of  the  Transaction  Documents  within  the  meaning  of  the  bankruptcy  laws  or  the  insolvency  laws of  any  jurisdiction.  Seller  has  not  entered  into  any
Transaction Document or any Transaction pursuant thereto in contemplation of insolvency or with intent to hinder, delay or defraud any creditor.
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(xii) Governmental  Approvals .  No  order,  consent,  approval, license,  authorization  or  validation  of,  or  filing,  recording  or  registration  by  Seller  with,  or
exemption  by,  any  Governmental  Authority  is  required  to  authorize,  or  is  required  in  connection  with,  (A)  the  execution,  delivery  and  performance of  any
Transaction Document  to  which Seller  is  or  will  be a  party,  (B) the legality,  validity,  binding effect  or  enforceability  of  any such Transaction  Document  against
Seller or (C) the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement (other than consents, approvals and filings that have already been obtained or
made, as applicable, and the filing of certain financing statements in respect of certain security interests).

(xiii) Organizational Documents . Seller has delivered to Buyer certified copies of its organization documents, together with all amendments thereto, if any.

(xiv) No  Encumbrances .  There  are (i)  no  outstanding  rights,  options,  warrants  or  agreements  on  the  part  of  Seller  for  a  purchase,  sale  or  issuance,  in
connection with the Purchased Assets, (ii) no agreements on the part of Seller to issue, sell or distribute the Purchased Assets, and (iii) no obligations on the part of
Seller  (contingent  or  otherwise)  to  purchase,  redeem  or  otherwise  acquire  any  securities  or  interest  therein,  except,  in  each  of  the  foregoing  instances,  as
contemplated by the Transaction Documents.

(xv) Federal Regulations . Seller is not (A) required to register as an “investment company,” or a company “controlled by an investment company,” within the
meaning of the Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended (the “ Investment Company Act ”), or (B) a “holding company,” or a “subsidiary company of a
holding company,” or an “affiliate” of either a “holding company” or a “subsidiary company of a holding company,” as such terms are defined in the Public Utility
Holding Company Act of 1935, as amended.

(xvi) Taxes .  Seller  and  each  Affiliate  of  Seller  have timely  filed  all  required  federal  income  tax  returns  and  all  other  material  tax  returns,  domestic  and
foreign, required to be filed by them and have paid all Taxes (whether or not shown on a return), which have become due, except for Taxes that are being contested
in good faith by appropriate proceedings diligently conducted and for which appropriate reserves have been established in accordance with GAAP. Seller and each
Affiliate of Seller have satisfied all of their withholding tax obligations. No tax Liens have been filed against any assets of Seller or any Affiliate of Seller and no
claims are currently being asserted in writing against Seller or any Affiliate of Seller with respect to Taxes (except for liens and with respect to Taxes not yet due and
payable or liens or claims with respect to Taxes that are being contested in good faith and for which adequate reserves have been established in accordance with
GAAP).

(xvii) Judgments/Bankruptcy . Except as disclosed in writing to Buyer, there are no judgments against Seller unsatisfied of record or docketed in any court
located in the United States of America and no Act of Insolvency has ever occurred with respect to Seller.

(xviii) Solvency . Neither the Transaction Documents nor any Transaction thereunder are entered into in contemplation of insolvency or with intent to hinder,
delay  or  defraud  any  of  Seller’s  creditors.  The  transfer  of  the  Purchased  Assets  subject  hereto  and  the  obligation  to  repurchase  such  Purchased  Assets  is  not
undertaken with the intent to hinder,  delay or defraud any of Seller’s  creditors.  As of the Purchase Date,  Seller  is  not insolvent  within the meaning of 11 U.S.C.
Section 101(32) or any successor provision thereof and the transfer and sale of the
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Purchased Assets pursuant hereto and the obligation to repurchase such Purchased Asset (A) will  not cause the liabilities  of Seller  to exceed the assets of Seller,
(B) will not result in Seller having unreasonably small capital, and (C) will not result in debts that would be beyond Seller’s ability to pay as the same mature. Seller
received reasonably equivalent value in exchange for the transfer and sale of the Purchased Assets and the Purchased Items subject hereto. No petition in bankruptcy
has been filed against Seller in the last ten (10) years, and Seller has not in the last ten (10) years made an assignment for the benefit of creditors or taken advantage
of any debtors  relief  laws.  Seller  has only entered into agreements  on terms that  would be considered arm’s length and otherwise on terms consistent  with other
similar agreements with other similarly situated entities.

(xix) Use  of  Proceeds;  Margin  Regulations .  All  proceeds  of  each  Transaction  shall  be  used  by  Seller  for purposes  permitted  under  Seller’s  governing
documents, provided that no part of the proceeds of any Transaction will be used by Seller to purchase or carry any margin stock or to extend credit to others for the
purpose of purchasing or carrying any margin stock. Neither the entering into of any Transaction nor the use of any proceeds thereof will violate, or be inconsistent
with, any provision of Regulation T, U or X of the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System.

(xx) Full  and Accurate  Disclosure .  No information contained in  the Transaction Documents,  or  any written statement  furnished by or  on behalf  of  Seller
pursuant  to  the  terms  of  the  Transaction  Documents,  contains  any  untrue  statement  of  a  material  fact  or  omits  to  state  a  material  fact  necessary  to  make  the
statements contained herein or therein not misleading in light of the circumstances under or context in which they were made.

(xxi) Financial Information . All financial data concerning Seller and the Purchased Assets that has been delivered by or on behalf of Seller to Buyer is true,
complete and correct in all material respects. All financial data concerning Seller has been prepared fairly in accordance with GAAP. All financial data concerning
the Purchased Assets provided and prepared by Seller has been prepared in accordance with standard industry practices. Since the delivery of such data, except as
otherwise disclosed in writing to Buyer, there has been no change in the financial position of Seller or the Purchased Assets, or in the results of operations of Seller,
which change is reasonably likely to have a Material Adverse Effect on Seller.

(xxii) Hedging Transactions . As of the Purchase Date for any Purchased Asset that is subject to a Hedging Transaction, each such Hedging Transaction is in
full  force  and  effect  in  accordance  with  its  terms,  each  counterparty  thereto  is  an  Affiliated  Hedge  Counterparty  or  a  Qualified  Hedge  Counterparty,  and  no
“Termination  Event”, “Event  of  Default”,  “Potential  Event  of  Default”  or  any  similar  event,  however  denominated,  has  occurred  and  is  continuing  with  respect
thereto.

(xxiii) Intentionally Deleted .

(xxiv) Servicing Agreements . Seller has delivered to Buyer all Servicing Agreements pertaining to the Purchased Assets and to the Knowledge of Seller, as of
the date of this Agreement and as of the Purchase Date for the purchase of any Purchased Assets subject to a Servicing Agreement, each such Servicing Agreement
is in full force and effect in accordance with its terms and no default or event of default exists thereunder.
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(xxv) No Reliance .  Seller  has  made its  own independent decisions  to  enter  into  the Transaction Documents  and each Transaction and as  to  whether  such
Transaction  is  appropriate  and  proper  for  it  based  upon  its  own  judgment  and  upon  advice  from  such  advisors  (including  without  limitation,  legal  counsel and
accountants)  as it  has deemed necessary.  Seller  is  not relying upon any advice from Buyer as to any aspect  of the Transactions,  including without limitation,  the
legal, accounting or tax treatment of such Transactions.

(xxvi) Anti-Money Laundering, Anti-Corruption and Economic Sanctions .

(a) Seller is in compliance, in all material respects, with the (A) the Trading with the Enemy Act, as amended, and each of the foreign assets
control regulations of the United States Treasury Department (31 CFR, Subtitle B, Chapter V, as amended) and any other applicable enabling legislation or
executive order relating thereto, (B) the Uniting and Strengthening America by Providing Appropriate Tools Required to Intercept and Obstruct Terrorism
(USA PATRIOT Act of 2001), and (C) the United States Foreign Corrupt Practices Act of 1977, as amended, the UK Bribery Act of 2010, and any other
applicable  anti-bribery  laws  and  regulations.  No  part  of  the  proceeds  of  any  Transaction  will  be  used,  directly  or  indirectly,  for  any  payments  to  any
governmental official or employee, political party, official of a political party, candidate for political office, or anyone else acting in an official capacity, in
order  to  obtain,  retain  or  direct  business  or  obtain  any  improper  advantage,  in  violation  of  the  United  States  Foreign  Corrupt  Practices  Act  of  1977,  as
amended.

(b) Seller agrees that, from time to time upon the prior written request of Buyer, it shall (A) execute and deliver such further documents, provide
such additional information and reports and perform such other acts as Buyer may reasonably request in order to insure compliance with the provisions hereof
(including,  without  limitation,  compliance with the  USA Patriot  Act  of  2001 and to  fully  effectuate  the  purposes  of  this  Agreement  and (B)  provide  such
opinions of counsel concerning matters relating to this Agreement as Buyer may reasonably request; provided , however , that nothing in this Article 9(b)
(xxvi) shall  be  construed  as  requiring  Buyer  to  conduct  any  inquiry  or  decreasing  Seller’s  responsibility  for  its  statements,  representations,  warranties  or
covenants hereunder. In order to enable Buyer and its Affiliates to comply with any anti-money laundering program and related responsibilities including, but
not limited to, any obligations under the USA Patriot Act of 2001 and regulations thereunder, Seller on behalf of itself and its Affiliates makes the following
representations  and covenants  to  Buyer  and its  Affiliates,  that  neither  Seller,  nor,  any of  its  Affiliates,  is  a  Prohibited  Investor  and Seller  is  not  acting  on
behalf of or for the benefit of any Prohibited Investor. Seller agrees to promptly notify Buyer or a person appointed by Buyer to administer their anti-money
laundering program, if applicable, of any change in information affecting this representation and covenant.

(xxvii) Insider . Seller is not an “executive officer,” “director,” or “person who directly or indirectly or acting through or in concert with one or more persons
owns,  controls,  or  has  the  power  to  vote  more  than  10%  of  any  class  of  voting  securities”  (as  those  terms  are  defined  in  12  U.S.C.  §  375(b)  or  in regulations
promulgated pursuant  thereto)  of  Buyer,  of  a  bank holding company of which Buyer is  a  Subsidiary,  or  of  any Subsidiary,  of  a  bank holding company of which
Buyer is a Subsidiary, of any bank at which Buyer maintains a correspondent account or of any lender which maintains a correspondent account with Buyer.

 
53



(xxviii) Office of Foreign Assets Control . Seller warrants, represents and covenants that neither the Seller, any of its Affiliates or the Assets are or will be an
entity or Person that is or is owned or controlled by a Person that is the subject of any sanctions administered or enforced by the U.S. Department of Treasury’s
Office of Foreign Asset Control, the United Nations Security Council, the European Union or Her Majesty’s Treasury (collectively, “ Sanctions ”). Seller covenants
and agrees that, with respect to the Transactions under this Agreement, none of Seller or, to Seller’s Knowledge, any of its Affiliates will conduct any business, nor
engage  in  any  transaction,  Assets  or  dealings,  with  any  Person  who  is  the  subject  of  Sanctions. Seller  further  covenants  and  agrees  that  it  will  not,  directly  or
indirectly, use the proceeds of the offering, or lend, contribute or otherwise make available such proceeds to any subsidiary, joint venture partner or other Person to
fund or facilitate  any activities  or  business  of  or  with  any Person  or  in  any country  or  territory  that,  at  the  time of  such  funding or  facilitation,  is  the  subject  of
Sanctions.

(xxix) Notice  Address;  Jurisdiction  of  Organization .  On  the  date  of  this  Agreement,  Seller’s address  for  notices  is  as  specified  on Annex  I .  Seller’s
jurisdiction of organization is Delaware. The location where Seller keeps its books and records, including all computer tapes and records relating to the Collateral
and Purchased Items, is its notice address. Seller may change its address for notices and for the location of its books and records by giving Buyer written notice of
such change.

(xxx) Anti-Money Laundering Laws . Seller either (1) is entirely exempt from or (2) has otherwise fully complied with all applicable anti-money laundering
laws and regulations (collectively, the “ Anti-Money Laundering Laws ”), by (A) establishing an adequate anti-money laundering compliance program as required
by the Anti-Money Laundering Laws, (B) conducting the requisite due diligence in connection with the origination of each Purchased Asset for purposes of the Anti-
Money Laundering Laws, including with respect to the legitimacy of the related obligor (if applicable) and the origin of the assets used by such obligor to purchase
the property in question, and (C) maintaining sufficient information to identify the related obligor (if applicable) for purposes of the Anti-Money Laundering Laws.

(xxxi) Ownership . Seller is and shall remain at all times a wholly owned direct or indirect subsidiary of Guarantor.

ARTICLE 10.
NEGATIVE COVENANTS OF SELLER

On and as of the Closing Date, as of the date hereof and each Purchase Date and until this Agreement is no longer in force with respect to any Transaction,
Seller shall not without the prior written consent of Buyer:

(a) take any action that would directly or indirectly impair or adversely affect Buyer’s title to the Purchased Assets;

(b) transfer,  assign,  convey,  grant,  bargain,  sell,  set  over,  deliver  or  otherwise  dispose  of,  or  pledge  or  hypothecate,  directly  or  indirectly,  any  interest  in  the
Purchased Assets (or any of them) to any Person other than Buyer, or engage in repurchase transactions or similar transactions with respect to the Purchased Assets (or any
of them) with any Person other than Buyer, unless and until such Purchased Asset is repurchased by Seller in accordance with this Agreement;
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(c) modify in any material respect any Servicing Agreements to which it is a party, without the consent of Buyer in its discretion, not to be unreasonably withheld,
conditioned or delayed;

(d) create, incur or permit to exist any Lien in or on any of its property, assets, revenue, the Purchased Assets, the other Collateral or Purchased Items, whether now
owned or hereafter acquired, other than the Liens granted by Seller pursuant to Article 6 of this Agreement, the Security Deed and the Lien granted by Sponsor under the
Pledge and Security Agreement or unless and until such Purchased Asset relating to such Purchased Items or Collateral is repurchased by Seller in accordance with this
Agreement;

(e) except as otherwise expressly provided herein, enter into any transaction of merger or consolidation or amalgamation, or liquidate, wind up or dissolve itself (or
suffer any liquidation, winding up or dissolution), sell all or substantially all of its assets without the consent of Buyer in its sole discretion;

(f) consent or assent to any amendment or supplement to, or termination of,  any note, loan agreement,  mortgage or guarantee relating to the Purchased Assets or
other agreement or instrument relating to the Purchased Assets other than in accordance with Article 7(e) ;

(g)  permit  the  organizational  documents  or  organizational  structure  of  Seller  to  be  amended  without  the  prior  written  consent of  Buyer,  not  to  be  unreasonably
withheld, conditioned or delayed, other than special purpose entity provisions, for which such consent shall be in Buyer’s sole discretion;

(h) acquire or maintain any right or interest in any Purchased Asset or Underlying Mortgaged Property that is senior to, junior to or pari passu with the rights and
interests of Buyer therein under this Agreement and the other Transaction Documents unless such right or interest becomes a Purchased Asset hereunder;

(i) use any part of the proceeds of any Transaction hereunder for any purpose which violates, or would be inconsistent with, the provisions of Regulation T, U or X
of the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System;

(j)  enter  into  any  Hedging Transaction  with  respect  to  any  Purchased  Asset  with  any  entity  that  is  not  an  Affiliated  Hedge  Counterparty  or  a  Qualified  Hedge
Counterparty; or

(k) incur any Indebtedness other than pursuant to, and in accordance with, this Agreement and the other Transaction Documents.

ARTICLE 11.
AFFIRMATIVE COVENANTS OF SELLER

On and as of the Closing Date, as of the date hereof and each Purchase Date and until this Agreement is no longer in force with respect to any Transaction:

(a)  Seller  shall  promptly  notify  Buyer  of  any  material  adverse  change  (as determined  by  Seller  in  its  commercially  reasonable  judgment)  (i)  in  the  business
operations and/or financial condition of Seller, Pledgor or Guarantor; (ii) impacting any Purchased Asset, including, without limitation any adverse impact on maintaining
regulatory (including licensing) compliance with respect to any such Purchase Asset; provided , however , that the failure to deliver such a notice within ten (10) Business
Days of Seller’s Knowledge of such failure shall not give rise to a Default or Event of Default and nothing in this Article 11(a) shall relieve Seller of its other obligations
under this Agreement.
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(b) Seller shall provide Buyer with copies of such documents as Buyer may reasonably request evidencing the truthfulness of the representations set forth in Article
9 .

(c) Seller shall  (i)  defend the right,  title  and interest  of  Buyer in and to the Collateral  and Purchased Items against,  and take such other  action as is  necessary to
remove, the Liens,  security interests,  claims and demands of all  Persons (other than Liens created in favor of Buyer pursuant to the Transaction Documents) and (ii)  at
Buyer’s  reasonable  request,  take  all  action  necessary  to  ensure  that  Buyer  will  have  a  first  priority  security  interest  in  the  Purchased  Assets  subject  to any  of  the
Transactions in the event such Transactions are recharacterized as secured financings.

(d) Seller shall notify Buyer and the Depository of the occurrence of any Default or Event of Default with respect to Seller of which Seller has Knowledge as soon as
possible but in no event later than the immediately succeeding Business Day after obtaining Knowledge of such event.

(e) Seller shall cause the special servicer rating of the special servicer with respect to all mortgage loans underlying Purchased Assets to be no lower than “average”
by S&P to the extent Seller controls or is entitled to control the selection of the special servicer. In the event the special servicer rating with respect to any Person acting as
special  servicer  for  any  mortgage  loans  underlying  Purchased  Assets  shall  be  below  “average”  by  S&P,  or  if  an  Act  of  Insolvency  occurs  with  respect  to  Seller  or
Guarantor,  Buyer shall  be entitled to transfer  special  servicing with respect  to all  Purchased Assets  to an entity satisfactory  to Buyer,  to the extent  Seller  controls  or  is
entitled to control the selection of the special servicer.

(f) Seller shall promptly (and in any event not later than two (2) Business Days following receipt) deliver to Buyer (i) any notice of the occurrence of an event of
default under or report received by Seller pursuant to the Purchased Asset Documents; (ii) any notice of transfer of servicing under the Purchased Asset Documents and
(iii) any other information with respect to the Purchased Assets that may be requested by Buyer from time to time and within Seller’s possession or control or which is
otherwise reasonably obtainable by Seller.

(g) Seller will permit Buyer or its designated representative to inspect Seller’s non-privileged records with respect to the Collateral and the Purchased Items and the
conduct and operation of its business related thereto upon reasonable prior written notice from Buyer or its designated representative, at such reasonable times and with
reasonable  frequency (not  to exceed twice  per  calendar  year  unless  an  Event  of  Default  has  occurred  and is  continuing),  and to  make copies  of  extracts  of  any and all
thereof, subject to the terms of any confidentiality agreement between Buyer and Seller. Buyer shall act in a commercially reasonable manner in requesting and conducting
any inspection relating to the conduct and operation of Seller’s business.

(h) If Seller shall at any time become entitled to receive or shall receive any rights, whether in addition to, in substitution of, as a conversion of, or in exchange for a
Purchased Asset, or otherwise in respect thereof, Seller shall accept the same as Buyer’s agent, hold the same in trust for Buyer and deliver the same forthwith to Buyer (or
the  Custodian,  as appropriate)  in  the  exact  form received,  duly  endorsed  by  Seller  to  Buyer,  if  required,  together  with  all  related  and  necessary  duly  executed  transfer
documents to be held by Buyer hereunder as additional collateral security for the Transactions. If any sums of money or property so paid or distributed in respect of the
Purchased Assets  shall  be  received  by Seller,  Seller  shall,  until  such money or  property  is  paid  or  delivered  to  Buyer,  hold  such money or  property  in  trust  for  Buyer,
segregated from other funds of Seller, as additional collateral security for the Transactions.
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(i) At any time from time to time upon the reasonable request of Buyer, at the sole expense of Seller, Seller will promptly and duly execute and deliver such further
instruments and documents and take such further actions as Buyer may reasonably request for the purposes of obtaining or preserving the full benefits of this Agreement
including the perfected, first priority security interest required hereunder, (ii) ensure that such security interest remains fully perfected at all times and remains at all times
first in priority as against all other creditors of such Seller (whether or not existing as of the Closing Date, any Purchase Date or in the future) and (iii) obtain or preserve
the rights and powers herein granted (including, among other things, filing such UCC financing statements as Buyer may reasonably request). If any amount payable under
or in connection with any of the Collateral or Purchased Items shall be or become evidenced by any promissory note, other instrument or certificated security, such note,
instrument or certificated security shall be immediately delivered to Buyer, duly endorsed in a manner satisfactory to Buyer, to be itself held as a Purchased Item and/or
Collateral, as applicable, pursuant to this Agreement, and the documents delivered in connection herewith.

(j) Seller shall provide, or cause to be provided, to Buyer the following financial and reporting information:

(i)  Within 15 calendar  days after  each month-end, a monthly reporting package substantially in the form of Exhibit III-A attached hereto (the “ Monthly
Reporting Package ”);

(ii) Within 45 calendar days after the last day of each of the first three fiscal quarters in any fiscal year, a quarterly reporting package substantially in the form
of Exhibit III-B attached hereto (the “ Quarterly Reporting Package ”);

(iii) Within 90 calendar days after the last day of its fiscal year, an annual reporting package substantially in the form of Exhibit III-C attached hereto (the “
Annual Reporting Package ”); and

(iv) Upon Buyer’s request:

(A) a listing of any material changes in Hedging Transactions with Qualified Hedge Counterparties, the names of the Qualified Hedge Counterparties
and the material terms of such Hedging Transactions, delivered within 10 calendar days after Buyer’s request; and

(B) copies of Seller’s and Guarantor’s Federal Income Tax returns, if any, delivered within 30 calendar days after the earlier of (A) filing or (B) the last
filing extension period.

To the extent Seller fails to deliver any of the financial and reporting information required under this clause (j) ,  upon becoming aware of any such
deficiency, either by notice from Buyer or otherwise, Seller shall have up to ten (10) Business Days to correct such deficiencies.
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(k) Seller shall  make a representative available to Buyer every month for attendance at a telephone conference,  the date of which to be mutually agreed upon by
Buyer and Seller,  regarding the status of each Purchased Asset,  Seller’s compliance with the requirements of Articles 11 and 12 , and any other matters  relating to the
Transaction Documents or Transactions that Buyer wishes to discuss with Seller.

(l) Seller shall and shall cause Guarantor to at all times (i) comply with all material contractual obligations, (ii) comply in all respects with all laws, ordinances, rules,
regulations and orders (including, without limitation, Environmental Laws) of any Governmental Authority or any other federal, state, municipal or other public authority
having jurisdiction over Seller and Guarantor or any of its assets and Seller and Guarantor shall do or cause to be done all things necessary to preserve and maintain in full
force and effect its legal existence, and all licenses material to its business and (iii) maintain and preserve its legal existence and all of its material rights, privileges, licenses
and  franchises  necessary  for the  operation  of  its  business  (including,  without  limitation,  preservation  of  all  lending  licenses  held  by  Seller  and  of  Seller’s  status  as  a
“qualified transferee” (however denominated) under all documents which govern the Purchased Assets).

(m)  Seller  shall  or  shall  cause  Guarantor  to  at  all  times  keep  proper  books  of  records  and  accounts  in  which full,  true  and  correct  entries  shall  be  made  of  its
transactions fairly in accordance with GAAP, and set aside on its books from its earnings for each fiscal year all such proper reserves in accordance with GAAP.

(n) Seller shall observe, perform and satisfy all the terms, provisions, covenants and conditions required to be observed, performed or satisfied by it, and shall pay
when due all costs, fees and expenses required to be paid by it, including Tax liabilities, under the Transaction Documents. Seller shall pay and discharge all taxes, levies,
liens and other charges on its assets and on the Collateral that, in each case, in any manner would create any lien or charge upon the Collateral, other than any such taxes
that are being appropriately contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings diligently conducted and with respect to which adequate reserves have been provided in
accordance with GAAP; provided such contest operates to suspend collection of the contested tax and enforcement of a lien.

(o) Seller shall advise Buyer in writing of the opening of any new chief executive office or the closing of any such office of Seller or Guarantor and of any change in
Seller’s or Guarantor’s name or the places where the books and records pertaining to the Purchased Assets are held not less than fifteen (15) Business Days prior to taking
any such action.

(p) Seller will maintain records with respect to the Collateral and Purchased Items and the conduct and operation of its business with no less a degree of prudence
than  if  the  Collateral  and  Purchased  Items  were  held  by  Seller  for  its  own  account  and  will  furnish  Buyer,  upon  reasonable  request  by  Buyer  or  its  designated
representative, with reasonable information obtainable by Seller with respect to the Collateral and Purchased Items and the conduct and operation of its business.

(q) Seller  shall  provide Buyer and its  Affiliates  with reasonable access  plus any such additional  reports  as Buyer may reasonably request.  Upon reasonable prior
notice (unless a monetary Default, a material non-monetary Default or an Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing, in which case, no prior notice shall be
required), during normal business hours, Seller shall allow Buyer to (i) review any operating statements, occupancy status and other property level information with respect
to the underlying real estate directly or indirectly securing or supporting the Purchased Assets that either is in Seller’s possession or is available to Seller, (ii) examine, copy
(at  Buyer’s  expense)  and  make  extracts  from its  books  and  records,  to  inspect  any  of  its  Properties,  and  (iii)  discuss  Seller’s  business  and  affairs  with  its  Responsible
Officers.
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(r) Seller shall enter into Hedging Transactions with respect to each of the Hedge-Required Assets to the extent necessary to hedge interest rate risk associated with
the Purchase Price on such Hedge-Required Assets, in a manner reasonably acceptable to Buyer, to the extent that such Hedging Transactions will not give rise to non-
qualifying REIT income under section 856 of the Code.

(s) Seller shall take all such steps as Buyer deems necessary to perfect the security interest granted pursuant to Article 6 in the Hedging Transactions, shall take such
action as shall be necessary or advisable to preserve and protect Seller’s interest under all such Hedging Transactions (including, without limitation, requiring the posting of
any required  additional  collateral  thereunder,  and  hereby  authorizes  Buyer  to  take  any  such action  that  Seller  fails  to  take  after  demand therefor  by Buyer.  Seller  shall
provide  the  Custodian and Acceptable  Attorney with  copies  of  all  documentation relating  to  Hedging Transactions  with Qualified  Hedge Counterparties  promptly  after
entering  into  same.  All  Hedging  Transactions,  if  any,  entered  into  by  Seller  with  Buyer  or  any  of  its Affiliates  in  respect  of  any  Purchased  Asset  shall  be  terminated
contemporaneously with the repurchase of such Purchased Asset on the Repurchase Date therefor.

(t) Seller shall:

(i) continue to engage in business of the same general type as now conducted by it or otherwise as reasonably approved by Buyer prior to the date hereof and
maintain  and  preserve  its  legal  existence  and  all  of  its  material  rights,  privileges,  licenses  and  franchises  necessary  for  the  operation  of  its  business  (including,
without limitation, preservation of all lending licenses held by Seller and of Seller’s status as a “qualified transferee” (however denominated) under all documents
which govern the Purchased Assets);

(ii)  comply  with  all  contractual  obligations  and  with  the  requirements  of  all  applicable  laws,  rules, regulations  and  orders  of  Governmental  Authorities
(including,  without  limitation,  all  Environmental  Laws)  if  failure  to  comply  with  such  requirements  would  be  reasonably  likely  (either  individually  or  in  the
aggregate) to have a Material Adverse Effect;

(iii) keep adequate records and books of account, in which complete entries will be made in accordance with GAAP consistently applied;

(iv)  not  (a)  cause  or  permit  any  change  to  be  made  in  its name,  organizational  identification  number,  identity  or  corporate  structure  or  (b)  change  its
jurisdiction of organization,  unless it  shall  have provided Buyer thirty (30) calendar  days prior written notice of such change and shall  have first taken all action
required by Buyer for the purpose of perfecting or protecting the lien and security interest of Buyer established hereunder;

(v) pay and discharge all Taxes imposed on it or on its income or profits or on any of its Property prior to the date on which penalties attach thereto, except for
any such Tax the payment of which is being contested in good faith and by proper proceedings and against which adequate reserves are being maintained;

(vi) permit Affiliates of Buyer, upon reasonable prior notice (unless a monetary Default, a material non-monetary Default or an Event of Default shall have
occurred and be continuing, in which case, no prior notice shall be required), during normal business hours, to examine, copy and make extracts from its books and
records, to inspect any of its Properties, and to discuss its business and affairs with its Responsible Officers, all to the extent reasonably requested by Buyer; and
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(vii) not cause or permit any Change of Control without Buyer’s prior written consent.

(u) Seller shall cause each servicer of a Purchased Asset to provide to Buyer and to the Custodian via electronic transmission, promptly upon request by Buyer a
Servicing Tape for the quarter (or any portion thereof) prior to the date of Buyer’s request .

(v) Seller has not and will not, except in connection with the obligations contemplated under the Transaction Documents:

(i) engage in any business or activity other than the entering into and performing its obligations under the Transaction Documents, and activities incidental
thereto;

(ii) acquire or own any assets other than (A) the Purchased Assets, (B) loans and other assets being assessed by Buyer as a potential Purchased Asset, and
(C) such incidental personal property related to each of the foregoing;

(iii) merge into or consolidate with any Person, or dissolve, terminate, liquidate in whole or in part, transfer or otherwise dispose of all or substantially all of
its assets or change its legal structure;

(iv)  (A) fail  to observe all  organizational  formalities,  or  fail  to preserve its  existence as an entity duly organized,  validly existing and in good standing (if
applicable) under the applicable laws of the jurisdiction of its organization or formation, or (B) amend, modify, terminate or fail to comply with the provisions of its
organizational documents, in each case without the prior written consent of Buyer;

(v) own any subsidiary, or make any investment in, any Person;

(vi)  commingle  its  assets  with  the  assets  of  any  other  Person  (excluding  any consolidation  of  its  financials  with  those  of  an  Affiliate  in  accordance  with
GAAP), or permit any Affiliate or constituent party independent access to its bank accounts;

(vii)  incur  any  debt,  secured  or  unsecured,  direct  or  contingent  (including  guaranteeing  any  obligation),  other than  the  debt  incurred  pursuant  to  this
Agreement or any other Transaction Document and unsecured trade debt in an unpaid amount less than $100,000;

(viii)  fail  to  maintain  its  records,  books of  account,  bank accounts,  financial  statements,  accounting records and other entity documents separate  and apart
from those of any other Person; except that Seller’s financial position, assets, liabilities, net worth and operating results may be included in the consolidated financial
statements of an Affiliate, except, in each instance, to the extent permitted under GAAP;

(ix)  except  for  capital contributions  or  capital  distributions  permitted  under  the  terms  and  conditions  of  Seller’s  organizational  documents  and  properly
reflected  on  its  books  and  records,  enter  into  any  transaction,  contract  or  agreement  with  any  general  partner, member,  shareholder,  principal,  guarantor  of  the
obligations of Seller, or any Affiliate of the foregoing, except upon terms and conditions that are intrinsically fair, commercially reasonable and substantially similar
to those that would be available on an arm’s-length basis with unaffiliated third parties;
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(x) maintain its assets in such a manner that it will be costly or difficult to segregate, ascertain or identify its individual assets from those of any other Person;

(xi)  assume or guaranty the debts  of any other Person,  hold itself  out  to be responsible  for the debts of any other Person, or otherwise pledge its assets to
secure the obligations of any other Person or hold out its credit or assets as being available to satisfy the obligations of any other Person, except as required pursuant
to Section 28(m) hereof;

(xii) except in connection with a Purchased Asset or a loan or asset being assessed by Buyer as a potential Purchased Asset, make any loans or advances to
any Person, or own any stock or securities of, any Person, except as a result of the joint and several nature of the obligations of such Person as required pursuant to
Section 28(m) hereof;

(xiii) fail to (A) file its own tax returns separate from those of any other Person, except to the extent Seller is treated as a “disregarded entity” for tax purposes
and  is  not  required  to  file  separate  tax  returns  under  applicable  Legal  Requirements,  and  (B)  pay  any  taxes required  to  be  paid  under  applicable  law;  provided,
however, that Seller shall not have any obligation to reimburse its equity holders or their Affiliates for any taxes that such equity holders or their Affiliates may incur
as a result of any profits or losses of Seller;

(xiv) fail to (A) hold itself out to the public as a legal entity separate and distinct from any other Person, (B) conduct its business solely in its own name or
(C) correct any misunderstanding of which Seller has Knowledge regarding its separate identity;

(xv) fail to maintain adequate capital for the normal obligations reasonably foreseeable in a business of its size and character and in light of its contemplated
business operations, provided that the foregoing shall not require any member, partner or shareholder of Seller to make any additional capital contributions to Seller;

(xvi) if it is a partnership or limited liability company, without the unanimous written consent of all of its partners or members, as applicable, and the written
consent of one hundred percent (100%) of all directors or managers of Seller, including, without limitation, each Independent Director, take any material action or
any action that might cause such entity to become insolvent;

(xvii) fail to allocate shared expenses (including, without limitation, shared office space and services performed by an employee of an Affiliate) among the
Persons sharing such expenses and to use separate stationery, invoices and checks bearing its own name;

(xviii)  fail  to  remain  solvent  or  pay  its  own  liabilities  only  from  its  own  funds;  provided  that  the  foregoing shall  not  require  any  member,  partner  or
shareholder of Seller to make any additional capital contributions to Seller;

(xix) acquire obligations or securities of its partners, members, shareholders or other Affiliates, as applicable, except as required pursuant to Section 28(m)
hereof;
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(xx) have any employees, but shall be permitted to utilize employees of its Affiliates;

(xxi) fail to maintain and use separate stationery, invoices and checks bearing its own name;

(xxii) have any of its obligations guaranteed by an Affiliate, other than Guarantor, except as required pursuant to Section 28(m) hereof;

(xxiii) identify itself as a department or division of any other Person;

(xxiv) acquire obligations or securities of its members or any Affiliates, except as required pursuant to Section 28(m) hereof; or

(xxv)  except  in connection  with  the  Purchased  Assets  or  a  loan or  asset  being assessed  by Buyer  as  a  potential  Purchased Asset,  buy or  hold  evidence  of
indebtedness issued by any other Person (other than cash or investment-grade securities).

(w) With respect to each Eligible Asset to be purchased hereunder that is an Eligible Asset, Seller shall notify Buyer in writing of the creation of any right or interest
in such Eligible Asset or related mortgaged property that is senior to or pari
passu
with the rights and interests that are to be transferred to Buyer under this Agreement and
the other Transaction Documents, and whether any such interest will be held or obtained by Seller or an Affiliate of Seller.

(x) Seller shall obtain customary estoppels and agreements reasonably acceptable to Buyer for each Asset that is subject to a ground lease.

(y)  Seller  shall  be  solely  responsible  for  the  fees  and  expenses  of  the  Custodian  and  Acceptable  Attorney,  Depository  and  each servicer  (including,  without
limitation, the Primary Servicer) of any or all of the Purchased Assets.

(z) By the date that is forty-five (45) calendar days following each anniversary of the Purchase Date with respect to each Purchased Asset, Seller shall, at its sole cost
and  expense,  procure  and  deliver  an  updated  Appraisal  or  Approved  Valuation,  as  applicable, relating  to  each  such  Purchased  Asset  in  each  case  prepared  by  an
Independent Appraiser or Approved Valuer, as applicable, and dated within ninety (90) days of the date on which it is delivered by Seller to Buyer.

ARTICLE 12.
EVENTS OF DEFAULT; REMEDIES

(a) Each of the following events shall constitute an “ Event of Default ” under this Agreement:

(i) Seller or Guarantor shall fail to repurchase (A) Purchased Assets upon the applicable Repurchase Date or (B) an Ineligible Asset (as hereunder defined) in
accordance with Article 12(c) ;

(ii) Buyer shall fail to receive on any Remittance Date the accreted value of the Price Differential (less any amount of such Price Differential previously paid
by Seller to Buyer) (including, without limitation, in the event the Income paid or distributed on or in respect of the
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Purchased Assets is insufficient to make such payment and Seller does not make such payment or cause such payment to be made), except that such failure shall not
be an Event of Default if sufficient Income, including Principal Proceeds which would otherwise be remitted to Buyer pursuant to Article 5 of this Agreement is on
deposit  in the Depository Account but the Depository fails  to remit  such funds to Buyer,  so long as Seller  causes such funds to be remitted to Buyer within two
(2) Business Days of such failure;

(iii) Seller or Guarantor shall fail to cure any Margin Deficit in accordance with Article 4 of this Agreement;

(iv) Seller or Guarantor shall fail  to make any payment not otherwise addressed under this Article 12(a) owing to Buyer that has become due, whether by
acceleration  or  otherwise  under  the  terms  of  this  Agreement  or  the  terms  of  the  Pledge  and  Security  Agreement,  or  the  Guarantee  or  any  other  Transaction
Document, which failure is not remedied within three (3) Business Days of notice thereof;

(v) Seller shall default in the observance or performance of its obligation in any agreement contained in Article 10 of this Agreement and, such default shall
not be cured within five (5) Business Days after notice by Buyer to Seller thereof;

(vi) an Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing under any Parallel Repurchase Facility;

(vii) an Act of Insolvency occurs with respect to Seller or Guarantor;

(viii) any of the Persons included within the definition of Knowledge as set forth in Article 2 shall admit to any Person in writing of Seller’s or Guarantor’s
inability to, or intention not to, perform any of its obligations hereunder;

(ix) the Depository Agreement, the Pledge and Security Agreement, the Parent Guaranty and Indemnity or any other Transaction Document or a replacement
therefor acceptable to Buyer shall for whatever reason be terminated or cease to be in full force and effect, or the enforceability thereof shall be contested by Seller,
Guarantor or any counter-party thereto, as the case may be;

(x)  Seller  or  Guarantor  shall  be in default  under  (i)  any Indebtedness of  Seller  or  Guarantor,  as  applicable,  which default  (1)  involves  the  failure  to  pay a
matured  obligation  in  excess  of  $100,000,  with  respect  to  Seller  or  $25,000,000,  with  respect  to  Guarantor  or  (2)  permits  the  acceleration  of  the maturity  of
obligations by any other party to or beneficiary with respect to such Indebtedness, if the aggregate amount of the Indebtedness in respect of which such default or
defaults shall have occurred is at least $100,000, with respect to Seller or $25,000,000, with respect to Guarantor; or (ii) any other material contract to which Seller
or Guarantor is a party which default (1) involves the failure to pay a matured obligation or (2) permits the acceleration of the maturity of obligations by any other
party to or beneficiary of such contract if the aggregate amount of such obligations is $100,000, with respect to Seller or $25,000,000, with respect to Guarantor;

 
63



(xi) (A) Seller or an ERISA Affiliate shall engage in any “prohibited transaction” (as defined in Section 406 of ERISA or Section 4975 of the Code) involving
any Plan that is not exempt from such Sections of ERISA and the Code, (B) any material “accumulated funding deficiency” (as defined in Section 302 of ERISA),
whether or not waived, shall exist with respect to any Plan or any Lien in favor of the Pension Benefit Guaranty Corporation or a Plan shall arise on the assets of
Seller or any ERISA Affiliate, (C) a Reportable Event (as referenced in Section 4043(b)(3) of ERISA) shall occur with respect to, or proceedings shall commence to
have  a  trustee  appointed,  or  a  trustee  shall  be  appointed,  to  administer  or  to  terminate,  any Plan,  which  Reportable  Event  (as  so  defined)  or  commencement  of
proceedings or appointment of a trustee is, in the reasonable opinion of Buyer, likely to result in the termination of such Plan for purposes of Title IV of ERISA,
(D) any Plan shall terminate for purposes of Title IV of ERISA, (E) Seller or any ERISA Affiliate shall, or in the reasonable opinion of Buyer is likely to, incur any
liability in connection with a withdrawal from, or the insolvency or reorganization of, a Multiemployer Plan or (F) any other event or condition shall occur or exist
with respect to a Plan; and in each case in clauses (A)  through (F)  above, such event or condition, together with all other such events or conditions, if any, could
reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect;

(xii) either (A) the Transaction Documents shall for any reason not cause, or shall cease to cause, Buyer to be the owner free of any adverse claim of any of
the Purchased Assets, and such condition is not cured by Seller within five (5) Business Days after notice thereof from Buyer to Seller or after Seller otherwise has
Knowledge thereof, or (B) if a Transaction is recharacterized as a secured financing, and the Transaction Documents with respect to any Transaction shall for any
reason cease to create and maintain a valid first priority security interest in favor of Buyer in any of the Purchased Assets;

(xiii) an “ Event of Default ,” “ Termination Event ,” “ Potential Event of Default ” or other default or breach, however defined therein, occurs under any
Hedging  Transaction  on  the  part  of  Seller,  or  the  counterparty  to  Seller  on  any  such  Hedging  Transaction  with  a  Qualified Hedge  Counterparty  ceases  to  be  a
Qualified Hedge Counterparty, that is otherwise not cured within any applicable cure period thereunder after notice thereof from an Affiliated Hedge Counterparty or
Qualified Hedge Counterparty to Seller;

(xiv)  any  governmental,  regulatory,  or  self-regulatory  authority  shall  have  taken  any  action  to  remove,  limit, restrict,  suspend  or  terminate  the  rights,
privileges, or operations of Seller or Guarantor, which suspension or termination has a Material Adverse Effect in the determination of Buyer;

(xv) any representation (other than representations and warranties of Seller set forth on Exhibit V , Article 9(b)(x)(C) or MTM Representations) made by
Seller  to  Buyer shall  have been incorrect  or  untrue in  any respect  when made or  repeated or  deemed to have been made or  repeated and,  to  the extent  that  such
incorrect or untrue representation is capable of being cured by Seller, such incorrect or untrue representation is not cured by Seller within five (5) Business Days
after notification from Buyer or after Seller otherwise has Knowledge thereof;

(xvi) a final non appealable judgment by any court of competent jurisdiction for the payment of money (a) rendered against Seller in an amount greater than
$100,000 or (b) rendered against Guarantor in an amount greater than $25,000,000, and remained undischarged or unpaid for a period of ten (10) Business Days,
unless such judgment is effectively stayed by fully bonding over or other means acceptable to Buyer;
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(xvii)  if  Seller  shall  breach or  fail  to  perform any of  the covenants  contained in  this  Agreement,  other  than those specifically  otherwise  referred  to  in  this
Article 12 , and for all breaches other than the failure to transfer Income from a Collection Account to the Depository Account on a timely basis in accordance with
the penultimate sentence of Article 5(b) , provided , however , such breach or failure to perform shall not be an Event of Default if, to the extent any such covenant
is capable of being cured by Seller, such breach or failure to perform is cured by Seller no later than five (5) Business Days after notification from Buyer or after
Seller otherwise has Knowledge thereof, provided , further , if any covenant contained in this agreement provides Seller with a period of time to cure, correct or
remedy any breach or failure to perform such covenant, the five (5) Business Day cure period provided in this clause (xvii)  shall not modify, amend or increase such
period of time provided therein;

(xviii) the Parent Guaranty and Indemnity or a replacement therefor acceptable to Buyer shall for whatever reason be terminated or cease to be in full force
and effect, or the enforceability thereof shall be contested by Guarantor, Seller or any Affiliate of either such party; and

(xix)  the  breach  by  Guarantor  of  any  term,  covenant  (financial  or  otherwise)  or  condition  set  forth  in  the Parent  Guaranty  and  Indemnity  or  of  any
representation,  warranty,  certification  or  covenant  made  or  deemed  made  in  the  Parent  Guaranty  and  Indemnity  by  Guarantor  or  if  any  certificate  furnished  by
Guarantor to Buyer pursuant to the provisions hereof or thereof or any information with respect to the Purchased Assets furnished in writing on behalf of Guarantor
shall  prove to  have been false  or  misleading in  any respect  as  of  the time made or  furnished; provided , however , that solely with respect  to  any non-monetary
breach under the Parent Guaranty and Indemnity, such breach shall not constitute an Event of Default if Guarantor cures such breach within the cure period set forth
in  the  Parent  Guaranty  and Indemnity,  and if  no such cure  period exists,  within  five  (5)  Business  Days following delivery  of  notice  of  such breach by Buyer  to
Guarantor;

(b) After the occurrence and during the continuance of an Event of Default the Buyer shall have no obligation to enter into any further Transactions hereunder and,
Seller hereby appoints Buyer as attorney in fact of Seller for the purpose of carrying out the provisions of this Agreement and taking any action and executing or endorsing
any instruments that Buyer may deem necessary or advisable to accomplish the purposes hereof, which appointment as attorney in fact is irrevocable and coupled with an
interest. If an Event of Default shall occur and be continuing with respect to Seller, the following rights and remedies shall be available to Buyer:

(i) At the option of Buyer, exercised by written notice to Seller (which option shall be deemed to have been exercised, even if no notice is given, immediately
upon the occurrence of an Act of Insolvency with respect to Seller or Guarantor),  the Repurchase Date for each Transaction hereunder shall,  if it  has not already
occurred,  be  deemed  immediately  to  occur  (the  date  on  which  such  option  is  exercised  or  deemed  to  have  been  exercised  being  referred  to  hereinafter  as  the  “
Accelerated Repurchase Date ”).

(ii) If Buyer exercises or is deemed to have exercised the option referred to in Article 12(b)(i) of this Agreement:
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(A)  Seller’s  obligations  hereunder  to  repurchase  all Purchased  Assets  shall  become  immediately  due  and  payable  on  and  as  of  the  Accelerated
Repurchase Date without presentment or demand of any kind, which are hereby expressly waived; and

(B) to the extent  permitted by applicable  law, the Repurchase Price with respect  to  each Transaction (determined as of the Accelerated Repurchase
Date) shall be increased by the aggregate amount obtained by daily application of, on a 360-day-per-year basis for the actual number of days during the period
from and including the Accelerated Repurchase Date to but excluding the date of payment of the Repurchase Price (as so increased), (x) the Pricing Rate for
such Transaction multiplied by (y) the Repurchase Price for such Transaction (decreased by (I) any amounts actually remitted to Buyer by the Depository or
Seller from time to time pursuant to Article 5 of this Agreement and applied to such Repurchase Price, and (II) any amounts applied to the Repurchase Price
pursuant to Article 12(b)(iii) of this Agreement).

(iii) Upon the occurrence and during the continuance of an Event of Default with respect to Seller, Buyer may (A) immediately sell, at a public or private sale
in a commercially reasonable manner and at such price or prices as Buyer may deem satisfactory any or all of the Purchased Assets, and/or (B) in its sole discretion
elect,  in lieu of selling all or a portion of such Purchased Assets, to give Seller credit  for such Purchased Assets in an amount equal to the Market Value of such
Purchased  Assets  against  the  aggregate  unpaid  Repurchase  Price  for  such  Purchased Assets  and  any  other  amounts  owing  by  Seller  under  the  Transaction
Documents.  The proceeds  of  any disposition of  Purchased Assets  effected  pursuant  to  this Article 12(b)(iii) shall  be applied,  (v)  first,  to the costs  and expenses
incurred  by  Buyer  in  connection  with  Seller’s  default,  including  without  limitation,  all  costs  of  collection  associated  with  the  interpretation  and  enforcement  of
Buyer’s rights and remedies under this Agreement and all of the other Transaction Documents; (w)  second
, to actual, out-of-pocket damages incurred by Buyer in
connection with Seller’s default, (x)  third
, to the Repurchase Price; (y)  fourth
, to any Breakage Costs; and (z)  fifth
, to return any excess to Seller.

(iv) The parties recognize that it may not be possible to purchase or sell all of the Purchased Assets on a particular Business Day, or in a transaction with the
same purchaser, or in the same manner because the market for such Purchased Assets may not be liquid. In view of the nature of the Purchased Assets, the parties
agree  that  liquidation  of  a  Transaction  or  the  Purchased Assets  does  not  require  a  public  purchase  or  sale  and that  a  good faith  private  purchase  or  sale  shall  be
deemed  to  have  been  made  in  a  commercially  reasonable manner.  Accordingly,  Buyer  may  elect,  in  its  sole  discretion,  the  time  and  manner  of  liquidating  any
Purchased Assets, and nothing contained herein shall (A) obligate Buyer to liquidate any Purchased Assets on the occurrence and during the continuance of an Event
of Default or to liquidate all of the Purchased Assets in the same manner or on the same Business Day or (B) constitute a waiver of any right or remedy of Buyer.

(v)  Seller  shall  be  liable  to  Buyer  and  its  Affiliates  and  shall  indemnify  Buyer  and  its  Affiliates  for (A)  the  amount  (including  in  connection  with  the
enforcement of this Agreement) of all out-of-pocket losses, costs and expenses, including reasonable legal fees and expenses of outside counsel, actually incurred by
Buyer in connection with or as a consequence of an Event of Default with respect to Seller and (B) all documented actual costs incurred by Buyer in connection with
Hedging  Transactions  in  the  event  that  Seller,  from  and  after  an  Event  of  Default,  takes  any  action  to impede  or  otherwise  affect  Buyer’s  remedies  under  this
Agreement.
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(vi) Buyer shall have, in addition to its rights and remedies under the Transaction Documents, all of the rights and remedies provided by applicable federal,
state, foreign (where relevant), and local laws (including, without limitation, if the Transactions are recharacterized as secured financings, the rights and remedies of
a secured party under the UCC of the State of New York, to the extent that the UCC is applicable, and the right to offset any mutual debt and claim), in equity, and
under  any  other  agreement  between  Buyer  and  Seller.  Without  limiting the  generality  of  the  foregoing,  Buyer  shall  be  entitled  to  set  off  the  proceeds  of  the
liquidation of the Purchased Assets against all of Seller’s obligations to Buyer under this Agreement, without prejudice to Buyer’s right to recover any deficiency.

(vii) Subject to the applicable notice and cure periods set forth herein, Buyer may exercise any or all of the remedies available to Buyer immediately upon the
occurrence  of  an  Event  of  Default  with  respect  to  Seller  and  at  any  time  during  the  continuance  thereof.  All  rights  and  remedies  arising  under  the  Transaction
Documents, as amended from time to time, are cumulative and not exclusive of any other rights or remedies that Buyer may have.

(viii) Buyer may enforce its rights and remedies hereunder without prior judicial process or hearing, and Seller hereby expressly waives any defenses Seller
might otherwise have to require Buyer to enforce its rights by judicial process. Seller also waives, to the extent permitted by law, any defense Seller might otherwise
have arising from the use of non-judicial process, disposition of any or all of the Purchased Assets, or from any other election of remedies. Seller recognizes that
non-judicial remedies are consistent with the usages of the trade, are responsive to commercial necessity and are the result of a bargain at arm’s length.

(c)  If  at  any time Buyer  determines  that  a  Purchased Asset  is  an  Ineligible Asset,  the  related  Transaction  shall  terminate  and an Early  Repurchase  Date  shall  be
deemed to occur with respect to such Purchased Asset. No later than (A) two (2) Business Days after receiving notice from Buyer that such Purchased Asset has become an
Ineligible Asset or (B) three (3) Business Days after Seller’s Knowledge that such Purchased Asset has become an Ineligible Asset and Seller’s notice of same to Buyer,
Seller shall repurchase the affected Purchased Asset and Seller shall pay the applicable Repurchase Price for such Purchased Asset to Buyer by depositing such amount in
immediately available funds at the direction of Buyer. For purposes hereof, the following factors, without limitation, shall render a Purchased Asset an “ Ineligible Asset ”:

(i) any Purchased Asset that at any time Buyer determines is not an Eligible Asset as a result of any representation, warranty or material information made or
provided by Seller or Guarantor being false or misleading at the time such representation or warranty was made or such material information was provided (other
than MTM Representations);

(ii) any Purchased Asset that has been released from the possession of the applicable Acceptable Attorney that issued an Undertaking Letter in connection
with the related Purchased Asset for a period in excess of five (5) Business Days without the consent of Buyer;

(iii)  any  Purchased  Asset  upon the  occurrence  of  any  Act  of  Insolvency  with  respect  to  any  co-participant  or any  other  Person  having  an  interest  in  such
Purchased  Asset  or  any  related  Underlying  Mortgaged  Property  that  is  senior  to,  or pari 
passu
with,  in  right  of  payment  or  priority  the  rights  of  Buyer  in  such
Purchased Asset
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(iv) loans for which Seller or an Affiliate of Seller is the security trustee for such loan;

(v) Seller’s failure to cure any deficiency noted in the Asset Schedule received from Custodian and Exception Report (as defined in the Custodial Agreement)
within five (5) calendar days of Buyer’s receipt of such Asset Schedule and Exception Report; or

(vi) any Purchased Asset which Buyer has determined the Market Value to be zero.

In addition to the foregoing, (x) with respect to any Purchased Asset that is Mezzanine Loan, such Purchased Asset shall be considered an Ineligible Asset to the
extent and for as long as the related Underlying Mortgage Loan is considered an Ineligible Asset and (y) with respect to any Purchased Asset where the related Mezzanine
Loan is also a Purchased Asset, such Purchased Asset shall be considered an Ineligible Asset to the extent and for as long as the related Mezzanine Loan is considered an
Ineligible Asset.

(d) Upon the occurrence of any of the events listed in clause (d)(i) through (d)(x) below, Buyer may, in addition to the factors set forth in the definition of Market
Value,  use,  in its  sole discretion,  the occurrence of such events  in its  determination of Market  Value (which Market  Value may be zero); provided , however , that the
occurrence of any of the events listed in clause (d)(i) through (d)(x) below by itself shall not cause the termination of the related Transaction:

(i) any Purchased Asset that is thirty (30) calendar days or more delinquent in the payment of principal, interest, fees or other amounts payable under the terms
of the related transaction documents;

(ii) any Purchased Asset has become a specially serviced loan (or the equivalent in the relevant jurisdiction) as defined in the applicable servicing agreement;

(iii) any Purchased Asset as to which a monetary default has occurred and is continuing;

(iv) any Purchased Asset as to which a non-monetary event of default shall have occurred and be continuing under any document included in the Purchased
Asset File for such Purchased Asset;

(v)  any  Purchased  Asset with  respect  to  which  there  has  been  an  extension,  amendment,  waiver,  termination,  rescission,  cancellation,  release  or  other
modification to the terms of, or any collateral, guaranty or indemnity for, or the exercise of any material right or remedy of a holder (including all lending, corporate
and voting rights, remedies, consents, approvals and waivers) of any related Purchased Asset Document that (A) has not been consented to by Buyer in writing and
(B) has an adverse effect on Buyer’s interest in such Purchased Asset;

(vi) any Purchased Asset for which Buyer is relying on an Appraisal or Approved Valuation, as applicable, the applicable Appraisal or Approved Valuation is
not dated within ninety (90) calendar days of the proposed financing date (or such other period as approved by Buyer in Buyer’s sole discretion);
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(vii) any Purchased Asset secured by properties that cease to have appropriate planning and/or zoning approval, required insurance or similar legal compliance
in the relevant jurisdiction;

(viii)  any failure by Seller  to deliver the complete Monthly Reporting Package described in Article 11(j) ,  and Seller is unable to obtain such information
necessary to complete the Monthly Reporting Package; provided , however , that prior to using such failure in Buyer’s determination of Market Value, Seller shall
have a period of ninety (90) calendar days from the date of delivery of the incomplete Monthly Reporting Package to provide any missing information; provided ,
further , however , that prior to using such failure in Buyer’s determination of Market Value, so long as Seller is diligently pursuing such missing information to the
reasonable satisfaction of Buyer, Seller shall have an additional thirty (30) calendar days (or such other time period as determined by Buyer in its sole discretion to
provide any missing information);

(ix) any Purchased Asset upon the occurrence of any Act of Insolvency with respect to the underlying obligor; or

(x) any MTM Representation made or provided by Seller or Guarantor is false or misleading at the time such MTM Representation was made with respect to
any Purchased Asset.

In addition to the foregoing, (x) with respect to any Purchased Asset that is Mezzanine Loan, to the extent any of the related events described in clause (d)(i) through
(d)(x) above has  occurred  with  respect  to  the  related  Underlying Mortgage  Loan,  Buyer  may determine  the  Market  Value  of  such Purchased  Asset  in  accordance  with
Article 12(d) and (y) with respect to any Purchased Asset where the related Mezzanine Loan is also a Purchased Asset, to the extent any of the related events described in
clause (d)(i) through (d)(x) above has occurred with respect to the related Mezzanine Loan, Buyer may determine the Market Value of such Purchased Asset in accordance
with Article 12(d) .  For the avoidance of  doubt,  nothing contained in Article 12(d) above shall  be construed as a limitation on other  factors  for  determining a Margin
Deficit hereunder.

ARTICLE 13.
SINGLE AGREEMENT

Buyer and Seller acknowledge that, and have entered hereinto and will enter into each Transaction hereunder in consideration of and in reliance upon the fact that,
all  Transactions hereunder constitute a single business and contractual  relationship and have been made in consideration of each other.  Accordingly,  each of Buyer and
Seller agrees (i) to perform all of its obligations in respect of each Transaction hereunder, and that a default in the performance of any such obligations shall constitute a
default by it in respect of all Transactions hereunder, (ii) that each of them shall be entitled to set off claims and apply property held by them in respect of any Transaction
against obligations owing to them in respect of any other Transactions hereunder and (iii) that payments, deliveries and other transfers made by either of them in respect of
any Transaction shall be deemed to have been made in consideration of payments, deliveries and other transfers in respect of any other Transactions hereunder, and the
obligations to make any such payments, deliveries and other transfers may be applied against each other and netted.
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ARTICLE 14.
RECORDING OF COMMUNICATIONS

EACH OF BUYER AND SELLER SHALL HAVE THE RIGHT (BUT NOT THE OBLIGATION) FROM TIME TO TIME TO MAKE OR CAUSE TO
BE  MADE  TAPE RECORDINGS  OF  COMMUNICATIONS  BETWEEN  ITS  EMPLOYEES,  IF  ANY,  AND  THOSE  OF  THE  OTHER  PARTY  WITH
RESPECT  TO  TRANSACTIONS; PROVIDED , HOWEVER ,  THAT  SUCH  RIGHT  TO  RECORD  COMMUNICATIONS  SHALL  BE  LIMITED  TO
COMMUNICATIONS OF EMPLOYEES TAKING PLACE ON THE TRADING FLOOR OF THE APPLICABLE PARTY. EACH OF BUYER AND SELLER
HEREBY CONSENTS TO THE ADMISSIBILITY OF SUCH TAPE RECORDINGS IN ANY COURT, ARBITRATION, OR OTHER PROCEEDINGS, AND
AGREES  THAT  A  DULY  AUTHENTICATED  TRANSCRIPT  OF  SUCH  A  TAPE RECORDING  SHALL  BE  DEEMED  TO  BE  A  WRITING
CONCLUSIVELY EVIDENCING THE PARTIES’ AGREEMENT.

ARTICLE 15.
NOTICES AND OTHER COMMUNICATIONS

Unless otherwise provided in this Agreement,  all  notices,  consents,  approvals and requests required or permitted hereunder shall  be given in writing and shall  be
effective for all purposes if hand delivered or sent by (a) hand delivery, with proof of delivery, (b) certified or registered United States mail, postage prepaid, (c) expedited
prepaid delivery service, either commercial or United States Postal Service, with proof of delivery, (d) by telecopier (with answerback acknowledged) provided that such
telecopied notice must also be delivered by one of the means set forth above, or (e) by e-mail with confirmation of delivery, to the address specified in Annex I hereto or at
such other address and person as shall be designated from time to time by any party hereto, as the case may be, in a written notice to the other parties hereto in the manner
provided for in this Article 15 .  A notice shall  be deemed to have been given:  (v) in the case of hand delivery,  at  the time of delivery,  (w) in the case of registered or
certified  mail, when  delivered  or  the  first  attempted  delivery  on  a  Business  Day,  (x)  in  the  case  of  expedited  prepaid  delivery  upon  the  first  attempted  delivery  on  a
Business Day, (y) in the case of telecopier, upon receipt of answerback confirmation, provided that such telecopied notice was also delivered as required in this Article 15 ,
or (z) in the case of e-mail, upon confirmation of delivery. A party receiving a notice that does not comply with the technical requirements for notice under this Article 15
may elect to waive in writing any deficiencies and treat the notice as having been properly given.

ARTICLE 16.
ENTIRE AGREEMENT; SEVERABILITY

This Agreement shall supersede any existing agreements between the parties containing general terms and conditions for repurchase transactions. Each provision and
agreement herein shall be treated as separate and independent from any other provision or agreement herein and shall be enforceable notwithstanding the unenforceability
of any such other provision or agreement.
 

70



ARTICLE 17.
NON ASSIGNABILITY

(a) Subject to Article 17(b) below, Seller may not assign any of its rights or obligations under this Agreement without the prior written consent of Buyer and any
attempt  by Seller  to assign any of its  rights  or  obligations under this  Agreement  without  the prior  written consent  of  Buyer shall  be null  and void.  Buyer may,  without
consent  of  Seller  (other  than with respect  to a Prohibited Transferee; provided , however ,  that  Buyer  shall  not  be subject  to  such limitation if  an Event  of  Default  has
occurred and is continuing), sell to one or more banks, financial institutions or other entities (“ Participants ”) participating interests in any Transaction, its interest in the
Purchased  Assets,  or  any  other  interest  of  Buyer  under  this  Agreement.  Buyer  may,  at  any  time  and  from time  to  time,  assign  to  any  Person  (other than  a  Prohibited
Transferee; provided , however , that Buyer shall not be subject to such limitation if an Event of Default has occurred and is continuing) (an “ Assignee ” and together with
Participants, each a “ Transferee ” and collectively, the “ Transferees ”) all  or any part  of its rights in the Purchased Assets,  or any other interest  of Buyer under this
Agreement; provided , however , that, upon Seller’s prior written consent, Buyer may sell to a Prohibited Transferee participating interests in any Transaction, its interest in
the Purchased Asset or any other interest of Buyer under this Agreement, or assign to any Prohibited Transferee all or any part of its rights in the Purchased Assets, or any
other interest of Buyer under this Agreement, so long as in each case (i) Buyer shall retain control and authority over its rights and obligations under this Agreement or any
other Transaction Document, (ii) Seller shall not be obligated to deal with any Person other than Buyer, and (iii)  Seller shall not be charged for, incur or be required to
reimburse Buyer or any other Person for any costs or expense relating to any such transfer, assignment or participation. As long as no Event of Default has occurred and is
continuing, the foregoing requirements in sub-clauses (i) through (iii) of the preceding sentence shall also apply to any other assignment or participation by Buyer of all or
any  portion  of  its  interest  in  this  Agreement,  any  Transaction  or  any  Purchased  Asset; provided , however ,  that  the  control  and  authority  over  Buyer’s  rights  and
obligations set forth in such sub-clause (i) and the obligation of Seller to deal with any Person as set forth in such sub-clause (ii), may be collectively transferred by Buyer
to an Assignee that (A) is not a Prohibited Transferee, (B) is a bank, financial institution, pension fund, insurance company or similar Person or an Affiliate of any of the
foregoing which,  in  each case,  is  regularly  engaged in  the  business  of  owning commercial  real  estate  loans  or  operating commercial  real  estate properties,  and (C)  has
acquired an interest equal to or greater than twenty-five percent (25%) of the entire interest in this Agreement, all Transactions and all Purchased Assets; provided , further
, that such control and authority is transferred by Buyer in full (without Buyer retaining any such control or authority) and shall only be held by one such Assignee (and not
multiple Assignees). Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, the preceding sentence shall not apply to any assignments, sales or transfers by Buyer to an
Affiliate of Buyer of all or any part of Buyer’s rights in the Purchased Assets or any other interest of Buyer under this Agreement. Each of Seller and Guarantor agree to
cooperate with Buyer in connection with any such assignment, transfer or sale of participating interest and to enter into such restatements of, and amendments, supplements
and other modifications to, this Agreement in order to give effect to such assignment, transfer or sale.

(b) Title to all  Purchased Assets and Purchased Items shall  pass to Buyer and Buyer shall  have free and unrestricted use of all  Purchased Assets.  Nothing in this
Agreement  shall  preclude  Buyer  from  engaging  in  repurchase  transactions  with  the  Purchased  Assets  and  Purchased  Items  or  otherwise  selling,  pledging,  repledging,
transferring, hypothecating, or rehypothecating the Purchased Assets and Purchased Items, all on terms that Buyer may determine in its sole discretion; provided , however
, that Buyer shall transfer the Purchased Assets to Seller on the applicable Repurchase Date free and clear of any pledge, lien, security interest,  encumbrance, charge or
other  adverse  claim  on  any  of  the  Purchased  Assets.  Nothing  contained  in  this  Agreement  shall  obligate  Buyer  to  segregate  any  Purchased  Assets or  Purchased  Items
transferred to Buyer by Seller.
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(c) The Buyer, acting solely for this purpose as an agent of Seller, shall maintain, either at its offices at 1585 Broadway, New York, New York or electronically, a
copy of each assignment and a register for the recordation of the names and addresses of the Assignees, and ownership rights in the Transactions, Purchased Assets or in
any other interests under this Agreement of any Assignee pursuant to the terms hereof from time to time (the “ Register ”). The entries in the Register shall be conclusive
absent manifest error, and Seller, the Buyer and the Assignees shall treat each Person whose name is recorded in the Register pursuant to the terms hereof as the beneficial
owner  of  the  interests  in  the  Transactions,  Purchased  Assets  or  in  any  other  interests  under  this  Agreement  for  all purposes  of  this  Agreement.  The  Register  shall  be
available for inspection by Seller, the Buyer and any Assignee, at any reasonable time and from time to time upon reasonable prior notice.

(d) If the Buyer sells a participation it shall, acting solely for this purpose as an agent of Seller, maintain a register on which it enters the name and address of each
Participant and the ownership rights in the Transactions, Purchased Assets or any other interests under this Agreement of each Participant (the “ Participant Register ”);
provided that Buyer shall have no obligation to disclose all or any portion of the Participant Register (including the identity of any Participant or any information relating to
a Participant’s ownership rights in the Transactions,  Purchased Assets or any other interests  under this Agreement)  to any Person except to the extent (i)  disclosing the
portion of the Participant Register relating to a Participant with respect to which a claim for additional amounts is made under Articles 3(g) , 3(h) , 3(j) , 3(k) or 3(l) , or
(ii) otherwise to the extent such disclosure is reasonably expected to be necessary to establish that such ownership rights in the Transactions or any other interests under this
Agreement are in registered form under Section 5f.103-1(c) of the United States Treasury Regulations. The entries in the Participant Register shall be conclusive absent
manifest  error,  and  the  Buyer  shall  treat each  Person  whose  name  is  recorded  in  the  Participant  Register  as  the  owner  of  such  participation  for  all  purposes  of  this
Agreement  notwithstanding  any  notice  to  the  contrary.  For  the  avoidance  of  doubt,  no  sale,  assignment,  transfer  or participation  pursuant  to  this Article  17 shall be
effective unless and until reflected in the Register or Participant Register, as applicable.

ARTICLE 18.
GOVERNING LAW

THIS AGREEMENT SHALL BE GOVERNED BY AND CONSTRUED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK
PURSUANT TO SECTION 5-1401 OF THE NEW YORK GENERAL OBLIGATIONS LAW WITHOUT GIVING EFFECT TO THE CONFLICT OF
LAW PRINCIPLES THEREOF.

ARTICLE 19.
NO WAIVERS, ETC.

No express or implied waiver of any Event of Default by either party shall constitute a waiver of any other Event of Default and no exercise of any remedy
hereunder by any party shall constitute a waiver of its right to exercise any other remedy hereunder. No modification or waiver of any provision of this Agreement
and no consent by any party to a departure here from shall  be effective unless and until  such shall  be in writing and duly executed by both of the parties hereto.
Without limitation of any of the foregoing, the failure to give a notice pursuant to Articles 4(a) or 4(c) hereof will not constitute a waiver of any right to do so at a
later date.
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ARTICLE 20.
USE OF EMPLOYEE PLAN ASSETS

(a) If assets of an employee benefit plan subject to any provision of ERISA are intended to be used by either party hereto (the “ Plan Party ”) in a Transaction, the
Plan Party shall  so notify the other party prior  to the Transaction.  The Plan Party shall  represent  in writing to the other  party that  the Transaction does not constitute  a
prohibited transaction under ERISA or is otherwise exempt therefrom, and the other party may proceed in reliance thereon but shall not be required so to proceed.

(b) Subject to the last sentence of subparagraph (a) of this Article 20 , any such Transaction shall proceed only if Seller furnishes or has furnished to Buyer its most
recent available audited statement of its financial condition and its most recent subsequent unaudited statement of its financial condition.

(c) By entering into a Transaction, pursuant to this Article 20 , Seller shall be deemed (i) to represent to Buyer that since the date of Seller’s latest such financial
statements, there has been no material adverse change in Seller’s financial condition that Seller has not disclosed to Buyer, and (ii) to agree to provide Buyer with future
audited and unaudited statements of its financial condition as they are issued, so long as it is Seller in any outstanding Transaction involving a Plan Party.

ARTICLE 21.
INTENT

(a) The parties intend and recognize that each Transaction is a “repurchase agreement” as that term is defined in Section 101(47) of the Bankruptcy Code (except
insofar as the type of Assets subject to such Transaction or the term of such Transaction would render such definition inapplicable), and a “securities contract” as that term
is defined in Section 741 of the Bankruptcy Code (except insofar as the type of assets subject to such Transaction would render such definition inapplicable). The Parties
intend (i)  for  each  Transaction  to  qualify  for  the  safe  harbor treatment  provided  by  the  Bankruptcy  Code  and  for  Buyer  to  be  entitled  to  all  of  the  rights,  benefits  and
protections  afforded  to  Persons  under  the  Bankruptcy  Code  with  respect  to  a  “repurchase  agreement”  as  defined  in  Section  101(47) of  the  Bankruptcy  Code  and  a
“securities  contract”  as  defined  in  Section  741(7)  of  the  Bankruptcy  Code  and  that  payments  under  this  Agreement  are  deemed  “margin  payments”  or  “settlement
payments,” as defined in Section 101 of the Bankruptcy Code, (ii) for the grant of a security interest set forth in Article 6 to also be a “securities contract” as defined in
Section 741(7)(A)(xi) of the Bankruptcy Code and a “repurchase agreement” as that term is defined in Section 101(47)(A)(v) of the Bankruptcy Code, and (iii) that Buyer
(for so long as each party is either a “financial institution,” “financial participant,” “repo participant,” “master netting participant” or other entity listed in Sections 546,
555, 559,  561, 362(b)(6)  or 362(b)(7)  of  the Bankruptcy Code) shall  be entitled to the “safe harbor” benefits  and protections afforded under the Bankruptcy Code with
respect to a “repurchase agreement” and a “securities contract,” and a “master netting contract” including (x) the rights, set forth in Article 12 and in Section 555, 559 and
561 of the Bankruptcy Code, to liquidate the Purchased Assets and terminate this Agreement, and (y) the right to offset or net out as set forth in Article 12 and in Sections
362(b)(6), 362(b)(7), 362(o) and 546 of the Bankruptcy Code.
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(b)  It  is  understood  that  either  party’s  right  to  accelerate  or  terminate this  Agreement  or  to  liquidate  Assets  delivered  to  it  in  connection  with  the  Transactions
hereunder or to exercise any other remedies pursuant to Article 12 hereof is a contractual right to accelerate or terminate this Agreement or to liquidate Assets as described
in Sections 555 and 559 of the Bankruptcy Code. It is further understood and agreed that either party’s right to cause the termination, liquidation or acceleration of, or to
offset  net  termination  values,  payment amounts  or  other  transfer  obligations  arising  under  or  in  connection  with  this  Agreement  or  the  Transactions  hereunder  is  a
contractual right to cause the termination, liquidation or acceleration of, or to offset net termination values, payment amounts or other transfer obligations arising under or
in connection with this Agreement as described in Section 561 of the Bankruptcy Code.

(c) The parties agree and acknowledge that if a party hereto is an “ insured depository institution , ” as such term is defined in the Federal Deposit Insurance Act,
as  amended  (“ FDIA ”),  then  each  Transaction  hereunder  is  a  “ qualified  financial  contract ,”  as  that  term  is  defined  in  the  FDIA  and  any  rules, orders  or  policy
statements thereunder (except insofar as the type of assets subject to such Transaction would render such definition inapplicable).

(d)  Each  party  hereto  further  agrees  that  it  shall  not  challenge  the  characterization  of  this  Agreement  or  any Transaction  as  a  “repurchase
agreement,”  “securities  contract,”  and/or  “master  netting  agreement,”  or  each  party  as  a  “repo  participant”  within  the  meaning  of  the  Bankruptcy
Code  except  in  so  far  as  the  type of  Purchased  Assets  subject  to  the  Transactions  or,  in  the  case  of  a  “repurchase  agreement,”  the  term  of  the
Transactions, would render such definition inapplicable.

(e) It is understood that this Agreement constitutes a “ netting contract ” as defined in and subject to Title IV of the Federal Deposit Insurance
Corporation Improvement Act of 1991 (“ FDICIA ”) and each payment entitlement and payment obligation under any Transaction hereunder shall
constitute a “ covered contractual payment entitlement ” or “ covered contractual payment obligation ”, respectively, as defined in and subject
to FDICIA (except insofar as one or both of the parties is not a “ financial institution ” as that term is defined in FDICIA).

(f) It is understood that this Agreement constitutes a “master netting agreement” as defined in Section 101(38A) of the Bankruptcy Code, and
as used in Section 561 of the Bankruptcy Code.

(g)  Each  party  to  this  Agreement  acknowledges  that  it  is  its  intent  for  purposes  of  U.S.  federal,  state  and  local  income  and franchise  taxes  (a)  to  treat  each
Transaction as indebtedness of Seller that is secured by the Purchased Assets and (b) that the Purchased Assets are owned by Seller in the absence of an Event of Default by
Seller. All parties to this Agreement agree to such treatment and agree to take no action inconsistent with this treatment, unless required by law.

ARTICLE 22.
DISCLOSURE RELATING TO CERTAIN FEDERAL PROTECTIONS

The parties acknowledge that they have been advised that:
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(a) in the case of Transactions in which one of the parties is a broker or dealer registered with the Securities and Exchange Commission (“ SEC ”) under Section 15
of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Securities Investor Protection Corporation has taken the position that the provisions of the Securities Investor Protection Act of
1970 (“ SIPA ”) do not protect the other party with respect to any Transaction hereunder;

(b)  in  the  case  of  Transactions  in  which  one  of  the  parties  is  a  government  securities  broker  or  a  government  securities  dealer registered  with  the  SEC  under
Section 15C of the 1934 Act, SIPA will not provide protection to the other party with respect to any Transaction hereunder; and

(c) in the case of Transactions in which one of the parties is a financial institution, funds held by the financial institution pursuant to a Transaction hereunder are not
a deposit and therefore are not insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation or the National Credit Union Share Insurance Fund, as applicable.

(d) In the case of Transactions in which one of the parties is an “insured depository institution”, as that term is defined in Section 1813(c)(2) of Title 12 of the United
States Code, funds held by the financial institution pursuant to a Transaction are not a deposit and therefore are not insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation,
the Savings Association Insurance Fund or the Bank Insurance Fund, as applicable.

ARTICLE 23.
CONSENT TO JURISDICTION; WAIVER OF JURY TRIAL

(a) PURSUANT  TO,  AND  IN  ACCORDANCE  WITH,  SECTION  5-1402  OF  THE  NEW  YORK  STATE  GENERAL  OBLIGATIONS  LAW,  EACH
PARTY IRREVOCABLY AND UNCONDITIONALLY (I)  SUBMITS TO THE NON EXCLUSIVE JURISDICTION OF ANY UNITED STATES FEDERAL
OR  NEW  YORK  STATE  COURT  SITTING  IN  MANHATTAN,  AND  ANY  APPELLATE  COURT  FROM  ANY  SUCH  COURT,  SOLELY  FOR  THE
PURPOSE OF ANY SUIT, ACTION OR PROCEEDING BROUGHT TO ENFORCE ITS OBLIGATIONS UNDER THIS AGREEMENT OR RELATING IN
ANY WAY TO THIS AGREEMENT OR ANY TRANSACTION UNDER THIS AGREEMENT AND (II)  WAIVES,  TO THE FULLEST EXTENT IT MAY
EFFECTIVELY DO SO,  ANY DEFENSE OF AN INCONVENIENT FORUM TO THE MAINTENANCE OF SUCH ACTION OR PROCEEDING IN ANY
SUCH COURT AND ANY RIGHT OF JURISDICTION ON ACCOUNT OF ITS PLACE OF RESIDENCE OR DOMICILE.

(b) TO THE EXTENT THAT EITHER PARTY HAS OR HEREAFTER MAY ACQUIRE ANY IMMUNITY (SOVEREIGN OR OTHERWISE) FROM
ANY LEGAL ACTION, SUIT OR PROCEEDING, FROM JURISDICTION OF ANY COURT OR FROM SET OFF OR ANY LEGAL PROCESS (WHETHER
SERVICE  OR  NOTICE,  ATTACHMENT  PRIOR  TO  JUDGMENT,  ATTACHMENT  IN  AID  OF  EXECUTION  OF  JUDGMENT,  EXECUTION  OF
JUDGMENT OR OTHERWISE)  WITH RESPECT TO ITSELF OR ANY OF ITS PROPERTY,  SUCH PARTY HEREBY IRREVOCABLY WAIVES AND
AGREES NOT TO PLEAD OR CLAIM SUCH IMMUNITY IN RESPECT OF ANY ACTION BROUGHT TO ENFORCE ITS OBLIGATIONS UNDER THIS
AGREEMENT OR RELATING IN ANY WAY TO THIS AGREEMENT OR ANY TRANSACTION UNDER THIS AGREEMENT.
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(c) THE PARTIES HEREBY IRREVOCABLY WAIVE, TO THE FULLEST EXTENT EACH MAY EFFECTIVELY DO SO, THE DEFENSE OF AN
INCONVENIENT FORUM TO THE MAINTENANCE OF SUCH ACTION OR PROCEEDING AND IRREVOCABLY CONSENT TO THE SERVICE OF
ANY  SUMMONS  AND  COMPLAINT  AND  ANY  OTHER  PROCESS  BY  THE  MAILING  OF  COPIES  OF  SUCH  PROCESS  TO  THEM  AT THEIR
RESPECTIVE  ADDRESS  SPECIFIED  HEREIN.  THE  PARTIES  HEREBY  AGREE  THAT  A  FINAL  JUDGMENT  IN  ANY  SUCH  ACTION  OR
PROCEEDING SHALL BE CONCLUSIVE AND MAY BE ENFORCED IN OTHER JURISDICTIONS BY SUIT ON THE JUDGMENT OR IN ANY OTHER
MANNER PROVIDED BY LAW. NOTHING IN THIS ARTICLE 23 SHALL AFFECT THE RIGHT OF BUYER TO SERVE LEGAL PROCESS IN ANY
OTHER MANNER PERMITTED BY LAW OR AFFECT THE RIGHT OF BUYER TO BRING ANY ACTION OR PROCEEDING AGAINST SELLER OR
ITS PROPERTY IN THE COURTS OF OTHER JURISDICTIONS.

(d) SELLER  HEREBY  IRREVOCABLY  WAIVES  ALL  RIGHT  TO  A  TRIAL  BY  JURY  IN  ANY  ACTION,  PROCEEDING OR COUNTERCLAIM
ARISING  OUT  OF  OR  RELATING  TO  THIS  AGREEMENT,  ANY  OTHER  TRANSACTION  DOCUMENT  OR  ANY  INSTRUMENT  OR  DOCUMENT
DELIVERED HEREUNDER OR THEREUNDER.

ARTICLE 24.
NO RELIANCE

Each of  Buyer  and Seller  hereby acknowledges,  represents  and warrants  to  the other  that,  in connection with the negotiation of,  the entering into,  and the
performance under, the Transaction Documents and each Transaction thereunder:

(a) It is not relying (for purposes of making any investment decision or otherwise) upon any advice, counsel or representations (whether written or oral) of the other
party to the Transaction Documents, other than the representations expressly set forth in the Transaction Documents;

(b) It has consulted with its own legal, regulatory, tax, business, investment, financial and accounting advisors to the extent that it has deemed necessary, and it has
made  its  own investment,  hedging  and  trading  decisions  (including  decisions  regarding  the  suitability  of  any  Transaction)  based  upon  its  own judgment  and  upon  any
advice from such advisors as it has deemed necessary and not upon any view expressed by the other party;

(c)  It  is  a  sophisticated  and  informed  Person  that  has  a full  understanding  of  all  the  terms,  conditions  and  risks  (economic  and  otherwise)  of  the  Transaction
Documents and each Transaction thereunder and is capable of assuming and willing to assume (financially and otherwise) those risks;

(d) It is entering into the Transaction Documents and each Transaction thereunder for the purposes of managing its borrowings or investments or hedging its assets
or liabilities and not for purposes of speculation; and

(e) It is not acting as a fiduciary or financial, investment or commodity trading advisor for the other party and has not given the other party (directly or indirectly
through any other Person) any assurance, guarantee or representation whatsoever as to the merits (either legal, regulatory, tax, business, investment, financial accounting or
otherwise) of the Transaction Documents or any Transaction thereunder.
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ARTICLE 25.
INDEMNITY

Seller hereby agrees to indemnify Buyer, Buyer’s designee that is holding a Purchased Asset File on behalf of and at the direction of Buyer, Buyer’s Affiliates and
each of its officers, directors, and employees (“ Indemnified Parties ”) from and against any and all actual out-of-pocket liabilities, obligations, losses, damages, penalties,
actions, judgments, suits, fees, costs, expenses (including attorneys’ fees and disbursements) or disbursements (all of the foregoing, collectively “ Indemnified Amounts ”)
that may at any time (including, without limitation, such time as this Agreement shall no longer be in effect and the Transactions shall have been repaid in full) be imposed
on, incurred and paid by or asserted against any Indemnified Party in any way whatsoever arising out of or in connection with, or relating to the Transaction Documents
including  this  Agreement  or  any  Transactions  hereunder  or  any  action  taken  or  omitted  to  be  taken  by  any  Indemnified  Party  under  or  in  connection  with  any  of  the
foregoing; provided, that Seller shall not be liable for liabilities,  obligations, losses, damages, penalties, actions, judgments, suits, fees, costs, expenses or disbursements
resulting from the gross negligence, bad faith or willful misconduct of Buyer or any Indemnified Party. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, Seller agrees to
hold Buyer harmless from and indemnify Buyer against all Indemnified Amounts with respect to all Purchased Assets relating to or arising out of any violation or alleged
violation of any Environmental Law, rule or regulation or any consumer credit laws, including without limitation ERISA, the Truth in Lending Act and/or the Real Estate
Settlement Procedures Act; provided, that Seller shall not be liable for liabilities, obligations, losses, damages, penalties, actions, judgments, suits, fees, costs, expenses or
disbursements resulting from the gross negligence, bad faith or willful misconduct of Buyer or any Indemnified Party. In any suit, proceeding or action brought by Buyer in
connection  with  any Purchased Asset  for  any sum owing thereunder,  or  to  enforce  any provisions  of  any Purchased Asset,  Seller  will  save,  indemnify  and hold  Buyer
harmless from and against all actual out-of-pocket expense (including reasonable attorneys’ fees of outside counsel), loss or damage suffered by reason of any defense, set
off, counterclaim, recoupment or reduction or liability whatsoever of the account debtor or obligor thereunder, arising out of a breach by Seller of any obligation thereunder
or arising out of any other agreement, indebtedness or liability at any time owing to or in favor of such account debtor or obligor or its successors from Seller. Seller also
agrees to reimburse Buyer as and when billed by Buyer for  all  Buyer’s  reasonable  out-of-pocket  costs  and expenses incurred in connection with Buyer’s  due diligence
reviews with  respect  to  the  Purchased Assets  (including,  without  limitation,  those incurred pursuant to Article 26 and Article 3 (including,  without  limitation,  all  Pre-
Purchase  Legal  Expenses,  even if  the  underlying  prospective  Transaction  for  which they  were  incurred  does  not  take  place  for  any reason)  and the enforcement or the
preservation of Buyer’s rights under this Agreement, any Transaction Documents or Transaction contemplated hereby, including without limitation the reasonable fees and
disbursements of its outside counsel. Seller hereby acknowledges that the obligation of Seller hereunder is a recourse obligation of Seller and this Article 25 shall survive
the termination  of  this  Agreement  and the  Transactions  contemplated  hereby.  This  Article  25 shall  not  apply with respect  to  Taxes other  than any Taxes that  represent
losses, claims, damages etc., arising from any non-Tax claim.
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ARTICLE 26.
DUE DILIGENCE

Seller acknowledges that Buyer has the right to perform continuing due diligence reviews with respect to the Purchased Assets, for purposes of verifying compliance
with the representations, warranties and specifications made hereunder, or otherwise, and Seller agrees that upon reasonable prior notice to Seller, Buyer or its authorized
representatives will be permitted during normal business hours to examine, inspect, and make copies and extracts of, the Purchased Asset Files, Servicing Records and any
and all documents, records, agreements, instruments or information relating to such Purchased Assets in the possession or under the control of Seller, Primary Servicer and
any other servicer or sub servicer and/or the Custodian. Seller agrees to reimburse Buyer for any and all reasonable out of pocket costs and expenses incurred by Buyer
with respect to continuing due diligence on the Purchased Assets, which shall be paid by Seller to Buyer within thirty (30) calendar days after receipt of an invoice therefor.
Seller also shall make available to Buyer a knowledgeable financial or accounting officer for the purpose of answering questions respecting the Purchased Asset Files and
the  Purchased  Assets.  Without  limiting  the  generality  of  the  foregoing,  Seller  acknowledges  that  Buyer  may  enter  into  Transactions  with  Seller  based  solely  upon the
information  provided  by  Seller  to  Buyer  and  the  representations,  warranties  and  covenants  contained  herein,  and  that  Buyer,  at  its  option,  has  the  right  at  any  time  to
conduct  a partial  or complete  due diligence review on some or all  of  the Purchased Assets.  Buyer may underwrite  such Purchased Assets  itself  or  engage a third party
underwriter to perform such underwriting. Seller agrees to cooperate with Buyer and any third party underwriter in connection with such underwriting, including, but not
limited  to,  providing  Buyer  and  any  third  party  underwriter  with  access  to  any  and  all  documents,  records,  agreements,  instruments  or  information  relating  to  such
Purchased Assets in the possession, or under the control, of Seller. Seller further agrees that Seller shall reimburse Buyer for any and all attorneys’ fees, costs and expenses
incurred by Buyer in connection with continuing due diligence on Eligible Assets and Purchased Assets.

ARTICLE 27.
SERVICING

(a) Each servicer of any Purchased Asset (including the Primary Servicer) shall service the Assets for the benefit of Buyer and Buyer’s successors and assigns. The
appointment  of  each  servicer  of  any  Purchased  Asset  (including  the  Primary  Servicer)  shall  be  subject  to  the  prior  written  approval  of  Buyer,  not  to  be  unreasonably
withheld, conditioned or delayed. Seller shall  cause each such servicer (including the Primary Servicer) to service the Purchased Assets at Seller’s sole cost and for the
benefit of Buyer in accordance with Accepted Servicing Practices; provided that, without prior written consent of Buyer in its sole discretion as required by Article 7(e)
, no servicer (including the Primary Servicer) of any of the Purchased Assets shall take any action with respect to any Purchased Asset described in Article 7(e) .

(b) Seller agrees that Buyer is the owner of all servicing records, including, but not limited to, any and all servicing agreements (including, without limitation, the
Primary Servicing Agreement or any other servicing agreement relating to the servicing of any or all of the Purchased Assets) (collectively, the “ Servicing Agreements ”),
files, documents, records, data bases, computer tapes, copies of computer tapes, proof of insurance coverage, insurance policies, valuations, other closing documentation,
payment history records, and any other records relating to or evidencing the servicing of Purchased Assets (the “ Servicing Records ”), so long as the Purchased Assets are
subject to this Agreement. Seller covenants to safeguard such Servicing Records and to deliver them promptly to Buyer or its designee at Buyer’s request.
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(c) Upon the occurrence and during the continuance of an Event of Default, Buyer may, in its sole discretion, (i) sell its right to the Purchased Assets on a servicing
released basis and/or (ii) terminate Seller (as the servicer), Primary Servicer or any other servicer or sub servicer of the Purchased Assets with or without cause, in each
case without payment of any termination fee.

(d) Seller shall not employ sub-servicers or any other servicer other than Primary Servicer pursuant to the Primary Servicing Agreement to service the Purchased
Assets without the prior written approval of Buyer, in Buyer’s sole discretion. If the Purchased Assets are serviced by such a Buyer approved sub-servicer or any other
servicer, Seller shall, irrevocably assign all rights, title and interest (if any) in the servicing agreements in the Purchased Assets to Buyer. Seller shall cause all servicers and
sub-servicers engaged by Seller to execute a Direct Agreement with Buyer acknowledging Buyer’s security interest and agreeing that each servicer and/or sub servicer shall
transfer all Income with respect to the Purchased Assets in accordance with the applicable Servicing Agreement and so long as any Purchased Asset is owned by Buyer
hereunder, following notice from Buyer to Seller and each such servicer of an Event of Default under this Agreement, each such servicer (including Primary Servicer) or
sub-servicer shall take no action with regard to such Purchased Asset other than as specifically directed by Buyer.

(e) The payment of servicing fees shall be subordinate to payment of amounts outstanding under any Transaction and this Agreement.

(f) For the avoidance of  doubt,  Seller  retains  no economic rights  to the servicing,  other  than Seller’s  rights  under  the Primary Servicing Agreement  or  any other
servicing agreement related to the Purchased Assets. As such, Seller expressly acknowledges that the Purchased Assets are sold to Buyer on a “servicing released” basis
with such servicing retained by the Servicer.

(g) Seller shall cause each servicer of a Purchased Asset to provide to Buyer via electronic transmission, promptly upon request by Buyer a Servicing Tape for the
quarter (or any portion thereof) prior to the date of Buyer’s request.

ARTICLE 28.
MISCELLANEOUS

(a) All rights, remedies and powers of Buyer hereunder and in connection herewith are irrevocable and cumulative, and not alternative or exclusive, and shall be in
addition to all other rights, remedies and powers of Buyer whether under law, equity or agreement. In addition to the rights and remedies granted to it in this Agreement, to
the extent this Agreement is determined to create a security interest, Buyer shall have all rights and remedies of a secured party under the UCC.

(b) The Transaction Documents may be executed in counterparts,  each of which so executed shall  be deemed to be an original,  but all  of such counterparts  shall
together constitute but one and the same instrument.

(c)  The  headings  in  the  Transaction  Documents  are  for  convenience  of  reference  only  and  shall  not  affect  the  interpretation  or construction  of  the  Transaction
Documents.
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(d) Without limiting the rights and remedies of Buyer under the Transaction Documents, Seller shall pay Buyer’s reasonable actual out-of-pocket costs and expenses,
including  reasonable  fees  and  expenses  of  accountants,  attorneys  and  advisors,  incurred  in  connection  with  the  preparation,  negotiation,  execution, consummation and
administration  of,  and  any  amendment,  supplement  or  modification  to,  the  Transaction  Documents  and  the  Transactions  thereunder,  whether  or  not  such  Transaction
Document (or amendment thereto) or Transaction is ultimately consummated. Seller agrees to pay Buyer on demand all costs and expenses (including reasonable expenses
for legal services of every kind) of any subsequent enforcement of any of the provisions hereof, or of the performance by Buyer of any obligations of Seller in respect of
the Purchased Assets, or any actual or attempted sale, or any exchange, enforcement, collection, compromise or settlement in respect of any of the Collateral or Purchased
Items and for the custody, care or preservation of the Collateral or Purchased Items (including insurance costs) and defending or asserting rights and claims of Buyer in
respect thereof, by litigation or otherwise. In addition, Seller agrees to pay Buyer on demand all reasonable costs and expenses (including reasonable expenses for legal
services) incurred in connection with the maintenance of the Depository Account and registering the Collateral and Purchased Items in the name of Buyer or its nominee.
All such expenses shall be recourse obligations of Seller to Buyer under this Agreement.

(e) In addition to any rights now or hereafter granted under applicable law or otherwise, and not by way of limitation of such rights, Seller and Guarantor hereby
grant  to Buyer and its  Affiliates,  including the Affiliated Hedge Counterparty,  if  applicable,  a  right  of offset,  to secure repayment of all  amounts  owing to Buyer or its
Affiliates  by  Seller,  Guarantor  or  any  Subsidiary  of  Guarantor  under  the  Transaction  Documents  and  any  Hedging  Transactions,  upon  any  and  all  monies,  securities,
collateral or other property of Seller and the proceeds therefrom, now or hereafter held or received by Buyer or its Affiliates or any entity under the control of Buyer or its
Affiliates and its respective successors and assigns (including, without limitation, branches and agencies of Buyer, wherever located), for the account of Seller, Guarantor
or any Subsidiary of Guarantor, whether for safekeeping, custody, pledge, transmission, collection, or otherwise, and also upon any and all deposits (general or specified)
and credits of Seller, Guarantor or any Subsidiary of Guarantor at any time existing. Buyer and its Affiliates are hereby authorized at any time and from time to time upon
the occurrence and during the continuance of  an Event  of  Default,  without  notice  to Seller, Guarantor or  any Subsidiary of Guarantor,  any such notice being expressly
waived, to offset, appropriate, apply and enforce such right of offset against any and all items hereinabove referred to against any amounts owing to Buyer or its Affiliates
by Seller, Guarantor or any Subsidiary of Guarantor under the Transaction Documents or any Hedging Transactions, irrespective of whether Buyer or its Affiliates shall
have  made  any  demand  hereunder  and  although  such  amounts,  or  any  of  them,  shall  be contingent  or  unmatured  and  regardless  of  any  other  collateral  securing  such
amounts. Seller, Guarantor or any Subsidiary of Guarantor shall be deemed directly indebted to Buyer and its Affiliates in the full amount of all amounts owing to Buyer
and its Affiliates by Seller, Guarantor or any Subsidiary of Guarantor under the Transaction Documents and any Hedging Transaction, and Buyer and its Affiliates shall be
entitled to exercise the rights of offset provided for above. ANY AND ALL RIGHTS TO REQUIRE BUYER OR ITS AFFILIATES TO EXERCISE THEIR RIGHTS OR
REMEDIES  WITH  RESPECT  TO  ANY  OTHER  COLLATERAL  OR  PURCHASED  ITEMS  THAT  SECURE  THE  AMOUNTS  OWING  TO  BUYER  OR  ITS
AFFILIATES  BY  SELLER,  GUARANTOR  OR  ANY  SUBSIDIARY  OF  GUARANTOR  UNDER  THE TRANSACTION  DOCUMENTS  AND  ANY  HEDGING
TRANSACTIONS,  PRIOR  TO  EXERCISING  THEIR  RIGHT  OF  OFFSET  WITH  RESPECT  TO  SUCH  MONIES,  SECURITIES,  COLLATERAL,  DEPOSITS,
CREDITS OR OTHER PROPERTY OF SELLER, GUARANTOR OR ANY SUBSIDIARY OF GUARANTOR, ARE HEREBY KNOWINGLY, VOLUNTARILY AND
IRREVOCABLY WAIVED BY SELLER, GUARANTOR OR ANY SUBSIDIARY OF GUARANTOR. For purposes of this Article 28(e) , Guarantor’s Subsidiaries shall
only refer to those Subsidiaries that are not organized as special purpose entities as of the date hereof under their respective organizational documents.
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(f)  Seller  and  Guarantor  agree  that  neither  shall  assert  any  claims  against  Buyer for  special,  indirect,  consequential  or  punitive  damages  for  the  actual  use  or
purported use of proceeds hereunder.

(g) Each provision of this Agreement shall be interpreted in such manner as to be effective and valid under applicable law, but if any provision of this Agreement
shall be prohibited by or be invalid under such law, such provision shall be ineffective to the extent of such prohibition or invalidity, without invalidating the remainder of
such provision or the remaining provisions of this Agreement.

(h) This Agreement contains a final and complete integration of all prior expressions by the parties with respect to the subject matter hereof and thereof and shall
constitute the entire agreement among the parties with respect to such subject matter, superseding all prior oral or written understandings.

(i)  The  parties  understand  that  this  Agreement  is  a  legally  binding  agreement  that  may  affect  such  party’s  rights.  Each party  represents  to  the  other  that  it  has
received legal advice from counsel of its choice regarding the meaning and legal significance of this Agreement and that it is satisfied with its legal counsel and the advice
received from it.

(j) Should any provision of this Agreement require judicial interpretation, it is agreed that a court interpreting or construing the same shall not apply a presumption
that the terms hereof shall be more strictly construed against any Person by reason of the rule of construction that a document is to be construed more strictly against the
Person who itself or through its agent prepared the same, it being agreed that all parties have participated in the preparation of this Agreement.

(k) Wherever pursuant to this Agreement, Buyer exercises any right given to it to consent or not consent, or to approve or disapprove, or any arrangement or term is
to be satisfactory to,  Buyer in its  sole discretion,  Buyer shall  decide to consent  or not  consent,  or  to approve or disapprove or to decide that  arrangements  or terms are
satisfactory or not satisfactory, in its sole discretion and such decision by Buyer shall be final and conclusive.

(l)  Each  Affiliated  Hedge  Counterparty  is  an intended  third  party  beneficiary  of  this  Agreement  and  the  parties  hereto  agree  that  this  Agreement  shall  not  be
amended or otherwise modified without the written consent of each Affiliated Hedge Counterparty, such consent not to be unreasonably withheld.

(m) The obligations of each Seller hereunder (as of, and from and after, the date hereof) for the Repurchase Obligations shall be joint and several with the obligations
of  each other  Seller  to  the  maximum extent  permitted  by Requirement  of  Law.  Notwithstanding anything in  this  Agreement  or  any other  Transaction  Document  to  the
contrary, (i) the obligations of each Seller with respect to joint and several liability hereunder shall be limited to a maximum aggregate amount equal to the greatest amount
that would not render such Seller’s obligations hereunder subject to avoidance as a fraudulent transfer or conveyance under Section 548 of Title 11 of the Bankruptcy Code
or any provisions of applicable state law (collectively, the “ Fraudulent Transfer Laws ”), in each case after giving effect to all other liabilities of such Seller, contingent
or  otherwise,  that  are  relevant  under  the  Fraudulent  Transfer  Laws,  and  (ii)  Buyer  hereby  acknowledges  and  agrees  that  the  provisions  of  this Section  28(m) and the
obligation of each Seller to be jointly and severally liable for the Repurchase Obligations do not and shall not violate any of the provisions of this Agreement, including
Section 11(v) hereof or any other Transaction Document.
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(n)  From  and  after  the  date  hereof,  the  Existing  Agreement  shall  be  amended, restated  and  superseded  in  its  entirety  by  this  Agreement.  The  parties  hereto
acknowledge  and  agree  that  the  liens  and  security  interests  granted  under  the  Existing  Agreement  shall  continue  in  full  force  and  effect  and,  notwithstanding  the
amendment and restatement of the Existing Agreement pursuant to this Agreement, such liens and security interests secure and shall continue to secure the payment of the
Repurchase Obligations.

ARTICLE 29.
JOINDER OF ADDITIONAL SELLERS

An Affiliate of Seller may become a Seller under this Agreement, and shall be bound by, and entitled to, the benefits and obligations of this Agreement as a Seller,
upon the fulfillment of the following conditions:

(a) Seller shall provide written notice to Buyer of its election to join an Affiliate as an additional Seller hereunder, such notice shall provide the name and ownership
structure of such entity.

(b)  Such  entity  shall  deliver  the  corporate formation  and  authority  documents  identified  in Article  3(a) with  respect  to  such  entity,  together  with  such  other
documents as may be reasonably requested by Buyer.

(c) A Supplemental Pledge and Security Agreement shall be delivered with respect to such entity, together with such other documents or Transaction Documents as
may be reasonably requested by Buyer.

(d) No Material Adverse Effect, Margin Deficit, Default or Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing, or would result from the addition of such entity
as a Seller.

(e) The representations and warranties contained in Article 9 shall be true and correct in all material respects with respect to such entity, as of the date such entity
executes the Seller Joinder Agreement described below.

(f) Such entity shall execute and deliver a Seller Joinder Agreement with respect to this Agreement, substantially in the form of Exhibit XVIII (a “ Seller Joinder
Agreement ”).

(g) Buyer shall have received a legal opinion, dated as of the date such entity executes the Seller Joinder Agreement described above, addressed to Buyer and its
successors  and/or  assigns,  having substantially  the  same coverage  as  those  opinions  delivered  by Seller’s  counsel  pursuant  to Article 3(a)(xi) on the Closing Date  and
substantially in a form reasonably acceptable to the Buyer.

(h) Such entity shall provide Buyer with such other documentation or information as the Buyer may request with respect to such entity (including without limitation
amendments to other Transaction Documents, if required by Buyer), and shall pay all reasonable out-of-pocket costs and expenses actually incurred by Buyer under this
Article 29 .
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ARTICLE 30.
ADDITIONAL JURISDICTIONS

(a)  At  Seller’s  request,  Buyer  may agree,  in  its  sole  discretion,  to  approve Additional  Jurisdictions  relating  to Eligible  Assets  in  order  to  enter  into Transactions
subject to such Additional Jurisdictions. Seller shall provide Buyer with written notice of its request pursuant to this Article 30 and shall identify the requested Additional
Jurisdiction(s).  Upon the  completion  of  satisfactory  diligence,  credit  approval  and  consultation  with  legal  counsel  (including,  without  limitation,  outside  counsel  in  the
relevant  Additional  Jurisdiction(s))  determined  by  Buyer  in  its  sole  discretion,  Buyer  shall  notify Seller  of  its  approval  or  non-approval  of  such  requested  Additional
Jurisdiction(s). In the event that Buyer determines that such requested Additional Jurisdiction shall be an approved Additional Jurisdiction hereunder, the approval shall be
effectuated upon the fulfillment of the following conditions:

(i)  A  Confirmation  of  Supplemental Provisions  shall  be  delivered,  fully  executed  by  the  relevant  parties  thereto,  together  with  such  other  documents  or
Transaction Documents as may be reasonably requested by Buyer;

(ii) No Material Adverse Effect, Margin Deficit, Default or Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing, or would result from the addition of such
Additional Jurisdiction;

(iii) The representations and warranties contained in Article 9 shall be true and correct in all material respects, as of the date of the related Confirmation of
Supplemental Provisions;

(iv)  Buyer  shall  have received a  legal  opinion,  dated  as  of  the  date  of  the  related  Confirmation of Supplemental  Provisions described above,  addressed to
Buyer and its successors and/or assigns, having substantially the same coverage as those opinions delivered by Seller’s counsel pursuant to Article 3(a)(xi) on the
Closing Date and substantially in a form reasonably acceptable to Buyer; and

(v) Such entity shall provide Buyer with such other documentation or information as Buyer may request with respect to such Additional Jurisdiction, and shall
pay all reasonable out-of-pocket costs and expenses actually incurred by Buyer under this Article 30 .

[REMAINDER OF PAGE LEFT BLANK]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Agreement as a deed as of the day first written above.
 

BUYER :

MORGAN STANLEY BANK, N.A.,
a national banking association

By:  /s/ Vanessa Vanacker

 
Name: Vanessa Vanacker
Title: Authorized Signatory
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SELLER:

PARLEX 6 UK FINCO, LLC ,
a Delaware limited liability company

By:  /s/ Douglas N. Armer
 Name: Douglas N. Armer

 
Title: Managing Director, Head of Capital Markets and
Treasurer

PARLEX 6 EUR FINCO, LLC ,
a Delaware limited liability company

By:  /s/ Douglas N. Armer
 Name: Douglas N. Armer

 
Title: Managing Director, Head of Capital Markets and
Treasurer

PARLEX 6 FINCO, LLC ,
a Delaware limited liability company

By:  /s/ Douglas N. Armer
 Name: Douglas N. Armer

 
Title: Managing Director, Head of Capital Markets and
Treasurer
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Exhibit 10.3

AMENDMENT NO. 1 TO FOURTH AMENDED AND RESTATED MASTER
REPURCHASE AND SECURITIES CONTRACT AND FOURTH AMENDED AND

RESTATED FEE AND PRICING LETTER

AMENDMENT NO. 1 TO FOURTH AMENDED AND RESTATED MASTER REPURCHASE AND SECURITIES CONTRACT AND FOURTH AMENDED
AND RESTATED FEE AND PRICING LETTER,  dated  as  of  May 8,  2017 (this  “ Amendment ”),  by and among PARLEX 5 KEN FINCO, LLC, a  Delaware  limited
liability company (“ U.S. Seller ”), PARLEX 5 KEN UK FINCO, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (“ U.K. Seller ”), PARLEX 5 KEN CAD FINCO, LLC, a
Delaware limited liability company (“ CAD Seller ”) and PARLEX 5 KEN ONT FINCO, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (“ ONT Seller ” and together with
CAD Seller, “ Canadian Sellers ”) and PARLEX 5 KEN EUR FINCO, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (“ German Seller ”) (each a “ Seller ”, and together, the “
Sellers ”) and WELLS FARGO BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, a national banking association (“ Buyer ”). Capitalized terms used but not otherwise defined herein
shall have the meanings given to them in the Repurchase Agreement (as defined below).

RECITALS

WHEREAS, Sellers and Buyer are parties to that certain Fourth Amended and Restated Master Repurchase and Securities Contract, dated as of June 30, 2016 (as
amended hereby and as further amended, restated, supplemented or otherwise modified and in effect from time to time, the “ Repurchase Agreement ”);

WHEREAS, in connection with the Repurchase Agreement, Sellers and Buyer entered into that certain Fourth Amended and Restated Fee and Pricing Letter, also
dated as of June 30, 2016 (as amended hereby and as further amended, restated, supplemented or otherwise modified and in effect from time to time, the “ Fee Letter ”);

WHEREAS, Sellers have requested, and Buyer has agreed, to amend the Repurchase Agreement and the Fee Letter as set forth in this Amendment.

Therefore, in consideration of the premises and for other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, Sellers and
Buyer hereby agree as follows:

SECTION 1. Amendments to Repurchase Agreement .

(a) Section 18.05 of the Repurchase Agreement is hereby amended and restated in its entirety to read as follows:

“Section 18.05 Single Agreement . Each Party agrees that (a) each Transaction is in consideration of and in reliance on the fact that all Transactions constitute
a single business and contractual relationship, and that each Transaction has been entered into in consideration of the other Transactions, (b) a default by it



in the payment or performance of any its obligations under a Transaction shall constitute a default by it with respect to all Transactions, (c) Buyer may set off claims
and apply properties and assets held by or on behalf of Buyer with respect to any Transaction against the Repurchase Obligations owing to Buyer with respect to
other Transactions, and (d) payments, deliveries and other transfers made by or on behalf of any Party with respect to any Transaction shall be deemed to have been
made in consideration of payments,  deliveries and other transfers with respect  to all  Transactions,  and the obligations of  each Party to make any such payments,
deliveries and other transfers may be applied against each other and netted.”

SECTION 2. Amendment to Fee Letter .

(a) Schedule 1 to the Fee Letter is hereby amended and restated in its entirety to read as set forth on Schedule 1 attached hereto.

SECTION 3. Amendment Effective Date . This Amendment and its provisions shall become effective on the date first set forth above (the “ Amendment Effective
Date ”), which is the date that this Amendment was executed and delivered by a duly authorized officer of each of each Seller and Buyer, along with such other documents
as Buyer or counsel to Buyer reasonably requested, each dated as of the Amendment Effective Date.

SECTION 4. Limited Effect .  Except  as  expressly  amended and modified by this  Amendment,  the  Repurchase Agreement,  the Fee Letter  and each of  the  other
Repurchase  Documents  shall  continue  to  be,  and  shall  remain,  in  full  force  and  effect  in  accordance with  their  respective  terms; provided , however ,  that  upon  the
Amendment  Effective  Date,  each (x)  reference  therein  and herein  to  the  “Repurchase  Documents”  shall  be  deemed to  include,  in  any event,  this  Amendment, (y) each
reference to the “Repurchase Agreement”,  the “Master  Repurchase and Securities  Contract”,  the “Fee Letter”  or  the “Fee and Pricing Letter”  in any of  the Repurchase
Documents shall be deemed to be a reference to the Repurchase Agreement or the Fee Letter, as applicable, as amended hereby, and (z) each reference in the Repurchase
Agreement  or  the  Fee  Letter,  as  applicable,  to  this  “Agreement”,  this  “Master  Repurchase  and Securities  Contract”,  this  “Fee  Letter”,  this  “Fee  and  Pricing  Letter”,
“hereof”, “herein” or words of similar effect in referring to the Repurchase Agreement or the Fee Letter shall be deemed to be references to the Repurchase Agreement or
the Fee Letter, as applicable, as amended by this Amendment.

SECTION 5. Counterparts .  This Amendment may be executed by each of the parties hereto on any number of separate  counterparts,  each of which shall  be an
original  and  all  of  which  taken  together  shall  constitute  one  and  the  same  instrument.  Delivery of  an  executed  counterpart  of  a  signature  page  to  this  Amendment  in
Portable Document Format (PDF) or by facsimile transmission shall be effective as delivery of a manually executed original counterpart thereof.

SECTION 6. Expenses . Sellers and Guarantor agree to pay and reimburse Buyer for all out-of-pocket costs and expenses incurred by Buyer in connection with the
preparation,  execution  and  delivery  of  this  Amendment,  including,  without  limitation,  the  fees  and  disbursements  of  Cadwalader,  Wickersham & Taft  LLP,  counsel  to
Buyer
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SECTION 7. GOVERNING LAW . THIS AMENDMENT AND ANY CLAIM, CONTROVERSY OR DISPUTE ARISING UNDER OR RELATED TO
THIS AMENDMENT, THE RELATIONSHIP OF THE PARTIES TO THIS AMENDMENT, AND/OR THE INTERPRETATION AND ENFORCEMENT OF
THE RIGHTS AND DUTIES OF THE PARTIES TO THIS AMENDMENT SHALL BE GOVERNED BY AND CONSTRUED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE
INTERNAL  LAWS  AND  DECISIONS  OF  THE  STATE  OF  NEW  YORK,  WITHOUT  REGARD  TO  THE  CHOICE  OF  LAW  RULES  THEREOF.  THE
PARTIES HERETO INTEND THAT THE PROVISIONS OF SECTION 5-1401 OF THE NEW YORK GENERAL OBLIGATIONS LAW SHALL APPLY TO
THIS AMENDMENT.

[SIGNATURES FOLLOW]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Amendment to be duly executed and delivered as of the day and year first above written.
 

SELLERS :

PARLEX 5 KEN FINCO, LLC, a Delaware limited     liability
company

By:  /s/ Douglas N. Armer
 Name: Douglas N. Armer

 
Title: Managing Director, Head of Capital Markets and
Treasurer

PARLEX 5 KEN UK FINCO, LLC, a Delaware     limited liability
company

By:  /s/ Douglas N. Armer
 Name: Douglas N. Armer

 
Title: Managing Director, Head of Capital Markets and
Treasurer

PARLEX 5 KEN CAD FINCO, LLC, a Delaware     limited liability
company

By:  /s/ Douglas N. Armer
 Name: Douglas N. Armer

 
Title: Managing Director, Head of Capital Markets and
Treasurer

PARLEX 5 KEN ONT FINCO, LLC, a Delaware     limited liability
company

By:  /s/ Douglas N. Armer
 Name: Douglas N. Armer

 
Title: Managing Director, Head of Capital Markets and
Treasurer
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PARLEX 5 KEN EUR FINCO, LLC, a Delaware     limited liability
company

By:  /s/ Douglas N. Armer
 Name: Douglas N. Armer

 
Title: Managing Director, Head of Capital Markets and
Treasurer
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BUYER :

WELLS FARGO BANK, NATIONAL     ASSOCIATION, a
national banking association

By:  /s/ Joe Check
 Name: Joe Check
 Title: VP
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Exhibit 10.4

AMENDMENT NUMBER THREE
to the

Master Repurchase Agreement
dated as of June 27, 2014

by and between
PARLEX 7 FINCO, LLC,

and
METROPOLITAN LIFE INSURANCE COMPANY

This AMENDMENT NUMBER THREE to the Master Repurchase Agreement (this “ Amendment ”) is made as of this 21st day of April,  2017, by and between
PARLEX 7 FINCO,  LLC (“ Seller ”)  and  METROPOLITAN LIFE INSURANCE COMPANY (“ Buyer ”),  to  that  certain  Master  Repurchase  Agreement,  dated as  of
June 27, 2014, by and between Seller and Buyer, as amended by that certain Amendment Number One, dated as of February 24, 2015, by and between Seller and Buyer
and that certain Amendment Number Two, dated as of April 22, 2016, by and between Seller and Buyer (as may be further amended, restated, supplemented or otherwise
modified from time to time, the “ Repurchase Agreement ”).

WHEREAS, Seller and Buyer have agreed to amend the Repurchase Agreement as more particularly set forth herein.

NOW THEREFORE, for good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the parties hereto hereby agree as follows:

SECTION 1. Amendment . The Repurchase Agreement is hereby amended as follows:
 

 1.1. The definition of “ Initial Facility Termination Date ” in Section 2 of the Repurchase Agreement is hereby amended and restated in its entirety as follows:

“‘ Initial Facility Termination Date ’ shall mean April 22, 2018.”
 

 1.2. Section 10(b)(xxii) of the Repurchase Agreement is hereby amended by deleting such Section in its entirety and replacing it with the following:

“(xxii) Prohibited Person . Neither Seller, Guarantor, Pledgor or any Originator is a Prohibited Person. In addition, (a) none of the funds or other assets of
Seller, Guarantor, Pledgor or any Originator constitute property of, or are beneficially owned, directly or indirectly, by a Prohibited Person with the result that
(i)  the  investment  in,  or  the  transaction  of  business  with,  Seller,  Guarantor,  Pledgor  or  any  Originator,  as  applicable  (whether  directly  or  indirectly),  is
prohibited by law or (ii) the entering into this Agreement by Buyer is in violation of law in any material respect; (b) no Prohibited Person has any interest of
any nature whatsoever in Seller, Guarantor, Pledgor or any Originator, as applicable, with the result that (i) the investment in, or the transaction of business
with, Seller, Guarantor, Pledgor or any Originator, as applicable (whether directly or indirectly), is prohibited by law or (ii) the entering into this Agreement is
in violation of law in an material respect; (c) none of the funds of Seller, Guarantor, Pledgor or any Originator, as applicable,



have been derived from any unlawful activity with the result that (i) the investment in, or the transaction of business with, Seller, Guarantor, Pledgor or any
Originator, as applicable (whether directly or indirectly),  is prohibited by law or (ii)  the entering into this Agreement is in violation of law in any material
respect; (d) none of Seller, Guarantor, Pledgor or any Originator has conducted or will knowingly conduct any business or has engaged or will engage in any
transaction dealing with any Prohibited Person; and (e) none of Seller, Guarantor, Pledgor or any Originator is a Prohibited Person or has been convicted of a
felony or a crime which if prosecuted under the laws of the United States of America would be a felony.”

 

 1.3. Exhibit VI of the Repurchase Agreement is hereby amended by deleting paragraph 55. therein and replacing it with the following:

“55. No Prohibited Persons . As of the Purchase Date, and as of the date of effectuation of any transfers expressly consented to or approved by Seller, or with
respect to which Seller has been provided notice, pursuant to the Purchased Asset Documents, (a) none of the funds or other assets of the related Mortgagor,
borrower, any guarantor or any other obligor with respect to such Purchased Asset shall constitute property of, or shall be, directly or indirectly controlled, or
beneficially owned, directly or indirectly, by, any Prohibited Person, with the result that transacting business with such Mortgagor, borrower, any guarantor or
any such other obligor, as applicable, would be prohibited or the Purchased Asset made by the applicable Mortgagee with respect thereto is or would be in
violation of law; (b) no Prohibited Person shall have any interest or control of any nature whatsoever in any Mortgagor, borrower, any guarantor or any other
obligor with respect  to such Purchased Asset,  as applicable,  with the result  that transacting business with such Mortgagor,  borrower,  any guarantor or any
such other  obligor,  as applicable,  would be prohibited or the Purchased Asset  is  or  would be in violation of law; and (c)  none of the funds of Mortgagor,
borrower, any guarantor or any other obligor with respect to such Purchased Asset, as applicable, shall be derived from any unlawful activity with the result
that transacting business with such Mortgagor, borrower, any guarantor or any such other obligor, as applicable, would be prohibited or the Purchased Asset is
or would be in violation of law. No tenant at the Mortgaged Property relating to the Purchased Asset is a Prohibited Person.”

 

 1.4. Exhibit VII of the Repurchase Agreement is hereby amended by deleting paragraph 57. therein and replacing it with the following:

“57. No Prohibited Persons . As of the Purchase Date, and as of the date of effectuation of any transfers expressly consented to or approved by Seller, with
respect to which Seller has been provided notice, pursuant to the Purchased Asset Documents, (a) none of the funds or other assets of the related Mortgagor,
borrower, any guarantor or any other obligor with respect to the related Whole Loan shall constitute property of, or shall be, directly or indirectly controlled,
or beneficially owned, directly or indirectly, by, any Prohibited Person, with the result that transacting business with such Mortgagor, borrower, any guarantor
or any
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such other obligor, as applicable, would be prohibited or the related Whole Loan made by the applicable Mortgagee with respect thereto is or would be in
violation of law; (b) no Prohibited Person shall have any interest or control of any nature whatsoever in any Mortgagor, borrower, any guarantor or any other
obligor with respect to the related Whole Loan, as applicable, with the result that transacting business with such Mortgagor, borrower, any guarantor or any
such other obligor, as applicable, would be prohibited or the related Whole Loan is or would be in violation of law; and (c) none of the funds of Mortgagor,
borrower, any guarantor or any other obligor with respect to the related Whole Loan, as applicable, shall be derived from any unlawful activity with the result
that transacting business with such Mortgagor,  borrower, any guarantor or any other obligor such, as applicable,  would be prohibited or the related Whole
Loan is or would be in violation of law. No tenant at the Mortgaged Property relating to the related Whole Loan is a Prohibited Person.”

 

 1.5. Exhibit VIII of the Repurchase Agreement is hereby amended by deleting paragraph 59. therein and replacing it with the following:

“59. No Prohibited Persons . As of the Purchase Date, and as of the date of effectuation of any transfers expressly consented to or approved by Seller, with
respect to which Seller has been provided notice, pursuant to the Purchased Asset Documents, (a) none of the funds or other assets of the related Mezzanine
Borrower, the related Mortgagor, any guarantor or any other obligor with respect to the Mezzanine Loan or the related Whole Loan shall constitute property
of,  or  shall  be,  directly  or  indirectly  controlled,  or  beneficially  owned,  directly or  indirectly,  by,  any  Prohibited  Person,  with  the  result  that  transacting
business with such Mezzanine Borrower, the related Mortgagor, any guarantor or any other obligor with respect to the Mezzanine Loan or the related Whole
Loan,  as  applicable, would  be  prohibited  or  the  Mezzanine  Loan  or  the  related  Whole  Loan  made  by  the  applicable  Mortgagee  with  respect  thereto  is  or
would be in violation of law; (b) no Prohibited Person shall have any interest or control of any nature whatsoever in any Mezzanine Borrower, Mortgagor, any
guarantor or any other obligor with respect to the Mezzanine Loan or the related Whole Loan, as applicable, with the result that transacting business with such
Mezzanine Borrower, Mortgagor, any guarantor or any such other obligor, as applicable, would be prohibited or the Mezzanine Loan or the related Whole
Loan is or would be in violation of law; and (c) none of the funds of Mezzanine Borrower, Mortgagor, any guarantor or any other obligor with respect to the
Mezzanine  Loan or  the  related  Whole  Loan,  as  applicable,  shall  be  derived  from any unlawful  activity  with  the  result  that  transacting  business  with  such
Mezzanine Borrower, Mortgagor, any guarantor or any such other obligor, as applicable, would be prohibited or the Mezzanine Loan or the related Whole
Loan is or would be in violation of law. No tenant at the Mortgaged Property relating to the related Whole Loan is a Prohibited Person.”

SECTION 2. Conditions Precedent . This Amendment shall not be effective until Buyer shall have received from Seller the payment of the Commitment Fee due on the
date hereof in connection with the amendment to the definition of “Initial Facility Termination Date” set forth herein.
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SECTION 3. Fees and Expenses . Seller agrees to pay to Buyer all fees and out of pocket expenses incurred by Buyer in connection with this Amendment, including all
reasonable  fees  and  out  of  pocket  costs  and  expenses  of  legal  counsel  to  Buyer  incurred  in  connection  with  this  Amendment,  in  accordance  with Section  30(d) of the
Repurchase Agreement.

SECTION 4. Defined Terms . Any terms capitalized but not otherwise defined herein shall have the respective meanings set forth in the Repurchase Agreement.

SECTION 5. Guarantor Ratification . Blackstone Mortgage Trust, Inc., a Maryland corporation (the “ Guarantor ”) hereby ratifies and confirms that the Guaranty, dated as
of  June  27,  2014,  made  by  Guarantor  in  favor  of  Buyer,  continues  in  full  force  and  effect  and  unmodified  and  shall  not  be  released, diminished,  impaired,  reduced or
adversely affected by this Amendment or otherwise, and Guarantor hereby consents, acknowledges and agrees to this Amendment and waives any common law, equitable
or statutory rights that it might otherwise have as a result of or in connection with this Amendment.

SECTION 6. Limited Effect . Except as amended hereby, the Repurchase Agreement shall continue in full force and effect in accordance with its terms. Reference to this
Amendment  need  not  be  made  in  the  Repurchase  Agreement  or  any  other  instrument  or  document  executed  in  connection  therewith,  or  in  any  certificate,  letter  or
communication issued or made pursuant to, or with respect to, the Repurchase Agreement, any reference in any of such items to the Repurchase Agreement being sufficient
to refer to the Repurchase Agreement as amended hereby.

SECTION 7. Representations and Warranties .  Seller  hereby represents  and warrants  to Buyer that  it  is  in compliance with all  the terms and provisions set  forth in the
Repurchase Agreement on its part to be observed or performed, and that no Default or Event of Default has occurred or is continuing, and hereby confirms and reaffirms
the representations and warranties contained in Section 10 of the Repurchase Agreement.  Seller hereby represents and warrants that this Amendment has been duly and
validly executed and delivered by it, and constitutes its legal, valid and binding obligation, enforceable against it in accordance with its terms.

SECTION 8. Governing Law . This Amendment and the rights and obligations of the parties hereunder shall be construed in accordance with and governed by the laws of
the State of New York, without regard to principles of conflicts of laws (other than Sections 5-1401 and 5-1402 of the New York General Obligations Law which shall be
applicable).

SECTION 9. Headings . The section headings used in this Amendment are for convenience of reference only and shall not affect the interpretation or construction of this
Amendment.

SECTION 10. Counterparts . For the purpose of facilitating the execution of this Amendment, and for other purposes, this Amendment may be executed simultaneously in
any number of counterparts. Each counterpart shall be deemed to be an original, and all such counterparts shall constitute one and the same instrument. The parties intend
that faxed signatures and electronically imaged signatures such as .pdf files shall constitute original signatures and are binding on all parties. The original documents shall
be promptly delivered, if requested.

[REMAINDER OF THIS PAGE LEFT INTENTIONALLY BLANK]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Seller and Buyer have caused their names to be duly signed to this Amendment by their respective officers thereunto duly authorized, all
as of the date hereof.
 

SELLER:  

PARLEX 7 FINCO, LLC

By:  /s/ Douglas N. Armer
 Name: Douglas N. Armer

 
Title:   Managing Director, Head of Capital
            Markets and Treasurer
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BUYER:

METROPOLITAN LIFE INSURANCE COMPANY

By:  /s/ Jiawei Ding
 Name: Jiawei Ding
 Title: Director
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Agreed to, accepted and ratified by:

BLACKSTONE MORTGAGE TRUST, INC.,
a Maryland corporation, as Guarantor
 
By:  /s/ Douglas N. Armer

 Name: Douglas N. Armer

 
Title:   Managing Director, Head of Capital
            Markets and Treasurer
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Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION
PURSUANT TO 17 CFR 240.13a-14

PROMULGATED UNDER
SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Stephen D. Plavin, certify that:
 

 1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Blackstone Mortgage Trust, Inc.;
 

 2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements
made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

 

 3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

 

 
4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act

Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and
have:

 

 
(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure

that  material  information  relating  to  the  registrant,  including  its  consolidated  subsidiaries,  is  made  known  to  us  by  others  within  those  entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

 

 
(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision,

to provide reasonable  assurance regarding the reliability  of  financial  reporting and the preparation of  financial  statements  for  external  purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

 

 (c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness
of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

 

 
(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal

quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect,
the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

 

 5. The  registrant’s  other  certifying  officer  and  I  have  disclosed,  based  on  our  most  recent  evaluation  of internal  control  over  financial  reporting,  to  the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

 

 (a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely
to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

 

 (b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting.

Date: July 25, 2017
 

/s/ Stephen D. Plavin
Stephen D. Plavin
Chief Executive Officer



Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION
PURSUANT TO 17 CFR 240.13a-14

PROMULGATED UNDER
SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Anthony F. Marone, Jr., certify that:
 

 1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Blackstone Mortgage Trust, Inc.;
 

 2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements
made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

 

 3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

 

 
4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act

Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and
have:

 

 
(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure

that  material  information  relating  to  the  registrant,  including  its  consolidated  subsidiaries,  is  made  known  to  us  by  others  within  those  entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

 

 
(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision,

to provide reasonable  assurance regarding the reliability  of  financial  reporting and the preparation of  financial  statements  for  external  purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

 

 (c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness
of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

 

 
(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal

quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect,
the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

 

 5. The  registrant’s  other  certifying  officer  and  I  have  disclosed,  based  on  our  most  recent  evaluation  of internal  control  over  financial  reporting,  to  the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

 

 (a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely
to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

 

 (b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting.

Date: July 25, 2017
 

/s/ Anthony F. Marone, Jr.
Anthony F. Marone, Jr.
Chief Financial Officer



Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In  connection  with  the  Quarterly  Report  of  Blackstone  Mortgage  Trust,  Inc.  (the  “ Company ”)  on  Form  10-Q  for  the  period  ended June  30,  2017  as  filed  with  the
Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “ Report ”),  I,  Stephen D. Plavin, Chief Executive Officer of the Company, certify,  pursuant to 18 U.S.C.
Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:
 

 1. The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
 

 2. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.
 
/s/ Stephen D. Plavin
Stephen D. Plavin
Chief Executive Officer
July 25, 2017

This certification accompanies each Report pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and shall not, except to the extent required by the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act of 2002, be deemed filed by the Company for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided by the Company and will be retained by the Company and furnished to the Securities
and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.



Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In  connection  with  the  Quarterly  Report  of  Blackstone  Mortgage  Trust,  Inc.  (the  “ Company ”)  on  Form  10-Q  for  the  period  ended June  30,  2017  as  filed  with  the
Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “ Report ”), I, Anthony F. Marone, Jr., Chief Financial Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C.
Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:
 

 1. The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
 

 2. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.
 
/s/ Anthony F. Marone, Jr.
Anthony F. Marone, Jr.
Chief Financial Officer
July 25, 2017

This certification accompanies each Report pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and shall not, except to the extent required by the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act of 2002, be deemed filed by the Company for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided by the Company and will be retained by the Company and furnished to the Securities
and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.


